
NOTICE:  Persons with disabilities needing accommodations for effective participation in this meeting 
should contact the City Clerk at (248) 524-3316 or via e-mail at clerk@ci.troy.mi.us at least two working days 
in advance of the meeting. An attempt will be made to make reasonable accommodations. 
 

 
 
 
 
 

AGENDA 
 

 

 

 
Meeting of the 

 

 

 

 

CITY COUNCIL 

OF THE CITY OF TROY 
 

OCTOBER 15, 2007 

 
CONVENING AT 7:30 P.M. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  Submitted By 

      The City Manager 



 

 

 -  -  

TO:   The Honorable Mayor and City Council 
   Troy, Michigan 
 
FROM:  Phillip L. Nelson, City Manager 
 
SUBJECT:  Background Information and Reports 
 
Ladies and Gentlemen: 
 
This booklet provides a summary of the many reports, communications and 
recommendations that accompany your Agenda.  Also included are suggested or 
requested resolutions and/or ordinances for your consideration and possible 
amendment and adoption. 
 
Supporting materials transmitted with this Agenda have been prepared by department 
directors and staff members.  I am indebted to them for their efforts to provide insight 
and professional advice for your consideration. 
 
Identified below are goals for the City, which have been advanced by the governing 
body; and Agenda items submitted for your consideration are on course with these 
goals. 
 

Goals 

 
I. Enhance the livability and safety of the community  
II. Minimize the cost and increase the efficiency and effectiveness of City 

government 
III. Retain and attract investment while encouraging redevelopment 
IV. Effectively and professionally communicate internally and externally 
V. Maintain relevance of public infrastructure to meet changing public needs 
VI. Emphasize regionalism and incorporate creativity into the annual strategic 

planning process 
 
As always, we are happy to provide such added information as your deliberations may 
require. 
 
Respectfully submitted, 

 
Phillip L. Nelson, City Manager 

 



NOTICE:  Persons with disabilities needing accommodations for effective participation in this meeting should 
contact the City Clerk at (248) 524-3316 or via e-mail at clerk@ci.troy.mi.us at least two working days in advance of 
the meeting. An attempt will be made to make reasonable accommodations. 
 

 
      

  

 

CITY COUNCIL 

 

  AGENDA 

October 15, 2007 – 7:30 PM 

Council Chambers  

City Hall - 500 West Big Beaver 

Troy, Michigan 48084 

(248) 524-3317 

  

INVOCATION & PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE:  Pastor Johnny Liles – Fellowship United 

Methodist 1 

CALL TO ORDER: 1 

ROLL CALL 1 

CERTIFICATES OF RECOGNITION: 1 

A-1 Presentations: 1 

a) Casual for a Cause Check Presented to Nancy Piotrowski, Troy Youth 
Assistance ............................................................................................................ 1 

b) Plaque for the Level Three Governance Award Presented to Council Member 
Dave Lambert by Tim Doyle, Vice President of the Elected Officials Academy ... 1 

c) Letter from Michigan Municipal League Director Dan Gilmartin Congratulating 
Robin Beltramini on Being Elected Vice President – Presented by Mayor 
Schilling ................................................................................................................ 1 

d) Achievement of Excellence Award from the National Purchasing Institute 
Presented to Susan Leirstein, Purchasing Director .............................................. 1 

e) City of Troy Proclamation Recognizing Chamber of Commerce Month, 
October 2007 – Presented to Michele Hodges ..................................................... 1 

CARRYOVER ITEMS: 1 

B-1 No Carryover Items 1 



 

 

 -  -  

PUBLIC HEARINGS: 1 

C-1 Concept Development Plan Approval – The Pavilions of Troy Planned Unit 
Development (PUD 9) – Northwest Corner of Big Beaver and Coolidge, Section 19 
– O-S-C, O-M and P-1 Districts 1 

POSTPONED ITEMS: 3 

D-1 No Postponed Items 3 

CONSENT AGENDA: 3 

E-1a Approval of “E” Items NOT Removed for Discussion 4 

E-1b  Address of “E” Items Removed for Discussion by City Council and/or the Public 4 

E-2  Approval of City Council Minutes 4 

E-3 Proposed City of Troy Proclamation(s): 4 

a) Chamber of Commerce Month – October, 2007 .................................................. 4 

E-4 Standard Purchasing Resolutions 4 

a) Standard Purchasing Resolution 1: Award to Low Bidder – Roof Replacement 
Fire Station 5 ........................................................................................................ 4 

b) Standard Purchasing Resolution 1: Award to Low Bidders – Janitorial 
Services ................................................................................................................ 5 

c) Standard Purchasing Resolution 1: Award to Low Bidder – Tee Shirt Contract ... 5 

E-5 Request for Recognition as a Nonprofit Organization Status from Tim Palmer, 
President – The Lakeshoremen Drum and Bugle Corps 5 

E-6 Private Agreement for Dr. Joseph Medical Building – Project No. 06.925.3 5 

E-7 Private Agreement for the SECO Tool A.B. Project – Project No. 07.939.3 6 

E-8 Announcement of Public Hearing – Community Development Block Grant (CDBG) 
2008 Application 6 



 

 

 -  -  

E-9 Request for Acceptance of a Permanent Easement for Water Main and 
Emergency Ingress/Egress – C-L Bellingham Associates, LLC, Section 26 – 
Sidwell #88-20-26-200-088 6 

E-10 Request for Approval of Purchase Agreement for Right-of-Way – Sidewalk Gap 
Completion Project – Olive Peters, 115 Wattles – Sidwell #88-20-15-355-048, -
049 and -050 7 

PUBLIC COMMENT: Limited to Items Not on the Agenda 7 

REGULAR BUSINESS: 7 

F-1 Appointments to Boards and Committees: a) Mayoral Appointments: Downtown 
Development Authority b) City Council Appointments: Advisory Committee for 
Persons with Disabilities; Historical Commission; Municipal Building Authority; 
Parks & Recreation Board; Southeastern Michigan Council of Governments 
(SEMCOG); and Troy Daze Committee 7 

F-2 Bid Waiver – Purchase of Fitness Equipment for the Troy Community Center 9 

F-3 Traffic Committee Recommendations – September 19, 2007 10 

F-4 Designation of Voting Delegates at the Annual Meeting of the National League of 
Cities 11 

F-5 Sixth Amendment to Consent Judgment for The Pavilions of Troy 11 

F-6 Preliminary Site Condominium Review – Adams Road Site Condominium, East 
Side of Adams, South of South Boulevard, Section 6 – R-1A 12 

MEMORANDUMS AND FUTURE COUNCIL AGENDA ITEMS: 12 

G-1 Announcement of Public Hearings: 12 

a) Rezoning Application – Proposed Office/Retail Development, South Side of 
Big Beaver, West of Rochester Road, Section 27 – O-1 to B-2 (File Number: 
Z-728) – November 12, 2007 ............................................................................. 12 

b) Rezoning Application – Proposed Office Building, East of Livernois, South 
Side of Wattles, Section 22 – R-1C to O-1 (File Number: Z-725) – November 
12, 2007 ............................................................................................................. 12 



 

 

 -  -  

G-2 Green Memorandums:  No Green Memorandums Advanced 12 

COUNCIL REFERRALS: Items Advanced to the City Manager by Individual City 

Council Members for Placement on the Agenda 12 

H-1 No Council Referrals Advanced 12 

COUNCIL COMMENTS: 12 

I-1 No Council Comments Advanced 12 

REPORTS: 13 

J-1 Minutes – Boards and Committees: 13 

a) Historic Commission/Final – June 26, 2007 ....................................................... 13 
b) Youth Council/Final – August 22, 2007 .............................................................. 13 

c) Advisory Committee for Persons with Disabilities/Draft – September 5, 2007 ... 13 
d) Advisory Committee for Persons with Disabilities/Final – September 5, 2007 ... 13 
e) Building Code Board of Appeals/Final – September 5, 2007 ............................. 13 

f) Planning Commission/Final – September 11, 2007 ........................................... 13 
g) Election Commission/Final – September 12, 2007 ............................................. 13 

h) Board of Zoning Appeals/Draft – September 18, 2007....................................... 13 

i) Planning Commission Special/Study/Draft – September 25, 2007 .................... 13 

j) Youth Council/Draft – September 26, 2007 ........................................................ 13 
k) Election Commission/Draft – October 1, 2007 ................................................... 13 

l) Building Code Board of Appeals/Draft – October 3, 2007 .................................. 13 

J-2 Department Reports: 13 

a) Building Department – Permits Issued During the Month of September, 2007 .. 13 

J-3  Letters of Appreciation: 13 

a) Letter to Chief Nelson from John Simpson in Appreciation of the Fire 
Department Honoring his son-in-law Joshua Brown who was killed in the Line 
of Duty in Iraq ..................................................................................................... 13 

J-4  Proposed Proclamations/Resolutions from Other Organizations: 13 

J-5  Calendar 13 



 

 

 -  -  

J-6  Communication from City Engineer Steven Vandette and Parks and Recreation 
Director Carol Anderson Regarding Fetterly Drain Work 13 

STUDY ITEMS: 13 

K-1 No Study Items Advanced 13 

PUBLIC COMMENT: Address of “K” Items 13 

CLOSED SESSION: 14 

L-1 Closed Session:  No Closed Session Requested 14 

RECESSED 14 

RECONVENED 14 

ADJOURNMENT 14 

FUTURE CITY COUNCIL PUBLIC HEARINGS: 14 

Monday, November 12, 2007................................................................................... 14 
1. Rezoning Application – Proposed Office/Retail Development, South Side of 

Big Beaver, West of Rochester Road, Section 27 – O-1 to B-2 (File Number: 
Z-728) ................................................................................................................. 14 

2. Community Development Block Grant (CDBG) 2008 Application (pending 
approval) ............................................................................................................ 14 

3. Rezoning Application – Proposed Office Building, East of Livernois, South 
Side of Wattles, Section 22 – R-1C to O-1 (File Number: Z-725) ....................... 14 

SCHEDULED CITY COUNCIL MEETINGS: 14 

Monday, November 12, 2007 Regular City Council ............................................... 14 
Monday, November 19, 2007 Regular City Council ............................................... 14 

Monday, December 3, 2007 Regular City Council ................................................. 14 
Monday, December 17, 2007 Regular City Council ............................................... 14 
Monday, January 7, 2008 Regular City Council .................................................... 14 

Monday, January 28, 2008 Regular City Council .................................................. 14 
Monday, February 4, 2008 Regular City Council ................................................... 14 
Wednesday, February 13, 2008 (Liquor Violation Hearing) Regular City Council . 14 

Monday, February 18, 2008 Regular City Council ................................................. 14 
Wednesday, February 20, 2008 (Liquor Violation Hearing) Regular City Council . 14 
Monday, March 3, 2008 Regular City Council ....................................................... 14 



 

 

 -  -  

Monday, March 17, 2008 Regular City Council ..................................................... 14 



CITY COUNCIL AGENDA  October 15, 2007 

 

- 1 - 

INVOCATION & PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE:  Pastor Johnny Liles – Fellowship 

United Methodist 

CALL TO ORDER: 

ROLL CALL  

(a)  Mayor Louise E. Schilling 
Robin Beltramini 
Cristina Broomfield 
Wade Fleming 
Martin F. Howrylak 
David A. Lambert 
Jeanne M. Stine 

 
(b) Excuse Absent Council Members 
 

 CERTIFICATES OF RECOGNITION:  

A-1 Presentations: 

a) Casual for a Cause Check Presented to Nancy Piotrowski, Troy Youth Assistance  

b) Plaque for the Level Three Governance Award Presented to Council Member Dave 
Lambert by Tim Doyle, Vice President of the Elected Officials Academy  

c) Letter from Michigan Municipal League Director Dan Gilmartin Congratulating Robin 
Beltramini on Being Elected Vice President – Presented by Mayor Schilling  

d) Achievement of Excellence Award from the National Purchasing Institute Presented to 
Susan Leirstein, Purchasing Director  

e) City of Troy Proclamation Recognizing Chamber of Commerce Month, October 2007 – 
Presented to Michele Hodges    

 

CARRYOVER ITEMS:  

B-1 No Carryover Items 
 

PUBLIC HEARINGS: 

C-1 Concept Development Plan Approval – The Pavilions of Troy Planned Unit 

Development (PUD 9) – Northwest Corner of Big Beaver and Coolidge, Section 19 

– O-S-C, O-M and P-1 Districts 

 
Suggested Resolution 
Resolution #2007-10- 
Moved by 
Seconded by 
 
WHEREAS, The petitioner Richardson Development Group, Inc. has requested Concept 
Development Plan approval, pursuant to article 35.50.01, for The Pavilions of Troy Planned 
Unit Development (PUD 9), located on the northwest corner of Big Beaver and Coolidge, in 



CITY COUNCIL AGENDA  October 15, 2007 

 

- 2 - 

Section 19, within the O-S-C, O-M and P-1 zoning districts, being approximately 39.99 acres in 
size;  
 
WHEREAS, The Planning Commission recommended approval of the Concept Development 
Plan on September 11, 2007;  
 
WHEREAS, The proposed PUD meets the Standards for Approval set forth in Article 35.30.00; 
and   
 
WHEREAS, The proposed Planned Unit Development, parcel 88-20-19-476-001 and part of 
parcel 88-20-19-430-002, is described in the following legal description and illustrated on the 
attached Sketch & Description drawing: 
 

 Parcel I 
 
 T2N, R11E, SE 1/4 of Section 19 
 

Commencing at the Southeast corner of Section 19 thence N00°01’30”W, 1240.08 ft. 
along the East line of said Section 19; thence S89°30’00”W, 60.00 ft.  to the Place 
of Beginning; thence S89°30’00”W, 1007.36 ft. along the North right-of-way line of 
Cunningham Dr. (100.00 ft. wide); thence continuing 24.33 ft. along the arc of a 285.00 
ft. radius circular curve to the left, with a central angle of 04°53’29”, having a chord 
which bears S87°03’17”W, 24.32 ft. along the North right-of-way line of said 
Cunningham Dr.; thence N00°01’30”W, 537.20 ft.; thence N89°49’05”E, 631.62 ft. along 
the South line of “Sheffield Manor  Subdivision” as recorded in Liber 142, Pages 
22-24, Oakland County Records; thence S00°01’30”E, 88.57 ft.; thence N89°58’30”E, 
400.00 ft.; thence S00°01’30”E, 440.77 ft. along the West right-of-way line of Coolidge 
Hwy. (120.00 ft. wide) to the Place of Beginning, containing 11.81 ac. of land more or 
less.  Being subject to easements, conditions, exceptions and restrictions of record, if 
any. 

 
 And 
 

 Parcel II 
 
 T2N, R11E, SE 1/4 of Section 19 
 

Commencing at the Southeast corner of Section 19 thence N00°01’30”W, 120.00 ft. 
along the East line of said Section 19; thence S89°30’00”W, 60.00 ft. to the Place of 
Beginning; thence S44°48’54”W, 42.60 ft.; thence S89°30’00”W, 903.00 ft.; thence 
N00°01’30”W, 12.00 ft.; thence S89°30’00”W, 227.00 ft. along the North right-of-way line 
of Big Beaver Rd. (204.00 ft. wide); thence N45°15’40”W, 42.22 ft.; thence 
N00°01’30”W, 824.57 ft. along the East right-of-way line of Cunningham Dr. (100.00 ft. 
wide); thence along the Southeasterly right-of-way line of said Cunningham Dr. 289.06 
ft. along the arc of a 185.00 ft. radius circular curve to the right, with a central angle of 
89°31’26”, having a chord which bears N44°44’15”E, 260.54 ft.; thence N89°30’00”E, 
1006.55 ft. (recorded as 1006.53 ft.) along the South right-of-way line of said 
Cunningham Dr.; thence S00°01’30”E, 1020.06 ft. (recorded as 1020.04 ft.) along the 
West right-of-way line of Coolidge Hwy. (120 ft. wide) to the Place of Beginning.  



CITY COUNCIL AGENDA  October 15, 2007 

 

- 3 - 

Excepting that part of Parcel II described as follows: Commencing at the Southeast 
Corner of Section 19; thence N00°01’30”W, 120.00 ft. along the East line of said Section 
19; thence S89°30’00” W, 60.00 ft.; thence S44°48’54”W, 25.53 ft. to the Place of 
Beginning; thence continuing S44°48’54”W, 17.07 ft.; thence S89°30’00” W, 903.00 ft.; 
thence N00°01’30”W, 12.00 ft.; thence N89°30’00”E, 915.03 ft. along the Northerly right-
of-way line of said Big Beaver Rd. to the Place of Beginning.  Said parcel, less its 
exception, contains 28.18 ac. of land, more or less.  Being subject to easements, 
conditions, exceptions and restrictions of record, if any. 

 

BE IT RESOLVED, That Troy City Council hereby AUTHORIZES the Planning Director and 
City Clerk to take whatever actions are necessary pursuant to the City Ordinance to effect the 
rezoning of the subject parcels to PUD; 
 

BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED, That Troy City Council hereby AMENDS the Zoning District Map 
of the City of Troy Zoning Ordinance to delineate the subject parcels as PUD-009; and 
 

BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED, That Troy City Council hereby APPROVES the Planned Unit 

Development Agreement and  the Mayor and City Clerk are hereby AUTHORIZED TO 

EXECUTE the Planned Unit Development Agreement for The Pavilions of Troy Planned Unit 

Development on behalf of the City; a copy shall be ATTACHED to the original Minutes of this 
meeting; and  
 

BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED, That Troy City Council hereby AUTHORIZES the RECORDING 
of the executed The Pavilions of Troy Planned Unit Development Agreement with the Oakland 
County Register of Deeds; and 
 

BE IT FINALLY RESOLVED, That Troy City Council hereby APPROVES the Concept 
Development Plan for The Pavilions of Troy Planned Unit Development and the petitioner is 
hereby permitted to submit Preliminary Development Plans pursuant to Article 35.50.02 of 
Chapter 39. 
 
Yes: 
No: 

 

POSTPONED ITEMS:   

D-1 No Postponed Items 
 

CONSENT AGENDA:  

The Consent Agenda includes items of a routine nature and will be approved with one 
motion. That motion will approve the recommended action for each item on the Consent 
Agenda. Any Council Member may ask a question regarding an item as well as speak in 
opposition to the recommended action by removing an item from the Consent Agenda 
and have it considered as a separate item. Any item so removed from the Consent 
Agenda shall be considered after other items on the consent portion of the agenda have 
been heard. Public comment on Consent Agenda Items will be permitted under Agenda 
Item 9 “E”.  

 



CITY COUNCIL AGENDA  October 15, 2007 

 

- 4 - 

E-1a Approval of “E” Items NOT Removed for Discussion 
 
Suggested Resolution 
Resolution #2007-10- 
Moved by 
Seconded by 
 

RESOLVED, That all items as presented on the Consent Agenda are hereby APPROVED as 

presented with the exception of Item(s) _____________, which SHALL BE CONSIDERED 
after Consent Agenda (E) items, as printed. 
 
Yes: 
No: 
 

E-1b  Address of “E” Items Removed for Discussion by City Council and/or the Public 
 

E-2  Approval of City Council Minutes 

 
Suggested Resolution 
Resolution #2007-10-  
 
RESOLVED, That the Minutes of the 7:30 PM Regular City Council Meeting of October 1, 2007 

be APPROVED as submitted. 
 

E-3 Proposed City of Troy Proclamation(s): 
 
Suggested Resolution 
Resolution #2007-10- 
 

RESOLVED, That Troy City Council hereby APPROVES the following City of Troy 
Proclamations: 
 

a) Chamber of Commerce Month – October, 2007  

   
E-4 Standard Purchasing Resolutions 
 

a) Standard Purchasing Resolution 1: Award to Low Bidder – Roof Replacement Fire 

Station 5  
 
Suggested Resolution 
Resolution #2007-10- 
 

RESOLVED, That Troy City Council hereby AWARDS a contract to replace the roof at Fire 
Station #5 located at 6399 John R Road to the low bidder, Aero Insulation & Construction, Inc. 
of Madison Heights, MI, for an estimated total cost of $29,975.00; and 
 



CITY COUNCIL AGENDA  October 15, 2007 

 

- 5 - 

BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED, That the award is CONTINGENT upon contractor submission of 
properly executed bid documents, including bonds, insurance certificates and all other specified 
requirements.   
 

b) Standard Purchasing Resolution 1: Award to Low Bidders – Janitorial Services  
 
Suggested Resolution 
Resolution #2007-10- 
 

RESOLVED, That Troy City Council hereby AWARDS contracts to provide two-year 
requirements of janitorial services for various City locations with an option to renew for two (2) 
additional years to the low bidders by group as follows:  
 

COMPANY NAME     GROUP          
Kristel Cleaning, Inc. of Macomb, MI   1 and 5  
Du All Cleaning, Inc. of Macomb, MI   2 and 3  
Omni Facility Services of Southfield, MI   4  

 
at unit prices as contained in the bid tabulation opened August 7, 2007, a copy of which shall 

be ATTACHED to the original Minutes of this meeting, with contracts expiring October 31, 
2009; and   
 

BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED, That the awards are CONTINGENT upon contractor submission 
of properly executed bids and contract documents, including insurance certificates, janitorial 
bonds, and all other specified requirements.  
 

c) Standard Purchasing Resolution 1: Award to Low Bidder – Tee Shirt Contract  
 
Suggested Resolution 
Resolution #2007-10- 
 

RESOLVED, That Troy City Council hereby AWARDS a contract for one-year requirements of 
Tee Shirts (various types) with an option to renew for one additional year to the low total bidder, 
E.A. Graphics of Sterling Heights, MI, at unit prices contained in the bid tabulation opened 

October 2, 2007, a copy of which shall be ATTACHED to the original Minutes of this meeting 
with a contract expiration of September 30, 2008. 
 

E-5 Request for Recognition as a Nonprofit Organization Status from Tim Palmer, 

President – The Lakeshoremen Drum and Bugle Corps 
 
Suggested Resolution 
Resolution #2007-10- 
 

RESOLVED, That Troy City Council hereby APPROVES the request from The Lakeshoremen 
Drum and Bugle Corps, asking that they be recognized as a nonprofit organization operating in 
the community for the purpose of obtaining a charitable gaming license. 
 

E-6 Private Agreement for Dr. Joseph Medical Building – Project No. 06.925.3 
 



CITY COUNCIL AGENDA  October 15, 2007 

 

- 6 - 

Suggested Resolution 
Resolution #2007-10- 
 

RESOLVED, That Troy City Council hereby APPROVES the Contract for the Installation of 
Municipal Improvements (Private Agreement) between the City of Troy and John R. Joseph, 
MD, for the installation of water main, sanitary sewer, storm sewer, sidewalks, paving and soil 

erosion on the site and in the adjacent right of way, and AUTHORIZES the Mayor and City 

Clerk to execute the documents, a copy of which shall be ATTACHED to the original Minutes of 
this meeting. 
 

E-7 Private Agreement for the SECO Tool A.B. Project – Project No. 07.939.3 
 
Suggested Resolution 
Resolution #2007-10- 
 

RESOLVED, That Troy City Council hereby APPROVES the Contract for the Installation of 
Municipal Improvements (Private Agreement) between the City of Troy and Cunningham-Limp,  
for the installation of water main, storm sewer, and concrete approach and sidewalk on the site 

and in the adjacent right of way, and AUTHORIZES the Mayor and City Clerk to execute the 

documents, a copy of which shall be ATTACHED to the original Minutes of this meeting. 
 

E-8 Announcement of Public Hearing – Community Development Block Grant (CDBG) 

2008 Application 
 
Suggested Resolution 
Resolution #2007-10- 
 

RESOLVED, That Troy City Council hereby SCHEDULES a Public Hearing on November 12, 
2007 at 7:30 PM or as soon thereafter as the agenda will permit for the purpose of hearing 
public comments on the adoption of the Community Development Block Grant 2008 
application. 
 

E-9 Request for Acceptance of a Permanent Easement for Water Main and Emergency 

Ingress/Egress – C-L Bellingham Associates, LLC, Section 26 – Sidwell #88-20-26-

200-088 
 
Suggested Resolution 
Resolution #2007-10- 
 

RESOLVED, That Troy City Council hereby ACCEPTS the two Permanent Easements for 
water main and emergency ingress/egress from property owner C-L Bellingham Associates, 
LLC, having Sidwell# 88-20-26-200-088; and 
 

BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED, That the City Clerk is hereby DIRECTED to record the 
Permanent Easements with the Oakland County Register of Deeds, a copy of which shall be 

ATTACHED to the original Minutes of this meeting. 
 



CITY COUNCIL AGENDA  October 15, 2007 

 

- 7 - 

E-10 Request for Approval of Purchase Agreement for Right-of-Way – Sidewalk Gap 

Completion Project – Olive Peters, 115 Wattles – Sidwell #88-20-15-355-048, -049 

and -050 
 
Suggested Resolution 
Resolution #2007-10- 
 

RESOLVED, That Troy City Council hereby APPROVES the Purchase Agreement in the 
amount of $21,818.00 between Olive Peters, owner of the property having Sidwell #88-20-15-
355-048, 049 & 050, and the City of Troy, for the acquisition of right-of-way for a Sidewalk Gap 
Completion project in the amount of $21,818.00, plus closing costs.  
 

PUBLIC COMMENT: Limited to Items Not on the Agenda 
 

Public comment limited to items not on the Agenda in accordance with the Rules of 
Procedure of the City Council, Article 16 - Members of the Public and Visitors. 
 

REGULAR BUSINESS: 
 
Persons interested in addressing the City Council on items, which appear on the printed 
Agenda, will be allowed to do so at the time the item is discussed upon recognition by 
the Chair in accordance with the Rules of Procedure of the City Council, Article 16, 
during the Public Comment section under item 11“F” of the agenda. Other than asking 
questions for the purposes of gaining insight or clarification, Council shall not interrupt 
or debate with members of the public during their comments. Once discussion is 
brought back to the Council table, persons from the audience will be permitted to speak 
only by invitation by Council, through the Chair. Council requests that if you do have a 
question or concern, to bring it to the attention of the appropriate department(s) 
whenever possible. If you feel that the matter has not been resolved satisfactorily, you 
are encouraged to bring it to the attention of the City Manager, and if still not resolved 
satisfactorily, to the Mayor and Council. 
 
NOTE: Any item selected by the public for comment from the Regular Business Agenda 
shall be moved forward before other items on the regular business portion of the agenda 
have been heard. Public comment on Regular Agenda Items will be permitted under 
Agenda Item 11 “F”.  

F-1 Appointments to Boards and Committees: a) Mayoral Appointments: Downtown 

Development Authority b) City Council Appointments: Advisory Committee for 

Persons with Disabilities; Historical Commission; Municipal Building Authority; 

Parks & Recreation Board; Southeastern Michigan Council of Governments 

(SEMCOG); and Troy Daze Committee     

 
The appointment of new members to all of the listed board and committee vacancies will 
require only one motion and vote by City Council. Council members submit recommendations 
for appointment. When the number of submitted names exceeds the number of positions to be 
filled, a separate motion and roll call vote will be required (current process of appointing). Any 



CITY COUNCIL AGENDA  October 15, 2007 

 

- 8 - 

board or commission with remaining vacancies will automatically be carried over to the next 
Regular City Council Meeting Agenda.  
 
The following boards and committees have expiring terms and/or vacancies. Bold black lines 
indicate the number of appointments required: 
 

(a)  Mayoral Appointments   
 
Suggested Resolution 
Resolution #2007-10- 
Moved by 
Seconded by 
 

RESOLVED, That the Mayor of the City of Troy hereby APPOINTS the following person(s) to 
serve on the Boards and Committees as indicated: 
 

Downtown Development Authority 
Appointed by  Mayor (13-Regular) –  4-Year Terms 

 
 Term Expires 09/30/2011 

 
Yes: 
No: 

 

(b)  City Council Appointments 
 
Suggested Resolution 
Resolution #2007-10- 
Moved by 
Seconded by 
 

RESOLVED, That Troy City Council hereby APPOINTS the following person(s) to serve on the 
Boards and Committees as indicated: 
 

Advisory Committee for Persons with Disabilities  
Appointed by Council (9-Regular; 3-Alternate) – 3 Year Terms 
 

(Alternate) Term Expires 11/01/09 

 

Historical Commission  
Appointed by Council  (7- Regular) 3 Year Terms 
 
 Term Expires 07/31/10 

 

Municipal Building Authority  
Appointed by Council (5-Regular) – 3 Year Terms 
 
 Unexpired Term 01/31/09 



CITY COUNCIL AGENDA  October 15, 2007 

 

- 9 - 

 

Parks & Recreation Board  
Appointed by Council  (7-Regular) – 3 Year Terms; (1-Troy School Board) – 1 Year Term;  
(1-Troy Daze Committee) – 1 Year Term; (1-Advisory Committee for Sr. Citizens) – 1 Year 
Term 
 

(Troy Daze Committee Rep.) Term Expires 11/30/08 

 

Southeastern Michigan Council of Governments (SEMCOG) 
Appointed by Council  (1-Delegate & 1-Alternate ) – Reappointed Every Odd Year Election 
 

(Delegate) Term Expires 11/09/09 

 
(Alternate) Term Expires 11/09/09 

 

Troy Daze Committee  
Appointed by Council  (9-Regular) - 3 Year Terms 
 
 Term Expires 11/30/10 

 
 Term Expires 11/30/10 

 
 Term Expires 11/30/10 

 
Yes: 
No: 
 

F-2 Bid Waiver – Purchase of Fitness Equipment for the Troy Community Center 

 
Suggested Resolution  
Resolution #2007-10- 
Moved by  
Seconded by 
 
WHEREAS, From the time the Community Center opened in 2002, the  City of Troy has 
purchased numerous pieces of Precor cardiovascular and strength equipment from All-Pro 
Exercise of Farmington Hills;  
 

WHEREAS, All-Pro Exercise is the only authorized Precor and Matrix dealer in the State of 
Michigan; and 
 

WHEREAS, Equipment put into service October 2004 is due for replacement after considerable 
patron use; 
 

THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED, That Troy City Council hereby WAIVES formal bidding 

procedures, and APPROVES a contract to purchase four Precor ellipticals, three Precor AMT 
trainers and two Matrix A5x elliptical trainers to All-Pro Exercise at an estimated total cost of 



CITY COUNCIL AGENDA  October 15, 2007 

 

- 10 - 

$36,845.00, which includes a three-year maintenance agreement for all parts and labor, as well 
as equipment trade-ins.  
 
Yes: 
No: 
 

F-3 Traffic Committee Recommendations – September 19, 2007 

 
Suggested Resolution  
Resolution #2007-10- 
Moved by  
Seconded by 
 

(a) No Changes at the Side Driveway of 6780 Rochester on Hartwig 
 

RESOLVED, That there be NO CHANGES at the side driveway of 6780 Rochester on Hartwig. 
 

(b) No Changes on Rochester North and South of Player 
 

RESOLVED, That there be NO CHANGES on Rochester north and south of Player. 
 

(c) No Changes to Parking Regulations on Derby – Proceed with Installation of NO 

PARKING signs on the North Side of Derby 
 

RESOLVED, That there be NO CHANGES to parking regulations on Derby, and PROCEED 
with installation of NO PARKING signs on the north side of Derby as per City Council 
resolution. 
 

(d) No Changes to Parking Regulations on Ivy Lane 
 

RESOLVED, That there be NO CHANGES to parking regulations on Ivy Lane. 
 

(e) No Changes at the intersection of Milverton and Isabell    
 

RESOLVED, That there be NO CHANGES at the intersection of Milverton and Isabell; and  
 

BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED, That the Neighborhood Harmonization Program BE 

PRESENTED to the residents to allow them to go through the harmonization process before 
making any decision on changes. 
 

(f) Establishment of Fire Lanes/Tow Away Zones at Grand Haven and Lovington    
 

RESOLVED, That Traffic Control Order No. __________ be ISSUED for the establishment of 
fire lanes/tow away zones shown in the attached sketch at Grand Haven and Lovington as 
recommended by the Fire Department. 
 
Yes: 
No: 
 



CITY COUNCIL AGENDA  October 15, 2007 

 

- 11 - 

F-4 Designation of Voting Delegates at the Annual Meeting of the National League of 

Cities  

 
Suggested Resolution  
Resolution #2007-10- 
Moved by  
Seconded by 
 

RESOLVED, That _________________________ is hereby DESIGNATED as the Voting 

Delegate and ________________________ is hereby DESIGNATED as the Alternate Voting 
Delegate to cast the vote of the City of Troy at the Annual Business Meeting of the National 
League of Cities to be held November 17, 2007 in New Orleans, LA.  
 
Yes: 
No: 
 

F-5 Sixth Amendment to Consent Judgment for The Pavilions of Troy 

 
Suggested Resolution  
Resolution #2007-10- 
Moved by  
Seconded by 
 
WHEREAS, The City of Troy is a party to a Consent Judgment in Case Number 70-69246, 
Oakland County Circuit Court governing 113 acres at the northwest corner of Big Beaver and 
Coolidge; and  
 
WHEREAS, There have been several amendments to the above referenced Consent 
Judgment, with the last amendment being the Fifth Order Amending the Consent Judgment, 
which was entered by the Court on November 28, 2006; and  
 
WHEREAS, An amendment to the above referenced Consent Judgment is required in order to 
allow the development of PUD #9, a mixed use development named The Pavilions of Troy, 
which was approved by the Troy City Council on ________________, 2007 with the approval of 
the Pavilions of Troy Planned Unit Development Agreement and the Pavilions of Troy 
Conceptual Development Plan; and  
 
WHEREAS, The City Council has reviewed the proposed Sixth Amendment to the Consent 
Judgment in the above referenced case, and approves the document as to substance.   
 
NOW THEREFORE, IT IS HEREBY ORDERED that the City of Troy hereby approves the 
substance of the Sixth Order Amending Consent Judgment, which is attached to the original 
minutes of this meeting;  
 
IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that the City Attorney is authorized to execute this Sixth Order 
Amending Consent Judgment in Case Number 70-69246, Oakland County Circuit Court, or a 
substantively similar document, as soon as the document has been executed by the other 
parties to the Consent Judgment.   

 



CITY COUNCIL AGENDA  October 15, 2007 

 

- 12 - 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that any proposed substantive changes to a Sixth Order Amending 
Consent Judgment in the above referenced case shall be returned to City Council for its 
consideration.   
 
Yes: 
No: 
 

F-6 Preliminary Site Condominium Review – Adams Road Site Condominium, East 

Side of Adams, South of South Boulevard, Section 6 – R-1A 

 
Suggested Resolution  
Resolution #2007-10- 
Moved by  
Seconded by 
 

RESOLVED, That Troy City Council hereby APPROVES the preliminary site condominium 
plan, as submitted under Section 34.30.00 of the Zoning Ordinance (Unplatted One-Family 
Residential Development) for the development of a One-Family Residential Site Condominium, 
One-Family Cluster Option, known as Adams Road Site Condominium, located south of 
Wattles, west of Crooks, in Section 6, including 5 home sites, within the R-1A zoning district, 
being 4.98 acres in size. 
 
Yes: 
No: 

MEMORANDUMS AND FUTURE COUNCIL AGENDA ITEMS:  

G-1 Announcement of Public Hearings:  

a) Rezoning Application – Proposed Office/Retail Development, South Side of Big Beaver, 
West of Rochester Road, Section 27 – O-1 to B-2 (File Number: Z-728) – November 12, 
2007  

b) Rezoning Application – Proposed Office Building, East of Livernois, South Side of 
Wattles, Section 22 – R-1C to O-1 (File Number: Z-725) – November 12, 2007       

    

G-2 Green Memorandums:  No Green Memorandums Advanced 
 

COUNCIL REFERRALS: Items Advanced to the City Manager by Individual City 

Council Members for Placement on the Agenda 

H-1 No Council Referrals Advanced 

 

COUNCIL COMMENTS: 

I-1 No Council Comments Advanced 
 



CITY COUNCIL AGENDA  October 15, 2007 

 

- 13 - 

REPORTS:   

J-1 Minutes – Boards and Committees:  

a) Historic Commission/Final – June 26, 2007  

b) Youth Council/Final – August 22, 2007  

c) Advisory Committee for Persons with Disabilities/Draft – September 5, 2007  

d) Advisory Committee for Persons with Disabilities/Final – September 5, 2007  

e) Building Code Board of Appeals/Final – September 5, 2007 

f) Planning Commission/Final – September 11, 2007  

g) Election Commission/Final – September 12, 2007 

h) Board of Zoning Appeals/Draft – September 18, 2007  

i) Planning Commission Special/Study/Draft – September 25, 2007  

j) Youth Council/Draft – September 26, 2007 

k) Election Commission/Draft – October 1, 2007  

l) Building Code Board of Appeals/Draft – October 3, 2007 
 

J-2 Department Reports:   

a) Building Department – Permits Issued During the Month of September, 2007 
 

J-3  Letters of Appreciation:  

a) Letter to Chief Nelson from John Simpson in Appreciation of the Fire Department 
Honoring his son-in-law Joshua Brown who was killed in the Line of Duty in Iraq         

 

J-4  Proposed Proclamations/Resolutions from Other Organizations:   
 

J-5  Calendar 
 

J-6  Communication from City Engineer Steven Vandette and Parks and Recreation 

Director Carol Anderson Regarding Fetterly Drain Work 

 

STUDY ITEMS:  
 

K-1 No Study Items Advanced 
 

PUBLIC COMMENT: Address of “K” Items 
 
Persons interested in addressing the City Council on items, which appear on the printed 
Agenda, will be allowed to do so at the time the item is discussed upon recognition by 
the Chair in accordance with the Rules of Procedure of the City Council, Article 16, 

during the Public Comment section under item 18 of the agenda. Other than asking 
questions for the purposes of gaining insight or clarification, Council shall not interrupt 
or debate with members of the public during their comments. Once discussion is 
brought back to the Council table, persons from the audience will be permitted to speak 
only by invitation by Council, through the Chair. City Council requests that if you do 
have a question or concern, to bring it to the attention of the appropriate department(s) 
whenever possible. If you feel that the matter has not been resolved satisfactorily, you 
are encouraged to bring it to the attention of the City Manager, and if still not resolved 
satisfactorily, to the Mayor and Council. 



CITY COUNCIL AGENDA  October 15, 2007 

 

- 14 - 

 

CLOSED SESSION: 

L-1 Closed Session:  No Closed Session Requested 
 

RECESSED 

 

RECONVENED 

 

ADJOURNMENT 
 

Respectfully submitted, 

 

Phillip L. Nelson, City Manager 
 
 

FUTURE CITY COUNCIL PUBLIC HEARINGS: 
 

Monday, November 12, 2007 
1. Rezoning Application – Proposed Office/Retail Development, South Side of Big 

Beaver, West of Rochester Road, Section 27 – O-1 to B-2 (File Number: Z-728) 
2. Community Development Block Grant (CDBG) 2008 Application (pending 

approval)  
3. Rezoning Application – Proposed Office Building, East of Livernois, South Side of 

Wattles, Section 22 – R-1C to O-1 (File Number: Z-725) 
 

 
 

SCHEDULED CITY COUNCIL MEETINGS: 
 

Monday, November 12, 2007 .................................................... Regular City Council 

Monday, November 19, 2007 .................................................... Regular City Council 

Monday, December 3, 2007 ...................................................... Regular City Council 

Monday, December 17, 2007 .................................................... Regular City Council 

Monday, January 7, 2008 .......................................................... Regular City Council 

Monday, January 28, 2008 ........................................................ Regular City Council 

Monday, February 4, 2008 ........................................................ Regular City Council 

Wednesday, February 13, 2008 (Liquor Violation Hearing) ...... Regular City Council 

Monday, February 18, 2008 ...................................................... Regular City Council 

Wednesday, February 20, 2008 (Liquor Violation Hearing) ...... Regular City Council 

Monday, March 3, 2008 ............................................................. Regular City Council 

Monday, March 17, 2008 ........................................................... Regular City Council 

 



1

Laura D Campbell

From: Barbara A Pallotta
Sent: Tuesday, September 25, 2007 7:48 AM
To: Laura D Campbell
Cc: Julie Hamilton; Carol K Anderson
Subject: RE: Troy Youth Assistance - Casual for a Cause 

Laura – will you add? Thx! Barb 

 
_____________________________________________ 
From: Julie Hamilton  
Sent: Monday, September 24, 2007 3:14 PM 
To: Carol K Anderson; Barbara A Pallotta 
Subject: Troy Youth Assistance - Casual for a Cause  
 
 
Barb,  
 
Please add Troy Youth Assistance to the 10/15 council agenda for presentation of their check.  
 
Carol,  
 
Nancy Piotrowski will be in attendance to accept the check on behalf of the organization.  I will send the check to you in 
mail.  Thanks again.  
 
Julie  
 
 
 

campbellld
Text Box

campbellld
Text Box
A-01a



1

Laura D Campbell

From: Mary F Redden
Sent: Wednesday, October 03, 2007 2:39 PM
To: agenda
Subject: 10.15.07 - Presentation of Plaque to Council Member Dave Lambert

From Tim Doyle, Vice President of the Elected Officials Academy – Plaque for the Level Three – 
Governance Award   
 
(no back-up materials will be submitted) 
 
Mary Redden, 
Administrative Assistant to the City Manager 
(248) 524‐3329 
 
 

campbellld
Text Box

campbellld
Text Box
A-01b



 

October 8, 2007 
 
Robin Beltramini 
Councilmember 
500 West Big Beaver 
Troy, MI  48084 
 
 
Dear Robin, 
 
Let me be the first to officially congratulate you on your newly elected position as vice president of the 
Michigan Municipal League for a one-year term.  Your impressive dedication and advocacy efforts for 
Michigan’s communities make us proud to have you as a member of our team.  I look forward to 
continuing our League partnership over the next year and as you ascend to the role of League president 
in 2009.   
 
Congratulations, 

 
Daniel P. Gilmartin 
Executive Director 
 

campbellld
Text Box
A-01c



1

Laura D Campbell

From: Cynthia A Stewart
Sent: Tuesday, October 09, 2007 1:48 PM
To: Mary F Redden; agenda
Subject: council agenda 10/15

Under presentations: 
Achievement of Excellence Award from the National Purchasing Institute 
To be presented to Susan Leirstein, Purchasing Director 
 
Cindy Stewart 
Community Affairs Director 
City of Troy, MI 
248.524.1147 
stewartca@ci.troy.mi.us 
www.ci.troy.mi.us 
 
 

campbellld
Text Box
A-01d

campbellld
Text Box



PROCLAMATION 
CHAMBER OF COMMERCE MONTH 

OCTOBER 2007 
 

WHEREAS, The Troy Chamber of Commerce works with the Troy business community to 
advance the civic, economic, industrial, personal, social and cultural systems of our state; and 
 
WHEREAS, The Troy Chamber of Commerce has contributed to the protection of commerce 
and Troy business climate for 48 years since the incorporation of the Troy Chamber of 
Commerce in October, 1959; and 
 
WHEREAS, The Troy Chamber of Commerce strives to forge connections among the City’s 
more than 5,500 businesses and 130,000 employees; and 
 
WHEREAS, The Troy Chamber of Commerce, under the guidance of their Board of Directors, 
works to promote the region's business community through education, information and the more 
than 300 networking opportunities that are developed by the Chamber; and 
 
WHEREAS, The Michigan Chamber of Commerce Executives (MCCE) Association, of which 
the Troy Chamber of Commerce is a member, works to promote excellence and high ethical 
standards for Chambers of Commerce through education, information, and networking 
opportunities; and 
 
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED, that the City of Troy City Council hereby proclaims 
October, 2007 as Chamber of Commerce Month in Troy, Michigan. 
 
BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED, that the City of Troy celebrates the 48th Anniversary of the Troy 
Chamber of Commerce and applauds its members for working to make our region the best 
place to live, work, learn and play. 
 
Presented this 15th day of October 2007. 
 

campbellld
Text Box
A-01e



 
 
DATE: October 10, 2007 
 
TO: Phillip L. Nelson, City Manager 
 
FROM: Brian P. Murphy, Assistant City Manager/Economic Development Services 
 Mark F. Miller, Planning Director 
 
SUBJECT: Public Hearing – Concept Development Plan Approval – The Pavilions of Troy Planned 

Unit Development (PUD 9) – Northwest corner of Big Beaver and Coolidge, Section 19 
– O-S-C, O-M and P-1 Districts 

 
Background: 

 
 The Planning Commission recommended Concept Development Plan Approval of PUD 9 at 

the September 11, 2007 Special/Study meeting.   
 
 The applicant proposes a phased mixed-use development on the 40-acre parcel.  Phase 1 is 

proposed to include 100-250 residential units and 200,000-600,000 square feet of office and 
retail.  The development at build out is proposed to have 750 residential units, 300,000 square 
feet of office, 500,000 square feet of retail and a 250 room hotel. 

 
 Richard Carlisle of Carlisle/Wortman Associates, Inc., the City’s Planning Consultant, 

prepared a report summarizing the project and recommending Concept Development Plan 
Approval.  This report was revised on September 25, 2007. 

 
 The proposed PUD meets the Standards for Approval of Section 35.30.00 of the City of Troy 

Zoning Ordinance. 
 

 The proposed PUD is consistent with the Key Concepts of the Big Beaver Corridor Study. 
 

 The PUD Agreement has been reviewed and approved by the City Attorney’s Office. 
 

 The applicant provided updated materials to be inserted into the City Council members’ CDP 
binders. 
 
 

CCIITTYY  CCOOUUNNCCIILL  AACCTTIIOONN  RREEPPOORRTT  
 

bittnera
Text Box
C-01



Financial Considerations: 
 

 There are no financial considerations for this item. 
 
 
Legal Considerations: 
 

 City Council has the authority to act on this application.  
 
 Concept Development Plan Approval will have the effect of rezoning the subject parcel to PUD 

9.  
 
 
Policy Considerations: 
 

 The item is consistent with City Council Goal I (Enhance the livability and safety of the 
community), Goal III (Retain and attract investment while encouraging redevelopment), and Goal 
V (Maintain relevance of public infrastructure to meet changing public needs). 

 
 
Options: 
 

 City Council can approve the application for Concept Development Plan Approval. 
 
 City Council can approve the application for Concept Development Plan Approval with 

conditions. 
 
 City Council can deny the application for Concept Development Plan Approval. 

 
 
 
 
Approved as to form and legality:  _____________________________________ 
  Lori Grigg Bluhm, City Attorney 
 
Attachments: 
1. Maps.  
2. Report prepared by Carlisle/Wortman Associates, Inc., dated September 25, 2007. 
3. Planning Commission Minutes from the September 11, 2007 Regular meeting. 
4. PUD Agreement. 
5. Public comment. 
6. Updated CDP materials. 
 
Prepared by RBS/MFM 
 
cc: Applicant 
 File /PUD 9 
 
G:\PUD's\PUD 009 Pavilions of Troy\CC Public Hearing 10 15 07.doc 









R
O

C
H

E
STE

R

D
EQ

U
IN

D
R

E

LONG LAKE
JO

H
N

R

SOUTH BLVD

WATTLES

SQUARE LAKE

BIG BEAVER
I75

I75

STEPH
EN

SO
N

C
O

O
LID

G
E

C
R

O
O

KS

M
A

IN

MAPLE

FOURTEEN MILE

AD
A

M
S



CITY OF TROY

PREPARED BY CITY OF TROY PLANNING DEPT.

SUBJECT PROPERTY



CASW
ELL

C
E

D
A

R
R

I D
G

E

CUNNINGHAM

N
EW

P
O

R
T 

C
T

CHELSEA

WEMBLEY

LANCER

CHELSEA CTBE
AC

H

BA
LF

O
U

R

G
RE

SH
AM

YORK

DOROTHEA CT

W
AT

ER
LO

O

BABCOCK

LEXINGTON

TO
TH

IL
L

ROMANY

KINGSL
EY

JA
C

K

C
O

O
LI

D
G

E
H

W
Y

LA
KE

VI
EW

HAMPTON

COOLIDGE HWY

COOLIDGE HWY

W BIG BEAVER

M
AY

FA
IR

G
O

LF
V

IE
W

PLANNED UNIT DEVELOPMENT REQUEST
PROPOSED THE PAVILIONS OF TROY
NW CORNER OF BIG BEAVER & COOLIDGE HWY
SEC. 19  (PUD #9)

0 100 200 300 40050
Feet ³

SUBJECT PROPERTY

SUBJECT PROPERTY



CASW
ELL

C
E

D
A

R
R

I D
G

E

CUNNINGHAM

N
EW

P
O

R
T 

C
T

CHELSEA

WEMBLEY

LANCER

CHELSEA CTBE
AC

H

BA
LF

O
U

R

G
RE

SH
AM

YORK

DOROTHEA CT

W
AT

ER
LO

O

BABCOCK

LEXINGTON

TO
TH

IL
L

ROMANY

KINGSL
EY

JA
C

K

C
O

O
LI

D
G

E
H

W
Y

LA
KE

VI
EW

HAMPTON

COOLIDGE HWY

COOLIDGE HWY

W BIG BEAVER

M
AY

FA
IR

G
O

LF
V

IE
W

R-1B

OSC

R-1C

P-1

O-M

O-1

E-P

B-2
CJ-26

CJ-13

CJ-26

PLANNED UNIT DEVELOPMENT REQUEST
PROPOSED THE PAVILIONS OF TROY
NW CORNER OF BIG BEAVER & COOLIDGE HWY
SEC. 19  (PUD #9)

0 100 200 300 40050
Feet ³

SUBJECT PROPERTY

SUBJECT PROPERTY



 
 
  

 Date: September 25, 2007 
 

Planned Unit Development/Site Plan Review 
For 

City of Troy, Michigan 
 
GENERAL INFORMATION 
 
Applicant Richardson  Development Group 

Project Name: Pavilions of Troy PUD 

Plan Date: September 4, 2007 

Latest Revision: September 4, 2007 

Location: Northeast corner of Big Beaver and Coolidge 

Zoning: O-S-C Office Service Commercial, O-M Office Medical, and P-1 
Vehicle Parking 

Action Requested: City Council approval of the Concept Development Plan.  The 
procedure for review and approval of a PUD is a three-strep 
process.   

• The first step is an application for and approval of a 
Concept Development Plan, along with a Development 
Agreement. The Concept Development Plan and 
Development Agreement are approved by the City Council 
following recommendation of the Planning Commission.  
Such action, if and when approved, shall confer upon the 
applicant approval of the Concept Development Plan and 
shall rezone the property to PUD in accordance with the 
terms and conditions of the Concept Development Plan 
approval. The Planning Commission recommended 
approval of the Concept Development Plan on September 
11th.  

• The second step of the review and approval process is 
application for and approval of a Preliminary Development 
Plan (preliminary site plan) for the entire project, or for any 



Pavilions of Troy 9-25-07 

2 

one or more phases of the project.  City Council shall have 
the final authority to approve and grant Preliminary 
Development Plan approvals, following a recommendation 
by the Planning Commission.   

• The third step of the review and approval process is the 
review and approval of a Final Development Plan (final site 
plan) for the entire project, or for any one or more phases 
of the project, and the issuance of building permits.  Final 
Development Plans for Planned Unit Developments are 
submitted to the Planning Department for administrative 
review, and the Planning Department, with the 
recommendation of other appropriate City Departments, 
has final authority for approval of such Final Development 
Plans. 

Required Information:         Provided.  The applicant has submitted an extensive application 
which includes the following: 

• PUD Application 

• Executive Summary 

• Conceptual Plan 

• Community Impact Statement 

• Development Guidelines 

• Traffic Impact Assessment 

• Shared Parking Analysis 

• Environmental Impact Statement 

• PUD Agreement 

• Team Credentials 

 
PROJECT, SITE DESCRIPTION, AND CONCEPT PLAN 
 
The applicant proposes a visionary and aggressive reuse/redevelopment of the former K-Mart  
Headquarters site.  With the exception of the Sears data processing operations located in the 
northwest corner of the site, the existing headquarters buildings are vacated. 
 



Pavilions of Troy 9-25-07 

3 

Figure 1: Site Location 

 
 
Located on forty (40), acres at the northwest section of Big Beaver and Coolidge, the project is 
envisioned as a mixed use project with a distinctive urban flavor.  Planned in two phases, the 
project at full buildout will consist of residential, office, hotel, institutional and retail uses as 
follows: 
 

• Residential uses (750 units), including townhomes, multiple family buildings, lofts, and 
senior housing 

 
• Office uses (300,000 square feet) including general, professional, and medical offices, 

research, and financial institutions 
 

• Hotel use (250 rooms) 
 

• Retail uses (500,000 sq. ft.) including general and specialty retail, full service restaurants, 
and bars and take-out restaurants and entertainment and fitness center. 

 



Pavilions of Troy 9-25-07 

4 

• Miscellaneous Institutional and accessory uses which may include public facilities, 
churches, and transit centers and will include parking structures and other accessory uses 

 
Phase I will consist primarily of the central core of the project along with portions that extend 
out to Coolidge.  The elements of Phase I include: 
 

• Residential uses (100-250 units), including lofts, condominiums, and apartments. 
 
• General office and retail uses (200,000-600,000 sq.ft.) including general and special 

retail, entertainment, restaurants, fitness centers, and offices. 
 
Council Members should be aware that, while ranges of units and/or building areas are depicted 
for Phase I, the ultimate areas are depicted for Phase I, the ultimate threshold of what will be 
built is dictated by the total buildout indicated above. 
 
THE CONCEPT PLAN 
 
The Concept Plan organizes the site into four major thematic areas.  The extreme northern 
boundary adjacent to the existing single family residential area to the north is designated as 
Residential Area where densities are the lowest and use is exclusively devoted to residential.  
Adjacent to the south is Transition Area which will also be predominantly residential but where 
a compatible mixture of retail and office uses will be introduced. 
 
The core of the project will be the Pavilion Area envisioned as the central organizing feature of 
the project.  While a significant number of residential units are included, (100-250 units), the 
Pavilion Area will include a concentration of retail, restaurant, and entertainment uses. 
 
The Pavilion Area will be bordered on the east, (fronting Coolidge), and on the west, (fronting 
Cunningham), by the Border Area.  This area will include residential, office, hotel, and retail 
uses. 
 
SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT FINDINGS AND CONCLUSIONSUMARY OF G 
      Land 

• Land Use Mix -The project will be unique to Troy by providing both a horizontal and 
vertical mix of uses.  Proposed uses include: 750 residential units; 300,000 square feet of 
office space; 250 room hotel; and 500,000 square feet of retail use.  The Pavilion will 
reuse/redevelop a site that is no longer viable and would otherwise be unusable in its 
present state. 

 
• Phasing-The project will be built in two phases.  Phase 1 is primarily the central core of 

the project and will include 100-250 residential units and 200-600,000 square feet of 
office and retail uses. 

 
• Sustainable Design-The applicant has made a commitment to seek LEED certification to 

the extent possible for building design and low impact development (LID) methods for 
site design specifically to control stormwater quality and enhance quality. 



Pavilions of Troy 9-25-07 

5 

 
• Site Amenities-The site will incorporate a number of publicly accessible site amenities 

that include an outdoor skating rink, gathering space for civic events, public art, outdoor 
seating areas and resident park and play areas. 

 
Open space is reflective of a project which is urban in character and will consist of both 
landscape and greenspace. 
 

• Walkability- Major features of the site will be interconnected with internal walkways 
that connect with walkways that border the site along Coolidge at Big Beaver.  The site 
will be externally linked with three pedestrian crossings along Coolidge and one on Big 
Beaver. 

 
• Site Access/Traffic Assessment-In addition to Cunningham, the site will be accessed at 

three points on Coolidge and one entrance on Big Beaver.  A number of road 
improvements will occur for Phase 1 as further discussed and documented in a report by 
Birchler Arroyo and attached to this report. 

 
Since the preparation of the Birchler Arroyo was issued, a supplemental report was 
prepared which discusses the issue of signage spacing and improvements.  The general 
reaction from the RCOC was that the spacing and road improvements are acceptable. 

 
• Setbacks/Transitions-The proposed project will provide a 100 foot setback along the 

northern residential boundary and will incorporate lower density residential uses as a 
transition.  Building heights will not exceed 40 feet in height in this area. 

 
Along Big Beaver, the setback was increased for 10 to 15 feet and along Coolidge Road 
the setback will be 25 feet. 

 
• Visual Image/External Boundaries-In response to comments, specific attention was 

paid to the visual image from external thoroughfares.  Consistent with the Big Beaver 
Corridor Plan, landscape greenbelt concepts have been developed that will soften the 
image of parking in Phase 1 and the buildout of buildings in the latter phase. 

 
As called for in the Corridor Plan, an iconic image will be created at the intersection of 
Big Beaver and Coolidge that will feature a backdrop of extensive greenery. 

 
NEIGHBORING ZONING AND LAND USE 
 
With the exception of the northerly boundary, the site is primarily surrounded by non-residential 
use.  The area to the north is zoned, R-1B One Family Residential and is currently a residential 
subdivision and church.  Across Big Beaver, the area is zoned O.S.C. Office Service 
Commercial, O.M., Office Mid-rise and O-1, Office Building all devoted to existing office.  To 
the east, the area is zoned B-2, Community business devoted to Somerset and R-1B which is 
open space.  Adjacent to the site to the west is O-M, Office Mid-rise. 
 



Pavilions of Troy 9-25-07 

6 

Figure 2: Existing Land Use and Zoning 

 
Items to be Addressed:  none 
 
MASTER PLAN 
 
Master Plan designations replicate current zoning patterns.  The subject site is designated Mid-
rise Office, (inside Cunningham), and Low-rise Office, (North and West of Cunningham).  The 
area to the north is planned for low density single family residential.  The Northeast corner of 
Big Beaver and Coolidge is planned Regional Center and low density transition.  The Southeast 
corner is planned Regional Center.  The southwest corner is a combination of Mid-rise and Low-
rise office. 
 



Pavilions of Troy 9-25-07 

7 

Figure 3: Future Land Use 

 
 
However, the Big Beaver Corridor Plan has a more ambitious vision for the site.  Located within 
the area designated as “Troy City Center” an urban mixed use district is envisioned.  This area is 
intended to become the heart of the City.  The Building Use Plan calls for mixed use of office, 
residential and retail within the core of the site, multiple family as a transition to the north and 
some commercial along Coolidge.  Therefore, the Pavilions of Troy PUD is consistent with the 
vision of the Corridor Plan. 
 
Items to be Addressed:  None. 
 
PUD STANDARDS  
 
The PUD provisions of the Zoning Ordinance are found in article XXXV.  Criteria are set forth 
in Section 35.30.00 for consideration of a PUD project as a PUD.  The following are our 
comments: 



Pavilions of Troy 9-25-07 

8 

 
Section 35.30.00, A.  The proposed development shall be applied for by a person or entity that 
has the legal right to execute a binding agreement concerning all process on the development. 
 
The applicant, Richardson Development, is authorized to apply for Concept Development Plan 
approval on behalf of Diamond Troy JV LLC. 
 
Section 35.30.00, B.:  The applicant shall demonstrate that through the use of the PUD option, 
the development will accomplish a sufficient number of the following objectives, as are 
reasonably applicable to the site, providing:  
 
1.  A mixture of land uses that would otherwise not be permitted without the use of the PUD 

provided that other objectives of this Article are also met.  

 

The project will include both a horizontal and vertical mix of uses, the first of its kind in 
the City of Troy.  Such a project is consistent with the Big Beaver Corridor Plan and 
would be impossible to implement using conventional zoning techniques. 

 

2.  A public improvement or public facility (e.g. recreational, transportation, safety and 
security) which will enhance, add to or replace those provided by public entities, thereby 
furthering the public health, safety and welfare.  

 

The Pavilions of Troy will include a variety of civic spaces designed for public gathering 
and events.  The site will be interconnected with internal walkways that extend to and 
connect with walkways that border the site on Big Beaver and Coolidge.  Both active 
(e.g. outdoor skating and play areas) and passive recreational and leisure activities will 
be incorporated in the site.  Roadway improvements will be made to both Coolidge and 
Big Beaver to improve access into the site and to ensure more safe pedestrian access 
between the site and nearby uses. 

 

3. A recognizable and material benefit to the ultimate users of the project and to the 
community, where such benefit would otherwise be infeasible or unlikely to be achieved 
absent these regulations.   

 

The proposed project represents state of the art thinking in terms of viable sustainable 
mixed use development.  As stated, implementing the project through conventional zoning 
techniques would not be possible.  Further, the Corridor Plan calls for the type of uses 
proposed by the applicant. 

 

4. Long term protection and preservation of natural resources, natural features, and historic 
and cultural resources, of a significant quantity and/or quality in need of protection or 
preservation, and which would otherwise be unfeasible or unlikely to be achieved absent 



Pavilions of Troy 9-25-07 

9 

these regulations.  

 

As the site is currently developed, there are few, if any, natural features which exist.  The 
applicant has been challenged to develop the site using sustainable green building and 
site design techniques.  As a result, a significant number of measures are identified in the 
Development Guidelines, Section 12.  This includes seeking LEED certification, to the 
extent possible, for building design and employing low impact design methods for 
stormwater management to control quantity and enhance quality. 

 

5. A compatible mixture of open space, landscaped areas, and/or pedestrian amenities.   

Section 3 of the Development Guidelines discusses proposed project amenities which will 
include: 

 

• Ice skating rink 

• Open air civic gathering space(s) 

• Outdoor seating areas 

• Public art 

• Park and play areas for residents 

 

As indicated, the project will consist of a combination of greenspace, hardscape (plazas 
and walkways) and buffers.  Of the 40 acres, 7.5 acres or 18.5% will be devoted to some 
form of open space.  Given the urban nature of the project, some of the open space will 
be paved, or hardscape areas, devoted to walkways, plazas and sitting areas.  There will 
also be green space in the form of transitional buffers and park/play area. 

 

Also as requested, attention has been paid to the visual image from the adjoining 
thoroughfares.  In keeping with the Big Beaver Corridor Plan, landscape greenbelt 
concepts are illustrated (Development Guidelines, Sec. 10) from both roadways that will 
be attractive and will soften the appearance of buildings and parking. 

 

A particular concern has been expressed regarding the Big Beaver/Coolidge corner 
image.  The Corridor Plan calls for a “green” gateway feature.  A concept is illustrated 
in the Development Guidelines, Section 5, which will be installed during Phase I. 

 

6. Appropriate land use transitions between the PUD and surrounding properties.  

  

As requested, a more substantial buffer has been provided between the project and the 
residential area to the north.  A 100’ setback will be provided from the nearest building 



Pavilions of Troy 9-25-07 

10 

to the northerly property boundary. 

 

7. Design features and techniques, such as green building and low impact design, which 
will promote and encourage energy conservation and sustainable development.  

 

Section 12 of the Development Guidelines enumerates the variety of low impact and 
sustainable design measures that will be pursued.  In addition to seeking LEED 
certifiable methods, a number of Low Impact Design methods will also be used. 

 

8. Innovative and creative site and building designs, solutions and materials.  

  

In addition to the sustainable design methods cited above, the mixed use nature of the 
project is intended to foster economic sustainability.  The focus of the project on the 
Pavilions Area is the central focus of activity, the emphasis on street activity and the 
fostering of a walkable environment make this project unique. 

 

The challenge for the bit the City and the applicant will be how this activity can be 
“exported” to the other three corners of Big Beaver and Coolidge to avoid the project 
becoming an enclave.  This will require the active involvement of the City, DDA and 
other property owners. 

 

9. The desirable qualities of a dynamic urban environment that is compact, designed to 
human scale, and exhibits contextual integration of buildings and city spaces.   

  

Viable urban environments have a mix of uses with a strong emphasis on street activity.  
Ground floor retail, restaurant and entertainment uses along with both formal and 
informal outdoor activity will create this dynamic environment.  A strong pedestrian 
network, as mitigated throughout the project, is essential to creating the environment. 

 

10.  The PUD will reasonably mitigate impacts to the transportation system and enhance non-
motorized facilities and amenities.   

 

A number of measures will be employed to offset traffic impact.  These measures are 
discussed more fully in the section of this report entitled “Traffic Impact.”  We have 
already discussed the enhanced walkability of the project. 

 

11.  For the appropriate assembly, use, redevelopment, replacement and/or improvement of 
existing sites that are occupied by obsolete uses and/or structures;  



Pavilions of Troy 9-25-07 

11 

  

The Pavilions of Troy PUD will be redeveloping what would be an otherwise difficult 
building and property to simply reuse.  Due to the single use nature of the existing 
building for office space, it is unlikely it can be occupied by either a single office user or 
divided for multiple users. 

 

12.  A complementary variety of housing types that are in harmony with adjacent uses;  

 

As with the balance of the project, a mix of housing is provided to appeal to a broader 
market.  Particularly noteworthy is the addition of senior housing to this site, thereby 
providing for a generational mix of residents. 

 

13. A reduction of the impact of a non-conformity or removal of an obsolete building or 
structure.  

 

Please refer to comment #11 above. 

 

14. A development consistent with and meeting the intent of this Article; and will promote 
the intent of the plan meeting the requirements of the Municipal Planning Act or the 
intent of any applicable corridor or sub-area plans.  If conditions have changed since the 
plan, or any applicable corridor or sub-area plans, were adopted, the uses shall be 
consistent with recent development trends in the area.  

 

As mentioned earlier, while the proposed project does not meet the Master Land Use 
Plan designation for office use for the project, it does advance the Big Beaver Corridor 
Plan.  

 

15.  Includes all necessary information and specifications with respect to structures, heights, 
setbacks, density, parking, circulation, landscaping, amenities and other design and 
layout features, exhibiting a due regard for the relationship of the development to the 
surrounding properties and uses thereon, as well as to the relationship between the 
various elements within the proposed Planned Unit Development. In determining whether 
these relationships have been appropriately addressed, consideration shall be given to the 
following: 

A. The bulk, placement, and materials of construction of the proposed structures and 
other site improvements.   

 In the Development Guidelines, Section 4, proposed architectural and building 
characteristic are provided in conceptual form.  The concept set forth in Section 4 
is consistent with the Big Beaver Corridor Plan which emphasizes the “street 
presence” of building and a sense of enclosure.  This concept is modified in an 



Pavilions of Troy 9-25-07 

12 

appropriate manner within the various districts of the site. 

 

B. The location and screening of vehicular circulation and parking areas in relation 
to surrounding properties and the other elements of the development.   

Typical screening measures are provided in the Development Guidelines, Section 
6.  Views along perimeter streets are also provided in Section 9. 

 

C. The location and screening of outdoor storage, loading areas, outdoor activity or 
work areas, and mechanical equipment.   

Typical screening measures are discussed in the Development Guidelines, Section 
9. 

 

D. The hours of operation of the proposed uses.  

Hours of operation for retail and business uses will be commensurate with 
normal operating hours.  However, as is both typical and desired by a mixed use 
project of this nature, a 24/7 atmosphere is sought. 

 
E. The location, amount, type and intensity of landscaping, and other site amenities.   
 

Development Guidelines, Section 10, provides this information.  Various concepts 
described throughout this Section suggest a strong commitment to the greenspace 
components of this project. 

 
16. Parking shall be provided in order to properly serve the total range of uses within the 

Planned Unit Development. The sharing of parking among the various uses within a 
Planned Unit Development may be permitted.  The applicant shall provide justification to 
the satisfaction of the City that the shared parking proposed is sufficient for the 
development and will not impair the functioning of the development, and will not have a 
negative effect on traffic flow within the development and/or on properties adjacent to 
the development.   

  
Please refer to the section of this report entitled Parking and Loading. 

 
17. Innovative methods of stormwater management that enhance water quality shall be 

considered in the design of the stormwater system.  
 

As indicated earlier, the applicant has committed to stormwater management methods 
that will both control quantity and improve quality. 

 
18. The proposed Planned Unit Development shall be in compliance with all applicable 

Federal, State and local laws and ordinances, and shall coordinate with existing public 
facilities.   

 



Pavilions of Troy 9-25-07 

13 

On the basis of the information provided all applicable laws and ordinances will be 
observed. 

 
Items to be Addressed:  None. 
 
COMPARATIVE  INTENSIY ANALYSIS  
 
Existing Site 
 
The subject is 44.6 acres with 28.2 acres located within the inner ring created by Cunningham 
and 16.4 acres outside the inner ring north of Cunningham. 
 
The existing buildings on the site consist of the Former K-Mart Headquarters at 932,772 square 
feet and the current Sears (K-Mart) data center at 89,158 square feet for a total of 1,021,930 
square feet. 
 
Current Zoning 
 
The 28.2 acres within the inner ring are zoned OSC-Office Service Commercial.  OSC would 
permit 30,000 square feet of building area per acre amounting to 845,300 square feet.  The 16.4 
acres north of Cunningham are OM-Mid-Rise-Office.  OM would permit 20,000 square feet of 
building area per acre or 328,500 square feet. 
 
Therefore, the total potential development as zoned is 1,173,800 square feet. 
 
Big Beaver Corridor Plan 
 
The site is located within the area designated as the Troy City Center which calls for more 
intense development than current zoning. 
 
The plan designates the inner ring in an equal amount of mixed use retail, office and residential 
at 7-8 stories in height and multiple family at 4-6 stories in height.  The ground floor lot 
coverage in this area could reach fifty (50) percent of the site area, with integrated parking 
provided with buildings.  Using conservative estimates of build-out potential, approximately 
2,300,000 square feet of building is possible in this area, not including parking. 
 
The area north of Cunningham is designated for multiple family and commercial at much less 
intensity than the central core of the site.  Assuming fifteen (15) percent lot coverage, the 
northerly portion of the site would accommodate over 300,000 square feet.  Therefore, the total 
building potential based on the Corridor Plan is 2,600,000 square feet. 



Pavilions of Troy 9-25-07 

14 

 
Pavilions PUD 
 
Although specific square footages have not been provided for every use (i.e., dwellings and 
hotel), the applicant has represented that the overall project would be between 1.8 and 1.9 
million square feet. 
 
However, applying reasonable assumptions to the area associated with both the dwellings and 
hotel space, I arrived at the following estimates of total square feet: 
 

Uses        Sq. Ft. 
Residential (750 units @ 1200 sq.ft./unit)=   900,000 
Hotel (250 rooms @ 600 sq.ft./room) =   150,000 
Office=       300,000 
Retail=        500,000 
 
       
   1,850,000 

 
Therefore, the applicant’s representation of 1.8-1.9 million square feet seems reasonable.  The 
intensity of the Pavilions project is well within the range of intensity anticipated by the Big 
Beaver Corridor Plan. 
 
 
AREA, WIDTH, HEIGHT, SETBACKS 
 
The project site is 40 acres in size with over 900 feet of frontage on Big Beaver and nearly 1500 
feet of frontage on Big Beaver.  The most critical issue of setbacks is at the perimeters addressed 
as follows in the Development Guidelines, Section 4: 
 

• 100 feet building setback from the neighborhood to the north as defined in the 
Neighborhood District section. 

 
• 15 foot building setback along Big Beaver Road. 

 
• 25 foot building setback along Coolidge Highway. 

 
• 10 foot building setback along Cunningham Road and the Sears Data Center. 

 
• Zero lot lines internal to the project, consistent with the design of a dense multi-use 

environment. 
 
The 100 foot setback to the north was increased in response to previous comments.  The setback 
along Big Beaver has been increased from 10 to 15 feet to address comments regarding the area 
available to incorporate aesthetic improvements. 
 



Pavilions of Troy 9-25-07 

15 

Internally, the applicant is requesting 0 lot line setbacks.  Such an approach is typical with a 
project of this nature and is subject to applicable building code requirements.  In reviewing the 
Concept Plan, there will be separation between certain buildings, primarily where such buildings 
are in proximity to parking structures. 
 
Building height/massing is depicted in the Conceptual Plan, Section 2.  Heights generally 
transition from the main road internally (i.e. greater heights along Big Beaver and Coolidge).  In 
the central core of the project, Pavilion Area, heights range from 75-100 feet. 
 
Along the northerly boundaries, where compatible heights are critical, heights are reduced from 
75’ to 40’.  In other words, heights that are in closest proximity to the neighboring subdivision 
will not exceed 40’. 
 
Items to be Addressed: None.  
 
PARKING, LOADING 
 
The applicant has submitted a detailed analysis evaluating characteristics of parking in a mixed 
use project.  As with traditional traffic analysis, parking is treated by the Zoning Ordinance on 
the basis of individual uses.  We have found that most mixed use projects will have different 
peak demand for the various uses.  We think the Executive Summary (p.1) of the Shared Parking 
Analysis explains the concept very well: 
 

The general principle of shared parking is that two or more uses can utilize a single 
parking space without encroachment.  This concept has been newly revised with the 
development of compact, mixed-use town centers.  This type of development lends itself to 
applying shared parking principles maximize the use of infrastructure while minimizing 
impacts to the environment created by the construction of unnecessary parking. 
 

The specific methodology used by the applicant involves a combination of applying parking 
standards from the Urban Land Institute (ULI) coupled with adjustments for shared parking 
based on peak demand of various uses.  This analysis further compares adjusted ULI industry 
standards with both actual and adjusted City of Troy standards.  The result of the applicant’s 
analysis will result in a 38% reduction in parking from what the City would require if each use 
would consider individually. 
 
We have had extensive discussion regarding the methodology used by the applicant and agree 
that a conventional application of Ordinance standards would not be reasonable for a project of 
this nature.  Furthermore, the applicant is willing to revisit the issue following completion of 
Phase I should the City request an evaluation. 
 
We also note that the applicant has performed a parking analysis on a block-by-block basis, 
which is useful in determining whether the distribution of parking is appropriate.  Assuming the 
applicant is correct in their calculation of the quantity of parking, the overall distribution seems 
reasonable. 
 



Pavilions of Troy 9-25-07 

16 

Items to be Addressed:  Language in the Development Agreement allowing City to request 
parking analysis after completion of Phase I. 
 
SITE ACCESS AND CIRCULATION 
 
In addition to traffic analyses performed by Dr. Abraham, the City’s Traffic Engineer, Rod 
Arroyo of Birchler Arroyo has been retained to prepare a detailed analysis of the traffic impact 
study submitted by the applicant.  A number of meetings have been held with the relevant parties 
of both the City and applicant.  The full text of Mr. Arroyo’s report is included as Attachment I, 
including a supplemental report issued later. 
 
Site Access 
 
The site is proposed to be accessed via existing and new driveways. 
 

• A major boulevard entrance is proposed on Big Beaver. 
 

• In addition to Cunningham, there will be three (3) access points to Coolidge. 
 

• On Cunningham, there will be multiple access points. 
 

The specific characteristics and limitations of each drive is described more fully in the Traffic 
Report prepared by Rod Arroyo. 
 
Traffic Impact 
 
As indicated in our report dated July 19, 2007 report, the basis for all traffic analysis rests within 
the accuracy of trip generation figures.  Mixed use projects add complexity to the analysis 
because standard trip generation rates must be adjusted to compensate for varying peak demand.  
It is the conclusion of the Arroyo report that the applicant’s traffic impact assessment accurately 
forecasts traffic volumes using accepted methodology.  As a result, improvements will be 
needed. 
 
Proposed Improvements 
 
There are a number of road improvements anticipated during Phase I.  A significant “non-
improvement” will be keeping Cunningham in its current location.  Cunningham is part of the 
northern collector system and its function will be preserved. 
 
In summary, other Phase I improvements include: 
 

• Addition of a new traffic signal and associated lane capacity improvements on Coolidge 
at the existing access into Somerset between Nordstrom and the parking garage.  This 
will not only improve access into the site, but will facilitate pedestrian access across 
Coolidge. 

 



Pavilions of Troy 9-25-07 

17 

• Closing of the first two median openings on Coolidge and constructing a new media 
opening (cross over) north of Big Beaver.  This will allow northbound u-turns. 

 
• The unsignalized eastbound-to-westbound crossover located east of Cunnignham on Big 

Beaver will be closed and the traffic will be diverted to the crossover just west of 
Coolidge Highway.  The signalized westbound-to-eastbound crossover on Big Beaver 
west of Coolidge Highway will be relocated 400 feet west of its current location. 

 
• Lane and signal improvements at Big Beaver/Adams, Coolidge/Maple, and Big 

Beaver/Crooks. 
 

Upon completion of the Phase I, the balance of the project calls for the northly access drive to be 
completed through the site and connected with Cunningham on the westerly boundary.  The new 
intersection with Coolidge will require a traffic signal. 
 
Both Rod Arroyo and Dr. Abraham expressed concerns about the close traffic signal spacing 
proposed by the applicant.  This type of signal spacing is found in urban, downtown settings and 
can work well if properly coordinated.  In this case, coordination along Coolidge Highway and 
along Big Beaver Road is necessary for smooth traffic flow. 
 
The general reaction from the Road Commission’s traffic signal department staff was that the 
proposed new signals and road improvements along Coolidge Highway appear to be workable.  
Additional analysis and adjustments will be necessary as this project comes on line.  The RCOC 
staff felt they could operate the signal system so that northbound traffic on Coolidge Highway, 
north of Big Beaver Road, would not queue (back up) into the Big Beaver Road through lanes 
during the peak hour conditions identified in the Pavilions traffic study. 
 
Birchler Arroyo recommends that the Applicant prepare an updated traffic impact study at the 
completion of Phase I to see how well the assumptions are working and make necessary 
adjustments for changes in tenant mix and traffic conditions.  They also recommend that the City 
work with all major property owners in the area to coordinate holiday traffic management. 
 
Pedestrian Circulation 
 
A walkable environment is a goal of the Big Beaver Place and a key feature of the Pavilion 
project.  The following summarizes the important pedestrian elements of the project: 
 

• The Applicant is proposing three main pedestrian crossing locations on Coolidge 
Highway: Big Beaver Road (both sides), south of Cunningham, and the north side of the 
drive south of Cunningham. Currently, signalized pedestrian crossings are only provided 
at Big Beaver Road and Cunningham (over 1,200 feet apart). Adding a signal and 
pedestrian crossing at the drive south of Cunningham will significantly shorten the 
distance many Somerset North shoppers have to walk to cross Coolidge. 

 
• The concept of iconic pedestrian bridges was raised in the Big Beaver Corridor Study. 

Although a bridge was not specifically envisioned across Coolidge at this location, the 



Pavilions of Troy 9-25-07 

18 

City, Somerset Collection, and the Pavilions developer should explore the feasibility of a 
grade-separated pedestrian connection. This would make crossing the wide Coolidge 
Boulevard easier, provide protection from the elements, and potentially lead to fewer 
vehicular cross-over trips between the two sites. This issue need not be resolved at the 
Concept Plan stage. 

 
• All major roadways in the Pavilions will have pedestrian paths on both sides.  As noted 

in the Application, this is proposed to be a walkable development, with pedestrian 
linkages through. Connections are also to be provided to the existing path system along 
Big Beaver Road and Coolidge Highway. On-street parking will be provided on many 
internal roads, creating a buffer between moving traffic and pedestrian pathways. 

 
• The only pedestrian crossing shown on Big Beaver, adjacent to the site, is the existing 

crossing at the Big Beaver / Coolidge intersection. An additional crossing may be 
feasible at the Big Beaver / Cunningham intersection, but it will require changes in 
signalization and adding pedestrian paths and striping in the Big Beaver right-of way.  
There may not be sufficient demand to warrant this improvement, but pedestrian activity 
in this area should be monitored through the build out of the project. 

 
Items to be Addressed:  Language in the Development Agreement allowing City to request an 
updated traffic study after completion of Phase I. 
 
ESSENTIAL SERVICES 
 
The City Engineer has completed a preliminary evaluation concerning the ability of the city 
water and sanitary sewer systems to handle the estimated sewer flows and water demands from 
the proposed Pavilions of Troy.  A complete copy of the report is included as Attachment II. 
 
Sanitary Sewer: 
 
The existing sanitary sewer system has the capacity to accept flows from at least Phase I of the 
development and may be sufficient to accommodate the entire project.  The capacities of the 
existing sewers themselves were evaluated using standard engineering calculations.  The result 
was that the existing sewers have capacity to handle the peak flows estimated for Phase I of the 
Pavilions.  Analyses also indicate that the existing sewers may also have the capacity to serve the 
entire development.  The calculations show that the existing sewers have slightly more flow 
capacity than the flow estimates calculated based on land uses, but additional analyses are 
needed. 
 
When the office uses of both the K-Mart site and Pavilions site are equated to residential 
equivalent units or REU’s which are used in the estimation of sanitary sewer flows, the K-Mart 
site equates to 896 REU’s as compared to 450 REU’s for Phase I of the Pavilions or almost half 
that of the K-Mart land use.  While this is a good indication that the existing sewer system has 
the capacity to accommodate Phase I, other analyses were performed to confirm this preliminary 
conclusion. 
 



Pavilions of Troy 9-25-07 

19 

The City is currently in the midst of an extensive sewer-metering program intended to identify 
capacity deficiencies.  This must be completed before a determination can be made as to the 
adequacy of the existing sewer system to accommodate Phase II of the Pavilions of Troy.  
However, according to preliminary results, the City Engineer believes there would be sufficient 
capacity to serve both project phases. 
 
Water Main: 
 
An evaluation of the estimated water demands from the Pavilions indicates that the existing 
utilities in the area have the capacity to adequately serve the additional demands anticipated by 
both phases of the Pavilions development.  However, the proposed Pavilions development may 
impact the system, further lowering the operating pressure range.  Phase I does not have a 
negative impact on the water system since the water demands for this phase are below that of the 
existing K-Mart development. 
 
The City Engineer has directed their consultants to identify what improvement to the water 
system in that area is needed so that the water pressure can be maintained at acceptable levels. 
 
RECOMMENDATIONS 
 
The proposed Pavilions of Troy is a well-conceived, mixed use project which incorporates state 
of the art thinking in terms of sustainability, excellence in design, mixed use and walkability.  
The proposed project is not only consistent with the concepts set forth in the Big Beaver 
Corridor Plan, it will be a catalyst to advance the plan elsewhere in the Corridor.   
 
Throughout the project, the applicant has been receptive to recommendations and responsive to 
requests for more information.  Further, the Plan has been modified to address concerns and 
comments.  Although a Concept Plan at this stage, it is our opinion that the information 
submitted provides a template to move forward with the project.  Therefore, we would 
recommend approval of the Concept Development Plan by the City Council. 
 
 
 

 
  # 225-02-2703 
 
RKC: lh 



 

 

Birchler Arroyo Associates, Inc. Review of Pavilions Traffic Study   

Tr
af

fic
 R

ev
ie

w
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

   
T h e   P a v i l i o n s   T h e   P a v i l i o n s   T h e   P a v i l i o n s      

o f  T r o yo f  T r o yo f  T r o y   
 
 

Traffic Review Prepared By: 

 
Birchler Arroyo  
Associates, Inc. 

 

 

 

 
September  6, 2007 



 

 

Birchler Arroyo Associates, Inc. Review of Pavilions Traffic Study 2 

 
 
 
 

The Applicant, Richardson Development Group, Inc., is proposing a Planned Unit 
Development (PUD) project at the northwest corner of Big Beaver Road and Coolidge 
Highway in Troy, Michigan.   The plan includes the demolition of the former Kmart 
World Headquarters building and redevelopment of the 40-acre site into a mixed-use 
project. 
 
The project is proposed to be built in two phases.  Phase 1 is expected to consist of 100-
250 residential units and 200,000 to 600,000 square feet of non-residential uses.  The 
total project at buildout is expected to include 750 residential units, 250 hotel rooms, 
and 800,000 square feet of other non-residential development.  The other non-
residential development includes retail, office, cinema, grocery store, fitness club,  
restaurants, entertainment, and recreation. 
 
Birchler Arroyo Associates, Inc. has been retained by Carlisle Wortman Associates, Inc. 
to review the traffic impact study prepared by the Applicant’s traffic consultant, 
TetraTech MPS / Wells & Associates. 
   

 
 
 
 

The following tables forecast the number of trips that are expected to be generated by 
the Pavilions development.  A trip is a single or one-direction vehicle movement with 
an origin or destination inside the project boundaries.  Table 1 shows the weekday 
forecasts and Table 2 shows the Saturday forecasts. 
 
Table 1—Weekday Trip Generation  - The Pavilions 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
Source: TetraTech MPS 
 

 

Project Description 
What is the Developer Proposing? 

Trip Generation 
How Much Traffic Will The Proposed Development Generate? 



 

 

Birchler Arroyo Associates, Inc. Review of Pavilions Traffic Study 3 

Table 2– Saturday Trip Generation—The Pavilions 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Source: TetraTech MPS 
 
The “total trips” reflected in Tables 1 and 2 show a forecast of the total number of vehi-
cles turning in and out of site driveways.   Internal trips, “Somerset synergy” trips, and 
pass-by trips are deducted from this forecast to show “new trips” to the road network.    
 
The “total internal capture trips” reflects the number of trips that are forecast to be from 
one Pavilions use to another and would not require leaving the site.  For example, an 
office worker at Pavilions walking to an on-site restaurant and back has generated two 
pedestrian trips, but not two vehicle trips. The mixed-use nature of the project allows 
internal walking trips to replace some of the vehicular trips that would typically occur 
with a non-pedestrian project.  These internal trips are subtracted from “total trips” as 
part of the calculation of new trips. 
 
The “Somerset synergy” trips reflect the fact that large commercial centers tend to en-
courage comparison shopping and therefore create traffic “synergy”.   Studies have 
shown that many shoppers at one large retail center were coming from or destined to 
another large retail center in the same or nearby community.  The length of these trips 
are typically shorter and involve a different route of travel than “new trips”.   This re-
flects that some shoppers at Somerset will also travel to Pavilions and vice versa.  These 
trips will be short in length and have a different impact than a motorists traveling from 
home to one of the centers. 
 
“Pass-by” trips reflect motorists already on the road network that stop at The Pavilions 
on the way to or from another destination.   For example, a motorist traveling from 
work to home that stops for groceries at the Pavilions grocery store is not generating 
new traffic on the road network, only turning traffic in and out of the site.   
 
The Applicant’s traffic consultant has followed guidelines from the Institute of Trans-
portation Engineers as well as experience from other similar centers to adjust traffic 
forecasts for the factors described above. 
 
 
 
 



 

 

Birchler Arroyo Associates, Inc. Review of Pavilions Traffic Study 4 

 
 

The Applicant’s Traffic Consultant compared forecasted Pavilions traffic with traffic 
generated by the same 40-acre site when it was actively used as the world headquarters 
for Kmart.   The p.m. peak hour comparison reflects new trips (discounting pass-by, in-
ternal capture, and synergy with Somerset trips).  The a.m. peak hour and daily trip 
comparisons reflect total trips, with no discounted trips, because there are not sufficient 
studies to support reductions for these times, even though we know the factors causing 
reductions are present.  The Pavilions is forecast to generate 261 more a.m. peak hour 
trips and 621 more p.m. peak hour trips.  On a daily basis, Pavilions will generate over 4 
times as much traffic. 
 
Table 3—Trip Generation Comparison 
 

Source: TetraTech MPS 
 

 
 
 
 
 

The Applicant’s traffic study included a number of key steps to determine what im-
provements must be made for traffic to flow acceptably in and around the subject site.   
 
1. Existing traffic volumes were counted (weekday a.m. peak hour, weekday p.m. peak 

hour, and Saturday peak hour).   
 
2. Existing traffic volumes were increased to reflect growth from other developments 

(background growth) based on forecasts prepared by the Southeast Michigan Coun-
cil of Governments (SEMCOG). 

 
3. Traffic from The Pavilions was added to the road network (existing plus background 

traffic). 
 
The traffic study included a study area that extended out approximately one mile from 
the site boundaries.   This study boundary was established in conjunction with the Road 
Commission for Oakland County (RCOC) and the City of Troy Traffic Engineer, Dr. 
John Abraham. 
 

Traffic Improvements 
What Improvements Are Necessary For Proper Traffic Flow? 

 
 
Size  

A.M. Peak Hour  Trips P.M. Peak Hour NEW Trips Daily Trips 

In Out Total In Out  Total Total 

Office Headquarters 1.16 Million 
Square feet 

1,467 110 1,577 140 1,133 1,273 8,730 

Pavilions Mixed-
Use 

See Applica-
tion 

1,058 780 1,838 892 1,002 1,894 37,033 

 
 
Land Use  

How Does The Pavilions Compare To The Former Kmart Site? 



 

 

Birchler Arroyo Associates, Inc. Review of Pavilions Traffic Study 5 

For Phase 1, the following road improvements have been identified by the Applicant’s 
consultant: 
 
1. Cunningham Road, which currently loops through the 40-acre site, connecting Big 

Beaver to Coolidge, will remain.  It will serve as the western boundary of the 
project.  “New Road” is proposed north of Cunningham, which will partially serve as 
the northern boundary of development for the project (see Figure 1).  A portion of 
this new road will be built in Phase 1 for access to the grocery store (Figure 2).  The 
remainder will be built in Phase 2 (Figure 3).  The Big Beaver Corridor Study calls 
for parallel collector roads in the Big Beaver Road corridor located both north and 
south of Big Beaver Road.  Cunningham is part of the northern collector road system 
and its function is preserved by The Pavilions of Troy concept plan. 

 
2. A new traffic signal is proposed on Coolidge Highway, north of Big Beaver Road, at 

the existing driveway to Somerset located between Nordstrom and the parking 
garage (Drive #6—Figure 2).   This will facilitate pedestrian movements across 
Coolidge and provide for vehicular movements between Somerset and The 
Pavilions.  Because this drive is the first key ingress point north of Big Beaver Road, 
it will facilitate a significant northbound left-turn movement into the site.  The 
applicant is proposing two left-turn lanes to handle this flow so that traffic does not 
queue (back up) into the northbound Coolidge through lanes.   Because the turn 
lanes will require reducing the median width, east-west pedestrian crossings are 
proposed on the north side of the intersection only. 

 
3. The first two median openings on Coolidge Highway, north of Big Beaver, will be 

closed.  A new median opening (crossover) will be constructed just north of Big 
Beaver (approximately 150 feet north) to facilitate U-turns (Michigan lefts from 
Drive #7) to go northbound on Coolidge.  This will prohibit direct left turns from 
Coolidge into Drive #7 and instead direct these left turners to Drive #6, where the 
new signal will be located. 

 
4. The unsignalized eastbound-to-westbound crossover located east of Cunningham on 

Big Beaver will be closed and the traffic will be diverted to the crossover just west of  
Coolidge Highway.  The signalized westbound-to-eastbound crossover on Big Beaver 
west of Coolidge Highway will be relocated 400 feet west of its current location. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 

 

Birchler Arroyo Associates, Inc. Review of Pavilions Traffic Study 6 

Figure 1 



 

 

Birchler Arroyo Associates, Inc. Review of Pavilions Traffic Study 7 

Figure 2 



 

 

Birchler Arroyo Associates, Inc. Review of Pavilions Traffic Study 8 

Figure 3 



 

 

Birchler Arroyo Associates, Inc. Review of Pavilions Traffic Study 9 

5. Lane and signal improvements at Big Beaver / Adams, Coolidge / Maple, and Big 
Beaver / Crooks are necessary.  Big Beaver / Adams is currently operating at Level of 
Service (LOS) “E” during a.m. and p.m. peak hours.  LOS “E” and “F” are considered 
unacceptable by most municipalities.   For Adams and Big Beaver, exclusive right-
turn lanes on the northbound and westbound approaches are necessary to achieve 
acceptable levels of service.  The northbound right-turn lane addition would likely 
also require extending the existing second northbound through lane, north of Big 
Beaver, beyond its current length so that it will function as a true through lane.   
Traffic signal modifications to allow both protected (green arrow only) and permit-
ted (flashing, yield to oncoming traffic) left turns are recommended by the traffic 
study.    

 
 For Coolidge and Maple, the eastbound and westbound left turns are currently an 

operational challenge.  The study evaluated two possible improvement scenarios: 1) 
adding a third eastbound through lane and westbound right-turn lane on Maple or 
2)  constructing dual left-turn lanes on both eastbound and westbound approaches 
and adding a westbound right-turn lane.   Signal timing and phasing modifications 
would be necessary also.  With the addition of the dual left-turn lanes, the signal 
would need to allow both protected and permitted left turns for northbound Coo-
lidge Highway.   The dual left-turn lane option provides overall LOS “D” or better 
during all peak hours evaluated. 

 
 The Big Beaver and Crooks intersection currently operates at LOE “E” during the 

p.m. peak hour.  This poor level of service can be mitigated by re-striping and 
changing signal timing so that the outer through lanes on both the northbound and 
southbound approaches function as through/right lanes.  This better enables the in-
tersection to handle the existing heavy volume of right turns. 

 
For buildout, an additional traffic improvement will be necessary: 
 

A new road is proposed to be built through the northern third of the project that 
will intersect with Coolidge Highway, north of Cunningham.  This new intersection 
will require a traffic signal.  In addition, the eastbound-to-northbound left turn at 
Cunningham is proposed to be relocated to this new intersection.  Eastbound left 
turns will not be permitted at Cunningham and Coolidge under the buildout pro-
posal by the Applicant.    

 



 

 

Birchler Arroyo Associates, Inc. Review of Pavilions Traffic Study 10 

 
 
 
 

The following describes the proposed site access plan: 
 
Big Beaver Road 
    
1. One new boulevard driveway is proposed on Big Beaver Road.   This will lead di-

rectly into the Pavilions area (the project’s main street area).  This drive will be right 
turns in and right turns out only. 

 
2. Access to the site via Big Beaver will also be available indirectly from the existing 

Cunningham Drive / Big Beaver and Coolidge Highway / Big Beaver intersections 
(see next page). 

 
 
Cunningham Drive 
    
1. There will be two driveways accessing the north-south portion of Cunningham 

Drive.  These will be full access drives, with left turns and right turns permitted in 
and out of the site. 

  
2. As part of Phase 2 (buildout), the function of Cunningham at Coolidge will be modi-

fied to eliminate all eastbound left turns.    These will be shifted north to the New 
Road intersection with Coolidge (see Figure 3). 

 
3. Along the east-west portion of Cunningham, there is proposed to be a single drive 

on the south side that will access a proposed parking garage (Figure 1).  Three drive-
ways are also proposed on the north side of Cunningham serving individual build-
ings and the grocery store parking lot. 

 
4. The configuration of Cunningham at “the curve” is proposed to be modified so that 

traveling from Cunningham to the New Road is the through movement and con-
tinuing on Cunningham is a turning movement.   We have raised concerns about the 
proposed geometrics of this change as well as the impact on the Big Beaver Road 
Corridor Study concept, which calls for Cunningham to be a parallel collector road 
to Big Beaver Road.   This should be resolved through further analysis as part of the 
site plan, once it is prepared.  This issue need not be fully addressed at the Concept 
Plan stage. 

 
 
 

Traffic Improvements—Site Access 
How Will Site Access Work? 



 

 

Birchler Arroyo Associates, Inc. Review of Pavilions Traffic Study 11 

Coolidge Highway 
    
1. There will be four points of access to Coolidge 

Highway, three of which will be signalized. 
 
2. The northern access point, New Road, will ini-

tially be constructed as an unsignalized drive-
way serving the grocery store.  It will initially 
allow right turns in and out and left turns in 
only.  At buildout (see Figure 4), it will be sig-
nalized and it will allow all right turn and left 
turn movements. 

  
3. Cunningham Drive will continue to allow east-

west through traffic in all phases, preserving its 
function as an alternate to Big Beaver Road.  As 
noted above, eastbound left turns will be 
shifted north as part of Phase 2. 

 
4. Drive #6, which aligns with the existing drive 

between Nordstrom and the Somerset North 
Parking Garage, will be signalized.  This drive 
will provide for a direct connection between 
the Somerset Collection and the Pavilions.  It 
will also provide two northbound through 
lanes into the Pavilions, which will serve as a 
major ingress point from Coolidge Highway. 

  
5. Drive #7 will be controlled by stop signs on 

both sides of Coolidge.  Only right turns in and 
right turns out will be permitted at this loca-
tion.  Indirect left turns in will be accommo-
dated via the new median cross-over north of 
Big Beaver Road (for Nordstrom entering). 

 
6. One outstanding issue regarding Coolidge 

Highway access is coordination with the Road 
Commission regarding the proposed new traffic 
signal plan.   The close signal spacing will re-
quire careful coordination of signals to provide 
smooth progression of traffic.  A meeting has 
been scheduled by the Applicant with the Road 
Commission prior to the September 11, 2007 
Planning Commission meeting. 

 
FIGURE 4 

Adapted from Applicant 



 

 

Birchler Arroyo Associates, Inc. Review of Pavilions Traffic Study 12 

 
 
 
 

1. The Applicant is proposing three main pedestrian crossing locations on Coolidge 
Highway:  Big Beaver Road (both sides), Drive #6 (north side), and Drive #7 / Cun-
ningham (south side).   Currently, signalized pedestrian crossings are only provided 
at Big Beaver Road and Cunningham (over 1,200 feet apart).  Adding a signal and 
pedestrian crossing at Drive # 6 will significantly shorten the distance many Somer-
set North shoppers have to walk to cross Coolidge. 

 
2. The concept of iconic pedestrian bridges was raised in the Big Beaver Corridor 

Study.  Although a bridge was not specifically envisioned across Coolidge at this lo-
cation, the City, Somerset Collection, and the Pavilions developer should explore the 
feasibility of a grade-separated pedestrian connection.  This would making crossing 
the wide Coolidge boulevard easier, provide protection from the elements, and po-
tentially lead to fewer vehicular cross-over trips between the two sites.   This issue 
need not be resolved at the Concept Plan stage. 

 
3. The proposed pedestrian crossing at Drive #6 is located on the north side of the in-

tersection.   This is necessary because much of the median on the south side will be 
removed to provide for dual left turns into the site.  On the north side, the median 
width will be over 15 feet and provide a refuge for pedestrians, who will be required 
to cross Coolidge in two steps due to the width of the road.   

 
4. All major roadways in the Pavilions will have pedestrian paths on both sides, as 

shown on Figure 3 (green dashed lines).   As noted in the Application, this is pro-
posed to be a walkable development, with pedestrian linkages through.  Connections 
are also to be provided to the existing path system along Big Beaver Road and Coo-
lidge Highway.   On-street parking will be provided on many internal roads, creat-
ing a buffer between moving traffic and pedestrian pathways. 

 
5. The only pedestrian crossing shown on Big Beaver, adjacent to the site, is the exist-

ing crossing at the Big Beaver / Coolidge intersection.   An additional crossing may 
be feasible at the Big Beaver / Cunningham intersection, but it will require changes 
in signalization and adding pedestrian paths and striping in the Big Beaver right-of-
way.   There may not be sufficient demand to warrant this improvement, but pedes-
trian activity in this area should be monitored through the build out of the project. 

 
 
 

Pedestrian Circulation 
How Will Pedestrians Circulate To, From, and Through the Site? 



 

 

Birchler Arroyo Associates, Inc. Review of Pavilions Traffic Study 13 

 
 

 
The traffic study prepared by TetraTech and Wells & Associates meets generally ac-
cepted practices for traffic impact studies.   The findings indicate that acceptable levels 
of service can be maintained in the site vicinity (overall intersection level of service) 
with the construction of certain road improvements identified in the traffic study.   A 
meeting is scheduled with the Road Commission for Oakland County for the week of 
September 3 to discuss traffic signal changes in the area.   Results of that meeting will be 
provided verbally at the September 11, 2007 Planning Commission meeting.      

Conclusion 



 

 

Birchler Arroyo Associates, Inc. Review of Pavilions Traffic Study 14 

 
 

 
Members of the City review team and Applicant team met with traffic signal staff of the 
Road Commission for Oakland County on September 7, 2007 to review the project, with 
a particular focus on the proposed new drives, road improvements and traffic signals on 
Coolidge Highway.  Although Coolidge Highway is a city street, the traffic signal system 
is maintained by the Road Commission. 
 
Both Birchler Arroyo staff and Dr. Abraham, the City’s traffic engineer, had expressed 
concerns about the close traffic signal spacing proposed by the Applicant.   This type of 
signal spacing is found in urban, downtown settings and can work well if properly coor-
dinated.   In this case, coordination along Coolidge Highway and along Big Beaver Road 
is necessary for smooth traffic flow. 
 
The general reaction from the Road Commission’s traffic signal department staff  was 
that the proposed new signals and road improvements along Coolidge Highway appear 
to be workable.   As with any dense development area, there will be challenges.   Addi-
tional analysis and adjustments will be necessary as this project comes on line.   The 
RCOC staff felt comfortable that they could operate the signal system so that 
northbound traffic on Coolidge Highway, north of Big Beaver Road, would not queue 
(back up) into the Big Beaver Road through lanes during the peak hour conditions iden-
tified in the Pavilions traffic study. 
 
We recommended that the Applicant’s consultant prepare an updated traffic impact 
study at the completion of Phase 1 to see how well the assumptions are working and 
make necessary adjustments for changes in tenant mix and traffic conditions.    We also 
recommend that the City work with all major property owners in the area to coordinate 
holiday traffic management.   Regular meetings in advance of and during the holiday 
season with property stakeholders, City staff (planning, engineering, and public safety), 
RCOC and SMART would be advisable.  We were involved in a similar stakeholders 
group in Novi for Twelve Oaks Mall and it was invaluable for addressing peak season 
traffic concerns. 

Supplemental Report—September 2007 



MEMORANDUM 
 
TO:   Mark Miller, Planning Director 
   
FROM: Steven Vandette, City Engineer 
   
RE:  Pavilions of Troy – Water and Sanitary Sewer Capacity Analysis  
 
DATE:  September 5, 2007 
 
 
We have completed a preliminary evaluation and have made the following determinations 
concerning the ability of the city water and sanitary sewer systems to handle the estimated 
sewer flows and water demands from the proposed Pavilions of Troy: 
 
Sanitary Sewer: 
 
The existing sanitary sewer system has the capacity to accept flows from at least Phase I of 
the development.  This determination is based in part on flow projections from the 1974 
Sanitary Sewer Master Plan that became the basis for design of sewers all along Big Beaver 
as well as downstream to the outlet to Detroit.  These sewers were constructed in 1980 and 
at various times throughout the decades leading to the present time. The flow projections 
included the K-mart site, which as an office development had a lower projected flow than 
from residential uses, but the sewers that were actually constructed were over designed so 
that additional flows could be accommodated if land uses changed or flow generation within 
the various zoning classifications changed for some reason.  It was common practice at the 
time to over design, and still is, but history has actually shown the opposite in some cases 
such as with residential land uses where sewer flows have actually decreased due to smaller 
household sizes and lower overall population growth. 
 
The K-mart building had slightly over 1 million square feet of floor space.  This compares to 
Phase I of the Pavilions, which will have 400,000 to 500,000 square feet or roughly half the 
floor space of the K-mart office building.  Phase I will also have a residential component of 
150 to 250 units, which the K-mart site did not have.  When the office uses of both the K-mart 
site and Pavilions site are equated to residential equivalent units or REU’s which are used in 
the estimation of sanitary sewer flows, the K-mart site equates to 896 REU’s as compared to 
450 REU’s for Phase I of the Pavilions or almost half that of the K-mart land use.  While this 
is a good indication that the existing sewer system has the capacity to accommodate Phase I, 
other analyses were performed to confirm this preliminary conclusion. 
 
The capacities of the existing sewers themselves were evaluated using standard engineering 
calculations.  The result was that the existing sewers have capacity to handle the peak flows 
estimated for Phase I of the Pavilions.  Our analysis also indicates that the existing sewers 
may also have the capacity to serve the entire development.  The calculations show that the 
existing sewers have slightly more flow capacity than the flow estimates calculated based on 
land uses, but additional analyses are needed.   
 
 
 



The consulting engineers for the developer took flow measurements in two sanitary sewers 
within the Big Beaver right-of-way in June 2007.  These sewers would handle the flows from 
the Pavilions.  The data from the two weeks of monitoring indicate that the flows were well 
below the capacity of the pipe and the peaking factor at approximately 2.0 was low relative to 
the peaking factor of 3 to 4 that was used for the design of the sewers.  This data seems to 
indicate there is ample excess capacity, however; the metering was done during dry weather 
conditions and does not provide any information on the rain induced infiltration and inflow, 
which may or may not be present in these sewers.          
 
We are currently in the midst of an extensive sewer-metering program, which began 
approximately two weeks ago with the collection of flow data from 19 meters placed 
throughout the city.  These meters are intended to identify areas where we may have 
capacity deficiencies caused by changes in development patterns or flow generation over the 
several decades of city development, or deficiencies caused by excessive ground water 
infiltration or inflow.  This infiltration and inflow must be evaluated before a determination can 
be made as to the adequacy of the existing sewer system to accommodate Phase II of the 
Pavilions of Troy.  It is possible that some sources of infiltration and inflow may need to be 
removed before the flows from the Pavilions Phase II can be accommodated.  Another 
method to provide more capacity within the system would be to construct parallel sewer lines 
called relief sewers, however; we do not anticipate that this will be necessary. 
 
To summarize our preliminary analysis, we have concluded that the existing sewer system 
has the capacity to serve Phase I of the Pavilions of Troy.  A determination on the capacity of 
the overall sewer system is expected in March or April of 2008. 
 
Water Main: 
 
Early this year we directed HRC to add the estimated water demands from the Pavilions and 
rerun the city water model (which was previously rerun as part of the 2004 Master Water Plan 
Study).  Modeling results indicate that the existing water utilities in the area have the capacity 
to adequately serve the additional demands anticipated by both phases of the Pavilions 
development, however, water main pressures in the southeast corner of Section 19 are 
estimated in the range of 28 psi to 42 psi for existing conditions and 23 psi to 38 psi for future 
conditions during Peak Hour Demand periods.  The proposed Pavilions development will 
somewhat tax the system, further lowering the operating pressure range to a low of 23 psi, 
with the system approaching the minimum service pressure of 20 psi.  This occurs when 
Phases I and II are built out.  Phase I does not have a negative impact on the water system 
since the water demands for this phase are below that of the existing K-mart development. 
 
We have directed HRC to identify what improvement to the water system in that area are 
needed so that the water pressure in the future, with the Pavilions in place, is at least in the 
pressure range we would have without the Pavilions, which is 28 psi to 42 psi.  Funding for 
this water main improvement may be funded by the development.  Any improvement to 
further increase the pressure in that area may be funded by the City of Troy.   
 
G:\Council Reports and Communications\PavilionsWaterSewerAnalysisR1.doc 



PLANNING COMMISSION REGULAR MEETING – FINAL SEPTEMBER 11, 2007 
  
 
 

 1 

PLANNED UNIT DEVELOPMENT 
 

5. PUBLIC HEARING – PLANNED UNIT DEVELOPMENT (P.U.D. 9) – Proposed The 
Pavilions of Troy Planned Unit Development, Northwest Corner of Big Beaver and 
Coolidge, Section 19, Currently Zoned O-S-C (Office-Service-Commercial), O-M (Office 
Mid-rise) and P-1 (Vehicular Parking) Districts 
 
Mr. Miller outlined the procedure that would be followed on the presentation of the 
proposed planned unit development.   
 
The petitioner, Hunter Richardson, representing Diamond Troy JV LLC, was present.  
Mr. Richardson gave a PowerPoint presentation of the proposed development.  He 
extended his appreciation to City departments and the City’s Planning Consultant for 
their responsiveness in the development process.  The presentation covered: 
 

o National and local development teams. 
o Location; custom-designed project for Troy. 
o Evolution of the proposed site. 
o Status of Conceptual Development Plan (CDP) application. 
o Neighborhood meetings. 
o Planned Unit Development (PUD) process; first stage of 3-step process. 
o Vision: authentic place, destination, sustainable (green) environment, livable 

community, connectivity, people’s space, amenities, human scale and needs. 
o Land uses: pavilions area, border area, transition area, residential (to the north). 
o Project phases; Phase 1 must stand alone. 
o Traffic impact, road system, circulation and parking. 
o Development guidelines. 
o Amenities:  ice skating rink, civic gathering spaces, seating areas, gateway 

feature, public art, park for residents, play areas for children, bus shelters, 
pedestrian crossings. 

o Residential buffer to the north, and views along perimeter streets. 
o Open space. 
o Sustainable design. 
o Public benefit. 
o Development timeline/schedule. 

 
Richard Carlisle of Carlisle/Wortman Associates, Inc., was present.  Mr. Carlisle detailed 
the three steps of the Planned Unit Development (PUD) process.  He indicated all of the 
PUD criteria have been met in innovative ways and addressed the following concepts as 
relates to the PUD criteria. 
 

o Horizontal and vertical mix of uses. 
o Variety of civic spaces. 
o Comfortable walkability of the site. 
o Active and passive recreational space. 
o Cross-generational characteristic of residential living. 
o State of the art thinking in terms of viable sustainable mixed uses. 
o Economic sustainability. 
o Open space; greenscape and hardscape to create urban setting. 
o Trend-setting sustainable design techniques. 



PLANNING COMMISSION REGULAR MEETING – FINAL SEPTEMBER 11, 2007 
  
 
 

 2 

o Appropriate use of vacant site; no attraction to single user. 
o Roadway improvements to ensure safe pedestrian access. 
o Perimeter and residential setbacks.   
o Shared parking and caveat to re-evaluate parking after Phase 1 completion. 
o Traffic studies as relates to site access, signalization and timing. 
o Sanitary sewer and water service capacity. 

 
Rod Arroyo of Birchler Arroyo Associates, Inc., provided a brief presentation on the 
traffic impact assessment.  He addressed updates/revisions to the traffic documentation 
provided in the packets since last reviewed by the Planning Commission.  The 
presentation covered: 
 

o Compact, walkable communities. 
o Grid traffic system; its positives and challenges. 
o Additional traffic lights on Coolidge to alleviate backup on Big Beaver. 
o Support from the Road Commission of Oakland County (RCOC). 
o Re-evaluation of traffic after completion of Phase 1. 

 
In closing, Mr. Carlisle recommended that the Planning Commission recommend 
approval of the PUD Concept Development Plan to City Council.   
 
Chair Schultz opened the floor for Planning Commission comments.  There were none.  
Chair Schultz stipulated a few ground rules on public comment prior to opening up the 
Public Hearing. 
 
PUBLIC HEARING OPENED 
 
Aaron Oesyreich of 870 Barilane, Troy, was present.  Mr. Oesyreich spoke favorably of 
the proposed PUD. 
 
Ilene Hill of 2139 Lancer Drive, Troy, was present.  Ms. Hill spoke favorably of the 
proposed PUD and developer.  She addressed the multitude of disruptions their 
neighborhood has experienced from previous major projects in the area.  Ms. Hill voiced 
concerns with construction hours of operation, noise level, asbestos removal, dirt and 
dust, capacity of water and storm water runoff, traffic, parking, dumpsters, and locations 
of the proposed staging areas.   
 
James Forrer of 3592 Eastbourne, Troy, was present.  Mr. Forrer spoke favorably of the 
proposed PUD and complimented the petitioner on his presentation. 
 
Michael Flesher of 2091 Lancer, Troy, was present.  Mr. Flesher voiced a concern with 
the proposed food market as relates to noise and health.  He also addressed the affect 
that the proposed development might have on home values in the neighborhood.   
 
Mary Ellen Budabin of 2105 Babcock, Troy, was present.  Ms. Budabin said the 
petitioner has not addressed her concerns.  She stated the house depicted in the 
pictures displayed during the petitioner’s presentation to simulate the residential buffer to 
the north is her home, which is located at the lowest part of the berm and within full view 
of the former K-Mart Headquarters parking lot.  Ms. Budabin said her view with the 
proposed development would be a skyline of buildings, not blue sky; and that her life 



PLANNING COMMISSION REGULAR MEETING – FINAL SEPTEMBER 11, 2007 
  
 
 

 3 

would change.  Ms. Budabin suggested a different layout orientation of the proposed 
townhouses so a view of a common area would be provided instead of an alleyway, 
garage door, utility meters, and upstairs’ windows.   
 
Tim Dalgleish of 3603 Salem, Troy, was present.  Mr. Dalgleish said he would like the 
berms to be similar to those provided for the residents abutting Somerset North, and 
noted the two berms on each side of Coolidge should be equal distance.  He voiced 
concerns with the proposed multi-screen movie theater as relates to the type of crowd it 
would attract.   
 
John Bailey of 755 W. Big Beaver Road, Troy, was present.  Mr. Bailey, incoming 
Chairperson for the Chamber of Commerce, spoke in favor of the proposed PUD.  
 
Eric McPherson of 23435 Davey, Hazel Park, was present.  Mr. McPherson was present 
to represent the Sheet Metal Workers.  He indicated there are approximately 300 
members of the building trade who live in Troy.  Mr. McPherson encouraged the 
members to approve the proposed PUD in support of bringing area jobs to area workers.   
 
Gino J. Delpup of 350 W. Big Beaver Road, Troy, was present.  Mr. Delpup of Ford & 
Earl Associates and former resident of Troy spoke favorably of the proposed PUD.  He 
said it would be a positive destination point for people.   
 
Linda Shears of 1538 Wrenwood Drive, Troy, was present.  Ms. Shears, a resident and 
Troy business owner, spoke on behalf of the Image and Arts Council of Troy.  She said 
local artists and sculptors would heartily welcome the proposed PUD.   
 
Thomas Gross of 350 W. Big Beaver Road, Troy, was present.  Mr. Gross, CEO of Ford 
& Earl Associates, spoke in support of the proposed PUD.   
 
Michelle Hodges, President of Troy Chamber of Commerce, was present.  Ms. Hodges 
voiced strong support for the proposed PUD. 
 
David Schreiber, representative of the Oakland County Economic Development Group, 
was present.  Mr. Schreiber spoke favorably of the project.   
 
Ted Wilson of 5038 Kellen Lane, Bloomfield Hills, was present.  Mr. Wilson, a member of 
the Troy Chamber of Commerce Board of Directors, spoke in support of the proposed 
PUD.  He addressed the high bar set by the petitioner for future developments, the 
vertical and horizontal mix of uses, and the positive economic expectations. 
 
David Tonker of 2118 Shelley, Troy, was present.  Mr. Tonker spoke favorably of the 
proposed PUD. 
 
PUBLIC HEARING CLOSED 
 
Mr. Vleck said he is impressed and amazed at the amount of support expressed tonight.  
He complimented the petitioner and the development teams. 



PLANNING COMMISSION REGULAR MEETING – FINAL SEPTEMBER 11, 2007 
  
 
 

 4 

Mr. Strat complimented the petitioner.  He questioned what construction was inclusive of 
Phase 1, as envisioned on the project model.  Mr. Strat asked if anything has been 
accomplished to incorporate a pedestrian walkway across Big Beaver.  
 
Mr. Richardson said a pedestrian bridge has not been designed because they do not 
control enough of the environment to accomplish such, but he indicated they have not 
done anything from a planning perspective to preclude construction of one.  Mr. 
Richardson addressed the three pedestrian crossings that would be designed with the 
intent to create refuge zones.  
 
Mr. Miller addressed lane reconfiguration that would increase pedestrian safety zones.   
 
Mr. Strat asked if a secondary lane with pedestrian refuge and boulevard area as 
portrayed in the Big Beaver Corridor Study would be incorporated in the project. 
 
Mr. Richardson replied that concept was researched and it was determined that it did not 
add or contribute to what they were doing relative to the environment.  
 
Ms. Troshynski complimented the petitioner for the effort he put forth to satisfy the 
people of Troy.  She asked the petitioner to address cost factors that would result from 
proposed improvements.   
 
Mr. Richardson said the matter of costs resulting from road improvements and sanitary, 
sewer and water improvements is under discussion with City Management, and 
indicated City Management has made a commitment toward resolution of those costs.   
 
Ms. Troshynski stressed the importance of a pedestrian bridge from Somerset to The 
Pavilions.  
 
Mr. Richardson said he strongly encourages a pedestrian bridge also and addressed the 
public-private partnership that would be necessary to attain a pedestrian bridge.   
 
Mr. Littman asked if the Assessing Department researched the effect of the proposed 
development on neighboring home values.   
 
Mr. Richardson said it is his experience that projects such as this provide a positive 
upturn to home values within the neighborhood.  
 
Mr. Miller said he would ask the City Assessor to provide a report on the outcome of 
home values in correlation to this type of development.   
 
Ms. Kerwin expressed her excitement to see the proposed development come to fruition. 
 
Chair Schultz addressed the critical need for redevelopment in the City, and said the 
development would set the tone for future developments within the City.  He said the 
development would truly keep Troy the City of Tomorrow Today. 



PLANNING COMMISSION REGULAR MEETING – FINAL SEPTEMBER 11, 2007 
  
 
 

 5 

Resolution # PC-2007-09-139 
Moved by: Kerwin 
Seconded by: Troshynski 
 
WHEREAS, The Planning Commission reviewed a Concept Development Plan for a 
Planned Unit Development, pursuant to Article 35.50.01, as requested by Diamond Troy 
JV LLC for The Pavilions of Troy Planned Unit Development (PUD 9), located on the 
northwest corner of Big Beaver and Coolidge, located in Section 19, within the O-S-C, O-
M and P-1 zoning districts, being approximately 40 acres in size; and 
 
WHEREAS, The City’s Planning Consultant Richard Carlisle of Carlisle/Wortman 
Associates, Inc. prepared a memorandum dated September 7, 2007 that recommends 
Concept Development Plan Approval of The Pavilions of Troy Planned Unit 
Development; and 
 
WHEREAS, The proposed PUD meets the Eligibility Requirements set forth in Article 
35.30.00; and   
 
THEREFORE BE IT RESOLVED, That the Planning Commission recommends that 
Concept Development Plan Approval for The Pavilions of Troy Preliminary Planned Unit 
Development be granted. 
 
Yes: All present (9) 
 
MOTION CARRIED 
 

 



 

 

 

1 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 

THE PAVILIONS OF TROY 

 

 

PLANNED UNIT DEVELOPMENT (“PUD”) AGREEMENT 

 

 

Between 

 

 

DIAMOND TROY JV LLC, 

a Delaware limited liability company 

 

 

and 

 

 

THE CITY OF TROY, 

a Michigan municipal corporation 

 



 

 

 

2 
 

THE PAVILIONS OF TROY 

 

PLANNED UNIT DEVELOPMENT AGREEMENT 

 

 

 This Agreement is made this ___ day of __________________, 2007, by and between 

Diamond Troy JV LLC, d/b/a The Pavilions of Troy (“Owner”), whose address is 300 Campus 

Drive, Suite 300, Florham Park, New Jersey 07932,  and the City of Troy, a Michigan municipal 

corporation, the address of which is 500 West Big Beaver Road, Troy, Michigan 48084 (“City”). 

 

RECITALS 

 

 

 A. This Planned Unit Development Agreement between the Owner and the City 

(“Agreement”) is made pursuant to Article XXXV of Chapter 39 of the Zoning Ordinance of the 

City of Troy, Section 35.10.00 et. seq. (“PUD Ordinance”).  This Agreement applies to real 

property described at Exhibit A, commonly known as “The Pavilions of Troy” (“PUD 

Property”).  The PUD Property consists of approximately 40 acres on two parcels, commonly 

known as Parcel I and Parcel II (Parcel I is approximately 12 acres and Parcel II is approximately 

28 acres). 

 B. The PUD Property is presently occupied by the former Kmart World 

Headquarters, together with related accessory site improvements, including roads, parking areas, 

landscaping, sidewalks and signage, which was originally constructed in approximately 1972 and 

1976. 

 C. The PUD Property was used for office purposes, as the Kmart World 

Headquarters, which has been closed and vacated by the Kmart Corporation (now known as 

Sears Holdings Management Corporation). 

 D. Owner is the fee simple owner of the entire PUD Property (Parcel I and Parcel II).  



 

 

 

3 
 

 E. Owner and City desire to enter into this Agreement pursuant to the PUD 

Ordinance, in order to provide for the development of a mix of uses and to vest uses and 

development rights with respect to the PUD Property.   

F. All references to ordinance sections in this Agreement, unless otherwise stated, 

are to the Ordinances of the City of Troy (“Troy Ordinances”). 

 G. Owner has submitted a complete PUD Concept Development Plan Application 

and Application to Amend the Zoning District Map for the PUD Property (collectively the “PUD 

Application”) to the City of Troy.   

 H. As part of the PUD Application, the Owner submitted multiple supporting 

documents and reports, including but not limited to, The Pavilions of Troy CDP Book, which 

includes a Conceptual Plan, Development Guidelines, surveys, environmental and community 

impact statements, traffic and shared parking studies, a preliminary draft of this Agreement and 

such other documents deemed necessary by the City and/or required by the PUD Ordinance to be 

submitted as part of the PUD Application.  The completed PUD Application, together with all 

supporting documents referenced in this section, are collectively referred to as the “Concept 

Development Plan” (hereinafter “CDP”). 

 I. In accordance with §35.50.01(A) of the PUD Ordinance, Owner attended several 

pre-application meetings with the Planning Department of the City, together with staff and 

outside consultants, prior to submitting the CDP for approval. 

 J. In accordance with §35.50.01(B) of the PUD Ordinance, Owner held 

informational meetings with representatives of the adjoining neighborhoods, which meetings 

were held on June 7, 2007, July 12, 2007 and July 17, 2007; and a summary of such 

representatives’ comments were included with the CDP submittal.  



 

 

 

4 
 

K. The City of Troy Planning Commission (“Planning Commission”) held study 

sessions (which were open to the public) on July 24, 2007 and August 22, 2007, and after giving 

proper notice, held a public hearing on September 11, 2007, to consider the CDP, all in 

accordance with the PUD Ordinance. 

 L.  The City and Owner have sought and received extensive review, counsel and 

advice from their respective representatives, staff, officials, attorneys and consultants.  

 M. Pursuant to Section 35.50.01(B) and (F) of the PUD Ordinance, and after a 

thorough review of the CDP, on September 11, 2007, the Planning Commission made a 

unanimous recommendation to the Troy City Council (“City Council”) to approve the CDP and 

this Agreement and to rezone the PUD Property to a Planned Unit Development District. 

 N. The City Council received and reviewed the Planning Commission 

recommendation, and pursuant to Section 35.50.01(B) of the PUD Ordinance, held a public 

hearing on October 15, 2007, after proper notice, to consider the CDP, the PUD Development 

Agreement and the requested rezoning.   

O.  On______________________, after review of the CDP and full consideration of 

the Planning Commission recommendation, the Troy City Council approved the CDP and this 

PUD Development Agreement, and rezoned the PUD Property to the Planned Unit Development 

District, in accordance with Section 35.50.01(F). A copy of the City Council Resolution No. 

2007- ________ is attached hereto as Exhibit B. 

P.  The parties desire to enter into this Agreement, pursuant to the PUD Ordinance.  

 NOW, THEREFORE, the City and the Owner, in consideration of mutual covenants of, 

and benefits derived by each of the parties to this Agreement, agree as follows:  



 

 

 

5 
 

I. DEFINITIONS 

The following definitions shall apply to this Agreement, all defined terms used in this 

Agreement shall have the definitions described in this Article I: 

“Agreement” shall mean this Planned Unit Development Agreement, together with all 

attached exhibits, which are incorporated herein by reference, and any amendments thereto. 

“Alternative Traffic Improvements” shall mean those traffic improvements which may be 

constructed on certain sections of either Big Beaver Road or Coolidge Road located along the 

perimeter of the PUD Property. 

“CDP” shall mean the Concept Development Plan for The Pavilions of Troy that was 

approved by the City Council, on ______________________2007.  The CDP consists of the 

PUD Application, together with supporting documents as set forth and defined below as The 

Pavilions of Troy CDP Book, as defined below. 

 “CDP Period” shall mean that period of time commencing on the effective date of the 

adoption of the ordinance that rezones the PUD Property to Planned Unit Development District, 

and continuing for a period of five (5) years.  In the event a protest petition, referendum or 

similar legal challenge to the rezoning of the PUD Property is filed, the CDP Period shall toll for 

so long as such legal challenge remains pending. 

“Certificate of Occupancy” shall mean a temporary or final certificate of occupancy for a 

building or other structure issued pursuant to the Troy Ordinances. 

 “City” shall mean the City of Troy, a Michigan municipal corporation. 

“City Council” shall mean the City of Troy City Council. 

“Conceptual Plan” shall mean the Conceptual Plan that has been submitted as part of the 

CDP and approved by the City, which is included in The Pavilions of Troy CDP Book. 



 

 

 

6 
 

  “Consent Judgment” shall mean that certain Consent Judgment pertaining to Parcel I, 

dated May 9, 1973 between Sheffield Development Company, a Michigan Co-Partnership, as 

Plaintiff, and the City of Troy, a Michigan municipal corporation, as Defendant, Oakland County 

Circuit Court Civil Action No. 70-69246, as amended on November 22, 1977; September 25, 

1980; November 4, 1992 (Successor Plaintiff substituted: The Prudential Insurance Company of 

America, a New Jersey corporation); December 10, 1998 (Successor Plaintiffs substituted: 

WHC-SIX Real Estate Limited Partnership, a Delaware limited partnership and Kmart 

corporation, a Michigan corporation); and November 28, 2006 (Successor Plaintiffs substituted:  

Diamond Troy JV LLC, a Delaware limited liability company, GM Equities LLC, a Michigan 

limited liability company, Kmart Corporation, a Michigan corporation, and Sheffield Office II, 

L.L.C., a Delaware limited liability company). 

 “Declaration” shall mean any Declaration of Easements, Covenants, Conditions and 

Restrictions which may be recorded by Owner against the PUD Property subsequent to the 

Effective Date.  In the event of any conflict between the Declaration and the terms of this 

Agreement, the terms of this Agreement shall control.  

“Developer” shall mean Richardson Development Group, Inc., together with its 

successors, assigns and/or replacements who are or may be engaged by Owner in connection 

with the development of the PUD Property.  

“Development Guidelines” shall mean the Development Guidelines that have been 

submitted as part of the CDP and approved by the City, and are included in The Pavilions of 

Troy CDP Book. 



 

 

 

7 
 

 “Development Standards” shall mean, collectively, the City of Troy Development 

Standards, Details and Specifications for the engineering, design and construction of public 

improvements and private improvements within the City.  Subject to the Deviations identified in 

Exhibit G attached hereto and made a part hereof, development of any approved Final 

Development Plan under this Agreement and the CDP shall be consistent with the Development 

Standards that are in effect at the time of the approval of such Final Development Plan under the 

CDP.  

“Effective Date” shall mean the date that the last party to execute this Agreement 

executes this Agreement.   

“Final Development Plan” and/or “FDP” shall mean one or more Final Development 

Plans, as defined in Section 35.50.03 of the PUD Ordinance that are submitted by Owner for all 

or any portion of the PUD Property.  

“Infrastructure Improvements” shall mean the, sanitary sewer, storm sewer, water system, 

and other utility improvements to be installed by Owner within the PUD Property, which the 

City acknowledges may include renovations or improvements to the existing utility facilities. 

“Master Deed” shall mean any Master Deed which may be recorded by Owner against all 

or any portion of the PUD Property subsequent to the Effective Date.  In the event of any conflict 

between the Master Deed(s) and the terms of this Agreement, the terms of this Agreement shall 

control. 

“New Road” shall mean the access road located at the north end of the PUD Property and 

identified as such in the CDP. 



 

 

 

8 
 

“Offsite Traffic Improvements” shall mean those improvements, including but not 

limited to traffic signals, turn lanes, roadways, median lanes and landscaping identified on the 

attached Exhibit H.   

“Owner” shall mean Diamond Troy JV LLC, a Delaware limited liability company, or its 

successors and assigns appointed in accordance with the terms of this Agreement. 

“Parcel I” shall mean that portion of the PUD Property consisting of approximately 

twelve (12) acres and identified as Parcel I on the survey attached hereto as Exhibit C. 

“Parcel II” shall mean that portion of the PUD Property consisting of approximately 

twenty eight (28) acres and identified as Parcel II on the survey attached hereto as Exhibit C. 

“Parties” or “parties” shall mean Owner and the City, as defined herein.  

“Permitted Uses” shall mean the Permitted Uses identified in The Pavilions of Troy CDP 

Book, and which are attached as Exhibit D.  All Permitted Uses and approved deviations set 

forth in this Agreement are permitted to be mixed within and throughout the PUD Property. in 

conformity with the approved CDP.  The mix of uses within the PUD Property may occur 

vertically (i.e. a mix of uses existing within one or more structures) and/or horizontally (i.e. a 

mix of uses existing adjacent to one another on one horizontal plane and/or in one or more 

neighboring structures). It is acknowledged and agreed by the parties that two or more single or 

multiple story structures containing a mix of uses may exist adjacent to one another.   

“Planning Commission” shall mean the City of Troy Planning Commission. 

“The Pavilions of Troy” shall mean the planned unit development established pursuant to 

this Agreement.   



 

 

 

9 
 

“The Pavilions of Troy CDP Book” shall mean the book dated October 10, 2007, which 

was initially submitted on September 4, 2007 with the PUD Application, which was received by 

the City Planning Department on September 20, 2007, and which was further updated and 

submitted to the City Council as of the public hearing date of October 15, 2007.  The Pavilions 

of Troy CDP Book shall include the following documents: 

(i) PUD Application, Final Revision Date 9/4/07, Pages 1-1 through 1-15 

(ii) Executive Summary, Final Revision Date 9/4/07, Pages 2-1 through 2-10 

(iii) Conceptual Plan, Final Revision Date 10/10/07, Pages 3-1 through 3-17 

(iv) Community Impact Statement, Final Revision Date 9/4/07, Pages 4-1 through 4-6 

(v) Development Guidelines, Final Revision Date 9/4/07, Pages 5-1 through 5-49 

(with the exception of Page 5-49, which has a Final Revision Date of 10/10/07) 

(vi) Traffic Impact Assessment, Final Revision Date 5/31/07, Including the 

Supplemental Traffic Analysis dated 9/5/07 

(vii) Shared Parking Analysis, Final Revision Date 5/31/07 

(viii) Environmental Impact Statement, Final Revision Date 9/4/07, Pages 8-1 through 

8-32, together with attached Exhibits and Agency Letters  

(ix) Boundary and Topographic Survey 

 

“Phase 1” shall mean the area identified as Phase 1, which is further defined in Pages 3-

10 to 3-13 of the Conceptual Plan in The Pavilions of Troy CDP Book.  The City acknowledges 

and agrees that, notwithstanding anything to the contrary in this Agreement, Owner shall have 

the right to construct within Phase 1 500,000 Square Feet of retail use (as defined in Pages 3-3 

and 3-4 of The Pavilions of Troy CDP Book); 100,000 Square Feet of office use (as defined in 

Pages 3-3 and 3-4 of The Pavilions of Troy CDP Book); and 250 residential units (as defined in 

Pages 3-3 and 3-4 of The Pavilions of Troy CDP Book).  Owner acknowledges that the 

foregoing densities represent the maximum of each Permitted Use that Owner is entitled to 

construct within Phase 1 without the additional approval of the City Council. 



 

 

 

10 
 

“Preliminary Development Plan” and/or “PDP” shall mean one or more Preliminary 

Development Plans as set forth and defined in Section 35.50.02 of the PUD Ordinance that is/are 

submitted by Owner with respect to all or any portion of the PUD Property. 

“PUD Application” is defined as set forth in Paragraph G of the Recitals. 

“PUD Documents” shall mean, collectively: 

(i) The PUD Ordinance  

(ii) This PUD Agreement 

(iii) The PUD Application  

(iv) The Pavilions of Troy CDP Book  

(v) Any and all PDPs approved by Troy City Council for the PUD Property.  

(vi) Any and all FDPs that are administratively approved. 

(vii) Any and all amendments to the CDP which are mutually approved.   

(viii) The resolution in the official City Council minutes for the meeting at which 

approval is received.  

 

 “PUD Ordinance” shall mean Article XXXV of Chapter 39 of the Code of Ordinances of 

the City of Troy, Section 35.10.00 et. seq..  

“PUD Property” shall mean the real property described on Exhibit A attached hereto and 

made a part hereof. 

“Residential/ Retail Formula” shall mean the ratio of one residential unit for every 3,333 

Square Feet of retail use on the PUD Property.  

“Shared Parking Demand Study” shall mean the parking demand study conducted in 

accordance with Paragraph 43 herein.   

“Shared Parking Demand Study Notice” shall mean the notice delivered by the City 

requiring Owner to conduct the Shared Parking Demand Study.  The Shared Parking Demand 

Study Notice shall be delivered within three (3) years, but not earlier than two (2) years, after the 

date the last Certificate of Occupancy is issued by the City with respect to all construction 

included within Phase 1. 



 

 

 

11 
 

“Shared Parking Model” shall mean the shared parking model attached as Exhibit E. 

“Square Footage” and/or “Square Feet” shall mean that term as defined on Exhibit K.   

“Traffic Impact Study” shall mean the Traffic Impact Study dated May, 2007 and 

supplemented by the Supplemental Traffic Analysis dated September 5, 2007, prepared by 

TetraTech and Wells & Associates and included in The Pavilions of Troy CDP Book under the 

Traffic Impact Assessment Tab, as well as the Appendices which are incorporated and available 

with the Troy City Clerk or Planning Director.  

 “Troy Ordinances” shall mean the Ordinances of the City of Troy in effect as of the 

Effective Date of this Agreement. 



 

 

 

12 
 

II. GENERAL PROVISIONS 

1. The Parties acknowledge that all of the foregoing Recitals, together with the 

foregoing definitions, are true and accurate and binding upon the Parties, their successors and 

assigns, and are incorporated in this Agreement and made a part hereof in the same manner and 

to the same extent as if such Recitals and/or definitions were set forth in detail at this point.  All 

Exhibits attached hereto are made a part hereof in the same manner and to the same extent as if 

they were set forth in detail in this Agreement at those points in this Agreement where each such 

Exhibit is referenced. 

2. The parties acknowledge that the approval of this CDP under Troy’s PUD ordinance 

occurred only after extensive negotiation and review of the entire CDP, this Agreement, and all 

incorporated or attached Exhibits, as well as all referenced documents.   

3. At this time, all of the PUD Property is currently owned by Owner, and Owner has 

provided the City with evidence of ownership.  The City acknowledges that Owner has the sole 

discretion to transfer (including, without limitation, the sale, lease, conveyance, assignment, 

license, or other permit to use) any part or all of the PUD Property without the consent of the 

City.  The provisions of the approved CDP, this Agreement and Troy Ordinances shall be 

enforceable against any successor or assign.  Owner agrees to inform any purchaser, lessee, 

licensee or other user of the PUD Property of the provisions of this Agreement.  Following any 

transfer of the PUD Property, the transferee shall be obligated to notify the City of such transfer 

of ownership, in accordance with MCL 211.27, et. seq.  As used in the preceding sentence, 

"transfer of ownership" is defined in MCL 211.27 et. seq.     

4. The City, through the City Council, hereby determines that: (a) the CDP complies 

with and satisfies all requirements of the PUD Ordinance; (b) the rezoning of the PUD Property 



 

 

 

13 
 

to Planned Unit Development District is consistent with the planning and zoning objectives of 

the City and the intent, purpose and requirements of the PUD Ordinance; and (c) this action to 

rezone the PUD Property is beneficial to the general health, safety and welfare of the citizens of 

the City. 

5. The City Council hereby agrees with the recommendation of the Planning 

Commission, and deems that the CDP is consistent with the intent, purpose and objectives of the 

City, as described in the PUD Ordinance and the several City plans for future land use.  

6. The CDP and this PUD Agreement are hereby deemed approved and Owner is hereby 

granted the right, power and authority to proceed to develop the Pavilions of Troy in accordance 

with The Pavilions of Troy CDP Book and this Agreement.  The Owner may proceed to timely 

submit Preliminary Development Plans and Final Development Plans in accordance with the 

approved CDP and the PUD Ordinance.   In the event of any conflict between the terms and 

provisions of this Agreement and the terms and provisions of the CDP, the terms and provisions 

of this Agreement shall control.  

7.  In accordance with the PUD Ordinance, the City hereby permits and approves the 

deviations from current Troy Ordinances set forth in the Development Guidelines tab, Pages 5-

46 through 5-49 of The Pavilions of Troy CDP Book.   

8. Upon execution of this Agreement, all terms and conditions of this Agreement are 

hereby deemed to RUN WITH THE LAND in perpetuity. 

9. This Agreement shall be fully binding upon all successors-in-interest, heirs and 

assigns of whatever kind or nature, including without limitation, all purchasers of any kind, 

successors in fee, ground lessees, lessees, sublessees and assigns, regardless of the nature, type 

or form of such sale, conveyance, lease, assignment or any other form of transfer, conveyance or 



 

 

 

14 
 

license to use.  Such transfers and conveyances further include without limitation, sale, lease or 

other transfer or conveyance of or license to use any condominium unit(s) or other form of land 

division, now known or later created, whatsoever that may be established now or in the future on 

the PUD Property.  The City acknowledges and agrees that Owner may freely assign any part or 

all of its right, title, and/or interest in and to this Agreement, and any term, covenant or condition 

hereof, to any other person or entity without consent of the City.  The City acknowledges and 

agrees that the Developer has, in lieu of the Owner, undertaken and will hereafter undertake 

some or all of the activities that are required of Owner under this Agreement or are otherwise 

necessary or convenient for the development of the PUD Property. 

10. Any Declaration, Master Deed or similar document encumbering the PUD 

Property shall expressly reference this PUD Agreement.  A copy of the Declaration, and any 

Master Deeds recorded against the PUD Property shall be provided to the Troy Planning Director 

immediately after recordation.  

11. Pursuant to Section 35.50.01(F) of the PUD Ordinance, this Agreement is deemed 

effective and in full force and effect upon the Effective Date. 

12. The City shall cause this Agreement to be recorded with the Oakland County 

Register of Deeds against the PUD Property.  This recordation shall occur within fourteen (14) 

days of the Effective Date of the Agreement.  In the event the City fails to record this Agreement 

within fourteen (14) days, then the Owner may record a fully executed original of this 

Agreement with the Oakland County Register of Deeds.  The party recording this Agreement 

shall provide the other party with a copy immediately following recordation. 

13. Upon execution of this Agreement, the PUD Property shall be deemed to be 

rezoned to a Planned Unit Development District, in accordance with the PUD Ordinance, and the 



 

 

 

15 
 

City shall take the steps necessary to amend the zoning map to designate the PUD Property as a 

Planned Unit Development District. 

14.  If, prior to the expiration of the CDP Period, Owner submits to the City Planning 

Department a Preliminary Development Plan (consistent with the PUD Ordinance), for all or any 

part of the PUD Property then, upon submittal of the first Preliminary Development Plan: (a) the 

CDP  Period shall no longer apply; (b) the CDP shall have no expiration date; and (c) the CDP 

shall remain and be deemed in full force and effect for the development of the entire PUD 

Property as described in this Agreement, regardless of the period of time necessary for 

development of the PUD Property. 

15.  Prior to the expiration of the CDP Period, Owner can request an extension of the 

CDP period, which the City has the discretion to grant in accordance with Section 35.50.01 (F) 

of the PUD ordinance.  If the CDP period has expired without the submittal of an acceptable 

Preliminary Development Plan that is in accordance with the CDP and the Troy ordinances, then  

the City may take such action as is permitted in the PUD Ordinance, which may include a 

unilateral City initiated re-zoning of the PUD Property in accordance with Section 35.60.02 of 

the PUD Ordinance.   

16. Where any term or provision of this Agreement is in conflict with the provisions 

of the Troy Ordinances, the Development Standards, or any other City administrative rule or 

regulation, the terms of this Agreement and/or the approved CDP shall control.  The PUD 

Ordinance in effect as of the Effective Date (a copy of which is attached hereto as Exhibit F), is 

hereby deemed the PUD Ordinance that governs this Agreement, and notwithstanding anything 

herein to the contrary, any amendment of the existing PUD Ordinance from or after the Effective 

Date hereof shall not govern, control or in any way affect the terms, conditions, interpretation 



 

 

 

16 
 

and/or enforcement of this Agreement.  All sections of the Troy Ordinances referenced in this 

Agreement or the approved CPD or the PUD Ordinance refers to those sections of the Troy 

Ordinances in effect as of the Effective Date hereof, and except for the Development Standards, 

Building Code, and Fire Code provisions, future amendments to such Ordinances shall not 

govern, control or in any way effect the terms, conditions, interpretation and/or enforcement of 

this Agreement.  Except for the Development Standards, the Building Code and the Fire Code 

provisions, the parties may, but are not obligated to mutually and voluntarily agree to amend this 

Agreement to include any amendments or subsequent updates to the Troy Ordinances.  Subject 

to the deviations set forth in this Agreement, Owner shall comply with those Development 

Standards, Building Code, and Fire Code provisions that are effective as of the date any given 

FDP approval is granted. 

17. All terms, provisions and conditions of this Agreement are authorized by 

applicable state and federal laws and constitutions.  This Agreement is valid, entered into on a 

voluntary basis, and represents a permissible exercise of authority by the City.   

18. All requirements and conditions of this Agreement are necessary, reasonable and 

in compliance with the PUD Ordinance and other applicable sections of the Troy Ordinances.     

19. The parties shall act in good faith (in both time and substance) whenever there is a 

requirement to take action or give consent under this Agreement.   

20. In the event that any portion of this Agreement is invalid or unenforceable, as 

determined by a Court of competent jurisdiction, the remaining portions of this Agreement shall 

remain fully enforceable, valid and in full force and effect. 

21. For purposes of providing notices required or authorized under this Agreement, 

such notice shall be given to the applicable party to be notified, by personal delivery (supported 



 

 

 

17 
 

by an affidavit of service) or shall be sent via a recognized national overnight delivery service, 

marked for “next day” service and addressed as follows, or can be sent via facsimile to the 

following facsimile numbers, with a hard copy to follow via certified U.S. Mail, with postage 

fully paid, addressed as follows: 

  Notice to the City:  City of Troy 

      500 West Big Beaver Road 

      Troy, Michigan 48084 

      Attention: Mayor 

      Fax: (248) 524-0851 

 

  With copy to:   City of Troy 

      500 West Big Beaver Road 

      Troy, Michigan 48084 

      Attention: City Clerk 

      Fax: (248) 524-1770 

 

  With copy to:   City of Troy 

      500 West Big Beaver Road 

      Troy, Michigan 48084 

      Attention: Planning Director 

      Fax: (248) 524-3382 

 

  With copy to:   City of Troy 

      500 West Big Beaver Road 

      Troy, Michigan 48084 

      Attention: City Attorney 

      Fax: (248) 524-3259 

 

  Notice to Owner:  Diamond Troy JV LLC 

      c/o BlackRock Realty 

300 Campus Drive, 3
rd

 Floor 

Florham Park, New Jersey 07932 

Attention: Debra Mistretta, Vice President 

Fax:  (646) 521-4954 

 

With a copy to:  Richardson Development Group 

    Attention: J. Hunter Richardson, Jr. 

    11921 Freedom Drive, Suite 980 

    Reston, Virginia 20190 

    Fax: (703) 716-1044 

       

  With a copy to:  Richard D. Rattner, Esquire 



 

 

 

18 
 

      Williams, Williams, Rattner & Plunkett, P.C. 

      380 N. Old Woodward Avenue, Suite 300 

      Birmingham, Michigan 48009 

      Fax: (248) 642-0856 

 

Notice shall be effective on the date of receipt (in the case of personal delivery), or on the day 

following the deposit of such notice with the overnight courier, or on the day following the 

receipt of the facsimile (in the case of delivery by facsimile).  Any party may change any of the 

addresses or the designated recipients of notice by following the notice procedure, as set forth 

above.   

22. The Agreement shall be governed and construed in accordance with the laws of 

the State of Michigan, without regard to principles of conflict of laws. 

23. This Agreement supersedes any and all prior inconsistent agreements, rules or 

administrative orders between the parties relative to the PUD Property.   Notwithstanding 

anything to the contrary in this Agreement, the parties acknowledge that the Consent Judgment 

materially impacts Owner’s ability to develop Parcel I in accordance with the CDP.  Owner 

agrees to make good faith attempts to cause the Consent Judgment to be amended in order to 

allow the development of Parcel I consistent with this Agreement and the approved CDP.  The 

City shall cooperate with Owner and agrees to execute a mutually satisfactory amendment to 

the Consent Judgment and/or Motion to Amend the Consent Judgment, which allows Owner to 

develop Parcel I in accordance with this Agreement and the approved CDP.  If, despite its good 

faith efforts, Owner is unable to cause the Consent Judgment to be amended within five (5) 

years from the Effective Date, Owner shall have the right, but not the obligation, to apply for a 

Preliminary Development Plan which allows Owner to develop Parcel I consistent with the 

terms of the Consent Judgment.  The City agrees to amend the CDP and this Agreement, as 



 

 

 

19 
 

necessary, to allow for the office use required under the Consent Judgment on Parcel I, 

provided such amendment is otherwise consistent with the PUD Ordinance.   

24. Regardless of future master plans, other planning documents and/or zoning or 

other Troy Ordinance changes or amendments which may be adopted or affect the PUD 

Property, the Permitted Uses shall not be deemed in the future to be legal non-conforming uses, 

but rather shall continue to be permitted uses, subject to and in accordance with this Agreement 

and the approved CDP. 

25. Any amendment to this Agreement and/or any Exhibit attached hereto, must be in 

writing and approved as to form and substance by each of the parties hereto, and any such 

amendment or modification to this Agreement or any Exhibit shall be approved by the City 

Council pursuant to the procedures set forth in the PUD Ordinance.  Following the conveyance 

by Owner of a portion of the PUD Property, the successor Owner of that portion of the PUD 

Property shall, in accordance with the terms of this Agreement, be entitled to amend this 

Agreement with respect to such Successor Owner’s property; provided however, such 

amendment shall be in compliance with any Declaration, Master Deed, deed restriction or other 

encumbrance that relates to the right, power and authority of such successor Owner to approve 

such an amendment and provided that the amendment is mutually agreeable to the City and the 

Successor Owner.  Further, notwithstanding anything to the contrary in this Agreement, so long 

as Diamond Troy JV LLC owns all or any part of the PUD Property, Diamond Troy JV LLC 

shall be entitled to consent to any amendment to this Agreement and the CDP and any 

amendment to this Agreement and the CDP executed without Diamond Troy JV LLC’s consent 

shall be void and of no effect.  Any amendments to or modifications of this Agreement, or the 



 

 

 

20 
 

Exhibits attached hereto, shall be recorded by the City at the Oakland County Register of 

Deeds, following the effective date of such amendment or modification. 

26. The parties to this Agreement represent that they have read this Agreement, have 

reviewed it with legal counsel and understand and agree to the terms and conditions hereof.   

27. Each person signing this Agreement on behalf of any party hereby represents and 

warrants that he/she is a duly authorized representative and agent to that respective party and 

that he/she has the full authority to bind said party to all the covenants, warranties, 

representations, terms and conditions of this Agreement under all applicable local, state and 

federal laws and regulations. 

III. THE PAVILIONS OF TROY DEVELOPMENT 

28. The City hereby grants Owner the right to use and develop the PUD Property as 

set forth in this Agreement, any provision in the Troy Ordinances, Development Standards, 

laws, regulations or codes notwithstanding.  Specifically, Owner shall have the right, but shall 

not be obligated, to develop 500,000 Square Feet of retail, 300,000 Square Feet of office, 750 

residential units, and a hotel containing 250 guest rooms, together with ancillary amenities 

normally associated with a hotel of the type to be located on the PUD Property (such as, 

without limitation, a business center, meeting rooms, restaurants/bars, pool, fitness center), as 

set forth in the Conceptual Plan, Pages 3-2 through 3-6 of The Pavilions of Troy CDP Book.  

The Permitted Uses shall be limited to those uses which are expressly identified in Pages 3-2 

through 3-6 of the Conceptual Plan, and which are attached as Exhibit D.   Owner 

acknowledges that the foregoing densities represent the maximum of each Permitted Use that 

Owner is entitled to construct within The Pavilions of Troy without the additional approval of 

the City Council. 



 

 

 

21 
 

In connection with the Permitted Uses, Owner agrees to the following:  

A. In the event the Owner chooses to place a grocery store retail component 

on Parcel I, the initial use shall be as a “specialty grocer” such as, by way of 

example only, Whole Foods, Plum Market, Fresh Fare, Nino Salvaggio’s or other 

similar niche grocery store.   

B. Any hotel initially developed on the PUD Property shall be a minimum 

four star hotel, as rated by AAA (or other equivalent rating and rating service). 

Notwithstanding anything to the contrary in this Agreement, Owner acknowledges that 

the retail use on Parcel I shall be limited to 75,000 Square Feet. 

29. The parties acknowledge that the CDP, as contained in the Pavilions of Troy CDP 

Book, provides a conceptual overview for the development of The Pavilions of Troy and is not 

intended to be comprehensive.  The specific design of each PDP submittal for The Pavilions of 

Troy will depend upon the size, mixture of uses, configuration and/or the Owner’s 

determination of the economic and market feasibilities of such PDP submittal.  The specific 

design elements of the CDP, as set forth in The Pavilions of Troy CDP Book, are conceptual in 

nature and not intended to be used in all PDP submittals, but rather, are intended to be 

cumulative to all of The Pavilions of Troy.  Accordingly, certain elements of the CDP, as set 

forth in The Pavilions of Troy CDP Book, may be determined by the Owner to be 

inappropriate, ineffective, impractical or obsolete, and therefore, may not be incorporated into 

the Pavilions of Troy.  However, Owner acknowledges that The Pavilions of Troy CDP Book 

contains representations of the type of quality, design and planning that is to be included with 

all PDPs and FDPs submitted pursuant to this Agreement and the approved CDP.  Owner 

agrees to incorporate quality materials, workmanship, and design, as well as concepts in 



 

 

 

22 
 

architectural design, amenities, pedestrian crossing, open space, green concepts, and other 

elements of the CDP that are similar to the CDP, as set forth in The Pavilions of Troy CDP 

Book.    

30. In order to insure a mixed use development (both vertically and horizontally), 

Owner agrees to construct a mix of residential and retail uses in accordance with the 

Residential/Retail Formula, and shall include the required proportion of residential units with 

each phase that is submitted for approval.  Notwithstanding the foregoing, the City 

acknowledges that Owner shall be entitled to submit a PDP to develop the retail component of 

Parcel I on a freestanding basis, independent of any residential component.  In this event, this 

retail component of Parcel I shall be added to the next PDP submitted for purposes of 

calculating the required amount of residential units pursuant to the Residential/Retail Formula.  

For each PDP, Owner shall be allowed to decrease the number of residential units required to be 

constructed under this Paragraph by 1 unit for every 1,000 Square Feet of office or by 1 unit for 

every 2 hotel rooms developed, provided that in no event shall this reduction result in greater 

than a thirty-three percent (33%) reduction in the number of residential units required under this 

Paragraph.  This residential requirement shall be cumulative, in that once Owner has completed 

150 residential units on the PUD Property, Owner shall have fulfilled the residential 

requirement under this Paragraph (i.e., 500,000 Square Feet of retail divided by 3,333 equals 

150 residential units).  As used in this Paragraph, a residential unit shall be deemed 

“completed” at such time as a Certificate of Occupancy is issued by the City with respect to 

such residential unit.  Except with respect to the retail component on Parcel I, which need not 

include a residential component, Owner shall be entitled to receive a certificate of occupancy 

for the retail uses in any PDP only after the proportion of residential units, hotel and/or office 



 

 

 

23 
 

space required for such PDP under this Paragraph is either enclosed and weather-proofed or a 

Certificate of Occupancy is issued by the City with respect to each such residential unit, hotel or 

office space.       

31. The Owner agrees to install a significant identity feature for the site at the 

southeast corner of the development (Coolidge and Big Beaver), which shall be similar to the 

gateway feature proposal that is proposed in The Pavilions of Troy CDP Book or is otherwise 

mutually agreeable.  The above referenced identity feature shall be included in any PDP or FDP 

for the southeast corner piece of the PUD Property, and shall be constructed prior to the 

issuance of any Certificate of Occupancy for a permanent structure at that corner.  

32. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary in this Agreement, the parties 

acknowledge that the Offsite Traffic Improvements identified on Exhibit H constitute the only 

offsite traffic improvements which are required in connection with The Pavilions of Troy.  Prior 

to obtaining the first Certificate of Occupancy for any building within Parcel II, the Offsite 

Traffic Improvements located adjacent to the PUD Property along Coolidge and Big Beaver 

Roads must be completed and accepted by the City and the Road Commission for Oakland 

County, as applicable.       

33. All improvements to be constructed by Owner on the PUD Property shall comply 

with all building codes, except that if there are conflicts between the building codes and the 

terms of this Agreement, the terms of this Agreement shall control.    

34. It is understood by the parties that the proposed CDP development will deviate 

from some of the requirements of the City’s Ordinances, and some of these deviations, which 

are hereby approved, are listed in The Pavilions of Troy CDP Book.  The City agrees to allow 

additional deviations from the Troy Ordinances that are consistent or similar to the deviations 



 

 

 

24 
 

that are listed in The Pavilions of Troy CDP Book.  Each requested additional deviation from 

the Troy ordinances shall be explicitly identified in the PDP submittals for the PUD Property.  

If the City approves the PDP, then the identified additional deviations of the Troy ordinances 

which are incorporated into the approved PDP shall also be considered approved.   

35. The parties acknowledge that all permanent, year round, environmentally 

controlled structures shall be equipped throughout with automatic fire protection systems 

conforming to the requirements of Chapter 9 Fire Protection Systems of the current State of 

Michigan Building Code, specifically related to “Automatic Sprinkler Systems” and 

“Automatic Fire Alarm and Detection Systems.”  Notwithstanding the foregoing, the parties 

acknowledge that Owner shall not be required to install automatic sprinkler systems or 

automatic alarm and detection systems within:  1) detached accessory structures with no direct 

exposure to adjacent structures, which are less than 1,000 Square Feet and which regularly 

contain 10 or fewer occupants; and 2) open air roof structures or pavilions.  The Owner shall 

otherwise comply with all City fire codes.   

36. The parties acknowledge that year round indoor and outdoor entertainment events 

are planned to occur on the PUD Property, which could exceed the number, type and duration 

of special event allowances provided under Troy’s ordinances and policies and procedures.  The 

City acknowledges that Owner shall not be required to obtain a special event approval for any 

of the entertainment events identified on Exhibit J attached hereto.  For all other special events, 

the Troy City Council may approve health, safety, and welfare guidelines for Special Events on 

the PUD Property, and if drafted, these guidelines shall be followed in the administrative 

review of special events on the PUD property by the City Manager or his/ her designee.  Absent 

such guidelines, the City Manager and his/her designee shall administratively review all other 



 

 

 

25 
 

proposed special event(s) for the PUD Property.  The Master Deed(s) for each portion of the 

PUD Property shall contain an express statement advising any successor owners that outdoor or 

indoor entertainment or special events are expected to occur on the PUD Property.  Special 

indoor or outdoor activities that fall within the regulations of Chapter 76 (Adult Use 

Businesses) are hereby prohibited on the PUD Property.  In addition, no event shall allow for 

the consumption of alcohol outside the parameters of the outdoor restaurant seating unless an 

appropriate license is issued by the Michigan Liquor Control Commission (or any successor 

entity thereto).  

37. The Planning Director or his/her designee shall have the authority to 

administratively approve accessory structures and/or use(s) for the PUD Property that is/are not 

otherwise designated on the PDP or FDP, but are similar to the accessory structures and/or uses 

identified on the Conceptual Plan, contained within The Pavilions of Troy CDP Book.  Such 

accessory structures and/or uses shall include accessory structures for the outdoor sale of 

merchandise or food, such as a kiosk.  Owner shall otherwise comply with any County or State 

or local regulations concerning the sale of food in any such accessory building.   

38. The Owner has been advised by the City that the modeling results indicated that 

the existing water utilities in the area may not have the capacity to maintain the minimum 

operating pressures, as set forth in the City’s 2004 Master Water update, due to additional 

demands anticipated by the full development of the CDP (as distinct from the development of 

Phase 1), as set forth in the Official Pavilions of Troy Conceptual Plan PUD Book.  The City 

will conduct or contract a study to identify improvements to the City’s water system that may 

be necessitated by the development of the entire site (as distinct from the development of Phase 

1), so that the City is able to insure a minimum peak hour water pressure that ranges from 28 



 

 

 

26 
 

psi to 42 psi will be maintained.  If improvements, enhancements, or upgrades to the City’s 

water system are required in order to insure this minimum peak hour water pressure, then the 

Owner agrees to pay its proportional share of the necessary improvements, enhancements or 

upgrades in proportion to Owner’s impact on the need for such improvement, enhancement or 

upgrade and the users located on the PUD Property in comparison to all the other offsite users 

that benefit from the system.     

39. The City acknowledges that the existing storm sewer system which services the 

PUD Property is adequate to service the improvements anticipated to be developed as Phase 1.  

Following completion of all construction of structures to be included within Phase 1, any 

upgrades or other improvements to the existing storm sewer system will be designed by Owner 

to accommodate a 10 year storm event (as determined by the Oakland County Drain 

Commissioner), based on the net difference between the quantity of the existing flow for the 

PUD Property as of the Effective Date and the proposed flow for the PUD Property as of the 

specific PDP application.  The flow calculations set forth in this paragraph shall be cumulative 

over the entire PUD Property, and shall not be limited to that portion of the PUD Property 

which is the subject of the PDP application.  In the event the proposed flow for the PUD 

Property following the construction of the improvements contemplated by the PUD application 

exceeds the flow for the PUD Property as of the Effective Date, Owner will have an obligation 

to provide for on site detention of storm water. 

40. The City acknowledges that the existing sanitary sewer system which services the 

PUD Property has sufficient capacity to support the improvements to be constructed in Phase 1.  

The City agrees that any sanitary sewer moratorium or similar tolling of the right to obtain a 

sanitary sewer permit from the City (which may in the future be imposed by the City) will apply 



 

 

 

27 
 

to the PUD Property in the same manner such moratorium or similar tolling applies to the 

remaining users of the sanitary sewer system within the City.   

41. Owner shall dedicate all water mains and sanitary sewer mains within The 

Pavilions of Troy to the City and, in connection therewith, shall grant in the Declaration or 

otherwise mutually acceptable easements to the City for the maintenance, repair and 

replacement of such lines.  Following the installation of such lines, Owner’s project engineer 

shall notify the City that the lines have been installed, and the City shall promptly inspect such 

lines.  The City shall approve such lines so long as they have been installed in accordance with 

the engineering plans approved as part of the applicable Final Development Plan.  Following 

the City’s inspection and approval of such lines, the City shall accept dedication of the lines to 

the City as public improvements. 

42. Except as otherwise provided by this Agreement and the approved CDP, the 

parties acknowledge and agree that Owner will have the right to develop The Pavilions of Troy 

in incremental phases as necessary to support the improvements contemplated by each PDP 

submittal, including, without limitation, the installation of Infrastructure Improvements, interior 

roadway and parking facilities.  The specifics of the proposed phasing will be determined by 

Owner and identified upon submittal to the City of each Preliminary Development Plan 

submitted in connection with the development of The Pavilions of Troy, provided that Owner 

shall not be obligated to install any infrastructure, utilities and/or parking facilities beyond that 

which are mutually determined necessary to support the improvements contemplated by such 

PDP submittal.  The parties acknowledge and agree that the initial PDP submittals for Parcel II 

will involve the construction of improvements primarily within Phase 1, but that one or more 

PDP submittals may include improvements for future phases.  The City acknowledges and 



 

 

 

28 
 

agrees that Owner, or its successor(s), may determine that more than one PDP and FDP will be 

submitted to complete the development of Phase 1, and further, that PDP(s) for development of 

improvements outside of the Phase 1 area may be submitted prior to or simultaneously with a 

PDP for all or a part of the Phase 1.  The sequence, timing and designation of which part of the 

PUD Property is to be developed, and the uses to be included in the respective PDP, shall be 

determined by Owner, in its sole discretion, but subject to the terms of this Agreement and the 

approved CDP. 

43. The parking for the Pavilions of Troy is based on the Shared Parking Model, on a 

cumulative basis.  Within three (3) years but not earlier than two (2) years following the 

completion of the improvements within Phase I, the City may request a re-evaluation of the 

Shared Parking, based on land use and actual usage on the PUD Property, by delivery to Owner 

of the Shared Parking Demand Study Notice.  Upon receipt of the Shared Parking Demand 

Study Notice, Owner shall cause the Shared Parking Demand Study to be conducted by a 

qualified engineering firm, selected by Owner and approved by the City, who shall use parking 

utilization data collected during average weekday and weekend conditions, and analyzed in 

accordance with the standards published by the Urban Land Institute (ULI) and the Institute of 

Transportation Engineers (ITE).  The Shared Parking Demand Study will compare actual usage 

versus projected usage, as outlined in the Shared Parking Model.  If the measured parking 

occupancy exceeds 90% of the supply of parking spaces, as determined by the updated Shared 

Parking Model, Owner will implement such measures as are mutually deemed appropriate 

including, but not limited to, providing valet or valet assisted parking during peak periods, 

employee parking programs, increasing the effective parking supply, or securing the use of 

other parking facilities.  Notwithstanding anything to the contrary in this Paragraph, Owner 



 

 

 

29 
 

shall only be obligated to incorporate such measures as may be recommended and/or approved 

by the qualified engineering firm referenced above.  Owner will notify the City of  such 

measures and, if requested by the City, will provide the City with evidence that the measures 

proposed by Owner will increase the effective parking supply.   If the measured parking 

occupancy is less than 90% of the supply of parking spaces, as determined by the updated 

Shared Parking Model, Owner may adjust future parking supply to recognize the overparked 

condition so that the anticipated occupancy remains at approximately 90% of the supply of 

parking spaces. 

44. The traffic flow for The Pavilions of Troy is based on the Traffic Impact Study, 

which is included under the Traffic Impact Assessment tab in The Pavilions of Troy CDP Book.  

Not earlier than two (2) years or later than three (3) years following the completion of the 

improvements to Phase 1, the City shall have the right to request that Owner, at its cost, obtain 

an update of the Traffic Impact Study as it relates to traffic on and directly adjacent to the PUD 

Property.  If the updated traffic impact study indicates that the traffic intersection at Coolidge 

Road and Cunningham Road is operating at less than service level D, Owner shall promptly 

submit for the necessary approvals to build either the New Road, or other mutually acceptable 

Alternative Traffic Improvements and, upon receipt of such approvals, shall commence the 

installation of the New Road or mutually acceptable Alternative Traffic Improvements, as 

applicable.  Provided, however, in the event the parties mutually agree to install such 

Alternative Traffic Improvements, then the amount Owner shall be obligated to contribute 

towards the construction of such Alternative Traffic Improvements shall not exceed the cost 

incurred or anticipated by Owner to be incurred to construct the New Road. 

45. The proposed signage for The Pavilions of Troy shall be included in the PDPs and 



 

 

 

30 
 

FDPs submitted to the City.  Owner will establish a signage district for the PUD Property which 

incorporates the concepts set forth in the deviations contained in Exhibit I attached hereto, 

which the parties acknowledge is conceptual only and is not binding on either party.  This 

proposed signage district shall be submitted during the course of the approval process for the 

first PDP submitted and the parties shall thereafter negotiate in good faith the details of the 

signage district.  Thereafter, the signage on the PUD Property shall not be subject to additional 

review by the City, except that the City has the ability to confirm that the signage is consistent 

with the approved signage district.  The City acknowledges that Owner shall not be required to 

obtain a variance from the Troy Ordinances for any signage that is consistent with the signage 

district created by this Paragraph, or with respect to any signage otherwise approved by the 

City, pursuant to this Agreement.   

46. Any dispute arising under this Agreement shall be resolved by binding arbitration 

which shall be conducted in accordance with the rules of the American Arbitration Association 

(“AAA”) at a hearing to be held at the offices of the AAA located in Southfield, Michigan in a 

proceeding which is conducted by a panel of three arbitrators, one of whom shall be appointed 

by Owner, one of whom shall be appointed by the City, and one of whom shall be an 

independent arbitrator appointed by the other two.  The independent arbitrator shall be a 

certified professional planner of recognized standing in southeast Michigan.   The decision of 

the arbitration panel shall be conclusively binding upon the parties.  The parties may enforce 

the decision of the arbitration panel in a court of competent jurisdiction.  Venue for filing any 

document to enforce the decision of the arbitration panel shall be exclusively in the 6th Judicial 

Circuit Court or the County of Oakland, State of Michigan, or the United States District Court 

for the Eastern District of Michigan. 



 

 

 

31 
 

47. This Agreement may be executed in multiple counterparts, each of which shall be 

deemed an original and all of which shall constitute one instrument. 

 

[Signatures Follow on Next Page] 



 

 

 

32 
 

 IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the undersigned have executed this Planned Unit 

Development Agreement as of the day and year first above-written. 

WITNESSES: 

 

 

 

 

 

_______________________________ 

 

_______________________________ 

 

 

OWNER: 

 

DIAMOND TROY JV LLC, 

a Delaware limited liability company 

 

 

By: _____________________________ 

 

Its: ______________________________ 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

_______________________________ 

 

_______________________________ 

 

 

CITY: 

 

CITY OF TROY, 

a Michigan municipal corporation 

 

 

By: ___________________________ 

 

Its: ____________________________ 

 

STATE OF NEW JERSEY ) 

    )  ss: 

COUNTY OF _______ ) 

 

 On this ______ day of __________________, 2007, before me personally appeared 

____________________ known to be the person described in and who executed the foregoing Planned Unit 

Development Agreement and acknowledged before me that he/she executed the same on behalf of 

DIAMOND TROY JV LLC, a Delaware limited liability company. 

 

 

      ___________________________________________ 

 

      Notary Public, County of _______________________ 

      State of New Jersey. 

      My Commission Expires:    

      (Acting in ____________________ County) 

 



 

 

 

33 
 

STATE OF MICHIGAN ) 

    )  ss: 

COUNTY OF OAKLAND          ) 

 

 On this ______ day of __________________, 2007, before me personally appeared 

____________________ known to be the person described in and who executed the foregoing Planned Unit 

Development Agreement and acknowledged before me that he/she executed the same on behalf of the City 

of Troy, Michigan, a Michigan municipal corporation. 

 

 

      ___________________________________________ 

 

      Notary Public, County of _______________________ 

      State of Michigan. 

      My Commission Expires:    

      (Acting in ____________________ County) 

 



 

 

 

34 
 

TABLE OF EXHIBITS 
 

Exhibit A – Legal Description of the PUD Property 

 

Exhibit B – A copy of City Council Resolution No. ___________, which rezones the PUD 

Property to Planned Unit Development District 

 

Exhibit C – Survey   

 

Exhibit D –   Permitted Uses 

 

Exhibit E - Shared Parking Model 

 

Exhibit F – PUD Ordinance 

 

Exhibit G –  Deviations from Development Standards 

 

Exhibit H –Offsite Traffic Improvements 

 

Exhibit I – Conceptual Deviations to Sign Ordinance 

 

Exhibit J – Approved Outdoor Entertainment Events 

 

Exhibit K – Square Footage Calculation 

 
 

 



 

 

 

1 
 

EXHIBIT “A” 

 

Legal Description for PUD Property 
 

 

 

PARCEL I:  (Part of Tax I.D. No.: 20-19-430-002) 

Commencing at the Southeast Corner of Section 19, T2N, R11E, City of Troy, Oakland County, 

Michigan; thence N00°01'30"W 1240.08 feet along the East line of said Section 19; thence 

S89°30'00"W 60.00 feet for a PLACE OF BEGINNING; thence S89°30'00"W 1007.36 feet 

along the North right-of-way line of Cunningham Drive (100.00 feet wide); thence continuing 

24.33 feet along the arc of a 285.00 foot radius circular curve to the left, with a central angle of 

04°53'29", having a chord which bears S87°03'17"W 24.32 feet along the North right-of-way 

line of said Cunningham Drive; thence N00°01'30"W 537.20 feet; thence N89°49'05"E 631.62 

feet along the South line of "Sheffield Manor Subdivision" as recorded in Liber 142, Pages 22-

24, Oakland County Records; thence S00°01'30"E 88.57 feet; thence N89°58'30"E 400.00 feet; 

thence S00°01'30"E 440.77 feet along the West right-of-way line of Coolidge Highway (120.00 

feet wide) to the Place of Beginning, containing 11.81 acres of land, more or less.   Being subject 

to easements, conditions, exceptions and restrictions of record, if any. 

 

 

 

DESCRIPTION OF PARCEL II: (Tax I.D. No.: 20-19-476-001) 

Commencing at the Southeast Corner of Section 19, T2N, R11E, City of Troy, Oakland County, 

Michigan; thence N00°01'30"W 120.00 feet along the East line of said Section 19; thence 

S89°30'00"W 60.00 feet for a PLACE OF BEGINNING; thence S44°48'54"W 42.60 feet; thence 

S89°30'00"W 903.00 feet; thence N00°01'30"W 12.00 feet; thence S89°30'00"W 227.00 along 

the North right-of-way line of Big Beaver Road (204.00 feet wide); thence N45°15'40"W 42.22 

feet; thence N00°01'30"W 824.57 feet along the East right-of-way line of Cunningham Drive 

(100.00 feet wide); thence along the Southeasterly right-of-way line of said Cunningham Drive 

289.06 feet along the arc of a 185.00 foot radius circular curve to the right, with a central angle 

of 89°31'26", having a chord which bears N44°44'15"E 260.54 feet; thence N89°30'00"E 

1006.55 feet (recorded as 1006.53 feet) along the South right-of-way line of said Cunningham 

Drive; thence S00°01'30"E 1020.06 feet (recorded as 1020.04 feet) along the West right-of-way 

line of Coolidge Highway (120.00 feet wide) to the Place of Beginning.  EXCEPTING that part 

of Parcel II described as follows:  Commencing at the Southeast Corner of Section 19, T2N, 

R11E, City of Troy, Oakland County, Michigan; thence N00°01'30"W 120.00 feet along the East 

line of said Section 19; thence S89°30'00"W 60.00 feet; thence S44°48'54"W 25.53 feet for a 

PLACE OF BEGINNING; thence continuing S44°48'54"W 17.07 feet; thence S89°30'00"W 

903.00; thence N00°01'30"W 12.00 feet; thence N89°30'00"E 915.03 feet along the Northerly 

right-of-way line of said Big Beaver Road to the Place of Beginning.  Said parcel, less its 

exception contains 28.18 acres of land, more or less.  Being subject to easements, conditions, 

exceptions and restrictions of record, if any. 



 

 

 

2 
 

 

EXHIBIT “B” 

 

A copy of City Council Resolution No. ___________, which rezones the PUD Property 

to Planned Unit Development District 

 

 



 1 

Proposed Resolution # CC-2007-10- 
 
Moved by: 
Seconded by 
 
WHEREAS, The petitioner Richardson Development Group, Inc. has requested 
Concept Development Plan approval, pursuant to article 35.50.01, for The Pavilions of 
Troy Planned Unit Development (PUD 9), located on the northwest corner of Big Beaver 
and Coolidge, in Section 19, within the O-S-C, O-M and P-1 zoning districts, being 
approximately 39.99 acres in size; and 
 
WHEREAS, The Planning Commission recommended approval of the Concept 
Development Plan on September 11, 2007; and 
 
WHEREAS, The proposed PUD meets the Standards for Approval set forth in Article 
35.30.00; and   
 
WHEREAS, The proposed Planned Unit Development, parcel 88-20-19-476-001 and 
part of parcel 88-20-19-430-002, is described in the following legal description and 
illustrated on the attached Sketch & Description drawing: 
 
 Parcel I 
 
 T2N, R11E, SE 1/4 of Section 19 
 
 Commencing at the Southeast corner of Section 19 thence N00°01’30”W, 
 1240.08 ft. along the East line of said Section 19; thence S89°30’00”W, 60.00 ft. 
 to the Place of Beginning; thence S89°30’00”W, 1007.36 ft. along the North 
 right-of-way line of Cunningham Dr. (100.00 ft. wide); thence continuing 24.33 ft. 
 along the arc of a 285.00 ft. radius circular curve to the left, with a central angle 
 of 04°53’29”, having a chord which bears S87°03’17”W, 24.32 ft. along the North 
 right-of-way line of said Cunningham Dr.; thence N00°01’30”W, 537.20 ft.; 
 thence N89°49’05”E, 631.62 ft. along the South line of “Sheffield Manor 
 Subdivision” as recorded in Liber 142, Pages 22-24, Oakland County Records; 
 thence S00°01’30”E, 88.57 ft.; thence N89°58’30”E, 400.00 ft.; thence 
 S00°01’30”E, 440.77 ft. along the West right-of-way line of Coolidge Hwy. 
 (120.00 ft. wide) to the Place of Beginning, containing 11.81 ac. of land more or 
 less.  Being subject to easements, conditions, exceptions and restrictions of 
 record, if any. 
 
 And 
 
 Parcel II 
 
 T2N, R11E, SE 1/4 of Section 19 
 



 2 

 Commencing at the Southeast corner of Section 19 thence N00°01’30”W, 120.00 
 ft. along the East line of said Section 19; thence S89°30’00”W, 60.00 ft. to the 
 Place of Beginning; thence S44°48’54”W, 42.60 ft.; thence S89°30’00”W, 
 903.00 ft.; thence N00°01’30”W, 12.00 ft.; thence S89°30’00”W, 227.00 ft. along 
 the North right-of-way line of Big Beaver Rd. (204.00 ft. wide); thence 
 N45°15’40”W, 42.22 ft.; thence N00°01’30”W, 824.57 ft. along the East right-of-
 way line of Cunningham Dr. (100.00 ft. wide); thence along the Southeasterly 
 right-of-way line of said Cunningham Dr. 289.06 ft. along the arc of a 185.00 ft. 
 radius circular curve to the right, with a central angle of 89°31’26”, having a chord 
 which bears N44°44’15”E, 260.54 ft.; thence N89°30’00”E, 1006.55 ft. (recorded 
 as 1006.53 ft.) along the South right-of-way line of said Cunningham Dr.; thence 
 S00°01’30”E, 1020.06 ft. (recorded as 1020.04 ft.) along the West right-of-way 
 line of Coolidge Hwy. (120 ft. wide) to the Place of Beginning.  Excepting that 
 part of Parcel II described as follows: Commencing at the Southeast Corner of 
 Section 19; thence N00°01’30”W, 120.00 ft. along the East line of said Section 
 19; thence S89°30’00” W, 60.00 ft.; thence S44°48’54”W, 25.53 ft. to the Place 
 of Beginning; thence continuing S44°48’54”W, 17.07 ft.; thence S89°30’00” W, 
 903.00 ft.; thence N00°01’30”W, 12.00 ft.; thence N89°30’00”E, 915.03 ft. along 
 the Northerly right-of-way line of said Big Beaver Rd. to the Place of Beginning.  
 Said parcel, less it’s exception, contains 28.18 ac. of land, more or less.  Being 
 subject to easements, conditions, exceptions and restrictions of record, if any. 
 
BE IT RESOLVED, That the Planning Director and City Clerk shall take whatever 
actions are necessary pursuant to City Ordinance to effect the rezoning of the subject 
parcels to PUD; 
 
BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED, That the Zoning District Map of the City of Troy Zoning 
Ordinance is hereby AMENDED to delineate the subject parcels as PUD-009; and 
 
BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED, That the Planned Unit Development Agreement is 
hereby APPROVED, and  the Mayor and City Clerk are hereby AUTHORIZED TO 
EXECUTE the Planned Unit Development Agreement for The Pavilions of Troy Planned 
Unit Development on behalf of the City; a copy shall be ATTACHED to the original 
Minutes of this meeting; and  
 
BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED, That the executed The Pavilions of Troy Planned Unit 
Development Agreement be RECORDED with the Oakland County Register of Deeds; 
and 
 
BE IT FINALLY RESOLVED, That the Concept Development Plan for The Pavilions of 
Troy Planned Unit Development is hereby approved, and the petitioner is hereby 
permitted to submit Preliminary Development Plans pursuant to Article 35.50.02 of 
Chapter 39. 
 
Yes: 
No: 
Absent: 



 

 

 

3 
 

EXHIBIT “C” 

 

Survey of PUD Property 









 

 

 

4 
 

EXHIBIT “D” 

 

Permitted Uses



1.  L a n d  U s e

Permitted Uses

Residential 
Area

Transition 
Area

Pavilions 
Area

Border 
Area

Residential Uses (750 units)

Townhomes and lofts X X X X

Multiple family buildings (condominiums, apartments) - X X X

Live/work units - X X X

Senior housing (independent, assisted living or 
nursing/congregate care)

- X X X

Office Uses (300,000 sq. ft.)

General, professional and medical offices (including but not 
limited to clinics, laboratories, and

 

offices for similar professions 
including veterinarians)

- X X X

Research offices - X X X

Financial institutions such as banks or credit unions X X X

Hotel Uses (250 rooms)

Hotel - - X X

Retail Uses (500,000 sq. ft.)

General and specialty retail including but not limited to the 
following:

Personal and convenience services (such as salons, spas, 
retail dry cleaners, repair shops)
Sales of hard and soft goods and other merchandise 
(such as apparel, crafts, electronics, gifts, hardware, home 
furnishings, appliances, medical supplies, toys, 
pharmaceuticals)
Stores that sell pets, pet supplies, and offer accessory 
pet services such as grooming or boarding
Food Stores (such as grocery stores and specialty or 
gourmet markets, bakery, may include accessory flower 
shops, nurseries, delis, coffee shops, cafes, etc)

- X X X

Full Service Restaurants and Bars - - X X

Restaurants -

 

take out, coffee shops, ice cream shops, deli 
or café

- X X X



1.  L a n d  U s e

Permitted Uses

Residential 
Area

Transition 
Area

Pavilions 
Area

Border 
Area

Retail Uses (500,000 sq. ft.)

Entertainment uses (such as cinemas, live theaters, performing 
arts centers, indoor recreation, billiard halls, arcades and dance 
studios)

- - X X

Day care (children and adult) - X X X

Athletic or fitness clubs - X X X

Service establishment of a showroom or workshop 
(electrician, decorator, dressmaker, tailor, baker, painter, 
upholsterer; minor repair, photographic studios and similar 
establishments)

- - X X

Institutional Uses

Publicly owned and operated facilities (including post offices, 
libraries, museums, community and meeting, government offices, 
meeting facilities, and recreation facilities)

- X X X

Churches - X X X

Schools (including universities and trade schools) - X X X

Transit Centers - X X X

Similar and Accessory Uses

Uses similar to the above consistent with the intent of this 
PUD, as determined by the Planning Commission, 
provided parking is sufficient

X X X X

Parking garages and on and off-street parking areas X X X X

Drive through windows (provided a maximum of three bays per 
use)

- X - X

Accessory structures and uses customarily incidental to the 
listed uses and otherwise compatible with a pedestrian 
oriented environment (such as temporary and permanent 
outdoor pavilions, plazas, outdoor seating, outdoor performance 
stages, kiosks, sales stands, mobile sales carts, outdoor café

 

seating, and transit stops/shelters and similar uses)

 

to be 
approved administratively

X X X X









 

 

 

5 
 

EXHIBIT “E” 

 

Shared Parking Model 

 
In the event the full program for the Phase 1 Area is submitted as a single Preliminary 

Development Plan (PDP), the minimum parking required for the Phase 1 Area will be 2,959 

spaces as outlined in The Pavilions of Troy Shared Parking Study, prepared by Wells & 

Associates May 31, 2007.  In the event the full build out program is submitted as a single PDP, 

the minimum parking required for The Pavilions of Troy will be 4,296 spaces, in accordance 

with the Shared Parking Study.  Additional parking may be provided for each of these conditions 

at the discretion of Owner.   

 

PDPs for Phase 1 Area Program 

In the event the program for the Phase 1 Area is submitted for approval in multiple PDPs, the 

following methodology will be used to calculate the minimum number of parking spaces 

required for each individual PDP and all cumulative PDPs submitted to date.   

 

The applicant will calculate the minimum parking requirement for the program for each 

individual PDP submitted and the cumulative minimum parking requirements of the program for 

all PDPs submitted to date to determine the cumulative required parking for the Project when 

that PDP is constructed in accordance with the effective parking ratios listed in the following 

schedule (Effective Parking Ratios from The Pavilions of Shared Parking Study, prepared by 

Wells & Associates, May 31, 2007, Page 31, Table 11): 

 
Use                  Weekday           Weekend 

 

Retail                     3.31                  3.11 (per 1000 S.F. GLA) 

Restaurant           11.63                16.00 (per 1000 S.F. GLA) 

Cinema                  0.02                  0.11 (per seat) 

Supermarket           5.23                  4.76 (per 1000 S.F. GBA) 

Health Club            4.27                  4.71 (per 1000 S.F. GBA) 

Office                     3.13                  0.02 (per 1000 S.F. GBA) 

Residential             2.00                  2.00 (per D.U) 

Residential Visitors     0.03         0.09 (per D.U.) 

 

The required parking will be calculated for weekday and weekend conditions for each individual 

land use based on the proposed density for individual and collective PDPs, with all totals 

rounded up requiring one (1) full space.  The greater of the aggregate weekday or aggregate 

weekend total, as increased by twenty percent (20%) will serve as the minimum parking 

required to serve the cumulative project. Additional parking spaces may be provided above and 

beyond this minimum requirement at the discretion of Owner.  

 

The following is an example of how the methodology mentioned above would be applied to the 

cumulative PDP development program prior to the completion of the Phase 1 Area (the parties 

acknowledge that the following is an example only, and Owner shall have no obligation to 

submit a PDP application consistent with such sample): 



 

 

 

6 
 

 

Land Uses/Density (First PDP) 

 

Retail:   200,000 S.F. (GLA) 

Restaurant:      40,000 S.F. (GLA) 

Cinema:          3,000 seats 

Supermarket:      50,000 S.F. (GBA) 

Health Club:     35,000 S.F. (GBA) 

Office:     60,000 S.F. (GBA) 

Residential Units:       200 D.U. 

 
 

Minimum Parking Required:   Weekday  Weekend 

 

Retail (200 * 3.31 or 3.11) =      662      622 

Rest. (40 * 11.63 or 16.00) =    466      640 

Cinema (3,000 * .02 or .11) =       60      330 

Supermarket (50 * 5.23 or 4.76) =    262      238 

Health Club (35 * 4.27 or 4.71) =     150      165 

Office (60 * 3.13 or .02) =      188          2 

Res. (200 * 2.0 or 2.0) =      400      400 

Res. Visitors (200 * .03 or .09) =        6        18 

Subtotal     2,194   2,415 

Plus 20%       439     483 

Aggregate Total    2,633   2,898 

(* all totals rounded up) 

 

Minimum Parking Required = 2,898 spaces (weekend demand) 

 

PDPs after Phase 1Area Program Complete 

Upon the completion of the program for the Phase 1 Area, all subsequent PDPs submitted for 

approval up to full build out will apply the following methodology to calculate the minimum 

number of parking spaces required for each individual PDP and all cumulative PDPs submitted 

to date.   

 

The applicant will calculate the minimum parking requirement for the program for each 

individual PDP submitted and the cumulative minimum parking requirements of the program for 

all PDPs submitted to date to determine the cumulative required parking for The Pavilions of 

Troy when that PDP is constructed in accordance with the effective parking ratios listed in the 

following schedule (Effective Parking Ratios from The Pavilions of Shared Parking Study, 

prepared by Wells & Associates, May 31, 2007, Page 36, Table 12): 

 
Use                   Weekday           Weekend 

 

Retail                      3.02                  2.92 (per 1000 S.F. GLA) 

Restaurant              9.43                15.11 (per 1000 S.F. GLA) 



 

 

 

7 
 

Cinema                   0.02                  0.14 (per seat) 

Supermarket            4.79                  4.11 (per 1000 S.F. GBA) 

Health Club             4.27                  3.00 (per 1000 S.F. GBA) 

Office                      3.10                  0.00 (per 1000 S.F. GBA) 

Hotel          0.66     0.55  (per room) 

Residential  (Apt.)            2.00                  2.00 (per D.U) 

Residential Visitors (Apt.) 0.03     0.15 (per D.U.) 

Residential (Cono/TH) 2.00     0.15  (per D.U.) 

Residential Visitors (Condo)  0.03     0.15  (per D.U.) 

Senior Housing  0.69     0.81  (per D.U.) 

 
The required parking will be calculated for weekday and weekend conditions for each individual 

land use based on the proposed density for individual and collective PDPs, with all totals 

rounded up requiring one (1) full space.  The greater of the aggregate weekday or aggregate 

weekend total, as increased by thirty percent (30%) will serve as the minimum parking required 

to serve the cumulative project. Additional parking spaces may be provided above and beyond 

this minimum requirement at the discretion of Owner. 



 

 

 

8 
 

 

EXHIBIT “F” 

 

PUD Ordinance 

 
ARTICLE XXXV  Planned Unit Development (PUD) 

 

35.10.00 Intent:  

The intent of the Planned Unit Development option is to permit flexibility in the 

design and use of residential and non-residential land which, through the 

implementation of an overall development plan, when applicable to the site, will: 

A. Encourage developments that will result in a long term contribution to social, 

environmental and economic sustainability in the City of Troy;  

B. Permit development patterns that respond to changing public and private 

needs; 

C. Encourage flexibility in design and use that will result in a higher quality of 

development and a better overall project than would be accomplished under 

conventional zoning, and which can be accommodated without sacrificing 

established community values;  

D. Provide for the long-term protection and/or preservation of natural resources, 

natural features, and/or historic and cultural resources; 

E. Promote the efficient use and conservation of energy; 

F.  Encourage the use, redevelopment and improvement of existing sites where 

current ordinances do not provide adequate protection and safeguards for the 

site or its surrounding areas, or where current ordinances do not provide the 

flexibility to consider redevelopment, replacement, or adaptive re-use of 

existing structures and sites; 

G. Provide for enhanced housing, employment, recreation, and shopping 

opportunities for the citizens of Troy; 

H. Ensure the compatibility of design and use between various components within 

the PUD and with neighboring properties and uses; and 

   I.  Ensure development that is consistent with the intent of the land use plan meeting 

the requirements of the Municipal Planning Act or the intent of any applicable corridor or sub-area 

plans. 

 



 

 

 

9 
 

A  Planned Unit Development project is viewed as an integrated development concept. 

To that end, the provisions of this Article are not intended to be used as a device for 

avoiding the zoning requirements that would otherwise apply, but rather to allow 

flexibility and mixture of uses, and to improve the design, character and quality of new 

development. The use of a Planned Unit Development to permit variations from other 

requirements of this Ordinance shall only be approved when such approval results in 

improvements to the public health, safety and welfare in the area affected, and in 

accordance with the intent of this Article. 

 

35.20.00  Uses Permitted: 

The uses permitted within a Planned Unit Development shall be consistent with the intent 

of the plan meeting the requirements of the municipal Planning Act or the intent of any 

applicable corridor or sub-area plans. If conditions have changed since the plan, or any 

applicable corridor or sub-area plans, were adopted, the uses shall be consistent with 

recent development trends in the area. Other land uses may be authorized when such uses 

are determined to be consistent with the intent of this Article. Physical standards relating 

to matters such as building height, bulk, density, parking and setbacks will be determined 

based upon the specific PUD plan presented, and its design quality and  

 

compatibility with adjacent uses, rather than being based upon the specific standards 

contained in the underlying zoning districts or in those districts within which the 

proposed uses otherwise occur. A Planned Unit Development plan, approved in 

accordance with the provisions of this Article, replaces the underlying zoning districts as 

the basis upon which the subject property is developed and its uses are controlled. 

 



 

 

 

10 
 

35.30.00 Standards for Approval: 

A Planned Unit Development project may be applied for in any zoning district. In 

order to be considered for the Planned Unit Development option, it should be 

demonstrated that the following standards will be met, as reasonably applicable to 

the site: 

A. The proposed development shall be applied for by a person or entity who has 

the legal right to execute a binding agreement covering all parcels in the PUD.  

B. The applicant shall demonstrate that through the use of the PUD option, the 

development will accomplish a sufficient number of the following objectives, 

as are reasonably applicable to the site, providing:  

1.  A mixture of land uses that would otherwise not be permitted without the 

use of the PUD, provided that other objectives of this Article are also met;  

2.  A public improvement or public facility (e.g. recreational, transportation, 

safety and security) which will enhance, add to or replace those provided 

by public entities, thereby furthering the public health, safety and welfare; 

3. A recognizable and material benefit to the ultimate users of the project and 

to the community, where such benefit would otherwise be infeasible or 

unlikely to be achieved absent these regulations; 

4. Long term protection and preservation of natural resources, natural 

features, and historic and cultural resources, of a significant quantity 

and/or quality in need of protection or preservation, and which would 

otherwise be unfeasible or unlikely to be achieved absent these 

regulations;  

5. A compatible mixture of open space, landscaped areas, and/or pedestrian 

amenities; 

6. Appropriate land use transitions between the PUD and surrounding 

properties; 

7. Design features and techniques, such as green building and low impact 

design, which will promote and encourage energy conservation and 

sustainable development; 

8. Innovative and creative site and building designs, solutions and materials; 

9. The desirable qualities of a dynamic urban environment that is compact, 

designed to human scale, and exhibits contextual integration of buildings and 

city spaces; 

10. The PUD will reasonably mitigate impacts to the transportation system 

and enhance non-motorized facilities and amenities; 

11. For the appropriate assembly, use, redevelopment, replacement and/or 

improvement of existing sites that are occupied by obsolete uses and/or 

structures; 



 

 

 

11 
 

12. A complementary variety of housing types that are in harmony with 

adjacent uses;  

13. A reduction of the impact of a non-conformity or removal of an obsolete 

building or structure; 

14. A development consistent with and meeting the intent of this Article; and 

will promote the intent of the plan meeting the requirements of the 

Municipal Planning Act or the intent of any applicable corridor or sub-

area plans. If conditions have changed since the plan, or any applicable 

corridor or sub-area plans, were adopted, the uses shall be consistent with 

recent development trends in the area.  

15. Includes all necessary information and specifications with respect to 

structures, heights, setbacks, density, parking, circulation, landscaping, 

amenities and other design and layout features, exhibiting a due regard for 

the relationship of the development to the surrounding properties and uses 

thereon, as well as to the relationship between the various elements within 

the proposed Planned Unit Development. In determining whether these 

relationships have been appropriately addressed, consideration shall be 

given to the following: 

A. The bulk, placement, and materials of construction of the proposed 

structures and other site improvements. 

B. The location and screening of vehicular circulation and parking areas 

in relation to surrounding properties and the other elements of the 

development. 

C. The location and screening of outdoor storage, loading areas, 

outdoor activity or work areas, and mechanical equipment. 

D. The hours of operation of the proposed uses. 

E. The location, amount, type and intensity of landscaping, and other 

site amenities. 

16. Parking shall be provided in order to properly serve the total range of uses 

within the Planned Unit Development. The sharing of parking among the 

various uses within a Planned Unit Development may be permitted. The 

applicant shall provide justification to the satisfaction of the City that the 

shared parking proposed is sufficient for the development and will not 

impair the functioning of the development, and will not have a negative 

effect on traffic flow within the development and/or on properties adjacent 

to the development. 

 

17. Innovative methods of stormwater management that enhance water quality 

shall be considered in the design of the stormwater system. 

 



 

 

 

12 
 

18. The proposed Planned Unit Development shall be in compliance with all 

applicable Federal, State and local laws and ordinances, and shall coordinate with 

existing public facilities. 

 

35.40.00 Consistency with Plan: 

In the event that an applicant proposes a Planned Unit Development wherein the 

predominant use or uses would not be consistent with the intent of the plan 

meeting the requirements of the Municipal Planning Act, applicable corridor or 

sub-area plans, recent development trends in the area, or this Article, the City may 

consider initiating an amendment to the plan or applicable corridor or sub-area 

plans. If an applicant proposes any such uses, the applicant shall provide 

supporting documentation in advance of or  

 

simultaneous with the request for Concept Development Plan Approval.  

 

35.50.00 Summary of the Approval Process: 

A. Step One: Conceptual Development Plan Approval. The procedure for review 

and approval of a PUD shall be a three-step process. The first step shall be 

application for and approval of a Concept Development Plan, which requires a 

legislative enactment amending the zoning district map so as to reclassify the 

property as a Planned Unit Development. A proposed Development 

Agreement shall be included and incorporated with the Concept Development 

Plan, to be agreed upon and approved coincident with said Plan. The Concept 

Development Plan and Development Agreement shall be approved by the City 

Council following the recommendation of the Planning Commission. Such 

action, if and when approved, shall confer upon the applicant approval of the 

Concept Development Plan and shall rezone the property to PUD in 

accordance with the terms and conditions of the Concept Development Plan 

approval.  

B. Step Two: Preliminary Development Plan Approval. The second step of the 

review and approval process shall be the application for and approval of a 

Preliminary Development Plan (preliminary site plan) for the entire project, or 

for any one or more phases of the project. City Council shall have the final 

authority to approve and grant Preliminary Development Plan approvals, 

following a recommendation by the Planning Commission. 

C. Step Three: Final Development Plan Approval. The third step of the review 

and approval process shall be the review and approval of a Final Development 

Plan (final site plan) for the entire project, or for any one or more phases of 

the project, and the issuance of building permits. Final Development Plans for 

Planned Unit Developments shall be submitted to the Planning Department for 



 

 

 

13 
 

administrative review, and the Planning Department, with the 

recommendation of other appropriate City Departments, shall have final 

authority for approval of such Final Development Plans. 

35.50.01 Step One: Concept Development Plan Approval: 

A. Preapplication Meeting. Prior to the submission of an application for approval 

of a Planned Unit Development, the applicant shall meet informally with the 

Planning Department of the City, together with such staff and outside 

consultants as deemed appropriate by the City. The applicant shall present at 

such conference, or conferences, a sketch plan of the proposed Planned Unit 

Development, as well as the following information:  

1. A legal description of the property and the total number of acres in the 

project;  

2. A topographical map of the site; 

3. A statement as to all proposed uses;  

4. The known deviations sought from the ordinance regulations otherwise 

applicable;  

5. The number of acres to be preserved as open or recreational space and the 

intended uses of such space;  

6. All known natural resources, natural features, historic resources and 

historic features; which of these are to be preserved; and 

7. A listing and specification of all site development constraints. 

 

B. Concept Development Plan. Thereafter, a Concept Development Plan 

conforming to the application provisions set forth herein shall be submitted. A 

proposed Development Agreement shall be incorporated with the Concept 

Development Plan submittal and shall be reviewed and approved coincident 

with the Plan. Such submissions shall be made to the Planning Director, who 

shall present the same to the Planning Commission for consideration at a 

regular or special meeting. The Concept Development Plan shall constitute an 

application to amend the zoning district map. Before making a 

recommendation to the City Council, the Planning Commission shall hold a 

Public Hearing on the proposal. Prior to the Planning Commission scheduling 

a Public Hearing, the applicant shall arrange for one or more informal 

meetings with representatives of the adjoining neighborhoods, soliciting their 

comments and providing same to the Planning Commission. The City shall be 

advised in advance as to the scheduling and location of all such meetings.  

Thereafter, the Planning Commission shall make a recommendation to the 

City Council with regard to the Concept Development Plan. A Public Hearing 

shall be scheduled before the City Council, at which time they will consider 

the proposal along with the recommendations of the Planning Commission, 

the City staff, and comments of all interested parties. The City Council shall 

then take action to approve, approve with conditions, or disapprove the 



 

 

 

14 
 

Concept Development Plan. The City Council shall set forth in their resolution 

the reasons for such action, including any reasons for denial. 

C. Application. The application for approval of a Concept Development Plan shall 

include the following information and materials, which shall be in a plan 

format together with a narrative explanation: 

1.  Development Concept: A summary explanation of the development 

concept of the proposed Planned Unit Development. The Concept 

Development Plan shall describe the project and explain how the project 

will meet the intent of the PUD option as set forth in Section 35.10.00 and 

the criteria for consideration as a PUD as set forth in Section 35.30.00 

hereof, as those sections reasonably apply to the site. 

2.  Density: The maximum density of the overall project and the maximum 

density for each proposed use and phase. 

3. Road System: A general description of the road system and circulation 

pattern; the location of roads, entrances, exits and pedestrian walkways; a 

statement whether roads are intended to be public or private. 

4. Utilities: A general description and location of both on-site and off-site 

utilities including proposed water, sanitary sewer, storm sewer systems 

and utility lines; a general indication of the size and location of stormwater 

detention and retention ponds, and a map and text showing off-site 

utilities, existing and proposed, which will provide services to the project. 

5. Open Space/Common Areas: A general description of proposed open 

space and common areas; the total area of open space; the total area of 

open space in each proposed phase; the proposed uses of open space and 

common areas. 

6. Uses: A list of all proposed uses; the location, type and land area to be 

devoted to each use, both overall and in each phase; a demonstration that 

all of the proposed uses are permitted under this Article. 

7. Development Guidelines: A plan of the site organization, including typical 

setback and lot dimensions; the minimum lot sizes for each use; typical 

minimum and maximum building height and size; massing models; 

conceptual building design; and the general character and arrangement of 

parking; fencing; lighting; berming; and building materials. 

8. Parking and Traffic: A study of the parking requirements and needs; a 

traffic impact study and analysis. 

9. Landscaping: A general landscaping plan; a landscape plan for entrances; 

a landscape plan for overall property perimeters; any theme/streetscape 

design; any proposed irrigation. 

10. Natural Resources and Features: Floodway/floodplain locations and 

elevations; wetlands and water courses; woodlands; location and 

description of other natural resources and natural features. 



 

 

 

15 
 

11. Phasing Information: The approximate location, area and boundaries of 

each phase; the proposed sequence of development, including phasing 

areas and improvements; and the projected timing for commencement and 

completion of each phase. 

12. Public Services and Facilities: A description of the anticipated demand to 

be generated by the development for public sewer, water, off-site roads, 

schools, solid waste disposal, off-site drainage, police and fire; a 

description of the sufficiency of each service and facility to accommodate 

such demands; the anticipated means by which any insufficient services 

and facilities will be addressed and provided. 

13. Historical Resources and Structures: Their location, description and 

proposed preservation plan. 

14. Site Topography.  

15. Signage: General character and location of entrance and internal road 

system signage; project identification signage; and temporary or 

permanent signage proposed for any other locations. 

16. Amenities.  

17. Zoning Classification: Existing zoning classifications on and surrounding 

the site.  

18. Specification Of Deviations: A specification of all deviations proposed 

from the regulations which would otherwise be applicable to the 

underlying zoning and to the proposed uses, which are proposed and 

sought for any phase or component of the Planned Unit Development; the 

safeguards, features and/or planning mechanisms proposed to achieve the 

objectives intended to be accomplished by any regulation from which a 

deviation is being sought.  

19. Community Impact Statement: A community impact statement, which 

shall provide an assessment of the developmental, ecological, social, 

economic and physical impacts of the project on the natural environmental 

and physical improvements on and surrounding the development site. 

Information required for compliance with other ordinance provisions need 

not be duplicated in the community impact statement.  

20. Environmental Impact Statement: An environmental impact statement in 

accordance with the provisions of Article VII of this Chapter shall be 

submitted. 

 

D. Standards for Approval. In making a determination as to whether to approve a 

proposed Planned Unit Development proposal, the Planning Commission and 

the City Council shall be guided by the intent and criteria as set forth in 

Sections 35.10.00 through 35.40, as reasonably applicable to the site. 

E. Planned Unit Development Agreement. In conjunction with a request for 



 

 

 

16 
 

Concept Development Plan approval, the applicant shall submit one or more 

proposed documents which, when agreed upon by all parties, shall serve as the 

PUD Agreement. As a part of the Concept Development Plan approval 

process, the applicant and the City Council shall each authorize execution of a 

PUD Development Agreement. The PUD Development Agreement shall 

include, but shall not be limited to, items such as the following: 

1. A summary description of the nature and character of the proposed 

development, including uses, densities and site improvements as 

approved in the Concept Development Plan. 

2. A statement of the conditions upon which Conceptual Development 

Plan Approval by the City Council is based, with particular attention 

given to those conditions which are unique to this particular PUD Plan. 

These conditions may include matters such as, but not limited to, 

architectural standards, building elevations and materials, site lighting, 

pedestrian facilities, and landscaping. 

3. A summary of the public improvements (streets, utilities, etc.) and any 

other material benefits offered by the applicant, which are to be carried 

out in conjunction with the proposed PUD development, along with a 

summary of the financial guarantees which will be required and 

provided in order to ensure completion of those improvements, as well 

as the form of such guarantees which will be acceptable to the City. 

4. A document specifying and ensuring the maintenance of any open 

space or common areas contained within the PUD development (e.g. 

through a property owners association, or through conveyance to the 

City with maintenance deposit, etc.). 

Upon the granting of Concept Development Plan approval, the 

Planned Unit Development Agreement shall be recorded in the office 

of the Oakland County Register of Deeds by the City of Troy, 

referencing the legal description of the subject property. 

5. A statement that if there is a conflict between the Zoning Ordinance, the 

Conceptual Development Plan and the Planned Unit Development 

Agreement, the Planned Unit Development Agreement shall control. 

F. Effect of Concept Development Plan Approval. If the City Council 

approves the Concept Development Plan and the Development 

Agreement, the zoning map shall be amended to designate the property as 

a Planned Unit Development. Such action, if and when approved, shall 

confer Concept Development Plan approval for five (5) years (herein to be 

referred to as CDP Period). The five year CDP Period commences upon 

the effective date of adoption of the ordinance that rezones the parcel to 

PUD by City Council.  



 

 

 

17 
 

 

During the CDP Period, the applicant shall be permitted to submit at least one 

(or more, at the option of the applicant, if the project is proposed in phases) 

Preliminary Development Plan application(s), seeking Preliminary 

Development Plan approval in the manner hereinafter provided. Upon the 

submittal of the first Preliminary Development Plan for one or more phases of 

the PUD project, the five (5) year expiration period shall no longer apply to 

the CDP and the CDP shall remain in full force and effect for the development 

of the entire PUD project, including without limitation, the development of all 

future phases of the entire PUD Property. Any submittals of Preliminary 

Development Plans shall comply with all the requirements of Section 3.43.00 

of the Troy Zoning Ordinance for Preliminary Site Plan submittals and any 

additional requirements of the Planning Department reasonably needed to 

demonstrate consistency with the CDP and compliance with Section 35.50.02. 

Any Preliminary Development Plans that do not comply with these 

requirements shall not be considered submittals for purposes of this 

Paragraph. After submittal of the first Preliminary Development Plan, the 

timing for the issuance of permits and construction of the PUD project and/or 

all future phases, shall, be determined as set forth in Section 35.50.02.G. 

 
Upon the request of the applicant, prior to the expiration of the Concept Development 

Plan, the City Council may extend the expiration date of the Concept Development 

Plan. In determining whether to extend the expiration date of the Concept 

Development Plan, approval of an extension may be granted if the ordinances and 

laws applicable to the project have not changed in a manner which would 

substantially affect the project as previously approved.  

 
In the event of the expiration of the Concept Development Plan, the applicant may 

either make application for a new Concept Development Plan or make application for 

some other zoning classification. Following Final Development Plan Approval for 

one or more phases or for the entire PUD, no use or development of the subject 

property may occur which is inconsistent with the approved Final Development Plan 

and Development Agreement. There shall be no use or development of the subject 

property until a new concept development plan or rezoning is approved. 

35.50.02 Step Two: Preliminary Development Plan Approval: 

A. Development of property classified as a PUD shall require Preliminary 

Development Plan approval, which shall be granted by City Council following 

a recommendation by the Planning Commission. Application(s) shall be 



 

 

 

18 
 

submitted to the Planning Commission and City Council for review and 

approval consistent with the approved Concept Development Plan. 

B. Preliminary Development Plan approval may be applied for and granted with 

respect to the entire PUD development or as to one or more phases. However, 

if the project is developed in phases, the design shall be such that upon 

completion, each phase or cumulative result of approved phases shall be 

capable of standing on its own in terms of the presence of services, facilities, 

and open space, and shall contain the necessary components to ensure 

protection of natural resources and the health, safety, and welfare of the users 

of the Planned Unit Development and properties in the surrounding area.  

The Preliminary Development Plan shall specify the public improvements 

required to be constructed in addition to and outside of the proposed phase or 

phases for which  

 

approval is sought, which are determined to be necessary in order to support 

and 

service such phase or phases. 

  

Further, the Preliminary Development Plan may require the recordation of 

permanent or temporary easements, open space agreements, and other 

instruments in order to ensure the use and development of the public 

improvements on the property as proposed and/or to promote and/or protect 

the public health, safety and welfare in a manner consistent with the intent and 

spirit of this Article. 

C. Following receipt of an application for Preliminary Development Plan 

approval for either the entire PUD development, or for any one or more 

phases thereof, the Planning Commission shall conduct a public hearing to 

determine that: 

1.  The Preliminary Development Plan continues to meet and conform to the 

criteria for, the intent of and the objectives contained in the approved 

Concept Development Plan. In the event that the Planning Commission 

determines that the Preliminary Development Plan does not continue to 

meet or conform to the criteria for, the intent of and/or the objectives 

contained in the approved Concept Development Plan, The Planning 

Commission shall make this determination a part of their recommendation. 

If City Council determines the Preliminary Development Plan does not 

conform to the Concept Development Plan, the applicant shall either 

revise the Preliminary Development Plan to so conform, or, shall seek an 

amendment to the Concept Development Plan in accordance with Section 

35.70.00 hereof; and  

2. The Preliminary Development Plan meets the requirements, standards and 

procedures set forth Section 03.40.00 et seq. (Site Plan Review/Approval) 



 

 

 

19 
 

of the Zoning Ordinance and any other applicable requirements as set 

forth in this Article. 

D. Except as herein otherwise modified, Preliminary Development Plan approval 

shall be based upon the requirements, standards and procedures set forth 

Section 03.40.00 et seq. of the Zoning Ordinance (Site Plan 

Review/Approval). In addition to the information required in such Section, the 

applicant shall also submit the following: 

1. A demonstration, including map and text, that the requirements of Section 

35.50.02.B hereof have been met. 

2.  To the extent not provided by the information submitted in accordance 

with Section 03.40.00 et seq. of the Zoning Ordinance, the following 

additional information and documentation shall be submitted: 

a. Sufficient information to demonstrate compliance with any applicable 

project design standards as approved during Concept Development 

Plan review. 

b. A site plan showing the type, location and density of all structures and 

uses. 

c. A plan showing all open spaces, including preserves, recreational 

areas, and historic resources, including but not limited to all similar 

such uses and spaces, and the purpose proposed for each area. 

d. Expert opinion of an independent consultant with regard to a market 

need for the use or uses proposed and the economic feasibility of the 

project. 

e. A specification of all deviations proposed from the regulations which 

would otherwise be applicable to the underlying zoning and to the 

proposed uses. This specification shall state the reasons and 

mechanisms to be utilized for the protection of the public health, safety 

and welfare in lieu of the regulations which would otherwise apply to a 

traditional development. 

f. Additional landscaping details as required by the Planning 

Commission and/or the City Council in order to achieve a specific 

purpose consistent with  

the spirit of this Article. 

 

g. The general improvements which will constitute a part of each phase 

or phases proposed, including, without limitation, lighting, signage, 

visual and noise screening mechanisms, utilities, and further including 

the aesthetic qualities of the general improvements. 

E. The Planning Commission shall proceed with the review of a Preliminary 

Development Plan in the manner herein specified and in accordance with the 

provisions of Section 03.40.00 et seq. of the Zoning Ordinance. The Planning 



 

 

 

20 
 

Commission shall provide a recommendation to City Council who shall have 

the authority to approve or deny the Preliminary Development Plan. 

F. At the conclusion of the Planning Commission’s review, the Planning 

Commission shall either recommend approval of the Preliminary 

Development Plan, with or without conditions, or recommend denial. If the 

Planning Commission recommends denial, the minutes of the meeting shall 

include the reasons for recommending denial. If approval is recommended 

with conditions, the minutes shall include a statement of the conditions. 

G. Following receipt of the Planning Commission’s recommendation of a 

Preliminary Development Plan, the City Council shall conduct a public 

hearing to determine that: 

1.  The preliminary development plan continues to meet and conform to the 

criteria for, the intent of and the objectives contained in the approved 

Concept Development Plan. In the event that the City Council determines 

that the Preliminary Development Plan does not continue to meet or 

conform to the criteria for, the intent of and/or the objectives contained in 

the approved Concept Development Plan, the City Council shall deny the 

application. If City Council determines the Preliminary Development Plan 

does not conform to the Concept Development Plan, the applicant shall 

either revise the Preliminary Development Plan to so conform, or, shall 

seek an amendment to the Concept Development Plan in accordance with 

Section 35.70.00 hereof; and  

2. The preliminary development plan meets the requirements, standards and 

procedures set forth in Section 03.40.00 et seq. (site plan review/approval) 

of the zoning ordinance and any other applicable requirements as set forth 

in this article. 

A. City Council’s approval of the Preliminary Development Plan shall be effective for a 

period of three (3) years, during which period of time the applicant is authorized to 

submit a Final Development Plan (final site plan, engineering and construction plans) 

for site improvements, together with all other documents necessary for Final 

Development Plan approval and the issuance of Building Permits. The applicant may 

apply to the City for extension of the three (3) year period for approval of the 

Preliminary Development Plan. 

 

35.50.03 Step Three: Final Development Plan Approval: 

 Upon receipt of Preliminary Development Plan approval, the applicant shall be entitled 

to submit a Final Development Plan for the entire development (or one or more phases) to the 

Planning Department for its review and approval, and the Planning Department  

 



 

 

 

21 
 

 shall have final authority for the review and approval of Final Development Plans. In 

conjunction with the application for approval of a Final Development Plan, the applicant shall submit 

evidence of completion of the Preliminary Development Plan Approval process in accordance with 

this Article. Following their review of the Final Development  

 Plan, the Planning Department shall approve, approve with conditions, or disapprove 

the Final Development Plan. In the event of denial, the Planning Department shall set forth in writing 

the reasons for such action. Construction shall commence in accordance with the Final Development 

Plan within two (2) years from the date of approval. The applicant may apply to the Planning 

Commission for an extension of the one (1) year period within which to commence construction upon 

good cause shown. 

35.60.00 Amendment or Abandonment: 

 
35.60.01 Any proposed amendment of the Planned Unit Development which seeks 

to alter the intent, the conditions or terms of the Concept Development Plan as approved 

and/or the terms or conditions of Final Development Plan approval, shall be presented to 

and considered by the Planning Commission and the City Council at Public Hearings, 

following the procedures set forth for Concept Development Plan approval. 

 
35.60.02 Abandonment of Concept Development Plan: Following any action evidencing 

abandonment of the Concept Development Plan, whether through failure to proceed 

during the Concept Development Plan period as required under this Article, or through 

notice of abandonment given by the property owners, applicants or their successors, the 

City Council shall be entitled to take any necessary and appropriate action to rescind the 

Concept Development Plan approvals, to invalidate any related Development 

Agreements, and to rezone the subject property from PUD to an appropriate 

classification. Abandonment shall be deemed to rescind any and all rights and approvals 



 

 

 

22 
 

granted under and as part of the Concept Development Plan, and the same shall be 

deemed null and void. Evidence of such actions shall be recorded in the office of the 

Oakland County Register of Deeds, and referenced to the subject property. 

 

 (Rev. 04-02-07) 

 

35.60.03 PUBLIC NOTICE FOR PLANNED UNIT DEVELOPMENT PUBLIC HEARINGS: 

 

  A. For public hearings required with respect to a Planned Unit Development, notice 

shall be given not less than 15 days before each public hearing at which the Planned 

Unit Development will be considered. Notice shall be given by publication in a 

newspaper that circulates in the City of Troy, and by personal delivery or mailing to 

the following: 

 

1. The applicant. 

 

2. The owner(s) of the property, if the applicant is not the owner. 

 

3. The owners of all real property within 300 feet of the boundary for the property 

for which approval has been requested, as shown by the latest assessment roll, 

regardless of whether the owner and property is located within the City of Troy. 

 

4. The occupants of any structures within 300 feet of the boundary for the property 

for which the approval has been requested, regardless of whether the owner and 

property is located within the City of Troy. 

 

 



 

 

 

23 
 

B.  The notice shall include: 

 

1. The nature of the Planned Unit Development being proposed. 

 

2. The property(ies) for which the request has been made. 

 

3. A listing of all existing street addresses within the property(ies) which is(are) 

the subject of the proposed Planned Unit Development. Street addresses do 

not need to be created and listed if no such addresses exist. If there are no 

street addresses, another means of identification may be used.  

 

4. The location where the application documents can be viewed and copied 

prior to the date the application will be considered. 

 

5. The date, time and location of when the hearing on the application will take 

place. 

 

6. The address at which written comments should be directed prior to the 

consideration. 

 

  (Enacted: 09-18-06; Effective: 10-01-06) 

 

35.60.03 Abandonment of Preliminary Development Plan: Approved Preliminary 

Development Plans for which a Final Development Plan has not been submitted 

as required under Section 35.50.02.G., shall be considered abandoned for the 

purposes of this Article. The applicant may request a twelve month extension of 

Preliminary Development Plan approval, which will be considered and acted upon 

by the City Council following a Public Hearing. A written request for extension 

must be received by the City before the expiration of the three year Preliminary 

Plan Approval period. 

 

35.60.04 Abandonment of Final Development Plan: Approved Final Development Plans, 

upon which construction does not commence within a two year period from the 

date of a Final Development Plan approval, shall be considered abandoned for the 

purposes of this Article. The applicant may request a twelve month extension of 

Final Development Plan approval, which will be considered and acted upon by 

the City Council following a Public Hearing. A written request for extension must 



 

 

 

24 
 

be received by the City before the expiration of the two-year Final Plan Approval 

period. 

 

35.70.00 Appeals: 

The Board of Zoning Appeals shall have no authority in matters covered by this 

Article. Modifications to plans or proposals submitted under this Article shall be 

processed in accordance with the amendment procedures covered under Section 

35.60.00 hereof. 

 

35.80.00 Violations: 

Any violation of the approved PUD Final Plan or the PUD Agreement shall be considered 
a violation of the Zoning Ordinance, which shall be subject to the enforcement actions 
and penalties described in Section 02.50.00 of the Zoning Ordinance. 

 

  (Rev. 04-02-07) 

 



 

 

 

25 
 

EXHIBIT “G” 

 

Deviations from Development Standards 

 
1. The City acknowledges that Owner shall be entitled to submit for final engineering approval 

for sanitary sewer, water main and any public storm sewer systems or other public utilities prior to the 

fist PDP application for the PUD Property. 

 

2. The proximity of buildings along street corridors will require that all proposed utilities be 

placed under road or sidewalk pavement and proposed easements for public utilities overlap each 

other.  

 

3. Prior to obtaining final PDP approval, the City will allow Owner to make submittals intended 

for review of final engineering plans including grading and soil erosion.   

 

4. Owner shall be entitled to install sanitary sewers at a minimum depth from top of curb (or road 

centerline if uncurbed) to the top of any sanitary sewer of five feet (5’-0”) at local control points, and 

at locations where the sewer grade is parallel to the road grade.   

 

 

5. Improved open drains (including, without limitation, bio swales, infiltration trenches and rain 

gardens) may be permitted upon special circumstances, with Engineering Department approval.  The 

open drains shall be designed to include the following: 

 

(a) Side slopes no steeper than six (6) horizontal to one (1) vertical, where such slopes 

abut the development being proposed. 

 

(b) Four (4) to one (1) slopes, with four (4) foot chain link fencing, may be considered, 

with the approval of the City Engineer, along a development boundary. 

 

6. Owner shall be entitled to install HDPE or corrugated metal storm sewer pipe in lieu of 

concrete.    

 

7. Owner may install fire hydrants within the standard twenty five (25’) feet set back from street 

intersections, provided such installation is not closer than ten (10’) feet from such intersections.  

Additionally, steel post (or bollards) may not be required if they detract from the overall design. 

Protection of hydrants may be accomplished by alternate methods (including, without limitation, 

landscape islands).  

 

8. Owner may install fire hydrants within the standard twenty five (25’) foot set back from any 

building provided such fire hydrants will not be located within the road or at similar inappropriate 

locations.    

 

9.   Owner shall be entitled to install roads within the project which include a width of twenty 

eight (28’) feet, B-C to B-C.   

 



 

 

 

26 
 

10. Owner shall be entitled to provide for a vertical curve of the road which is less than one 

hundred (100’) feet, where appropriate.   

 

11. Owner shall be entitled to include pavement radii that are less than twenty (20’) feet.  

 

12. Roads which are internal to the project may not have curbs, when approved by the City 

Engineer.  

 

13. Owner shall not be obligated to comply with the standard of Air Entraining Portland Cement, 

Type I –A, A.S.T.M. Designation C-150 in the areas where Owner elects to use porous pavement. 

 

14. Owner shall not be obligated to comply with the concrete standard of M.D.O.T. Grade 35P; a 

concrete mix proportion of one (1) part cement, one and one-half (1 ½) parts fine arrogate and two (2) 

parts coarse aggregate measured by volume with a maximum of six (6) gallons of water per sack of 

cement; and attain a minimum compressive strength on 3,500  p.s.i. after twenty-eight (28) days, in 

those areas where Owner elects to use porous pavement. 

 

15. In connection with the completion of construction on Phase 1, Owner shall have no obligation 

to install deceleration lanes along Coolidge Highway and or Cunningham Road.  



 

 

 

27 
 

EXHIBIT “H” 

 

Offsite Traffic Improvements 

 

 Big Beaver Road: 

 

 1.  Remove unsignalized EB to WB crossover immediately east of Cunningham 

Drive. 

 

 2.  Relocate existing signalized WB to EB crossover approximately 300 feet to the 

west. 

 

 Coolidge Highway: 

 

 1.  Construct SB to NB crossover with 100 feet of storage approximately 100 feet 

north of Big Beaver Road. 

 

 2.  Remove existing SB to NB crossover located at Somerset North southern 

driveway. 

 

 3.  Construct SB right turn deceleration lane at Pavilions Drive 7 (as identified in 

The Pavilions of Troy CDP Book) with 50 feet of storage and 75 foot taper. 

 

 4.  Remove existing NB to SB crossover located between Somerset North southern 

driveway and Somerset North northern driveway. 

 

 5. Construct NB duel left turn lanes within 350 feet of storage at Pavilions Drive 6 

(as identified in The Pavilions of Troy CDP Book)/Somerset North driveway. 

 

 6.  Construct SB right turn deceleration lane at Pavilions Drive 6 (as identified in 

The Pavilions of Troy CDP Book) with 100 feet of storage and 75 foot taper. 

 

 7.  Install three phase traffic signal at the Pavilions Drive 6/Somerset North northern 

driveway. 

 

 8.  Construct exclusive EB left turn lane on Cunningham Drive with 300 feet of 

storage and an appropriate taper per the Road Commission for Oakland County standards. 

 

 9.  Construct exclusive WB right turn lane on Cunningham Drive with 150 feet of 

storage and an appropriate taper per the Road Commission for Oakland County standards. 

 



 

 

 

28 
 

 10.  Re-stripe SB right turn lane at Cunningham Drive to operate a shared 

through/right turn lane.  Minimal modifications will be necessary to the median south of 

Cunningham to provide for proper transition. 

 

 



 

 

 

29 
 

EXHIBIT I 

 

CONCEPTUAL DEVIATIONS TO SIGN ORDINANCE 

 

 
 

 

1. Sign Measurement.  The area of any sign will be measured by enclosing the text and/or 

logos that comprise the sign’s language within a parallelogram or rectangle.  Architectural 

features such as decorative walls, columns, planting areas and water features are not 

considered to be part of the sign for measurement purposes. 

 

2. Corner Identity (Southeast corner of the site at the intersection of Big Beaver Road and 

Coolidge Highway) 

 

Minimum Setback Maximum Height Maximum Area 

20 ft 25 ft 200 sq. ft. 
 

3. Entries to Pavilions of Troy (Vehicular entrances to the site from Big Beaver Road, 

Coolidge Highway and Cunningham Drive) 

 

Minimum Setback Maximum Height Maximum Area 

10 ft 

 (but 30 ft from existing residential district) 

20 ft 200 sq. ft. 

 

4. Directories 

Up to four directories will be located within the site, to assist in way-finding.  Directories 

will be a maximum of 10 feet and 50 sq. ft. per side. 

 

5. Theater 
The theater will have two dedicated ground signs, one on Big Beaver and one on Coolidge.  

The theater sign can be up to 30 feet tall and up to 200 Square Feet in area. 

 

6. Wall Signs Facing External Streets (Big Beaver Road and Coolidge Highway) 

Wall signs facing external streets will be allowed any number of wall signs, such that the 

total combined area of all wall signs shall not exceed 10% of the wall. 

 

7. Wall Signs Facing Internal Streets (any street within the site, including Cunningham) 

Wall signs facing internal streets will be allowed any number of wall signs, such that the total 

combined area of all wall signs shall not exceed 20% of the wall.   

 

8. Signs Adjacent to Existing Residential Neighborhood (North of New Road) 

In recognition of the existing residents along Babcock, the required setback for ground signs 

from adjacent residentially zoned property will be the same as for buildings within the zoning 

district, and no sign will be located closer than 100 feet to any property line of an adjacent R-

1 District, except when adjacent to the church, where a 10 foot setback will be maintained.   



 

 

 

30 
 

 

10. Miscellaneous Signs 

Incidental, directional, and other noncommercial signs such as parking garage signage and 

accessory wayfinding that serve to direct or inform the public shall be permitted in any 

number up to 40 sq. ft. 



 

 

 

31 
 

EXHIBIT J 

 

APPROVED OUTDOOR ENTERTAINMENT EVENTS 

 

 
Owner will not be obligated to obtain a special event allowance or similar approval for 

the following events (including any uses incidental to such events): 

 

Outdoor Music Performances 

Outdoor Theater 

Outdoor Puppet Shows 

Outdoor Movies 

Carnivals 

Farmer’s Markets 

Theme markets (i.e. Starbucks Festival) 

Tastes of the Town 

Festivals 

Seasonal Celebrations (i.e. Oktoberfest) 

Car/Motorcycle Shows 

Parades 

Ice Rink Performances 

Charitable Events (i.e Host for Race for Cure, Walk-a-thons) 

Sports Events (i.e. 5-K, 10-K, Marathon, Bicycle Races, etc.) 

 

 The foregoing events (including any uses incidental to such events) shall be subject 

to the following:   

 

(1)  Such events shall not create a “nuisance”, as that term is defined in the Troy 

Ordinances, to any property or persons outside of the boundaries of the PUD Property.  For 

purposes of this paragraph only, the PUD Property shall be deemed to include Cunningham 

Road between Big Beaver Road and Coolidge Road.   

 

(2) If any such event occurs partially on site and partially offsite (i.e., parade, 10k run, 

marathon), then Owner shall obtain a special event permit for that portion of the event 

occurring offsite.     

 

(3) If any event requires extra services to be performed by the City (i.e., police and fire 

services, clean up), then Owner shall reimburse the City for the incremental cost of such 

additional services. 

 



 

 

 

32 
 

EXHIBIT K 

 

SQUARE FOOTAGE CALCULATION 

 

 

 

 1. For purposes of retail use, the Square Footage shall be equal to 92.5% of the 

retail gross building area (as that term is defined by the Troy Ordinances).  For example, if 

the part of a building used for retail use has a gross building area of 1,000 square feet, then 

such building shall be deemed to contain 925 square feet of retail use, which will be 

counted against the 500,000 square feet of retail use allowed hereunder. 

 

 2. For purposes of office use, the Square Footage shall be equal to 90% of the 

office gross building area (as that term is defined by the Troy Ordinances).  For example, if 

the part of a building used for office use has a gross building area of 1,000 square feet, then 

such building shall be deemed to contain 900 square feet of office use, which will be 

counted against the 300,000 square feet of office use allowed hereunder. 

 

 For purposes of these calculations, gross building areas for vertical penetrations 

(such as, without limitation, elevators, vertical shafts, lobbies, stairs and atriums) relating 

to uses located above the retail use shall be attributable to the such above located use. 















































CITY COUNCIL MINUTES - DRAFT October 1, 2007 

 

- 1 - 

A Regular Meeting of the Troy City Council was held Monday, October 1, 2007, at City Hall, 
500 W. Big Beaver Road. Mayor Schilling called the Meeting to order at 7:31 PM. 
 
Pastor Dan Lewis of Troy Christian Chapel gave the Invocation and the Pledge of Allegiance to 
the Flag was given. 
 
ROLL CALL  

Mayor Louise E. Schilling 
Robin Beltramini 
Cristina Broomfield 
Wade Fleming 
Martin F. Howrylak 
David A. Lambert 
Jeanne M. Stine 
 
 CERTIFICATES OF RECOGNITION:  

A-1 Presentations: 

a) On behalf of the City of Troy, Mayor Schilling presented a proclamation to Don Pierce 
celebrating 30 years of partnership between the Troy Racquet Club and the City of Troy. 

b) On behalf of the City of Troy, Mayor Schilling presented a proclamation to Pam Brady 
recognizing America Recycles 2007.  

c) Co-Chair Mike Gonda provided a presentation summarizing the Troy Daze Festival 2007 
event.  

 

CARRYOVER ITEMS:  

B-1 No Carryover Items 
 
PUBLIC HEARINGS: 

C-1 No Public Hearings 

 
POSTPONED ITEMS:   

D-1 Request to Postpone Zoning Ordinance Text Amendment (File Number: ZOTA 230) 

– Articles X and XVIII – Wireless Communication Towers on School Property in the 

R-1A through R-1E (One Family Residential) and C-F (Community Facilities) 

Districts 
 
Pending Resolution  
Moved by Beltramini  
Seconded by Schilling  
 
RESOLVED, That Troy City Council hereby AMENDS Article X (R-1A – R-1E ONE FAMILY 
RESIDENTIAL DISTRICT) and XVIII (C-F COMMUNITY FACILITIES DISTRICT) of the City of 
Troy Zoning Ordinance, pertaining to the permitting of Wireless Communication Towers in the 

pallottaba
Text Box
E-02



CITY COUNCIL MINUTES - DRAFT October 1, 2007 

 

- 2 - 

R-1A – R-1E and C-F Districts, to read as written in the proposed Zoning Ordinance Text 
Amendment (ZOTA 230), City Council Public Hearing Draft, as recommended by the Planning 
Commission. 
 

Vote on Resolution to Postpone 
 
Resolution #2007-10-283 
Moved by Lambert  
Seconded by Howrylak  
 
RESOLVED, That Troy City Council hereby POSTPONES the Zoning Ordinance Text 
Amendment (File Number: ZOTA 230) – Articles X and XVIII – Wireless Communication 
Towers on School Property in the R-1A through R-1E (One Family Residential) and C-F 
(Community Facilities) Districts until the Regular City Council meeting scheduled for Monday, 
November 12, 2007.  
 
Yes:  All-7 
 
CONSENT AGENDA:  

E-1a Approval of “E” Items NOT Removed for Discussion 
 
Resolution #2007-10-284-E-1a 
Moved by Stine  
Seconded by Beltramini  
 
RESOLVED, That all items as presented on the Consent Agenda are hereby APPROVED with 
corrections as placed on the table with the exception of Items E-2, E-4a and E-8, which SHALL 

BE CONSIDERED after Consent Agenda (E) items, as printed. 
 
Yes:  All-7  
  
E-3 City of Troy Proclamations: 
 
Resolution #2007-10-284-E-3 
 
RESOLVED, That Troy City Council hereby APPROVES the following City of Troy 
Proclamations: 
 
a) Celebrating 30 Years – Troy Racquet Club  
b) America Recycles 2007 
   
E-4 Standard Purchasing Resolutions 
 
b) Standard Purchasing Resolution 1: Award to Low Bidder – Volunteer Firefighter 

Uniforms                       
 



CITY COUNCIL MINUTES - DRAFT October 1, 2007 

 

- 3 - 

Resolution #2007-10-284-E-4b 
 
RESOLVED, That Troy City Council hereby AWARDS a contract to furnish two-year 
requirements of uniforms for Troy Fire department volunteers with an option to renew for two-
one (1) year periods to the sole bidder, Metropolitan Uniform of Detroit, MI, at unit prices as 
contained on the bid tabulation opened September 6, 2007, a copy of which shall be 
ATTACHED to the original Minutes of this meeting, with a contract expiration of September 30, 
2009. 
 
c) Standard Purchasing Resolution 1: Award to Low Bidders – Firearm Accessories 

for the Tactical Support Team                       
 
Resolution #2007-10-284-E-4c 
 
RESOLVED, That Troy City Council hereby AWARDS contracts to purchase firearm 
accessories for use by the Police Department's Tactical Support Team to the low bidders, 
Michigan Police Equipment Company of Charlotte, MI, for Item #1) Surefire sound suppressor; 
and Interstate Arms Corporation of Billerica, MA, for Item #2) Surefire suppressor adapter, at 
unit prices as contained on the bid tabulation opened September 12,2007, a copy of which 
shall be ATTACHED to the original Minutes of this meeting. 
 
d) Standard Purchasing Resolution 8: Best Value Award – Consultant to Perform 

Library Needs Assessment/Feasibility Study                       
 
Resolution #2007-10-284-E-4d 
 
RESOLVED, That Troy City Council hereby AWARDS a contract to provide a review and 
analysis of the current and future spatial needs of the Troy Public Library to the highest rated 
bidder, Fanning/Howey & Associates, Inc. of Novi, MI, as a result of a best value process at an 
estimated cost of $22,750.00, as listed on the tabulation opened August 28, 2007, a copy of 
which shall be ATTACHED to the original Minutes of this meeting; and 
 
BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED, That the award is CONTINGENT upon consultant’s submission of 
properly executed proposal and contract documents, including insurance certificates and all other 
specified requirements.  
 
E-5 Temporary Waiver of Parking Restrictions – Smith Middle School 
 
Resolution #2007-10-284-E-5 
 
RESOLVED, That Troy City Council hereby WAIVES the no parking restrictions on Donaldson 
from Square Lake to Cotswald on November 14 and 15, 2007, between the hours of 11:30 AM 
and 9:00 PM, March 6, 2008, between the hours of 11:30 AM and 9:00 PM, April 18, 2008, 
between the hours of 5:30 PM and 9:30 PM, and June 16, 2008, between the hours of 9:00 AM 
and 12:00 noon. 
 



CITY COUNCIL MINUTES - DRAFT October 1, 2007 

 

- 4 - 

E-6 Agreement to Provide Fleet Maintenance Services – City of Royal Oak 
 
Resolution #2007-10-284-E-6 
 
RESOLVED, That Troy City Council hereby APPROVES the Interlocal Service Agreement for 
the City of Troy to provide fleet maintenance services to the City of Royal Oak and 
AUTHORIZES the Mayor and City Clerk to execute the agreement, a copy of which shall be 
ATTACHED to the original Minutes of this Meeting. 
 
E-7 Acceptance of Regrading and Temporary Construction Permits, John R Road 

Improvements, Square Lake Road to South Boulevard – Project No. 02.204.5 – 

Parcel #38 – Sidwell #88-20-02-279-021 – Geoffrey and Dana Calhoun 
 
Resolution #2007-10-284-E-7 
 
RESOLVED, That Troy City Council hereby ACCEPTS the Regrading and Temporary 
Construction Permit from Geoffrey and Dana Calhoun, owners of property having Sidwell #88-
20-02-279-021; and 
 
RESOLVED, That Troy City Council hereby AGREES to pay Geoffrey and Dana Calhoun an 
amount not to exceed $3,757.52 for permission to use land for construction and for 
compensation for the removal of vegetation in the construction area; and 
 
BE IT FINALLY RESOLVED, That the City Clerk is hereby DIRECTED to record the Regrading 
and Temporary Construction Permit with the Oakland County Register of Deeds, a copy of 
which shall be ATTACHED to the original Minutes of this meeting. 
 
E-9 Approval of Oakland County Inter-Local Agreement – Ballot Layout and Coding 

Services 
 
Resolution #2007-10-284-E-9 
 
RESOLVED, That Troy City Council hereby APPROVES a contract to utilize Oakland County 
for the canvass of local elections at a fee of $300.00 per election and AUTHORIZES the Mayor 
and City Clerk to sign the agreement for Ballot Layout and Programming Services between 
Oakland County and the City of Troy. 
 
E-10 Approval of Oakland County Agreement – Board of Canvassers 
 
Resolution #2007-10-284-E-10 
 
RESOLVED, That Troy City Council hereby APPROVES a contract to utilize Oakland County 
for the canvass of local elections at a fee of $25.00 per precinct and AUTHORIZES the Mayor 
and City Clerk to sign the agreement between the City of Troy and Oakland County to utilize 
the services of the Oakland County Board of Canvassers. 
 



CITY COUNCIL MINUTES - DRAFT October 1, 2007 

 

- 5 - 

E-11 Approval of Application for Transfer of Class C License to 1555 E. Maple LLC 
 
(a) New License 
 
Resolution #2007-10-284-E-11a 
 
RESOLVED, That Troy City Council CONSIDERS for APPROVAL the request from 1555 E. 
Maple LLC to transfer ownership of 2005 Class C licensed business with dance permit, located 
in escrow at 1555 E. Maple, Troy, MI 48084, Oakland County, from Jumbo Investment, Inc. 
with license to be held in escrow. {MLCC req #367206}; and 
 
BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED, That it is the consensus of this legislative body that the 
application BE RECOMMENDED for issuance. 
 
(b) Agreement 
 
Resolution #2007-10-284-E-11b 
 
WHEREAS, The Troy City Council deems it necessary to enter agreements with applicants for 
liquor licenses for the purpose of providing civil remedies to the City of Troy in the event 
licensees fail to adhere to Troy Codes and Ordinances; 
 
THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED, That Troy City Council hereby APPROVES 1555 E. Maple 
LLC request to transfer ownership of 2005 Class C licensed business with dance permit, 
located in escrow at 1555 E. Maple, Troy, MI 48084, Oakland County, from Jumbo Investment, 
Inc.; with license to be held in escrow, and AUTHORIZES the Mayor and City Clerk to execute 
the document, a copy of which shall be ATTACHED to the original Minutes of this meeting. 
 
E-12 Ratification of Resolution #2007-09-266 C-2 from September 10, 2007 City Council 

Meeting to Correct a Typographical Error  
 
Resolution #2007-10-284-E-12 
 
RESOLVED, That Troy City Council hereby RATIFIES Resolution #2007-09-266, Moved by 
Lambert, Seconded by Stine and approved unanimously, as follows: 
 

WHEREAS, The petitioner Big Beaver Place, LLC has requested Concept Development 
Plan approval, pursuant to article 35.50.01, for Big Beaver Place Planned Unit 
Development (PUD-008), located on the North side of Big Beaver, East of John R, in 
Section 24, within the R-1E zoning district, being approximately 4.77 acres in size;  
 
WHEREAS, The Planning Commission recommended approval of the Concept 
Development Plan on June 12, 2007;  
 
WHEREAS, The proposed PUD meets the Standards for Approval set forth in Article 
35.30.00; and 
 



CITY COUNCIL MINUTES - DRAFT October 1, 2007 

 

- 6 - 

WHEREAS, The proposed Planned Unit Development, parts of parcels 88-20-24-352-
024, -025, -026, -027, -028 and -041, is described in the following legal description and 
illustrated on the attached Certificate of Survey drawing: 
 

T2N, R11E, SW 1/4 of Section 24 
 
Lots 15, 16, 17, 18, 19 and 20 of Big Beaver Poultry Farms 
Subdivision (Liber 23, pg. 14 of Oakland County Plats), except the 
south 69 feet taken for Big Beaver Road.  Containing ±4.77 acres 
more or less, and subject to easements of record; 

 
BE IT RESOLVED, That Troy City Council hereby AMENDS the Zoning District Map of 
the City of Troy Zoning Ordinance to delineate the subject parcel as PUD-008; and 
BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED, That the Mayor and City Clerk are hereby AUTHORIZED 
to execute the Development Agreement for Big Beaver Place Planned Unit 
Development; a copy of which shall be ATTACHED to the original Minutes of this 
meeting; and  
 
BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED, That Big Beaver Place Planned Unit Development 
Agreement be RECORDED with the Oakland County Register of Deeds; and 
 
BE IT FINALLY RESOLVED, That the petitioner is hereby PERMITTED to submit a 
Preliminary Development Plan pursuant to article 35.50.02. 

 
E-1b  Address of “E” Items Removed for Discussion by City Council and/or the Public 
 
E-2  Approval of City Council Minutes 
 
Resolution #2007-10-285 
Moved by Stine  
Seconded by Howrylak  
 
RESOLVED, That the Minutes of the 7:30 PM Regular City Council Meeting of September 17, 
2007 and the Minutes of the 7:30 PM Special City Council Meeting of September 24, 2007 be 
APPROVED as submitted. 
 
Yes: All-7 
 
E-4 Standard Purchasing Resolutions 
 
a) Standard Purchasing Resolution 1: Award to Low Bidder – Purchase of Thermal 

Image Cameras                        
 
Resolution #2007-10-286 
Moved by Stine  
Seconded by Beltramini  
 
  



CITY COUNCIL MINUTES - DRAFT October 1, 2007 

 

- 7 - 

RESOLVED, That Troy City Council hereby AWARDS a contract to purchase nine (9) thermal 
image cameras with equipment and a two-year warranty to the low total bidder, ISG Thermal 
Systems USA, Inc., of Lawrenceville, GA, at an estimated total cost of $73,800.00, at unit 
prices as contained on the bid tabulation opened September 5, 2007, a copy of which shall be 
ATTACHED to the original Minutes of this meeting; and 
 
BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED, That Troy City Council hereby AUTHORIZES the purchase of 
five (5) additional thermal image cameras with equipment between July 1 and July 31, 2008, 
under the same prices, terms, and conditions provided there is available funding. 
 
Yes: All-7 
 
E-8 Authorization for Library HVAC Rooftop Replacement Unit 
 
Resolution #2007-10-287 
Moved by Stine  
Seconded by Lambert  
 
RESOLVED, That Troy City Council hereby AUTHORIZES City staff to replace the HVAC 
rooftop unit at the Troy Public Library at an estimated cost of $12,000.00, as detailed on 
Appendix I, utilizing in-house personnel, approved contracts, and standard purchasing 
procedures. 
 
Yes: All-7 
 
PUBLIC COMMENT: Limited to Items Not on the Agenda 
 
REGULAR BUSINESS: 

F-5 Site Plan Review (SP-943) – Proposed LTU Solar Decathlon House at Troy 

Community Center – South of Troy Center Drive, West of Livernois (3179 

Livernois), Section 21 – Zoned C-F (Community Facilities) District 

 
Resolution #2007-10-288 
Moved by Beltramini  
Seconded by Stine  
 
WHEREAS, All site plans for the development of public property within the C-F District are 
subject to the review and recommendation of the Planning Commission and to final review and 
approval or denial by City Council, as per Section 18.80.00(B) of the City of Troy Zoning 
Ordinance; and  
 
WHEREAS, The Planning Commission recommended approval of the Solar Decathlon House 
site plan at the Special/Study meeting on September 25, 2007; 
 
THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED, That Troy City Council hereby GRANTS Preliminary Site 
Plan Approval for the proposed Solar House at the Troy Community Center, as submitted, 



CITY COUNCIL MINUTES - DRAFT October 1, 2007 

 

- 8 - 

located south of Troy Center Drive, west of Livernois, in Section 21, on approximately 33 acres 
in area, within the C-F zoning district. 
 
BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED, That Troy City Council hereby ACCEPTS the gift of the Solar 
Decathlon House and foundation from the Troy Chamber of Commerce. 
 
Yes: All-7 
 
The meeting RECESSED at 8:50 PM. 
 
The meeting RECONVENED at 9:00 PM. 

F-1 Appointments to Boards and Committees: a) Mayoral Appointments: None 

Appointed; b) City Council Appointments: Ethnic Issues Advisory Board; Historic 

District Commission; Parks & Recreation Board 

 
(a)  Mayoral Appointments  - None Appointed 

 
(b)  City Council Appointments 

 
Resolution #2007-10-289 
Moved by Broomfield  
Seconded by Beltramini  
 
RESOLVED, That Troy City Council hereby APPOINTS the following person(s) to serve on the 
Boards and Committees as indicated: 
 
Ethnic Issues Advisory Board 
Appointed by Council (9-Regular) – 2 & 3 Year Terms 
 
Reuben T. Ellis Term Expires 09/30/09 - 2 Year Term 
 
Kelly Jones Term Expires 09/30/09 - 2 Year Term 
 
Mayada Fakhouri Term Expires 09/30/09 - 2 Year Term 
 

Historic District Commission  
Appointed by Council (7) – 3 Year Term 
 
W. Kent Voigt Term Expires 03/01/10 

 

Parks & Recreation Board  
Appointed by Council  (7-Regular) – 3 Year Terms; (1-Troy School Board) – 1 Year Term;  
(1-Troy Daze Committee) – 1 Year Term; (1-Advisory Committee for Sr. Citizens) – 1 Year Term 
 
Tod Gazetti Term Expires 09/30/10 
 



CITY COUNCIL MINUTES - DRAFT October 1, 2007 

 

- 9 - 

Yes: All-7 
 
F-2 Final Site Condominium Approval – Timbercrest Farms Site Condominium, South 

of Wattles West of Fernleigh, Section 24, R-1C 

 
Resolution #2007-10-290 
Moved by Lambert  
Seconded by Fleming  
 
RESOLVED, That Troy City Council hereby APPROVES the Final Plan, as submitted under 
Section 34.30.00 of the Zoning Ordinance (Unplatted One-Family Residential Development) for 
the development of a One-Family Residential Site Condominium known as Timbercrest Farms 
Site Condominium, located south of Wattles and west of Fernleigh, in Section 24, including 32 
home sites, within the R-1C zoning district, being 12.1 acres in size. 
 
Yes: All-7 
 
F-3 2008 City Council Meetings 

 
Resolution #2007-10-291 
Moved by Lambert  
Seconded by Fleming  
 
RESOLVED, That Troy City Council SHALL HOLD Regular Meetings according to the following 
schedule at 7:30 PM:  
 

Monday, January 7 & 28 
Monday, February 4 & 18  
Monday, March 3 & 17 
Monday, April 7 & 21 
Monday, May 12 & 19 
Monday, June 2 & 16 
Monday, July 7 & 21 
Monday, August 11 & 25 
Monday, September 8 & 22 
Monday, October 6 & 20 
Monday, November 10 & 24 
Monday, December 1 & 15 

 
Liquor Violation Hearing Dates: 
 

Wednesday, February 13 7:30 PM  
Wednesday, February 20 7:30 PM   

  
BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED, That Troy City Council MAY SCHEDULE Special Meetings as 
needed. 
 
Yes: All-7 



CITY COUNCIL MINUTES - DRAFT October 1, 2007 

 

- 10 - 

F-4 Revision to Chapter 47 – House Trailers Regarding Approval of Temporary 

Occupancy 

 
Resolution #2007-10-292 
Moved by Stine  
Seconded by Howrylak  
 
RESOLVED, That Troy City Council hereby APPROVES the revision to Chapter 47, House 
Trailers, of the Code of the City of Troy, in accordance with the proposal prepared by City 
Management, a copy of which shall be ATTACHED to the original Minutes of the meeting. 
 
Yes: All-7 

MEMORANDUMS AND FUTURE COUNCIL AGENDA ITEMS:  

G-1 Announcement of Public Hearings:  

a) Concept Development Plan Approval – The Pavilions of Troy Planned Unit Development 
(PUD 9) – Northwest Corner of Big Beaver and Coolidge, Section 19 – O-S-C, O-M and 
P-1 Districts – October 15, 2007       

Noted and Filed 
 
G-2 Green Memorandums:  None Submitted 
 

COUNCIL REFERRALS: Items Advanced to the City Manager by Individual City 

Council Members for Placement on the Agenda 

H-1 No Council Referrals Advanced   

 
COUNCIL COMMENTS: 
 
Council Member Fleming received an e-mail from the Fox Network regarding the landing of the 
SkyFox helicopter at Costello Elementary for a school event. Council Member Fleming 
questioned whether this activity would violate any of the city’s ordinances. City Manager Nelson 
responded that according to the Police and Fire Chiefs, this matter does not violate any city 
ordinance and that its approval can be handled administratively.  
 
Council Member Stine asked if City Management addressed concerns raised by a resident in 
regard to the abuse of recreational fires and unlawful burning. City Manager Nelson advised 
that the matter is currently under investigation and they are preparing a full response for the 
resident. 
 



CITY COUNCIL MINUTES - DRAFT October 1, 2007 

 

- 11 - 

REPORTS:   

J-1 Minutes – Boards and Committees:  
a) Parks and Recreation Advisory Board/Final – April 19, 2007 
b) Advisory Committee for Senior Citizens/Final – June 7, 2007 
c) Retiree Health Care Benefits Plan & Trust/Final – June 13, 2007 
d) Civil Service Commission (Act 78)/Final – July 10, 2007  
e) Traffic Committee/Final – July 18, 2007 
f) Employees’ Retirement System Board of Trustees/Final – August 8, 2007  
g) Liquor Advisory Committee/Final – August 13, 2007  
h) Downtown Development Authority/Final – August 15, 2007  
i) Board of Zoning Appeals/Final – August 21, 2007 
j) Planning Commission Special/Study/Final – August 22, 2007 
k) Planning Commission Special/Study/Final – August 28, 2007 
l) Building Code Board of Appeals/Draft – September 5, 2007  
m) Advisory Committee for Senior Citizens/Draft – September 6, 2007  
n) Planning Commission/Draft – September 11, 2007  
o) Liquor Advisory Committee/Draft – September 17, 2007 
p) Civil Service Commission (Act 78)/Draft – September 24, 2007 

Noted and Filed 
 
J-2 Department Reports:   
a) City of Troy Monthly Financial Report – August 31, 2007  
b) Assessing Department – New Michigan Business Tax Effect on LDFA Collections  

Noted and Filed 
 
J-3  Letters of Appreciation:  

a) Letter of Appreciation to Chief Nelson from Lt. Neil Gensler, Huntington Woods Public 
Safety Regarding the Troy Fire Departments Explorers  

b) Letter of Thanks to PSA Patterson from the Mindlin-Koh Center for Ophthalmic Medicine 
and Surgery  

c) Certificate of Appreciation from Gleaners Community Food Bank of Southeastern 
Michigan Awarded to the City of Troy for Participation in the 2007 Food Fight on Big 
Beaver  

d) Letter of Thanks to Troy Police Department from Fr. Maximus Habib and Fr. Mina 
Essak, St. Mark Coptic Orthodox Church      

Noted and Filed 
 
J-4  Proposed Proclamations/Resolutions from Other Organizations:  None Submitted 

Noted and Filed 
 
J-5  Calendar 

Noted and Filed 
 
J-6  Communication from Planning Director Mark Miller Regarding the City of Troy 

Master Plan Update 
Noted and Filed 

 



CITY COUNCIL MINUTES - DRAFT October 1, 2007 

 

- 12 - 

J-7  Parks and Recreation Advisory Board Request/Proposed ZOTA Change Cell Tower 
Noted and Filed 

 

J-8  Communication from City Attorney Lori Grigg Bluhm Regarding Collins and 

Aikman Corporation 
Noted and Filed 

 

J-9  Communication from City Attorney Lori Grigg Bluhm Regarding Mario’s of Troy v. 

City of Troy 
Noted and Filed 

 

J-10  Correspondence from William C. White, Publisher of Law & Politics and Super 

Lawyers, Congratulating City Attorney Lori Grigg Bluhm on being Selected for Inclusion 

on the Michigan Super Lawyers List for 2007 
Noted and Filed 

 
The meeting RECESSED at 9:14 PM. 
 
The meeting RECONVENED at 9:22 PM. 
 

STUDY ITEMS:  
 
K-1 Possible Trends 
 
PUBLIC COMMENT: Address of “K” Items 
 
CLOSED SESSION: 

L-1 Closed Session:  No Closed Session Requested 
 
The meeting ADJOURNED at 11:10 PM. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Louise E. Schilling, Mayor  
 
 
 
Tonni L. Bartholomew, MMC 
City Clerk 

 
 



PROCLAMATION 
CHAMBER OF COMMERCE MONTH 

OCTOBER 2007 
 

WHEREAS, The Troy Chamber of Commerce works with the Troy business community to 
advance the civic, economic, industrial, personal, social and cultural systems of our state; and 
 
WHEREAS, The Troy Chamber of Commerce has contributed to the protection of commerce 
and Troy business climate for 48 years since the incorporation of the Troy Chamber of 
Commerce in October, 1959; and 
 
WHEREAS, The Troy Chamber of Commerce strives to forge connections among the City’s 
more than 5,500 businesses and 130,000 employees; and 
 
WHEREAS, The Troy Chamber of Commerce, under the guidance of their Board of Directors, 
works to promote the region's business community through education, information and the more 
than 300 networking opportunities that are developed by the Chamber; and 
 
WHEREAS, The Michigan Chamber of Commerce Executives (MCCE) Association, of which 
the Troy Chamber of Commerce is a member, works to promote excellence and high ethical 
standards for Chambers of Commerce through education, information, and networking 
opportunities; and 
 
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED, that the City of Troy City Council hereby proclaims 
October, 2007 as Chamber of Commerce Month in Troy, Michigan. 
 
BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED, that the City of Troy celebrates the 48th Anniversary of the Troy 
Chamber of Commerce and applauds its members for working to make our region the best 
place to live, work, learn and play. 
 
Presented this 15th day of October 2007. 
 

campbellld
Text Box
E-03a



 

 

 
 
September 27, 2007 
 
 
TO:    Phillip L. Nelson, City Manager 
 
FROM:   Susan A. Leirstein, Purchasing Director 

William S. Nelson, Fire Chief 
 
SUBJECT:  Standard Purchasing Resolution 1:  Award To Low Bidder – 
   Roof Replacement Fire Station 5 
 
Background 

 On September 7, 2007, bids were received to replace the roof of Fire Station #5 located at 
6399 John R Road.  126 vendors were notified via the MITN system and five bids were 
received. 

 Fire Station #5 was constructed in 1990 and the roof has never been replaced. 
 The roof has begun to deteriorate causing leaks. 
 Specifications to replace the roof were developed by the Building Department. 
 The low bidder, Aero Construction has been licensed in Michigan since 1983 and has a good 

track record. 
 Reference checks indicate that previous customers are satisfied with the work performed by 

Aero Construction. 
 

Financial Considerations 

 Funds will be carried forward from the 2006/07 budget to the Fire Buildings and Repairs 
Capital Account # 401344.7975.075 for this project. 

 
Legal Considerations 

 ITB-COT 07-22 was competitively bid and vendors were given the opportunity to respond 
with their level of interest in replacing the roof at Fire Station #5.  

 The award is contingent upon the recommended bidder’s submission of proper contract and 
bid documents, including bonds, insurance certificates and all other specified requirements. 

 
Policy Considerations 

 Enhance the livability and safety of the community. (Goal I) 
 Minimize the cost and increase the efficiency and effectiveness of City Government. (Goal II) 

 

Options 

 City management and the Fire department are requesting a contract be awarded to the low 
bidder, Aero Insulation & Construction, Inc of Madison Heights at an estimated cost of 
$29,975.00. 

 
G:/Bid Award 06-07 New Format/Award Standard Purchasing Resolution 1 – Roof FS#5 09.07.doc 

CCIITTYY  CCOOUUNNCCIILL  AACCTTIIOONN  RREEPPOORRTT  
 

campbellld
Text Box
E-04a



CITY OF TROY ITB-COT 07-22
Opening Date -- 9/7/07 BID TABULATION Pg 1 of 2
Date Prepared -- 9/10/07 ROOF REPLACEMENT - FIRE STATION #5

VENDOR NAME: ** Aero Insulation & Great Lakes Roofing Butcher & Baecker Vinyl Solutions
Construction Construction Co Inc

CHECK #: 068301 21536657 017399181 12041811
CHECK AMOUNT: $4,500.00 $4,500.00 $4,500.00 $4,500.00

PROPOSAL: ROOF REPLACEMENT OF FIRE STATION #5 AT 6399 JOHN R ROAD, TROY
To remove and replace the roof system in accordance with 
specifications for a 50 Year, Asphalt Fiberglass Shingle System

COMPLETE FOR THE SUM OF: 29,975.00$           30,645.00$       37,550.00$        39,285.00$       

SITE INSPECTION: Y/N Yes Yes Yes Yes
Date

INSURANCE: Can Meet Yes Yes Yes Yes
Cannot Meet

CONTACT INFORMATION
Hrs of Operation 8 am to 5 pm 7am to 3pm M-F 8 am to 5 pm 7 am to 7 pm
24 Hr Phone No. 586-839-8299 586-668-0836 248-852-2323 586-774-8620

COMPLETION DATE: BY NOVEMBER 15, 2007    
Can Meet XX XX XX XX
Cannot Meet

BIDDER QUESTIONNAIRE:
Attached XX XX XX XX
Not Attached

TWO FORMS COMPLETED
Y or N Yes Yes Yes Yes

TERMS: N/A - 60 Days 60 Days As Specified Upon completion

WARRANTY: 2 yrs & Product-Warranties 2 years As Specified Labor - 5 yrs

EXCEPTIONS: Will add City as Blank Blank Blank
add'l insured on award

ACKNOWLEDGEMENT:   Y or N Yes Yes Yes Yes

ADDENDUM 1: Y or N Yes No No Yes

ATTEST:
Cheryl Stewart ** DENOTES LOW BIDDER
Donald Mouch
Mark Stimac
Linda Bockstanz Susan Leirstein CPPB

Purchasing Director

G:Roof Replacement- Fire Station #5  ITB-COT 07-22

Tuesday, August 28, 2007



CITY OF TROY ITB-COT 07-22
Opening Date -- 9/7/07 BID TABULATION Pg 2 of 2
Date Prepared -- 9/10/07 ROOF REPLACEMENT - FIRE STATION #5

VENDOR NAME: Bloomfield
Construction Co. 

CHECK #: 545524707
CHECK AMOUNT: $4,500.00

PROPOSAL: ROOF REPLACEMENT OF FIRE STATION #5 AT 6399 JOHN R ROAD, TROY
To remove and replace the roof system in accordance with 
specifications for a 50 Year, Asphalt Fiberglass Shingle System

COMPLETE FOR THE SUM OF: 42,650.00$            

SITE INSPECTION: Y/N Yes
Date 8/28/2007

INSURANCE: Can Meet Yes
Cannot Meet

CONTACT INFORMATION
Hrs of Operation 8am to 4pm M-F
24 Hr Phone No. 248-521-5201

COMPLETION DATE:
Can Meet XX
Cannot Meet

BIDDER QUESTIONNAIRE:
Attached XX
Not Attached

TWO FORMS COMPLETED
Y or N Yes

TERMS: Blank

WARRANTY: Blank

EXCEPTIONS: Blank

ACKNOWLEDGEMENT: Y or N Yes

ADDENDUM 1: Y or N Yes

G:Roof Replacement- Fire Station #5  ITB-COT 07-22

BY NOVEMBER 15, 2007



 

CCIITTYY  CCOOUUNNCCIILL  AACCTTIIOONN  RREEPPOORRTT  
 

 
  October 1, 2007 
 
TO:  Phillip L. Nelson, City Manager 
 
FROM:  John M. Lamerato, Assistant City Manager/Finance & Administration  

Susan A. Leirstein, Purchasing Director 
Steven A. Pallotta, Building Operations Director 

 
SUBJECT:  Standard Purchasing Resolution 1:  Award To Low Bidders – Janitorial Services 
                     
Background 

• On August 7, 2007, bid proposals were received to provide two-year requirements of janitorial services 
with an option to renew for two (2) additional years.   

• One-hundred and eighty-two (182) vendors were notified via the MITN system with (13) thirteen-bidders 
responding.  One vendor was considered non-responsive for failure to include a bid surety check, as 
specified.  Three (3) statements of no bid were also received. 

• In the effort to lower overall janitorial costs and provide off-site buildings with more individual control, 
the bid was created to evaluate both the low bidder for each group of individual sites, and also to the 
low total bidder, whichever method of award was considered to be in the City’s best interest. 

• Various locations were grouped based upon the type of cleaning, the cleaning schedule, or “like” 
services provided. 

• Upon review, it was determined that by splitting the award, the City would experience an estimated 
savings of $7,672.37annually or $15,344.74 over the two-year contract period. If the contract is 
extended for an additional two-year period, the amount of savings increases to approximately 
$30,689.48. 

 

Financial Considerations 
• Funds are budgeted and available in various Custodial Contract Service accounts citywide. 

 
Legal Considerations  

• ITB-COT 07-20, two-year requirements of janitorial services for various City locations with an option to 
renew for two (2) additional years was competitively bid and opened with (13) thirteen bidders 
responding. 

• All bidders were given the opportunity to respond with their level of interest in providing janitorial 
services for the City of Troy.  

• The award is contingent upon the recommended bidders’ submission of proper contracts and bid 
documents, including insurance certificates, janitorial bonds, and all other specified requirements.  

 

Policy Considerations 
• Bidding services of this type helps to minimize cost and increase efficiency of City government.  

(Goal II) 
• Provides the public and staff with clean building facilities in accordance with the City’s higher 

standards.  (Goal V). 
• Moving this work forward will keep up with the cleanliness and health standards in place for the City 

and Public well-being, and reduce liability for the City. (Goals I & V) 
 
 

Page 1 of 2 
 

campbellld
Text Box
E-04b



Page 2 of 2 
 

 
 

October 1, 2007 
 
 
To:  Phillip L. Nelson, City Manager 
Re:  Bid Award – Janitorial Services 

 
 

Options 
• City management and the Building Operations Department recommend awarding contracts for two-year 

requirements of Janitorial Services with an option to renew for two (2) additional years to the following 
low bidders for Groups 1, 2, 3, 4 and 5 at an estimated annual cost of $504,994.87, at unit prices as 
contained in the bid tabulation opened August 7, 2007.   

 
 

GROUP  COMPANY  ESTIMATED COST 
1 and 5 Kristel Cleaning, Inc., Macomb, Michigan  $437,102.32 
2 and 3  Du All Cleaning, Inc., Macomb, Michigan  $45,727.04 
4 Omni Facility Services, Southfield, Michigan $22,165.51 

    
ESTIMATED TOTAL ANNUAL COST:             $504,994.87 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
G:/Bid Award 06-07 NewFormat/Award Standard Purchasing Resolution 1 – Janitorial Services 09.07.doc  
 



CITY OF TROY                       ITB-COT 07-20
Opening Date -- 8/7/07 BID TABULATION Pg 1 of 10
Date Prepared -- 8/8/07 JANITORIAL SERVICES

VENDOR NAME:
CHECK # 11889007 377995134-6 100053544-1,100037169-8,100053550-8 &

CHECK AMOUNT 15,150.00$      15,150.00$       100053557-3 (3 Cks $900 ea - 1 Ck 12,000)

SQUARE COST / $ PER COST / $ PER COST / $ PER 
FOOTAGE MONTH SQUARE FT. MONTH SQUARE FT. MONTH SQUARE FT.

Group 1:  Civic Center Sites
CITY HALL & POLICE 86,388 4,319.40$      0.050$            5,874.38$        0.068              6,911.04$       0.08$               

52-4 DISTRICT COURT 29,000 1,624.00$      0.056$            1,798.00$        0.062              2,900.00$       0.10$               

COMMUNITY CENTER 99,864 6,491.16$      0.065$            7,989.12$        0.080              10,985.04$     0.11$               

LIBRARY 44,500 1,958.00$      0.044$            3,248.50$        0.073              4,450.00$       0.10$               

 Monthly TOTAL of GROUP  $    14,392.56  $     18,910.00  $    25,246.08 
Yearly Total of Group 1:  $  172,710.72  $   226,920.05  $  302,952.96 
CASUAL-  22,820 Hrs x Regular Time; 251,020.00$   256,040.40$    251,020.00$   
GRAND TOTAL -W/CASUAL - GROUP 1: 423,730.72$ 482,960.45$  553,972.96$ 
Group 2:  Garage Facilities

DPW FACILITY 9,500 950.00$         0.10$              1,273.00$        0.134$            1,045.00$       0.11$               

P&R GARAGE 1,781 623.35$         0.35$              471.97$           0.265$            320.58$          0.18$               

Monthly TOTAL of GROUP 2: 1,573.35$      1,744.97$        1,365.58$       
Yearly Total of Group 2:  $    18,880.20  $     20,939.58  $    16,386.96 
Group 3:  
Enrichment Facilities
MUSEUM 5X / Week 813.45$         0.075$            520.61$           0.048$            542.30$          0.05$               

10,846
LLOYD STAGE 6X / Week 613.80$         0.075$            613.80$           0.075$            491.04$          0.06$               

NATURE CENTER 8,184
Monthly TOTAL of GROUP 3:  $     1,427.25  $       1,134.41  $      1,033.34 
Yearly Total of Group 3  $    17,127.00  $     13,612.90  $    12,400.08 
CASUAL - 1,540 Hrs x Regular Time; 16,940.00$     17,278.80$      16,940.00$     
GRAND TOTAL -W/CASUAL - GROUP 3: 34,067.00$   30,891.70$    29,340.08$   
Group 4:  Fire Sites
FIRE HALLS:
1 (Tuesday and Friday) 2,175 239.25$         0.110$            180.53$           0.083$            217.50$          0.10$               

2 (Monday and Thursday) 2,320 243.60$         0.105$            178.64$           0.077$            232.00$          0.10$               

3 (Tuesday and Friday) 3,000 255.00$         0.085$            180.00$           0.060$            300.00$          0.10$               

4 (Tuesday and Friday) 1,914 210.54$         0.110$            179.92$           0.094$            191.40$          0.10$               

5 (Monday and Thursday) 3,000 255.00$         0.085$            180.00$           0.060$            300.00$          0.10$               

6 (Monday and Thursday) 1,920 211.20$         0.110$            180.48$           0.094$            192.00$          0.10$               

FIRE/ POLICE TRAIN (5X) 6,915 470.22$         0.068$            767.57$           0.111$            760.65$          0.11$               

Monthly TOTAL of GROUP 4: 1,884.81$      1,847.13$        2,193.55$       
Yearly Total of Group 4: 22,617.72$     22,165.51$      26,322.60$     
Group 5: Other Sites
SYLVAN GLEN: 2X /  150.00$         0.20$              205.50$           0.274$            -$               -$               

Maintenance Bldg. - All Year 750
SYLVAN GLEN GC: 5X / WEEK 238.00$         0.14$              518.50$           0.305$            -$               -$               

Pro Shop (9 mos./yr) 1,700
SANCTUARY LAKE GC: 2X /  143.80$         0.20$              205.63$           0.286$            -$               -$               

Maintenance Bldg(9 mos./yr) 719
SANCTUARY LAKE GC: 5X / WEEK 200.00$         0.20$              519.00$           0.519$            -$               -$               

Pro Shop (9 mos./yr) 1,000
ENGINEERING FIELD 2X / Week
OFFICE: All Year 2,550 382.50$         0.15$              260.10$           0.102$            -$               -$               

Monthly TOTAL of GROUP 5: 1,114.30$      1,708.73$        -$               
Yearly Total of Group 5: 13,371.60$     20,504.81$      -$               

20,392.27$        25,345.24$          29,838.55$         
Yearly Grand Totals - Groups 1 - 5 244,707.24$      304,142.84$        358,062.60$       
GRAND TOTAL - Groups 1-5 w/Causal 512,667.24$    577,462.04$     626,022.60$    

OMNI Facility Services Du All Cleaning, Inc.Kristel Cleaning, Inc.

LOCATION

Monthly GRAND TOTAL GROUPS 1 - 5



CITY OF TROY                       ITB-COT 07-20
Opening Date -- 8/7/07 BID TABULATION Pg 2 of 10 
Date Prepared -- 8/8/07 JANITORIAL SERVICES

VENDOR NAME:

CASUAL LABOR:
 City Hall, Courts, Comm.Ctr, Library 
   22,820 Hrs x Regular Time; 251,020.00$ 256,040.40$     251,020.00$  
Holiday Time   96 Hrs 1,536.00$     1,309.44$         1,344.00$      
Nature Center/Museum - 16,940.00$   17,278.80$       16,940.00$    
    1,540 Hrs x Regular Time

Regular Time: 11.00$          11.22$          11.00$           
Employee Pay Range: 7.25 - 9.00 8.00 - 8.25 7.50 - 8.50
Holiday Time: 16.00$          13.64$          14.00$           

TOTAL OF CASUAL LABOR: 269,496.00$    274,628.64$ 269,304.00$  

RETURN OF BID DEPOSIT: Pick Up XX XX
Mail XX

INSURANCE: Can Meet XX XX XX
Cannot Meet

SITE INSPECTIONS: Y or N Yes Yes Yes
DATE 7/25/2007 7/25/2007 7/31/2007

VENDOR QUESTIONNAIRE Y or N Yes Yes Yes

TWO FORM COMPLETED
                        Legal Status Y or N Yes Yes Yes
                        Non-Collusion Y or N Yes Yes Yes

TERMS: Blank Net 30 Blank

ACKNOWLEDGEMENT Y or N Yes Yes Yes

EXCEPTIONS: Blank None N/A

ADDENDUM #1 Y or N Yes No Yes

PROPOSAL:  Two(2) Year Requirements of Janitorial Services for Various City Locations with an Option
to Renew for Two(2) Additional Years

DISQUALIFIED:  
C&W Associates D/B/A Sparkle Janitorial (Did not submit bid surety check with bid)

NO BIDS:  BOLD AND HIGHLIGHTED TYPE DENOTES LOW BIDDERS
Saber Building Services
Sparkle Commericial Cleaning
Commercial Maintenance, Inc. 

ATTEST:
Steve Pallotta ______________________________
Diane M. Fisher Susan Leirstein CPPB
Julie Hamilton Purchasing Director

G: Janitiorial Services ITB-COT 07-20

Kristel Cleaning LLC OMNI Facility Services Du All Cleaning, Inc



CITY OF TROY                       ITB-COT 07-20
Opening Date -- 8/7/07 BID TABULATION Pg 3 of 10
Date Prepared -- 8/8/07 JANITORIAL SERVICES

VENDOR NAME:  Missy Mae Cleaning Service
CHECK # 547382382-3 150840759 4452628513

CHECK AMOUNT 3,150.00$          3,150.00$           900.00$        
SQUARE COST / $ PER COST / $ PER COST / $ PER 
FOOTAGE MONTH SQUARE FT. MONTH SQUARE FT. MONTH SQUARE FT.

Group 1:  Civic Center Sites
CITY HALL & POLICE 86,388 -$                 -$              -$                  -$            -$             -$               

52-4 DISTRICT COURT 29,000 -$                 -$              -$                  -$            -$             -$               

COMMUNITY CENTER 99,864 -$                 -$                -$                  -$            -$             -$             

LIBRARY 44,500 -$                 -$                -$                  -$            -$             -$               

 Monthly TOTAL of GROUP  $                  -    $                  -    $             -   
Yearly Total of Group 1:  $                  -    $                  -    $             -   
CASUAL-  22,820 Hrs x Regular Time;
GRAND TOTAL -W/CASUAL - GROUP 1: -$                  -$                  -$             
Group 2:  Garage Facilities

DPW FACILITY 9,500 997.50$           0.105$            1,596.00$         0.168$            -$             -$                 

P&R GARAGE 1,781 427.44$           0.240$            641.16$            0.360$            -$             -$                 

Monthly TOTAL of GROUP 2: 1,424.94$        2,237.16$          $             -   -$                 

Yearly Total of Group 2:  $     17,099.28  $      26,845.92  $             -   
Group 3:  
Enrichment Facilities
MUSEUM 5X / Week 759.22$           0.070$            867.68$            0.08$              -$             -$               

10,846
LLOYD STAGE 6X / Week 695.64$           0.085$            900.24$            0.11$              -$             -$                 

NATURE CENTER 8,184

Monthly TOTAL of GROUP 3:  $       1,454.86  $        1,767.92  $             -   
Yearly Total of Group 3  $     17,458.32  $      21,215.04  $             -   
CASUAL - 1,540 Hrs x Regular Time; 18,480.00$      16,555.00$       
GRAND TOTAL -W/CASUAL - GROUP 3: 35,938.32$    37,770.04$     -$              
Group 4:  Fire Sites
FIRE HALLS:
1 (Tuesday and Friday) 2,175 206.63$           0.095$            278.40$            0.128$            2,697.00$    1.24$               

2 (Monday and Thursday) 2,320 220.40$           0.095$            296.96$            0.128$            2,876.80$    1.24$               

3 (Tuesday and Friday) 3,000 285.00$           0.095$            384.00$            0.128$            3,720.00$    1.24$               

4 (Tuesday and Friday) 1,914 195.23$           0.102$            244.99$            0.128$            2,373.36$    1.24$               

5 (Monday and Thursday) 3,000 285.00$           0.095$            384.00$            0.128$            3,720.00$    1.24$               

6 (Monday and Thursday) 1,920 195.84$           0.102$            245.76$            0.128$            2,380.80$    1.24$               

FIRE/ POLICE TRAIN (5X) 6,915 546.29$           0.079$            691.50$            0.100$            8,574.60$    1.24$               

Monthly TOTAL of GROUP 4: 1,934.38$        2,525.61$         26,342.56$  
Yearly Total of Group 4: 23,212.54$      30,307.34$       ##########
Group 5: Other Sites
SYLVAN GLEN: 2X /  195.00$           0.260$            285.00$            0.38$              -$             -$                 

Maintenance Bldg. - All Year 750
SYLVAN GLEN GC: 5X / WEEK 357.00$           0.210$            357.00$            0.21$              -$             -$                 

Pro Shop (9 mos./yr) 1,700

SANCTUARY LAKE GC: 2X /  194.13$           0.270$            287.60$            0.40$              -$             -$                 

Maintenance Bldg(9 mos./yr) 719
SANCTUARY LAKE GC: 5X / WEEK 358.00$           0.358$            360.00$            0.36$              -$             -$                 

Pro Shop (9 mos./yr) 1,000

ENGINEERING FIELD 2X / Week
OFFICE: All Year 2,550 242.25$           0.095$            255.00$            0.10$              -$             -$                 

Monthly TOTAL of GROUP 5: 1,346.38$        1,544.60$         -$             
Yearly Total of Group 5: 16,156.56$      18,535.20$       -$             

6,160.56$             8,075.29$             26,342.56$      
Yearly Grand Totals - Groups 1 - 5 73,926.70$           96,903.50$           316,110.72$ 
GRAND TOTAL - Groups 1-5 w/Causal 92,406.70$        113,458.50$       316,110.72$ 

LOCATION

Monthly GRAND TOTAL GROUPS 1 - 5

McCoy Maintenance, Inc. Forma Restoration



CITY OF TROY                       ITB-COT 07-20
Opening Date -- 8/7/07 BID TABULATION Pg 4 of 10
Date Prepared -- 8/8/07 JANITORIAL SERVICES

VENDOR NAME:

CASUAL LABOR:
 City Hall, Courts, Comm.Ctr, Library 
   22,820 Hrs x Regular Time; 273,840.00$ 245,315.00$       -$               
Holiday Time   96 Hrs 1,728.00$     1,547.52$           -$               
Nature Center/Museum - 1,540 Hrs X Regular Time; 18,480.00$   16,555.00$         -$               

Regular Time: 12.00$          10.75$          -$               
Employee Pay Range: 7.50 - 12.00 7.00 - 10.75 0
Holiday Time: 18.00$          16.12$          -$               

TOTAL OF CASUAL LABOR: 294,048.00$ 263,417.52$ -$               

RETURN OF BID DEPOSIT: Pick Up XX XX
Mail XX

INSURANCE: Can Meet XX XX XX
Cannot Meet

SITE INSPECTIONS: Y or N Yes Yes Yes
DATE 7/30/2007 7/25/2007 7/31/2007

VENDOR QUESTIONNAIRE Y or N Yes Yes Yes

TWO FORM COMPLETED
                        Legal Status Y or N Yes Yes Yes
                        Non-Collusion Y or N Yes Yes Yes

TERMS: Net 30 days Blank Blank

ACKNOWLEDGEMENT Y or N Yes Yes Yes

EXCEPTIONS: N/A Blank Blank

ADDENDUM #1 Y or N Yes Yes Yes

PROPOSAL:  Two(2) Year Requirements of Janitorial Services for Various City Locations with an Option
to Renew for Two(2) Additional Years

G: Janitiorial Services ITB-COT 07-20

Missy Mae Cleaning ServiceMcCoy Maintenance Forma Restoration



CITY OF TROY                       ITB-COT 07-20
Opening Date -- 8/7/07 BID TABULATION Pg 5 of 10
Date Prepared -- 8/8/07 JANITORIAL SERVICES

VENDOR NAME:   Road Runr Maintenance   American Cleaning LLC
CHECK # 87112469 102609201 127704743

CHECK AMOUNT 14,700.00$      ($450 on file) 15,150.00$         15,150.00$       
SQUARE COST / $ PER COST / $ PER COST / $ PER 
FOOTAGE MONTH SQUARE FT. MONTH SQUARE FT. MONTH SQUARE FT.

Group 1:  Civic Center Sites
CITY HALL & POLICE 86,388 5,010.50$      0.0580$           6,349.52$          0.0735$           8,638.80$       0.10$             

52-4 DISTRICT COURT 29,000 2,117.00$      0.0730$           2,375.10$          0.0819$           3,190.00$       0.11$             

COMMUNITY CENTER 99,864 8,568.33$      0.0858$           8,808.00$          0.0882$           10,985.04$     0.11$             

LIBRARY 44,500 2,545.40$      0.0572$           3,502.15$          0.0787$           4,895.00$       0.11$             

 Monthly TOTAL of GROUP  $    18,241.24  $       21,034.77  $    27,708.84 
Yearly Total of Group 1:  $  218,894.82  $     252,417.27  $  332,506.08 
CASUAL-  22,820 Hrs x Regular Time; 284,793.60$   285,250.00$      245,315.00$   9.00 - 12.50
GRAND TOTAL -W/CASUAL - GROUP 1: 503,688.42$ 537,667.27$    577,821.08$ 
Group 2:  Garage Facilities

DPW FACILITY 9,500 1,151.40$      0.1212$           1,185.60$          0.12480$         1,045.00$       0.11$             

P&R GARAGE 1,781 353.88$         0.1987$           600.02$             0.33690$         516.49$          0.29$             

Monthly TOTAL of GROUP 2: 1,505.28$       $         1,785.62  $      1,561.49 
Yearly Total of Group 2:  $    18,063.42  $       21,427.43  $    18,737.88 
Group 3:  
Enrichment Facilities
MUSEUM 5X / Week 902.39$         0.0832$           800.43$             0.0738$           867.68$          0.08$             

10,846
LLOYD STAGE 6X / Week 680.91$         0.0832$           800.40$             0.0978$           736.56$          0.09$             

NATURE CENTER 8,184

Monthly TOTAL of GROUP 3:  $     1,583.30  $         1,600.83  $      1,604.24 
Yearly Total of Group 3  $    18,999.55  $       19,209.96  $    19,250.88 
CASUAL - 1,540 Hrs x Regular Time; 19,219.20$     19,250.00$        16,555.00$     
GRAND TOTAL -W/CASUAL - GROUP 3: 38,218.75$   38,459.96$      35,805.88$   
Group 4:  Fire Sites
FIRE HALLS:
1 (Tuesday and Friday) 2,175 237.73$         0.1093$           250.13$             0.1150$           237.08$          0.109$            

2 (Monday and Thursday) 2,320 281.42$         0.1213$           250.10$             0.1078$           252.88$          0.109$            

3 (Tuesday and Friday) 3,000 327.90$         0.1093$           250.20$             0.0834$           315.00$          0.105$            

4 (Tuesday and Friday) 1,914 209.20$         0.1093$           250.16$             0.1307$           208.63$          0.109$            

5 (Monday and Thursday) 3,000 364.50$         0.1215$           250.20$             0.0834$           315.00$          0.105$            

6 (Monday and Thursday) 1,920 233.28$         0.1215$           249.98$             0.1302$           209.28$          0.109$            

FIRE/ POLICE TRAIN (5X) 6,915 600.22$         0.0868$           800.07$             0.1157$           684.59$          0.099$            

Monthly TOTAL of GROUP 4: 2,254.25$      2,300.83$          2,222.45$       
Yearly Total of Group 4: 27,050.95$     27,609.96$        26,669.35$     
Group 5: Other Sites
SYLVAN GLEN: 2X /  112.32$         0.14976$         300.00$             0.4000$           150.00$          0.20$             

Maintenance Bldg. - All Year 750
SYLVAN GLEN GC: 5X / 324.56$         0.19092$         675.07$             0.3971$           595.00$          0.35$             

Pro Shop (9 mos./yr) 1,700

SANCTUARY LAKE GC: 2X /  149.82$         0.20837$         300.04$             0.4173$           143.80$          0.20$             

Maintenance Bldg(9 mos./yr) 719
SANCTUARY LAKE GC: 5X / 224.90$         0.22490$         675.00$             0.6750$           350.00$          0.35$             

Pro Shop (9 mos./yr) 1,000

ENGINEERING FIELD 2X / Week
OFFICE: All Year 2,550 325.00$         0.12745$         250.16$             0.0981$           510.00$          0.20$             

Monthly TOTAL of GROUP 5: 1,136.60$      2,200.26$          1,748.80$       
Yearly Total of Group 5: 13,639.15$     26,403.16$        20,985.60$     

24,720.66$        28,922.32$            34,845.82$         
Yearly Grand Totals - Groups 1 - 5 296,647.89$      347,067.79$       418,149.79$     
GRAND TOTAL - Groups 1-5 w/Causal 600,660.69$    651,567.79$       680,019.79$     

This Is It Cleaning

LOCATION

Monthly GRAND TOTAL GROUPS 1 - 5



CITY OF TROY                       ITB-COT 07-20
Opening Date -- 8/7/07 BID TABULATION Pg 6 of 10
Date Prepared -- 8/8/07 JANITORIAL SERVICES

VENDOR NAME:   Road Runr Maintenance    American Cleaning LLC

CASUAL LABOR:
 City Hall, Courts, Comm.Ctr, Library 
   22,820 Hrs x Regular Time; 284,793.60$  285,250.00$       245,315.00$ 
Holiday Time   96 Hrs 1,797.12$     1,536.00$           1,440.00$     
Nature Center/Museum - 1,540 Hrs X Regular Time; 19,219.20$    19,250.00$         16,555.00$   

Average

Regular Time: 12.48$          12.50$           10.75$          
Employee Pay Range: 8.75 - 10.00 7.50 - 10.00 9.00 - 12.50
Holiday Time: 18.72$          16.00$           15.00$          

TOTAL OF CASUAL LABOR: 305,809.92$  306,036.00$  263,310.00$ 

RETURN OF BID DEPOSIT: Pick Up XX
Mail XX XX

INSURANCE: Can Meet XX XX XX
Cannot Meet

SITE INSPECTIONS: Y or N Yes Yes Yes
DATE 7/31/1007 7/25/2007 7/25/2007

VENDOR QUESTIONNAIRE Y or N Yes Yes Yes

TWO FORM COMPLETED
                        Legal Status Y or N No Yes Blank
                        Non-Collusion Y or N Yes Yes Blank

TERMS: Full Net 30 days Blank

ACKNOWLEDGEMENT Y or N Yes Yes Yes

EXCEPTIONS: Our goal is to be awarded the Blank Blank
contracts for all groups but will
be satisfied with at least three

ADDENDUM #1 Y or N Yes Yes Yes

PROPOSAL:  Two(2) Year Requirements of Janitorial Services for Various City Locations with an Option
to Renew for Two(2) Additional Years

G: Janitiorial Services ITB-COT 07-20

This Is It Cleaning



CITY OF TROY                       ITB-COT 07-20
Opening Date -- 8/7/07 BID TABULATION Pg 7 of 10
Date Prepared -- 8/8/07 JANITORIAL SERVICES

VENDOR NAME:   Hi-Tec Building Services Centennail One of Washington, Inc.
dba/ Skyline Building Services, Inc.

CHECK # 4452616882 751462656 68378
CHECK AMOUNT 12,000.00$       15,150.00$       15,150.00$      

SQUARE COST / $ PER COST / $ PER COST / $ PER 
FOOTAGE MONTH SQUARE FT. MONTH SQUARE FT. MONTH SQUARE FT.

Group 1:  Civic Center Sites
CITY HALL & POLICE 86,388 12,094.32$     0.14$              7,256.59$       0.084$            12,187.62$     0.14108$          

52-4 DISTRICT COURT 29,000 3,770.00$       0.13$              2,726.00$       0.094$            3,497.43$       0.120601$        

COMMUNITY CENTER 99,864 16,976.88$     0.17$              9,886.54$       0.099$            16,272.84$     0.16295$          

LIBRARY 44,500 6,230.00$       0.14$              4,094.00$       0.092$            6,657.20$       0.14960$          

 Monthly TOTAL of GROUP  $    39,071.20  $    23,963.13  $    38,615.09 
Yearly Total of Group 1:  $  468,854.40  $  287,557.54  $  463,381.04 
CASUAL-  22,820 Hrs x Regular Time; 273,840.00$   318,339.00$ 8.00 -10.00 505,006.50$   
GRAND TOTAL -W/CASUAL - GROUP 1: 742,694.40$ 605,896.54$    968,387.54$ 
Group 2:  Garage Facilities

DPW FACILITY 9,500 -$                -              1,824.00$       0.192$            1,911.78$       0.20124$          

P&R GARAGE 1,781 -$                -              703.50$          0.395$            824.44$          0.46291$          

Monthly TOTAL of GROUP 2: -$                -               $      2,527.50  $      2,736.22 
Yearly Total of Group 2:  $                -    $    30,329.94  $    32,834.67 
Group 3:  
Enrichment Facilities
MUSEUM 5X / Week -$                -              867.68$          0.080$            955.86$          0.08813$          

10,846
LLOYD STAGE 6X / Week -$                -              1,023.00$       0.125$            1,183.49$       0.14461$          

NATURE CENTER 8,184
Monthly TOTAL of GROUP 3:  $                -    $      1,890.68  $      2,139.35 
Yearly Total of Group 3  $                -    $    22,688.16  $    25,672.15 
CASUAL - 1,540 Hrs x Regular Time; 21,483.00$     34,080.20$     
GRAND TOTAL -W/CASUAL - GROUP 3: -$              44,171.16$   59,752.35$   
Group 4:  Fire Sites
FIRE HALLS:
1 (Tuesday and Friday) 2,175 -$                -$            393.68$          0.181$            394.50$          0.18138$          

2 (Monday and Thursday) 2,320 -$                -$            394.40$          0.170$            394.49$          0.17004$          

3 (Tuesday and Friday) 3,000 -$                -$            393.00$          0.131$            394.50$          0.13150$          

4 (Tuesday and Friday) 1,914 -$                -$            394.28$          0.206$            394.49$          0.20611$          

5 (Monday and Thursday) 3,000 -$                -$            393.00$          0.131$            394.50$          0.13150$          

6 (Monday and Thursday) 1,920 -$                -$            393.60$          0.205$            394.48$          0.20546$          

FIRE/ POLICE TRAIN (5X) 6,915 -$                -$            919.70$          0.133$            1,433.83$       0.20735$          

Monthly TOTAL of GROUP 4: -$                3,281.65$       3,800.80$       
Yearly Total of Group 4: -$                39,379.85$     45,609.57$     
Group 5: Other Sites
SYLVAN GLEN: 2X /  Week -$                -$            394.50$          0.526$            394.50$          0.5260$           

Maintenance Bldg. - All Year 750
SYLVAN GLEN GC: 5X / WEEK -$                -$            494.70$          0.291$            955.91$          0.5623$           

Pro Shop (9 mos./yr) 1,700
SANCTUARY LAKE GC: 2X /  Week -$                -$            294.79$          0.410$            394.52$          0.5487$           

Maintenance Bldg(9 mos./yr) 719
SANCTUARY LAKE GC: 5X / WEEK -$                -$            295.00$          0.295$            955.90$          0.9559$           

Pro Shop (9 mos./yr) 1,000
ENGINEERING FIELD 2X / Week
OFFICE: All Year 2,550 -$                -$            668.10$          0.262$            788.97$          0.3094$           

Monthly TOTAL of GROUP 5: -$                2,147.09$       3,489.80$       
Yearly Total of Group 5: -$                25,765.08$     41,877.54$     

39,071.20$         33,810.05$         50,781.25$         
Yearly Grand Totals - Groups 1 - 5 468,854.40$       405,720.56$     609,374.98$    
GRAND TOTAL - Groups 1-5 w/Causal 742,694.40$     745,542.56$     1,148,461.68$ 

ALBA Cleaning Inc.

LOCATION

Monthly GRAND TOTAL GROUPS 1 - 5



CITY OF TROY                       ITB-COT 07-20
Opening Date -- 8/7/07 BID TABULATION Pg 8 of 10 
Date Prepared -- 8/8/07 JANITORIAL SERVICES

VENDOR NAME:   Hi-Tech Building Services Centennail One of Washington, Inc.
dba/ Skyline Building Services, Inc.

CASUAL LABOR:
 City Hall, Courts, Comm.Ctr, Library 
   22,820 Hrs x Regular Time; 273,840.00$ 318,339.00$     505,006.60$  
Holiday Time   96 Hrs 960.00$        1,627.20$         3,187.20$      
Nature Center/Museum - 1,540 Hrs X Regular Time; 18,480.00$   21,483.00$       34,080.20$    

Regular Time: 12.00$          13.95$          22.13$           
Employee Pay Range: 8.00 - 11.00 8.00 - 10.00 8.00 - 8.50
Holiday Time: 10.00$          16.95$          33.20$           

TOTAL OF CASUAL LABOR: 293,280.00$     341,449.20$  542,274.00$  

RETURN OF BID DEPOSIT: Pick Up XX Blank
Mail XX

INSURANCE: Can Meet XX XX XX
Cannot Meet

SITE INSPECTIONS: Y or N Yes Yes Yes
DATE 7/31/2007 7/31/2007 7/25/2007

VENDOR QUESTIONNAIRE Y or N Yes Yes Yes

TWO FORM COMPLETED
                        Legal Status Y or N Yes Yes Yes
                        Non-Collusion Y or N Yes Yes Yes

TERMS: Net 30 2 years - groups 1 -5 Blank

ACKNOWLEDGEMENT Y or N Yes Yes Yes

EXCEPTIONS: N/A No exceptions to this bid-may decline We accept all terms and specs, 
if not selectd for all locations.  2% Including all exceptions, deviations,
discount if awarded all locations substitutions etc from the City of Troy

ADDENDUM #1 Y or N Yes Yes Yes

PROPOSAL:  Two(2) Year Requirements of Janitorial Services for Various City Locations with an Option
to Renew for Two(2) Additional Years

G: Janitiorial Services ITB-COT 07-20

ALBA Cleaning Inc.



CITY OF TROY                       ITB-COT 07-20
Opening Date -- 8/7/07 BID TABULATION Pg 9 of 10
Date Prepared -- 8/8/07 JANITORIAL SERVICES

VENDOR NAME:
CHECK # 336435073

CHECK AMOUNT 15,150.00$       
SQUARE COST / $ PER 
FOOTAGE MONTH SQUARE FT.

Group 1:  Civic Center Sites
CITY HALL & POLICE 86,388 4,578.56$        0.053$               

52-4 DISTRICT COURT 29,000 1,827.00$        0.063$               

COMMUNITY CENTER 99,864 7,889.26$        0.079$               

LIBRARY 44,500 2,403.00$        0.054$               

 Monthly TOTAL of GROUP  $     16,697.82 
Yearly Total of Group 1:  $   200,373.84 
CASUAL-  22,820 Hrs x Regular Time; 262,430.00$     7.50 - 9.50
GRAND TOTAL -W/CASUAL - GROUP 1: 462,803.84$     
Group 2:  Garage Facilities

DPW FACILITY 9,500 15,675.00$      1.65$                 

P&R GARAGE 1,781 6,233.50$        3.50$                 

Monthly TOTAL of GROUP 2: 21,908.50$      
Yearly Total of Group 2:  $   262,902.00 
Group 3:  
Enrichment Facilities
MUSEUM 5X / Week 759.22$           0.070$               

10,846
LLOYD STAGE 6X / 810.22$           0.099$               

NATURE CENTER 8,184

Monthly TOTAL of GROUP 3:  $       1,569.44 
Yearly Total of Group 3  $     18,833.23 
CASUAL - 1,540 Hrs x Regular Time; 17,710.00$      
GRAND TOTAL -W/CASUAL - GROUP 3: 36,543.23$    
Group 4:  Fire Sites
FIRE HALLS:
1 (Tuesday and Friday) 2,175 2,610.00$        1.20$                 

2 (Monday and Thursday) 2,320 2,784.00$        1.20$                 

3 (Tuesday and Friday) 3,000 3,000.00$        1.00$                 

4 (Tuesday and Friday) 1,914 2,105.40$        1.10$                 

5 (Monday and Thursday) 3,000 3,000.00$        1.00$                 

6 (Monday and Thursday) 1,920 2,112.00$        1.10$                 

FIRE/ POLICE TRAIN (5X) 6,915 5,186.25$        0.75$                 

Monthly TOTAL of GROUP 4: 20,797.65$      
Yearly Total of Group 4: 249,571.80$    
Group 5: Other Sites
SYLVAN GLEN: 2X /  2,625.00$        3.50$                 

Maintenance Bldg. - All Year 750
SYLVAN GLEN GC: 5X / 5,950.00$        3.50$                 

Pro Shop (9 mos./yr) 1,700

SANCTUARY LAKE GC: 2X /  2,157.00$        3.00$                 

Maintenance Bldg(9 mos./yr) 719
SANCTUARY LAKE GC: 5X / 3,000.00$        3.00$                 

Pro Shop (9 mos./yr) 1,000

ENGINEERING FIELD 2X / 
OFFICE: All Year 2,550 3,187.50$        1.25$                 

Monthly TOTAL of GROUP 5: 16,919.50$      
Yearly Total of Group 5: 203,034.00$    

77,892.91$          
Yearly Grand Totals - Groups 1 - 5 934,714.87$        
GRAND TOTAL - Groups 1-5 w/Causal 1,214,854.87$   

LOCATION

Monthly GRAND TOTAL GROUPS 1 - 5

Giant Janitorial Service Inc



CITY OF TROY                       ITB-COT 07-20
Opening Date -- 8/7/07 BID TABULATION Pg 10 of 10 
Date Prepared -- 8/8/07 JANITORIAL SERVICES

VENDOR NAME:

CASUAL LABOR:
 City Hall, Courts, Comm.Ctr, Library 
   22,820 Hrs x Regular Time; 262,430.00$    
Holiday Time   96 Hrs 1,248.00$        
Nature Center/Museum - 1,540 Hrs X Regular Time; 17,710.00$      

Regular Time: 11.50$             
Employee Pay Range: 7.50 - 9.00
Holiday Time: 13.00$             

TOTAL OF CASUAL LABOR: 281,388.00$     

RETURN OF BID DEPOSIT: Pick Up XX
Mail

INSURANCE: Can Meet XX
Cannot Meet

SITE INSPECTIONS: Y or N Yes
DATE 7/25/007

VENDOR QUESTIONNAIRE Y or N Yes

TWO FORM COMPLETED
                        Legal Status Y or N Yes
                        Non-Collusion Y or N Yes

TERMS: Net 10

ACKNOWLEDGEMENT Y or N Yes

EXCEPTIONS: Blank

ADDENDUM #1 Y or N Yes

PROPOSAL:  Two(2) Year Requirements of Janitorial Services for Various City Locations with an Option
to Renew for Two(2) Additional Years

G: Janitiorial Services ITB-COT 07-20

Giant Janitorial Services, Inc.



 

 
 

October 8, 2007 
 
TO:    Phillip L. Nelson, City Manager 
 
FROM:  John M. Lamerato, Assistant City Manager/Finance & Administration 
   Susan A. Leirstein, Purchasing Director 
   Carol K. Anderson, Parks and Recreation Director 
 
SUBJECT:               Standard Purchasing Resolution 1:  Award to Low Bidder – Tee Shirt Contract  
 
Background   
 On Tuesday, October 2, 2007, bids were opened to furnish one year requirements of 50/50 Tee 

Shirts and 100% Cotton Tee Shirts with an option to renew for one additional year. Tee shirts are 
used in several Parks and Recreation programs as team, participation or award shirts. 

 E.A. Graphics of Sterling Heights, Michigan was the low total bidder. 
 The contract shall commence upon approval from Council and expire September 30, 2008.   
 154 Vendors were notified via the MITN system with eleven qualified bids received.  Three bidders 

failed to provide a bid surety check.  One bid was withdrawn for calculation errors.   
 

Financial Considerations 
 Funding for the tee shirts is available in the Parks and Recreation and Aquatic Center operating 

accounts. 
 
Legal Considerations 
 ITB-COT 07-34, one-year requirements of Tee Shirts with an option to renew was competitively bid 

and opened with eleven (11) qualified bids received.  
 All bidders were given the opportunity to respond with their level of interest in supplying tee shirts 

to the City of Troy.  
 
Policy Considerations 
 Tee shirts are used in several Parks and Recreation programs as team, participation or award 

shirts. (Goal I) 
 The bid process meets the City goal of minimizing the cost to the residents, thus making 

government more effective. (Goal II) 
 
Options  
 City management and the Parks and Recreation department recommend awarding the tee shirt 

contract to the low total bidder, E.A. Graphics for an estimated total cost of $36,748.75, with a 
one-year renewable option from October 1, 2008- September 30, 2009. 

CCIITTYY  CCOOUUNNCCIILL  AACCTTIIOONN  RREEPPOORRTT  
 

campbellld
Text Box

campbellld
Text Box
E-04c



CITY OF TROY ITB-COT 07-34
Opening Date -- 10/2/07 BID TABULATION Pg. 1 of 6
Date Prepared -- 10/3/07 100% COTTON & 50/50 TEE SHIRTS

VENDOR NAME: E.A. Graphics Austin Uniform Kelgraphics American 
& Embroidery Silkscreen &

Embroidery
CHECK # 1460001526 12160706 On File 349896
CHECK AMOUNT $500.00 $500.00 $500.00 $500.00

EST PRICE/ PRICE/ PRICE/ PRICE/
QTY DESCRIPTION EACH EACH EACH EACH

ITEM #1-- 50/50 Short Sleeve Shirts
(50% Cotton & 50% Polyester w/One Color Imprint on Front)

4000 Youth - Small, Med,Large 2.47$                    2.65$                 2.50$                     2.61$                     
3300 Adult -  Small,Med,Large,Xlarge 2.49$                    2.65$                 2.50$                     2.61$                     

75 Adult -  XXLarge 3.49$                    3.55$                 3.50$                     3.61$                     
25 Adult - XXXLarge 3.49$                    3.59$                 3.60$                     3.61$                     

COST PER DIGIT: 0.35$                    0.40$                 0.35$                     0.35$                     

QUOTING ON STYLE: G 8000 8000 G800 G5000
MANUFACTURED BY: Gildan Gildan Gildan Gildan
NUMBER OF COLORS AVAILABLE: 26 Y - 28 A 28 Blank 18

ESTIMATED TOTAL (ITEM#1): 18,446.00$          19,701.00$       18,602.50$            19,414.00$           

ITEM #2 -- 100% Cotton - Short and Long Sleeve  
One (1) Color Imprint on Front 

40 Youth - Small,Med,Large - LONG Sleeve 4.35$                    4.80$                 4.50$                     4.83$                     
125 Adult - Med,Large,Xlarge-LONG Sleeve 4.35$                    4.80$                 4.50$                     4.83$                     
975 Adult - Med,Large,Xlarge-SHORT Sleeve 2.55$                    1.80$                 2.70$                     2.84$                     
100 Adult -  XX Large-SHORT Sleeve 3.55$                    2.82$                 3.70$                     3.84$                     

QUOTING ON STYLE: G2400 /2000 G2400/G2000 G2400/2000 G2400B / G2400 
MANUFACTURED BY: Gildan Gildan Gildan Gildan
NUMBER OF COLORS AVAILABLE: 27 Lg - 55 Sht 28 Ls & 28 Ss Blank 15 Y  & 29 A

ESTIMATED TOTAL (ITEM#2): 3,559.00$            2,829.00$         3,745.00$              3,949.95$             

ITEM #3 -- 100% Cotton - Short Sleeve Shirts  (No Imprinting)
150 Adult - Med,Large,Xlarge 1.95$                    2.00$                 2.25$                     2.39$                     
25 Adult - XXLarge 2.95$                    3.00$                 3.25$                     3.39$                     

QUOTING ON STYLE: G 2000 G2000 G2000 G2000
MANUFACTURED BY: Gildan Gildan Gildan Gildan
NUMBER OF COLORS AVAILABLE: 55 White & Lights Blank 57

ESTIMATED TOTAL (ITEM#3): 366.25$               375.00$            418.75$                 443.25$                

ITEM #4 -- 50% Cotton/50% Polyester Blend 
Short Sleeve Shirts w/Two Colors Front & 1 Color Back

1300 Youth -Small, Medium, Large 2.70$                    3.30$                 2.90$                     2.81$                     
1800 Adult - Small, Medium, Large, X-Large 2.75$                    3.35$                 2.90$                     2.86$                     

QUOTING ON STYLE: G 8000 G8000 G800 G8000
MANUFACTURED BY: Gildan Gildan Gildan Gildan
NUMBER OF COLORS AVAILABLE: 26 Y / 28 A 28 Blank 18

ESTIMATED TOTAL (ITEM#4): 8,460.00$            10,320.00$       8,990.00$              8,801.00$             



CITY OF TROY ITB-COT 07-34
Opening Date -- 10/2/07 BID TABULATION Pg 2 of 6
Date Prepared -- 10/3/07 100 % COTTON & 50/50 TEE SHIRTS

VENDOR NAME: E.A. Graphics Austin Uniform Kelgraphics American 
& Embroidery Silkscreen &

Embroidery
EST PRICE/ PRICE/ PRICE/ PRICE/
QTY DESCRIPTION EACH EACH EACH EACH

ITEM #5 -- 100% Cotton - Two Color Imprint - Front & Back
Short Sleeve Shirts

1700 Adult-Small, Medium, Large, X-Large 2.90$                    3.60$                 3.50$                     3.26$                     
250 Adult - XX-Large 3.95$                    4.80$                 4.50$                     4.26$                     

QUOTING ON STYLE: G 2000 G2000 G2000 G2000
MANUFACTURED BY: Gildan Gildan Gildan Gildan
NUMBER OF COLORS AVAILABLE: 55 28 Blank 57

ESTIMATED TOTAL (ITEM#5): 5,917.50$            7,320.00$         7,075.00$              6,607.00$             

       ESTIMATED GRAND TOTAL ALL ITEMS 36,748.75$          40,545.00$       38,831.25$            39,215.20$           

       ESTIMATED TOTAL AWARDED ITEMS 36,748.75$          

SAMPLES INCLUDED           Y or N Yes No Yes No

CONTACT INFORMATION:  Hrs of Op 6:00am - 5:00pm M-F  7 to 5 M-F   8 to 5 M-F 8:30 - 5:00
         Phone # 586-850-6449 248-891-9125 231-775-6870 248-474-1000

TERMS Net 30 Net 30 Net 30 Net 30
2 weeks at request of

GUARANTEED DELIVERY order or as needed Yes 10 Days or Less 2 week turnaround

WARRANTY

EXCEPTIONS No Exceptions Blank Blank Blank
have been used

ACKNOWLEDGEMENT:      Y or N Yes Yes Yes Yes

DISQUALIFIED:   (non-responsive)
Chamberlain Marketing Group (Did not submit bid surety check with bid)
Halo/Lee Wayne Corp (Did not submit bid surety check with bid)           
Fruit of the Loom (Did not submit bid surety check with bid)                  

WITHDRAWN
Raven Rock Workwear ($47,195.28 - Withdrew bid due to calculation errors)

PROPOSAL:  One Year Requirements of Tee Shirts (Various Types) with an option to renew for One Additional Year

ATTEST: BOLDFACE TYPE DENOTES LOW TOTAL BIDDER
Barb Rupas
Yvonne Ranzinger Susan Leirstein CPPB
Linda Bockstanz Purchasing Director

G\:TeeshirtsBid ITB-COT 07-34

MANUFACTURER'S



CITY OF TROY ITB-COT 07-34
Opening Date -- 10/2/07 BID TABULATION Pg. 3 of 6
Date Prepared -- 10/3/07 100% COTTON & 50/50 TEE SHIRTS

VENDOR NAME: Elite Medical Office Depot Impressive Screenprint 
Products, Inc. Promotional Plus, Inc.

Note: Business Check Products, LLC
CHECK # 928458 1463698 835643247-9 20010911380
CHECK AMOUNT $500.00 $500.00 $500.00 $500.00

EST PRICE/ PRICE/ PRICE/ PRICE/
QTY DESCRIPTION EACH EACH EACH EACH

ITEM #1-- 50/50 Short Sleeve Shirts
(50% Cotton & 50% Polyester w/One Color Imprint on Front)

4000 Youth - Small, Med,Large 2.64$                     2.60$                  2.59$               3.11$                 
3300 Adult -  Small,Med,Large,Xlarge 2.70$                     2.75$                  2.73$               3.22$                 

75 Adult -  XXLarge 3.80$                     3.80$                  3.69$               4.27$                 
25 Adult - XXXLarge 3.90$                     3.90$                  3.74$               4.37$                 

COST PER DIGIT: 0.42$                    0.67$                 0.50$               Included

QUOTING ON STYLE: G 800 G800B/G800 G8000B/8000 G800B / G800
MANUFACTURED BY: Gildan Gildan Gildan Gildan
NUMBER OF COLORS AVAILABLE: 30 27 - 32 28 All, expt S.Blue,

violet, & C. Blue
ESTIMATED TOTAL (ITEM#1): 19,852.50$           19,857.50$        19,739.25$     23,495.50$      

ITEM #2 -- 100% Cotton - Short and Long Sleeve  
One (1) Color Imprint on Front 

40 Youth - Small,Med,Large - LONG Sleeve 4.95$                     4.51$                  4.45$               2.92$                 
125 Adult - Med,Large,Xlarge-LONG Sleeve 5.05$                     4.73$                  4.57$               4.63$                 
975 Adult - Med,Large,Xlarge-SHORT Sleeve 3.30$                     3.08$                  2.93$               3.05$                 
100 Adult -  XX Large-SHORT Sleeve 4.67$                     16.74$                3.98$               4.02$                 

withdrawn G2000B/2000
QUOTING ON STYLE: G200 / G240 G240B/G200 G2400B/2400 G200B, G240, G200

MANUFACTURED BY: Gildan Gildan Gildan Gildan
NUMBER OF COLORS AVAILABLE: 32 SS & 10 LS See Attachment 28 Ls & 57 Ss All expt S. Green

ESTIMATED TOTAL (ITEM#2): 4,513.75$             N/A 4,004.00$       4,071.30$         

ITEM #3 -- 100% Cotton - Short Sleeve Shirts  (No Imprinting)
150 Adult - Med,Large,Xlarge 2.75$                     2.54$                  2.53$               2.65$                 
25 Adult - XXLarge 4.05$                     3.61$                  3.58$               3.62$                 

QUOTING ON STYLE: G200 G200 G2000 G200
MANUFACTURED BY: Gildan Gildan Gildan Gildan
NUMBER OF COLORS AVAILABLE: 32 See Attachment 57 All (23)

ESTIMATED TOTAL (ITEM#3): 513.75$                471.25$             469.00$           488.00$            

ITEM #4 -- 50% Cotton/50% Polyester Blend 
Short Sleeve Shirts w/Two Colors Front & 1 Color Back

1300 Youth -Small, Medium, Large 3.35$                     3.19$                  3.59$               3.09$                 
1800 Adult - Small, Medium, Large, X-Large 3.35$                     3.34$                  3.73$               3.20$                 

QUOTING ON STYLE: G800 G 800B/G 800 G8000B/8000 G800B/G800
MANUFACTURED BY: Gildan Gildan Gildan Gildan
NUMBER OF COLORS AVAILABLE: 30 See Attachment 28 All (6)

ESTIMATED TOTAL (ITEM#4): 10,385.00$           10,159.00$        11,381.00$     9,777.00$         



CITY OF TROY ITB-COT 07-34
Opening Date -- 10/2/07 BID TABULATION Pg 4 of 6
Date Prepared -- 10/3/07 100 % COTTON & 50/50 TEE SHIRTS

VENDOR NAME: Elite Medical Office Depot Impressive Screenprint
Products, Inc. Promotional Plus, Inc.

Products, LLC
EST PRICE/ PRICE/ PRICE/
QTY DESCRIPTION EACH EACH EACH

ITEM #5 -- 100% Cotton - Two Color Imprint - Front & Back
Short Sleeve Shirts

1700 Adult-Small, Medium, Large, X-Large 3.50$                     3.72$                  4.43$               3.50$                 
250 Adult - XX-Large 4.67$                     4.79$                  5.48$               4.47$                 

QUOTING ON STYLE: G200 G200 G2000B/2000 G200
MANUFACTURED BY: Gildan Gildan Gildan Gildan
NUMBER OF COLORS AVAILABLE: 30 See Attachment 57 All

ESTIMATED TOTAL (ITEM#5): 7,117.50$             7,521.50$          8,901.00$       7,067.50$         

       ESTIMATED GRAND TOTAL ALL ITEMS 42,382.50$           41,783.90$        44,494.25$     44,899.30$      

SAMPLES INCLUDED           Y or N No No No No
Sat  10 to 2

CONTACT INFORMATION:  Hrs of Op 24 hours M-F 8 to 5 M-F  8 to 6 M-F 9 to 6
         Phone # 917-412-6181 248-961-0949 313-402-4020 800-749-3321

TERMS Net 30 Net 30 Net 30 Net 30
14 days after

GUARANTEED DELIVERY Blank Yes 2 weeks ARO art work

WARRANTY

EXCEPTIONS Blank See enclosed Blank Blank
proposed addedum
regarding legal
terms

ACKNOWLEDGEMENT:      Y or N Yes Yes Yes Yes

G\:TeeshirtsBid ITB-COT 07-34

MANUFACTURER'S



CITY OF TROY ITB-COT 07-34
Opening Date -- 10/2/07 BID TABULATION Pg. 5 of 6
Date Prepared -- 10/3/07 100% COTTON & 50/50 TEE SHIRTS

VENDOR NAME: Quality Graphics McNish's Arrow Uniform,
Inc. Sporting Goods & LLC

Trophies, Inc.
CHECK # 21248929 On File 575029608
CHECK AMOUNT $500.00 $500.00 $500.00

EST PRICE/ PRICE/ PRICE/
QTY DESCRIPTION EACH EACH EACH

ITEM #1-- 50/50 Short Sleeve Shirts
(50% Cotton & 50% Polyester w/One Color Imprint on Front)

4000 Youth - Small, Med,Large 2.75$                  2.99$                  2.94$                     
3300 Adult -  Small,Med,Large,Xlarge 2.75$                  2.95$                  2.94$                     
75 Adult -  XXLarge 4.00$                  3.92$                  4.11$                     
25 Adult - XXXLarge 4.00$                  3.99$                  4.24$                     

COST PER DIGIT: 0.25$                  0.40$                  2.31$                     

QUOTING ON STYLE: G 8000 G8000/B G8000/G800B
MANUFACTURED BY: Gildan Gildan Gildan
NUMBER OF COLORS AVAILABLE: 28 A / 26 Y Per Specs 28

ESTIMATED TOTAL (ITEM#1): 20,475.00$        22,088.75$        21,876.25$            

ITEM #2 -- 100% Cotton - Short and Long Sleeve  
One (1) Color Imprint on Front Fall/Winter Spring/Sum

40 Youth - Small,Med,Large - LONG Sleeve 4.75$                  4.79$                  5.15$                     6.29
125 Adult - Med,Large,Xlarge-LONG Sleeve 4.75$                  4.79$                  5.15$                     6.29
975 Adult - Med,Large,Xlarge-SHORT Sleeve 2.90$                  3.25$                  3.64$                     4.78
100 Adult -  XX Large-SHORT Sleeve 3.40$                  3.75$                  4.27$                     5.41

QUOTING ON STYLE: G 2000/ G2400 G2400/2000 G240/G240B G200
MANUFACTURED BY: Gildan Gildan Gildan Gildan
NUMBER OF COLORS AVAILABLE: 28 A / 15 Y Per Specs 28 56

ESTIMATED TOTAL (ITEM#2): 3,951.25$          4,334.10$          4,825.75$              6,239.35$ 

ITEM #3 -- 100% Cotton - Short Sleeve Shirts  (No Imprinting)
150 Adult - Med,Large,Xlarge 2.25$                  2.20$                  2.78$                     
25 Adult - XXLarge 3.75$                  3.25$                  3.41$                     

QUOTING ON STYLE: G 2000 G2000 G200
MANUFACTURED BY: Gildan Gildan Gildan
NUMBER OF COLORS AVAILABLE: 57 A / 35 Y Per Specs 56

ESTIMATED TOTAL (ITEM#3): 431.25$             411.25$             502.25$                 

ITEM #4 -- 50% Cotton/50% Polyester Blend 
Short Sleeve Shirts w/Two Colors Front & 1 Color Back

1300 Youth -Small, Medium, Large 3.20$                  3.55$                  3.69$                     
1800 Adult - Small, Medium, Large, X-Large 3.20$                  3.50$                  3.69$                     

QUOTING ON STYLE: G 8000 G8000/B G800/G800B
MANUFACTURED BY: Gildan Gildan Gildan
NUMBER OF COLORS AVAILABLE: 28 A / 26 Y Per Specs 28

ESTIMATED TOTAL (ITEM#4): 9,920.00$          10,915.00$        11,439.00$            



CITY OF TROY ITB-COT 07-34
Opening Date -- 10/2/07 BID TABULATION Pg 6 of 6
Date Prepared -- 10/3/07 100 % COTTON & 50/50 TEE SHIRTS

VENDOR NAME: Quality Graphics McNish's Arrow Uniform,
Inc. Sporting Goods & LLC

Trophies, Inc.
EST PRICE/ PRICE/ PRICE/
QTY DESCRIPTION EACH EACH EACH

ITEM #5 -- 100% Cotton - Two Color Imprint - Front & Back
Short Sleeve Shirts Fall/ Winter Spring/Sum

1700 Adult-Small, Medium, Large, X-Large 5.75$                  4.43$                  5.02$                     4.68
250 Adult - XX-Large 7.25$                  4.63$                  5.65$                     5.31

QUOTING ON STYLE: G 2000 G2400/2000 G200 G200
MANUFACTURED BY: Gildan Gildan Gildan Gildan
NUMBER OF COLORS AVAILABLE: 57 Per Specs 56 See Chart

ESTIMATED TOTAL (ITEM#5): 11,587.50$        8,688.50$          9,946.50$              9,283.50$ 

       ESTIMATED GRAND TOTAL ALL ITEMS: 46,365.00$        46,437.60$        64,112.60$            

SAMPLES INCLUDED           Y or N Yes No No

CONTACT INFORMATION:  Hrs of Op M-F  8 to 5 8 am to 7 pm 24 Hours
         Phone # 586-504-5646 248-914-0080 313-903-2113

TERMS Net 30 Net 30 Blank
Between

GUARANTEED DELIVERY 2 weeks Yes  2 & 4 Weeks

WARRANTY

EXCEPTIONS Blank None Price quoted is 
based on qty's 

purchased in previous
years, etc.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENT:      Y or N Yes Yes Yes

G\:TeeshirtsBid ITB-COT 07-34

MANUFACTURER'S



 
 
Date September 28, 2007 

 
TO: Phillip L. Nelson, City Manager 

 
FROM: Tonni L. Bartholomew, City Clerk 

 
SUBJECT: Request for Recognition as a Nonprofit Organization Status from Tim Palmer, 

President – The Lakeshoremen Drum and Bugle Corps 
  
Background: 
 
  Attached is a request from Tim Palmer, President of The Lakeshoremen Drum and Bugle Corps, 

seeking recognition as a nonprofit organization status for the purpose of obtaining a charitable 
gaming license to conduct fundraising events and/or raffles to raise the funds necessary to 
support their operations and make their group accessible to more people through low 
membership fees. It has been City Management’s practice to support the approval of such 
requests. 

 
Financial Considerations: 
 
  There are no financial considerations associated with this item. 
 
Legal Considerations: 
 
  There are no legal considerations associated with this item. 
 
Policy Considerations: 
 
  There are no policy considerations associated with this item. 
 
Options: 
 
  It is recommended that Troy City Council approve the proposed resolution to approve the 

request from Tim Palmer, President of The Lakeshoremen Drum and Bugle Corps asking that 
they be recognized as a nonprofit organization operating in the community for the purpose of 
obtaining a charitable gaming license. 

 
 

CCIITTYY  CCOOUUNNCCIILL  AACCTTIIOONN  RREEPPOORRTT  
 

campbellld
Text Box
E-05

















































campbellld
Text Box
E-06









campbellld
Text Box
E-07









 

 
 
October 4, 2006 
 
 
TO:     Phillip L. Nelson, City Manager 
 
FROM:   Brian P. Murphy, Assistant City Manager/Services 
    Timothy L. Richnak, Public Works Director   
 
SUBJECT: Announcement of Public Hearing – Community Development Block Grant      

(CDBG) 2008 Application 
 
Background: 
 
  The City of Troy is required by Oakland County Division of Community & Home Improvement to 

advertise and conduct a Public Hearing on the Program Year 2008 CDBG application. 
 
Financial Considerations: 
 
 There are no financial considerations associated with this item. 

 
Legal Considerations: 
 
 There are no legal considerations associated with this item. 

 
Policy Considerations: 
 
 There are no policy considerations associated with this item. 

 
Options: 
 
 It is recommended that Council authorize a public hearing for November 12, 2007 at 7:30 PM or 

as soon thereafter as the agenda will permit for the adoption of the Community Development 
Block Grant (CDBG) 2008 application. 

 
 
 
 
VR\S: Murphy’s Review/Agenda 10.15.07 – Request for Public Hearing for CDBG 2008 Application  

CCIITTYY  CCOOUUNNCCIILL  AACCTTIIOONN  RREEPPOORRTT  
 

campbellld
Text Box
E-08



campbellld
Text Box
E-09















campbellld
Text Box
E-10











Page 1 of 2 

 

 
October 8, 2007 
 
 
TO:   Phillip L. Nelson, City Manager 
 
FROM: John M. Lamerato, Assistant City Manager/Finance & Administration 

Susan A. Leirstein, Purchasing Director 
  Carol K. Anderson, Director of Parks and Recreation   
 
SUBJECT: Bid Waiver - Purchase of Fitness Equipment for the Troy Community Center  

Background 
• Since the opening of the Community Center in 2002, the City has purchased numerous pieces 

of Precor cardiovascular and strength equipment from All-Pro Exercise of Farmington Hills. 
• All-Pro Exercise works only with public fitness centers like the Cities of Troy, Canton, Livonia,  

and more than ten YMCA’s, the Jewish Community Centers, Lifetime Fitness and many others.  
They have provided superior service with a 24-hour response time. 

• All-Pro Exercise, Inc of Farmington Hills is the only authorized Precor and Matrix dealer in 
Michigan.  

 Advantages of Precor / Matrix equipment: 
o Patented design, with an elevated system which allows users to target specific 

muscle groups, 
o Total body workout in less time, 
o Strongly recommended by users through surveys, 
o Ease of use and familiarity to users, 
o Used more, repaired less, 
o Wider population range of users, when compared to other cardio equipment.  

  
Financial Considerations 

• Funds are available in the Community Center Capital Account for Annex Equipment 
#401755.7978.045. 

• Purchase is offset by the trade-in of Precor elliptical equipment totaling $7,800.00.  
 

Legal Considerations 
• Formal bidding procedures are waived, as no benefit would be derived from soliciting formal 

bids. 
 
 
 
 

CCIITTYY  CCOOUUNNCCIILL  AACCTTIIOONN  RREEPPOORRTT  
 

campbellld
Text Box
F-02



Page 2 of 2 

October 8, 2007 
 
 
To: Phillip L. Nelson, City Manager 
Re: Bid Waiver – Fitness Equipment 
 
 
Policy Considerations 

• The purchase of replacement equipment will enable and assist the Parks and Recreation 
department in its mission to enhance the livability and safety of the community and meet 
changing public needs. (Goals I & V) 

 
Options 

• City management and the Parks and Recreation department are requesting a waiver of 
the formal bid process for the purchase of fitness equipment for the Community Center, 
to include four Precor Ellipticals, three Precor AMT trainers and two Matrix A5x elliptical 
trainers from All-Pro Exercise, Inc. of Farmington Hills, MI, the only authorized Precor 
and Matrix dealer in Michigan.  The estimated total purchase price is $36,845.00, which 
includes a three-year maintenance agreement for all parts and labor and equipment 
trade-ins.  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
G:/Bid Award 06-07 New Format/Regular Business –  Waiver FitnessEquipment v.2 09.07.doc 





campbellld
Text Box
F-03























































campbellld
Text Box
F-04





  
  

TO: Mayor and Members of Council 
FROM: Lori Grigg Bluhm, City Attorney 

Susan M. Lancaster, Assistant City Attorney 
DATE: October 11, 2007 
SUBJECT: Sixth Amendment to Consent Judgment for The Pavilions of Troy  

 
 

  
 
There is a 1973 Consent Judgment that governs 113 acres north of Big Beaver and west of 

Coolidge Highway.  At that time, the property was owned by Sheffield Development Company, and 
the Consent Judgment allowed the Sheffield Office Complex to be constructed, as well as the 
residential subdivisions to the north of the office complex.  The Consent Judgment also controls the 
11.83 acre Parcel I of the proposed Pavilions of Troy Concept Development Plan.  If Council 
approves the Pavilions of Troy CDP and PUD Agreement, then the Consent Judgment needs to be 
amended to allow development on Parcel I that is consistent with the approved CDP.  An 
amendment is required, since the consent judgment allows office uses, as opposed to the residential 
uses that are proposed for the buffer area in the Pavilions of Troy CDP.   

 
 A proposed Sixth Amendment to the Consent Judgment in attached for your review.  This 
Amendment is included on the October 15, 2007 City Council agenda, to coincide with Council’s 
consideration of the Pavilions of Troy PUD proposal.  The proposed Consent Judgment has not yet 
been presented to the other owners of the original 113 acre site, including GM Equities LLC, Kmart 
Corporation (now Sears), and Sheffield Office II, LLC., since it would be premature to present this 
Consent Judgment to them unless and until Council had acted on the PUD Proposal.  Upon review 
of this proposed amendment, these owners may have non-substantive changes to the text.  For 
example, Kmart Corporation is named as one of the Owners of the Property, but Kmart is now 
owned by Sears.  In order to expedite the process, and to allow for these non-substantive changes, 
Council could pass a resolution approving the Sixth Amendment to the Consent Judgment, and 
authorizing the City Attorney to execute the document after all necessary parties have executed it, 
provided that the document is not substantively changed.  It is not anticipated that there will be 
substantive changes to the document, especially since the majority of the parcel is already 
developed.  However, if there are any substantive changes, then a revised document will be 
presented to City Council for their review and approval.   
 
 As always, if you have any questions, please let us know.  
 
 

bittnera
Text Box
F-05





















 
 
October 1, 2007 
 
 
TO: Phillip L. Nelson, City Manager 
 
FROM: Brian P. Murphy, Assistant City Manager/Economic Development Services 
 Mark F. Miller, Planning Director 
 
SUBJECT: Preliminary Site Condominium Review – Adams Road Site Condominium, East side of 

Adams, South of South Boulevard, Section 6 – R-1A  
 
 
Background: 
 

 The Planning Commission recommended approval of Adams Road Preliminary Site 
Condominium Plan at the September 11, 2007 Regular meeting.   
 

 The applicant is proposing a 5-unit site condominium on a 4.98-acre parcel.  The development 
will utilize the One-Family Cluster Option (Section 34.70.00) which provides for reduced lot 
sizes and setbacks.  The applicant is required to provide at least 30% open space; at least 
25% of the open space shall be non-regulated wetlands.   
 

 The applicant prepared a parallel plan that indicates that five units can be developed on the 
property using conventional R-1A area and bulk requirements. 

 
 
Financial Considerations: 
 

 There are no financial considerations for this item. 
 
 
Legal Considerations: 
 

 City Council has the authority to act on this application.  
 

CCIITTYY  CCOOUUNNCCIILL  AACCTTIIOONN  RREEPPOORRTT  
 

campbellld
Text Box
F-06



Policy Considerations: 
 

 Approval of the site condominium would be consistent with City Council Goal I (Enhance the 
livability and safety of the community) and Goal III (Retain and attract investment while 
encouraging redevelopment). 

 
 
Options: 
 

 City Council can approve the Preliminary Site Condominium Plan as submitted or with 
conditions. 

 
 City Council can deny the Preliminary Site Condominium Plan. 

 
 City Management recommends approval of the Adams Road Preliminary Site Condominium 

Plan.   
 
 
 
 
Attachments: 
1. Maps.  
2. Minutes from the September 11, 2007 Planning Commission Regular meeting. 
 
Prepared by RBS/MFM 
 
cc: Applicant 
 File/Adams Road Site Condominium 
 
G:\SUBDIVISIONS & SITE CONDOS\Adams Road Site Condo Sec 6\CC Approval Adams Road Site Condo 10 15 07.doc 
 



R
O

C
H

E
STE

R

D
EQ

U
IN

D
R

E

LONG LAKE
JO

H
N

R

SOUTH BLVD

WATTLES

SQUARE LAKE

BIG BEAVER
I75

I75

STEPH
EN

SO
N

C
O

O
LID

G
E

C
R

O
O

KS

M
A

IN

MAPLE

FOURTEEN MILE

AD
A

M
S



CITY OF TROY

PREPARED BY CITY OF TROY PLANNING DEPT.

SUBJECT PROPERTY



K
ILLAR

N
EY

D
U

B
LIN 

FA
IR

M
AL

V
E

R
N

LIMERICK

BE
AC

H

TEWKSBURY

DONEGAL

MEATH HUNT CIR

LAKE CHARNWOOD

BRETBY

AD
A

M
S

SITE CONDOMINIUM
SITE PLAN RENEWAL
PROPOSED ADAMS ROAD SITE CONDOMINIUM
E SIDE ADAMS, S OF SOUTH BLVD.
SEC. 6  (R-1A)

0 100 200 300 40050
Feet ³

SUBJECT PROPERTY

BL
O

O
M

FI
E

LD
 T

O
W

N
S

H
IP



K
ILLAR

N
EY

D
U

B
LIN 

FA
IR

M
AL

V
E

R
N

LIMERICK

BE
AC

H

TEWKSBURY

DONEGAL

MEATH HUNT CIR

LAKE CHARNWOOD

BRETBY

AD
A

M
S

E-P

C-F

R-1A

SITE CONDOMINIUM
SITE PLAN RENEWAL
PROPOSED ADAMS ROAD SITE CONDOMINIUM
E SIDE ADAMS, S OF SOUTH BLVD.
SEC. 6  (R-1A)

0 100 200 300 40050
Feet ³

SUBJECT PROPERTY

BL
O

O
M

FI
E

LD
 T

O
W

N
S

H
IP



PLANNING COMMISSION REGULAR MEETING – FINAL SEPTEMBER 11, 2007 
  
 
 

SITE CONDOMINIUM SITE PLAN 
 

10. SITE CONDOMINIUM SITE PLAN REVIEW – Adams Road Site Condominium 
(Renewal), 5 units/lots proposed, East Side of Adams, South of South Boulevard, 
Section 6, Zoned R-1A (One Family Residential) Districts 
 
Mr. Littman, who lives in the area of the proposed development, asked to be 
excused from voting on this item.  He said he feels he cannot make an unbiased 
decision on the matter, but he has no direct financial interest in the proposed 
development.   
 
Ms. Lancaster advised the members that a vote to excuse Mr. Littman would be 
in order because there is no financial interest involved on his part.   
 
Resolution # PC-2007-09-145 
Moved by: Strat 
Seconded by: Tagle 
 
RESOLVED, To excuse Member Littman from voting on this item, based on the 
inability to make an impartial decision. 
 
Yes: Littman, Strat, Tagle, Vleck, Wright 
No: Hutson, Kerwin, Schultz, Troshynski 
 
MOTION CARRIED 
 
[Mr. Littman exited the Chambers.] 
 
Mr. Savidant presented a summary of the Planning Department report on the 
proposed site condominium development, and reported it is the recommendation 
of City Management to approve the application, as submitted.  Mr. Savidant 
noted the site plan indicates that underground storm water detention would be 
utilized, and that the City does not accept ownership and responsibility for the 
maintenance of underground detention facilities. 
 
The petitioner, David Donnellon of Design Resources, 3445 Citation Drive, 
Clarkston, was present.  Mr. Donnellon confirmed that the site plan drawings 
before the Commission are the same plans as previously submitted.   
 
There was discussion on the site plan submission as relates to the appropriate 
signature and date on the plans and the requirement of sealed plans.   



PLANNING COMMISSION REGULAR MEETING – FINAL SEPTEMBER 11, 2007 
  
 
 

There was discussion on the underground detention facilities.  
o Background/history of site condominium developments who own/maintain 

their detention facilities. 
o Potential problems for site condominium association.  
o Financial responsibility/potential cost to site condominium association. 

 
Discussion continued on potential water problems.  The members addressed 
communications received from two residents voicing concerns with the impact 
that the development might have in the area.   
 
Ms. Kerwin noted that a cluster development as proposed would preserve many 
of the trees.   
 
Mr. Donnellon stated that the improvements would be in the uplands, not the 
wetlands; and assured the members that he has no plans to do anything in the 
wetlands.   
 
Chair Schultz opened the floor for public comment. 
 
There was no one present who wished to speak. 
 
The floor was closed. 
 
Resolution # PC-2007-09-146 
Moved by: Vleck 
Seconded by: Strat 
 
RESOLVED, That the Planning Commission recommends to City Council, that 
the Preliminary Site Plan (Section 34.70.00 One-Family Cluster Option), as 
requested for Adams Road Site Condominium, including 5 units, located on the 
east side of Adams, south of South Boulevard, Section 6, within the R-1A zoning 
district be granted, subject to the following condition: 
 
1. All plans be re-dated, sealed and signed. 
 
Yes: Hutson, Kerwin, Schultz, Strat, Tagle, Troshynski, Vleck, Wright 
Abstain: Littman 
 
MOTION CARRIED 
 
[Mr. Littman returned to the meeting.] 
 



 
 
 
 
 

Adams Road Preliminary Condominium  
Site Plan 

is included with Council agenda packets 
and available for public viewing at the 

City Clerk’s Office and the Troy Public Library 



 
 
DATE: October 2, 2007 
 
TO: Phillip L. Nelson, City Manager 
 
FROM: Brian P. Murphy, Assistant City Manager/Economic Development Services 
 Mark F. Miller, Planning Director 
 
SUBJECT: Announcement of Public Hearing – Rezoning Application – Proposed Office/Retail 

Development, South side of Big Beaver, West of Rochester Road, Section 27 – O-1 to 
B-2 (File Number Z-728) 

 
 
Background: 
 

 A public hearing is scheduled for the November 12, 2007 City Council meeting. 
 

 The Planning Commission recommended approval of the request to rezone the parcel to B-2 
at the September 11, 2007 Regular meeting.   
 

 The parcel is classified on the Future Land Use Plan as Regional Center.  The Regional 
Center classification has a primary correlation with the B-2 zoning district and a secondary 
correlation with the B-3 and H-S zoning districts.  The application therefore is consistent with 
the Future Land Use Plan. 

 
 The application is consistent with the general character of the area and compatible with adjacent 

zoning districts and land uses. 
 
 
Financial Considerations: 
 

 There are no financial considerations for this item. 
 
 
Legal Considerations: 
 

 City Council has the authority to act on this application.  

CCIITTYY  CCOOUUNNCCIILL  RREEPPOORRTT  
 

campbellld
Text Box
G-01a



Policy Considerations: 
 

 Approval of the rezoning application would be consistent with City Council Goal III (Retain and 
attract investment while encouraging redevelopment). 

 
 
Options: 
 

 City Council can approve or deny the rezoning application. 
 

 No City Council action until the November 12, 2007 public hearing.   
 
 
 
 
Attachments: 
1. Maps.  
2. Minutes from the September 11, 2007 Planning Commission Regular meeting. 
 
 
Prepared by RBS/MFM 
 
cc: Applicant 
 File /Z 728 
 
 
G:\REZONING REQUESTS\Z-728 MacLeish Restaurant Retail Devel Sec 27\Announce CC Public Hearing 10 15 07.doc 
 
 



R
O

C
H

E
STE

R

D
EQ

U
IN

D
R

E

LONG LAKE
JO

H
N

R

SOUTH BLVD

WATTLES

SQUARE LAKE

BIG BEAVER
I75

I75

STEPH
EN

SO
N

C
O

O
LID

G
E

C
R

O
O

KS

M
A

IN

MAPLE

FOURTEEN MILE

AD
A

M
S



CITY OF TROY

PREPARED BY CITY OF TROY PLANNING DEPT.

SUBJECT PROPERTY



C
H

AR
TE

R

N I75
OFRP

N I75

ONRP

OWENDALE

HENRIETTA

R
O

C
H

E
ST

E
R

E BIG BEAVER

REZONING REQUEST
RESTAURANT / RETAIL DEVELOPMENT
FROM O-1 TO B-2
S SIDE OF BIG BEAVER, W OF ROCHESTER RD
SEC. 27 (Z-728) 

0 100 200 30050
Feet ³

SUBJECT PROPERTY



C
H

AR
TE

R

N I75
OFRP

N I75

ONRP

OWENDALE

HENRIETTA

R
O

C
H

E
ST

E
R

E BIG BEAVER

B-3

B-2

R-1E

H-S

O-M

P-1

O-1

RM-1

REZONING REQUEST
RESTAURANT / RETAIL DEVELOPMENT
FROM O-1 TO B-2
S SIDE OF BIG BEAVER, W OF ROCHESTER RD
SEC. 27 (Z-728) 

0 100 200 30050
Feet ³

SUBJECT PROPERTY





PLANNING COMMISSION REGULAR MEETING – FINAL SEPTEMBER 11, 2007 
  
 
 

REZONING REQUEST 
 

7. PUBLIC HEARING – REZONING REQUEST (Z 728) – Proposed Retail 
Development, South Side of Big Beaver, West of Rochester Road, Section 27 – 
From O-1 (Low Rise Office) to B-2 (Community Business) 
 
Mr. Miller presented a summary of the Planning Department report on the 
proposed rezoning request, and reported it is the recommendation of City 
Management to approve the rezoning application. 
 
The petitioner, Dan MacLeish of 650 E. Big Beaver Road, Troy, was present.  Mr. 
MacLeish said his intent is to seek alternate uses to comply with the spirit of the 
Big Beaver Corridor Study.   
 
PUBLIC HEARING OPENED 
 
Laith Hermiz of 1695 Apple Drive, Troy, was present.  Mr. Hermiz, Vice President 
of Development for Ramco-Gershenson Properties Trust, owner of the Troy 
Marketplace Retail Center, expressed full support of the rezoning request.   
 
PUBLIC HEARING CLOSED 
 
Resolution # PC-2007-09-141 
Moved by: Vleck 
Seconded by: Strat 
 
RESOLVED, That the Planning Commission hereby recommends to the City 
Council that the O-1 to B-2 rezoning request, located on the south side of Big 
Beaver, west of Rochester Road, within Section 27, being approximately 0.63 
acres in size, be granted. 
 
Discussion on the motion on the floor. 
 
Chair Schultz said he would hope that the site plan would have no parking 
designations between the building and Big Beaver Road.  
 
Mr. MacLeish replied that is the intent.  
 
Vote on the motion on the floor. 
 
Yes: All present (9) 
 
MOTION CARRIED 

 



 
 
October 9, 2007 
 
 
TO: Phillip L. Nelson, City Manager 
 
FROM: Brian P. Murphy, Assistant City Manager/Economic Development Services 
 Mark F. Miller, Planning Director 
 
SUBJECT: Announcement of Public Hearing – Proposed Office Building, East of Livernois, South 

side of Wattles, Section 22 – R-1C to O-1 (File Number: Z-725) 
 
 
Background: 
 

 The Planning Commission recommended denial of the request to rezone the parcel to O-1 at 
the February 13, 2007 Regular meeting.   

 
 The Future Land Use Plan classifies the Wattles Road frontage in this area as Public and 

Quasi-Public (Community Facility).  The parcel has been planned as Public and Quasi-Public 
(Community Facility) since 1999. 

 
 City Council considered this item at the April 2, 2007 Regular meeting and postponed the item 

at the request of the applicant. 
 

 The applicant requested verbally that City Council consider the rezoning request from R-1C to 
O-1. 
 

 A public hearing is scheduled for this item on November 12, 2007. 
 
 
Financial Considerations: 
 

 There are no financial considerations for this item. 
 
 
Legal Considerations: 
 

 City Council has the authority to act on this application.  

    CCIITTYY  CCOOUUNNCCIILL  RREEPPOORRTT  
 

bittnera
Text Box
G-1b



Policy Considerations: 
 

 Denial of the rezoning request would be consistent with City Council Goal I, Enhance the 
livability and safety of the community. 

 
 
Options: 
 
 City Council can approve the rezoning application. 

 
 City Council can deny the rezoning application. 

 
 The Planning Commission recommended denial of the rezoning application on February 13, 

2007.   
 

 No action is necessary until the public hearing on November 12, 2007. 
 

 
 
 
Attachments: 
1. Maps.  
2. Statement from applicant. 
3. Minutes from February 13, 2007 Planning Commission Regular meeting. 
4. Minutes from April 2, 2007 City Council Regular meeting. 
5. Letter of opposition dated March 18, 2007. 
6. Letter to applicant dated August 27, 2007. 
7. Letter to applicant dated September 18, 2007. 
 
Prepared by RBS/MFM 
 
G:\REZONING REQUESTS\Z-725 Office Building Sec 22\Announce CC Public Hearing 10 15 07.doc 
 
cc: Applicant 
 File /Z 725 
 
 
 
 
 



CITY OF TROY 
AN ORDINANCE TO AMEND 
CHAPTER 39 OF THE CODE 

OF THE CITY OF TROY 
File Number Z-725 

 
The City of Troy ordains: 
 
Section 1.  Short Title 
 
This Ordinance shall be known and may be cited as an amendment to Chapter 39 of the 
Code of the City of Troy.  
 
Section 2.  Amendment to Zoning District Map 
 
This Ordinance shall amend the Zoning District Map, from R-1C One Family 
Residential to O-1 Low Rise Office Building, for parcel 88-20-22-101-003, located 
east of Livernois on the south side of Wattles in Section 22, and described in the 
following legal description and illustrated on the attached Survey Drawing: 
 

T2N, R11E, NW 1/4 of Section 22 
 

Commencing at the Northwest corner of Section 22; thence S 88°28'45" E, 
603.40 ft. measured (603.25 ft. record), along the North line of Section 22 and 
the centerline of Wattles Rd. to the Point of Beginning; thence continuing S 
88°28'45" E, 350.00 ft.; thence S 01°31'15" W, 33.00 ft.; thence S 50°35'13" W, 
463.87 ft. measured (463.00 ft. record); thence N 01°35'42" E, 336.92 ft. 
measured (336.00 ft. record) to the Point of beginning and containing 1.014 ac.  
Except the North 60 ft. taken for Wattles Rd. 

 
Section 3.  Savings 
 
All proceedings pending, and all rights and liabilities existing, acquired or incurred, at the 
time this Ordinance takes effect, are hereby saved.  Such proceedings may be 
consummated under and according to the ordinance in force at the time such proceedings 
were commenced.  This ordinance shall not be construed to alter, affect, or abate any 
pending prosecution, or prevent prosecution hereafter instituted under any ordinance 
specifically or impliedly repealed or amended by this ordinance adopting this penal 
regulation, for offenses committed prior to the effective date of this ordinance; and new 
prosecutions may be instituted and all prosecutions pending at the effective date of this 
ordinance may be continued, for offenses committed prior to the effective date of this 
ordinance, under and in accordance with the provisions of any ordinance in force at the 
time of the commission of such offense. 



Section 4.  Severability Clause 
 
Should any word, phrase, sentence, paragraph or section of this Ordinance be held invalid 
or unconstitutional, the remaining provision of this ordinance shall remain in full force and 
effect. 
 
Section 5.  Effective Date 
 
This Ordinance shall become effective ten (10) days from the date hereof or upon 
publication, whichever shall later occur. 
 
This Ordinance is enacted by the Council of the City of Troy, Oakland County, Michigan, at 
a regular meeting of the City Council held at City Hall, 500 W. Big Beaver, Troy, MI, on the 
_______ day of _____________, 2007. 
 
 
 
 ______________________________ 
 Louise Schilling, Mayor 
 
 
 
 ______________________________ 
 Tonni Bartholomew, City Clerk 
 
 
G:\REZONING REQUESTS\Z-725 Office Building Sec 22\ZOTA 725 Ordinance 03 19 07.doc 





R
O

C
H

E
S

TE
R

D
E

Q
U

IN
D

R
E

LONG LAKE
JO

H
N

R

SOUTH BLVD

WATTLES

SQUARE LAKE

BIG BEAVER
I75

I75

STEPH
EN

SO
N

C
O

O
LID

G
E

C
R

O
O

K
S

MAPLE

FOURTEEN MILE

A
D

A
M

S



CITY OF TROY

PR
E

P
AR

E
D

 B
Y 

C
IT

Y
 O

F 
TR

O
Y

 P
LA

N
N

IN
G

 D
EP

T.SUBJECT PROPERTY



CRESTFIELD

E WATTLES

M
IR

AC
LE

W WATTLES

LANGE

H
AN

O
VE

R

SCOTTSDALE

LI
VE

R
N

O
IS

REZONING REQUEST
PROPOSED WATTLES RD OFFICE BLDG.
FROM R-1C TO O-1
S SIDE OF WATTLES RD., E OF LIVERNOIS
SEC. 22 (Z-725)

0 100 200 300 40050
Feet ³

SUBJECT PROPERTY



CRESTFIELD

E WATTLES

M
IR

A
C

LE

W WATTLES

LANGE

H
A

N
O

V
E

R

SCOTTSDALE

LI
V

E
R

N
O

IS

(R-1C)

(C-F)

(E-P)

(B-1)

(O-1)

(R-1B)

(P-1)

CJ-9

REZONING REQUEST
PROPOSED WATTLES RD. OFFICE BLDG.
FROM R-1C TO O-1
S SIDE OF WATTLES, E OF LIVERNOIS
SEC. 22  (Z-725)

0 100 200 300 40050
Feet ³

SUBJECT PROPERTY







PLANNING COMMISSION REGULAR MEETING – FINAL FEBRUARY 13, 2007 
   

REZONING REQUEST 
 
7. PUBLIC HEARING - REZONING REQUEST (Z-725) – Proposed Office Bldg., 

East of Livernois, South side of Wattles, Section 22 – From R-1C (One Family 
Residential) to O-1 (Low Rise Office) 
 
Planning Director Miller presented a summary on the Planning Department report 
for rezoning request Z-725.  He noted that there was an error on the written 
correspondence regarding this location, and it should read that it is located on 
the south side of Wattles.   
 
Bill Mosher, 47745 Van Dyke, Shelby Township, was present on behalf of the 
petitioner.  He stated that this is a unique parcel.  It has been for sale for three 
years with residential zoning, but the housing market is weak.  There have, 
however, been a lot of inquiries for office use.  This is a more compatible use in 
light of the surrounding parcel arrangements and their uses.  
 
Tony Haddad, 6507 John R, the petitioner, stated he would like to proceed with 
the rezoning request. 
 
PUBLIC HEARING OPENED 
 
Lee Nardi, 6507 John R, stated he lives directly across the street from the 
proposed office.  There is way too much noise from the church and mainly the 
school.  There are floodlights on at the school that light up the neighborhood.  
The proposed office location will be directly in front of his front window and he 
does not wish to look at it.  In addition, we have a lot of truck traffic creating a 
large amount of noise, and any office use would make the area less desirable. 
 
PUBLIC HEARING CLOSED 
 
Commissioner Vleck stated he agreed that if it were to be rezoned, it would be 
spot zoning; however, we have a piece of property where on the north it is 
residential, but on both the east and west side there are heavy use zoning.  It 
would be difficult to justify a residential use going into this area and poses a 
difficult zoning question. 
 
Commissioner Tagle asked if there are any wetlands. 
 
Planning Director Miller replied that the natural features map does not indicate 
any wetlands. 
 
Chairperson Schultz added that the east and south property of the border are 
active drains. 



PLANNING COMMISSION REGULAR MEETING – FINAL FEBRUARY 13, 2007 
   

Mr. Haddad informed the Planning Commission that approximately a year ago 
the Brookfield academy wanted to buy the property.  They were unable to put a 
daycare in the location due to ordinance restrictions.  Despite the ordinance 
being changed, they pulled out of the purchase agreement.  The point is, the 
ordinance already exists to permit daycare at a private academy and that is 
consistent with office zoning.  
 
Chairperson Schultz asked if daycares, in schools, require O-1 zoning. 
 
Planning Director Miller responded that the City amended the Zoning Ordinance 
to allow a daycare be in a single family zoning district in a private school.  They 
are also permitted in other residential zoning when they are adjacent to an O-1 
zoning or other commercial zoning. 
 
Chairperson Schultz clarified that this property does not require O-1 zoning if 
Brookfield Academy wanted to put a daycare at that site.  
 
 
Resolution # PC-2007-02- - 
Moved by: Vleck 
Seconded by:  
 
RESOLVED, That the Planning Commission hereby recommends to the City 
Council that the R-1C to O-1 rezoning request, located east of Livernois, on the 
south side of Wattles, within Section 22, being approximately 1 acre in size, be 
granted. 
 
MOTION DIED for lack of second. 
 
Resolution # PC-2007-02-034 
Moved by: Hutson 
Seconded by: Tagle 
 
RESOLVED, That the Planning Commission hereby recommends to the City 
Council that the R-1C to O-1 rezoning request, located east of Livernois, on the 
south side of Wattles, within Section 22, being approximately 1 acre in size be 
denied, for the following reasons: 
 
1. The application is inconsistent with the Future Land Use Plan.   
2. If approved the O-1 parcel would constitute an undesirable spot zone. 
 
Yes: Hutson, Schultz, Tagle 
No: Vleck, Kerwin 
Absent: Littman, Strat, Troshynski, Wright 



PLANNING COMMISSION REGULAR MEETING – FINAL FEBRUARY 13, 2007 
   

NO ACTION ON MOTION due to failure to obtain minimum of five (5) votes 
needed to pass or fail. 
 
 
Resolution # PC-2007-02-035 
Moved by: Schultz 
Seconded by: Tagle 
 
RESOLVED, That the Planning Commission hereby reconsiders the vote on the 
R-1C to O-1 rezoning request, located east of Livernois, on the south side of 
Wattles, within Section 22, being approximately 1 acre in size. 
 
Yes: All present (5) 
No: None 
Absent: Littman, Strat, Troshynski, Wright 
 
MOTION CARRIED 
 
 
Resolution # PC-2007-02-036 
Moved by: Hutson 
Seconded by: Tagle 
 
RESOLVED, That the Planning Commission hereby recommends to the City 
Council that the R-1C to O-1 rezoning request, located east of Livernois, on the 
south side of Wattles, within Section 22, being approximately 1 acre in size be 
denied, for the following reasons: 
 
1. The application is inconsistent with the Future Land Use Plan.   
2. If approved the O-1 parcel would constitute an undesirable spot zone. 
 
Yes: Hutson, Kerwin, Schultz, Tagle, Vleck 
No: None 
Absent: Littman, Strat, Troshynski, Wright 
 
MOTION CARRIED 
 

G:\REZONING REQUESTS\Z-725 Office Building Sec 22\02-13-07 PC Minutes Excerpt.doc 
 
 













1 

TROY HISTORIC COMMISSION MINUTES – FINAL JUNE 26, 2007 
 
The regular meeting of the Troy Historic Commission was held Tuesday, June 26, 2007 
at the Troy Museum & Historic Village. The meeting was proceeded by the annual tour 
of the buildings at 7:00 P.M. Rosemary Kornacki called the meeting to order at 7:50 
P.M.  
 
ROLL CALL PRESENT:     Rosemary Kornacki 

Vera Milz 
Terry Navratil  
Remedios Solarte 
Brian Wattles 
Kevin Lindsey 
Loraine Campbell, Museum Manager 
 

  ABSENT:     Roger Kaniarz 
 
                   GUESTS: Barbara Chambers, Historic District Commission 
   Paul Lin, Historic District Commission 
   Muriel Rounds Historic District Commission 
   Fred Rounds, Troy Historical Society 
   Ann Partlan, Historic District Commission 
   Gary Castile, Historic District Commission 
   Ward Randol, Troy Historical Society 
   John and Sue Lavender, Troy Historical Society 
   Thelma and Al Holdburg, Troy Historical Society 
      Judy and Alison Iceman, Troy Historical Society 
      Judy Siess, Troy Historical Society 
      Gerry Young, Troy Historical Society 
      Gloria Anderlie, Troy Historical Society 
      Kinda Hupman, Troy Historical Society 
      Cathy Ogawa, Troy Historical Society  
 
Resolution #HDC-2007-006-001 
Moved by Navratil  
Seconded by Wattles 
 
RESOLVED, That the absence of Kaniarz be excused 

Yes: 6 Kornacki, Milz, Navratil, Solarte, Lindsey and Wattles 
No: 0 
 
MOTION CARRIED 
 
 

campbellld
Text Box
J-01a



2 

Resolution #HDC-2007-06-002 
Moved by Navratil  
Seconded by Lindsey 
 
RESOLVED, That the minutes of March 25, 2007 be approved  

Yes: 6 Kornacki, Milz, Navratil, Solarte, Lindsey and Wattles 
No: 0 
 
MOTION CARRIED 
 
 
Resolution #HDC-2007-06-003 
Moved by Navratil  
Seconded by Lindsey 
 
RESOLVED, That the Manager’s Report be approved as submitted 

Yes: 6 Kornacki, Milz, Navratil, Solarte, Lindsey and Wattles 
No: 0 
 
MOTION CARRIED 

    
New Business 

A. Cultural Alliance of Southeast Michigan 
Loraine Campbell supplied background and membership materials. The purpose 
of the Cultural Alliance of Southeast Michigan is to increase awareness of non-
profit participation in, and support for, arts and cultural organizations in a seven-
county region of southeast Michigan. The Alliance embraces all sizes and 
disciplines of art and cultural organizations and works collectively to find 
solutions to the challenges of funding shortages and shifting audience demand 
that all member organizations face. The three initiatives of the Alliance are: 

1. Establish a collective voice for marketing, programming and community 
relations 

2. Connecting assets to reduce costs and achieve economic solutions 
through creative and innovative management and collaborations 

3. Enhance cultural education services of member organization through 
professional training opportunities, program and project collaborations 
and collective marketing. 

Membership in the Cultural Alliance requires: 
1. Resolution of support by the governing board 
2. Membership dues ($250 annually) 
3. Membership Information Form 
4. Supporting nonprofit and budget documentation 
 



3 

Resolution #HDC-2007-06-004 
Moved by Lindsey  
Seconded by Solarte 
 
RESOLVED, That the Troy Historical Commission supports membership of the 
Troy Museum & Historic Village in the Cultural Alliance of Southeast Michigan  

Yes: 6 Kornacki, Milz, Navratil, Solarte, Lindsey and Wattles 
No: 0 
 

MOTION CARRIED 
 

B. Review of Museum Assessment Program (MAP) Recommendations  
The final report of the Museum Assessment Program (MAP) by evaluator Dr. Charles 
Watkins was received in April and reviewed by the MAP Team, the museum staff, and 
members of the Historical Commission, Historic District Commission and Troy Historical 
Society. Rosemary Kornacki led a discussion of some of the recommendations: 
1. Mission and Institutional Planning Recommendation: 

“Rewrite mission statement in a best practice format. Consult Anderson, Gail, ed., 
Museum Mission Statements: Building a Distinct Identity, 2nd Edition, Washington: 
American Association of Museums, 1998.” 

 There was consensus that a simple and strong mission statement is 
extremely important to position the Troy Museum as a recognized, effective 
cultural institution in the region. There was support for the present drafted 
mission statement, but also consensus that it would be advisable for an ad 
hoc group to work with Loraine Campbell to consult the resource noted by the 
evaluator and propose a final version of the mission statement for adoption by 
the Historical Commission. The following individuals volunteered to meet as 
an ad hoc study group: Ward Randol, Judy Iceman, Barb Chambers, Muriel 
Rounds, John Lavender, and Terry Navratil. 

 
2. Governance Recommendation:  

“Change title of Museum Manager to Museum Director. This is, in fact, the 
title used in the City of Troy’s description of the Historical Commission, Rev. 
4-23-90. The change would bring the title more in line with usage in the 
museum world, and would likely be of help to the Museum in applying for 
grants as the title implies professional status.” 

  
Loraine explained the city policy for job titles. The Historical Commission will 
review the language in the City Ordinance. 
 

3. Financial Stability Recommendations: 

“The Museum should develop a realistic plan for the growth of personnel. The 
Museum is, for example, planning to add two major buildings and renovate a 
third, but there is little, if any, discussion in the plans about how these new 
facilities will be staffed. Creating a Five-Year Staffing Plan would offer an 



4 

opportunity to take a frank look at the Museum’s needs beyond the physical 
ones.” 

 
“Perhaps the Museum could negotiate with the City for the retention of a percentage 
of its earnings, say for two years, to be used to hire someone part-time to work with 
developing new volunteers for the Museum.” 
 
The discussion included staffing assets and needs in the following areas: 
Administration, collections management, programs, exhibits, and facilities 
management.  The museum staff reported through Loraine that they saw the 
greatest needs in collections and facilities management.  
 
There was consensus in the group discussion that there is a significant need 
to increase summer grounds maintenance by the city.  The group also 
discussed funding sources for a volunteer coordinator. Loraine will pursue 
grant sources.  
 

4. Collections Stewardship Recommendations: 
a) Reexamine some of the wording on the various collections forms. 

b) Consider a more formal system of gift and loan acceptance. 

c) Explore acceptable ways to deal with the large percentage of collection materials 
without provenance records 

d) Consider using the more current source on registration methods: Buck, Rebecca 
A. and Gilmore, Jean Allman, eds.,  The New Museum Registration Methods, 
Washington D.C.: American Association of Museums, 1998. 

e) Consider merging Collections Policy with the Operating Procedure document to 
produce a collections management policy. 

f) Attend to basement leaks in storage areas. 

g) Consideration applying for a General Conservation Survey grant through the 
Conservation Assessment Program (CAP) 

Loraine reported that William Boardman has inherited some collections 
policies and developed additional policies for new acquisitions in compliance 
with acceptable museum standards. He and Loraine have been working with 
Allan Motzny for the City Attorney’s Office to draft protocols for old 
acquisitions without provenance and additional protocols for divesting artifacts 
from the museum’s collection.  Rosemary Kornacki and Brian Wattles agreed 
to meet as an ad hoc committee with museum staff to further review the 
current policies and MAP recommendations. 



5 

Rosemary Kornacki concluded the evening’s discussion with thanks to those who 
contributed to the discussion and who work closely with the museum through 
other groups. She suggested that the group might reassemble again to discuss 
other specific MAP recommendations. 

 
The Troy Historic Commission Meeting was adjourned at 9:15 p.m.  The next regular 
meeting will be held Tuesday, September 25, 2007 at the Troy Museum & Historic 
Village.  
 
 

 
                  
Rosemary Kornacki 
Chairperson 
 
 
 
Loraine Campbell 
Recording Secretary 



TROY YOUTH COUNCIL – FINAL MINUTES   August 22, 2007  
 

 1

A meeting of the Troy Youth Council (TYC)  was held on August 22, 2007 at 7:00 PM at 
Troy City Hall, 500 W. Big Beaver.  Maxine D’Amico and Rishi Joshi called the meeting to 
order at 7:04 p.m. 
 
MEMBERS PRESENT:  Maxine D’Amico (Co-chair) 

Rishi Joshi (Co-chair) 
Geon Woo Kim 
Joseph Niemiec  
Anupama Prasad (Secretary) 
Kristin Randall  
Shaina Sekhri 
Katie Thoenes  
David Wylie 

MEMBERS ABSENT: Disha Bora, Jessica Kraft, Neil Shaw, Nicole Vitale 
VISITORS: Sandy Macknis and Jeff Stewart (Troy Daze) 
STAFF PRESENT:  Scott Mercer, Recreation Supervisor 
                              
1. Roll Call 
 
2. Approval of Minutes 

 Resolution # TY-2007-8-12 
  Moved by   Niemiec 
  Seconded by  Randall 

   
  RESOLVED, That the minutes of May 23, 2007 be approved. 

  Yes:  All – 9 
            No:       0  
  Absent:  4 – Bora, Kraft, Shaw, Vitale   
 
3.   Attendance Report:  

Report reviewed by council members, no comments.   
 

4.   Visitor:   Troy Daze Committee Members (Sandy Macknis and Jeff Stewart) 
Sandy Macknis  and Jeff Stewart updated Council on status of Troy Daze. 
-Over 287 volunteer positions filled. 
-Areas such as parking, Magic Cauldron, Entertainment tent and Ethni-City still 
need a few volunteers.  

  -Discount parking passes are available at the Community Center for $6. 
  -The Troy Daze Parade is back on schedule for 2007. 

 
 
5. Troy Daze Festival Update  – None 

 
 

6. Teen Room Naming Competition  
TYC reviewed flyer created by Jessica Kraft in 2006.  Discussed prize ideas 
for the competition including: gift certificates and i-tunes cards. 

 
 

campbellld
Text Box
J-01b



TROY YOUTH COUNCIL – FINAL MINUTES   August 22, 2007  
 

 2

 
7. Special Events and Projects for 2007-08  

The Council discussed possible events and projects.  Further discussion to 
take place at September meeting. 
   

 
8. Motion to Excuse Absent Members Who Have Provide d Advance Notification  
  Resolution # TY-2007-8-13 

  Moved by  Thoenes 
  Seconded by  Niemiec  

  
RESOLVED that Bora, Kraft, Shaw are excused. 

  Yes:  All - 9   
            No:       0  
  Absent:  4 – Bora, Kraft, Shaw, Vitale   
  
9. Youth Council Comments  

    
 

10. Public Comments  –      
Sandy Macknis suggested providing Kleenex to youngsters in Detroit as a 
possible project. 

 
11. Adjournment – 7:28 p.m. 
 
 
 
 
_______________________________________ 
Maxine D’Amico, Co-chair 
 
_______________________________________ 
Scott Mercer, Recreation Supervisor 

 
Reminder Next Meeting: September 26 at 7:00 P.M.  



ADVISORY COMMITTEE FOR PERSONS WITH DISABILITIES – DRAFT –  
SEPTEMBER 5, 2007 

 1

 
 
 
A Regular Meeting of the Troy Advisory Committee for Persons with Disabilities was 
held Wednesday, September 5, 2007, in the second floor Conference Room C at City 
Hall.  Done called the meeting to order at 7:05 p.m.                                              
 
 
Present:  C. Buchanan, member K. Clark, member 
   A. Done, member  C. Geier, member   
   P. Hammond, member P. Manetta, member  
   K. Mayer, alternate  D. Pietron, member 
  S. Werpetinski, member    
        
Present: M. Grusnick, staff 
    
 
Absent: D. Chong, student  EA 
   M. Freliga, member   UA 
   G. Hyun, student  UA 
   S. Murphy, alternate  UA 
    
ITEM III – APPROVAL OF MINUTES OF MEETING OF AUGUST 1, 2007 
Hammond made a motion to approve the minutes of August 1, 2007 with the correction 
that Royal Oak Beaumont Hospital prohibits persons with disabilities from taking electric 
carts to the parking lot.  Supported by Buchanan; all voted in favor.  
 
The August agenda was sent out with the wrong September meeting date.  Since this 
may have resulted in member absences, Hammond made a motion to excuse all absent 
members at the August meeting.  Supported by Buchanan; 7 yes votes, 2 no.  Motion 
was approved. 
 
ITEM IV – SCHEDULED PRESENTATIONS 
A DVD regarding Fuel Call was viewed by the Committee.  This product provides a 
service to alert the gas station employee when someone needs assistance pumping 
their fuel.  Werpetinski has copies of the DVDs along with a letter to City Council asking 
for an ordinance requiring Troy gas stations to be so equipped.  Werpetinski motioned 
that this letter and DVDs be sent to City Council for their consideration.  Manetta 
seconded.  All were in favor. 
 
ITEM V – UNFINISHED BUSINESS 
October is National Disability Awareness Month and this Committee will be setting up a 
display at the Troy Library.  Materials were given to Werpetinski who has taken the 
responsibility for this setup. 
  

campbellld
Text Box
J-01c



ADVISORY COMMITTEE FOR PERSONS WITH DISABILITIES – DRAFT –  
SEPTEMBER 5, 2007 

 2

ITEM VI – NEW BUSINESS 
Buchanan will invite Micah Fialka-Feldman to the October meeting.  Micah is a  
university student who will speak on the mainstreaming of persons with cognitive 
disabilities.   All were in favor. 
 
Done reported that the ACPD section is still not included in the index of Troy Today.  
Done will contact Cindy Stewart. 
 
Werpetinski submitted a letter to be distributed to election precinct workers regarding 
parking in handicapped spaces.  Werpetinski motioned to approve; Buchanan 
seconded.  All in favor. 
 
Werpetinski prepared a commendation letter to Jane Plante, a Troy Beaumont Hospice 
worker that lives and works in Troy.  Buchanan motioned to approve; Werpetinski 
seconded.  All in favor. 
 
Loraine Campbell, Museum Manager, sent thanks to the ACPD for the sensitivity 
training presentation.  She also recommended that this training be included in the 
Employee Academy. 
 
Werpetinski delivered a donated wheelchair to be used at the Troy Musuem. 
 
The suggested changes for the membership requirements for this Committee were 
presented to Council as a green (informational) item at their June 4 meeting.  The item 
was noted and filed.  The item will need to be brought back as an action item to have 
Council approve and implement the suggested changes. 
 
Buchanan nominated herself for co-chairperson of this Committee; Werpetinski 
seconded.  All in favor. 
 
Hammond, Done, Clark and Mayer will attend a Troy trail and pathway meeting on 
September 6, 7:30 p.m. at the Community Center. 
 
Werpetinski will attend the 9/10 Council meeting, Buchanan the 9/17 meeting and  
Manetta the 10/1 meeting, and Mayer and Clark the 10/15 meeting. 
 
ITEM VII – REPORTS 
    
ITEM VIII – PUBLIC COMMENT 
None reported. 
 
ITEM IX – MEMBER COMMENT 
Hammond composed a letter to Royal Oak Beaumont Hospital requesting that a  
wheelchair cart be available for persons with disabilities to take to the parking lot with  
volunteers retrieving them.  
 



ADVISORY COMMITTEE FOR PERSONS WITH DISABILITIES – DRAFT –  
SEPTEMBER 5, 2007 

 3

Hammond reported that Kmart on Maple Road responded to her request and said that 
they will keep a fully charged electric cart by the front door for use by persons with 
disabilities. 
 
Hammond reported that Lynn Rachwitz, Community Center,  indicated that if a person 
with disabilities or senior needs assistance accessing the building they should phone 
her and park on the senior side of the lot and she will bring out an electric scooter.   
 
ITEM X – ADJOURNMENT 
Buchanan made a motion to adjourn at  9:00 p.m.  Supported by Pietron.   All voted in 
favor. 
 
 
 
                                                               _______________________________ 
                                   Angela Done 
                Chairperson 
 
 
        ________________________________ 
           Kathy Jearls, Recording Secretary                            
 



ADVISORY COMMITTEE FOR PERSONS WITH DISABILITIES – FINAL –  
SEPTEMBER 5, 2007 

 1

 
 
 
A Regular Meeting of the Troy Advisory Committee for Persons with Disabilities was 
held Wednesday, September 5, 2007, in the second floor Conference Room C at City 
Hall.  Done called the meeting to order at 7:05 p.m.                                              
 
 
Present:  C. Buchanan, member K. Clark, member 
   A. Done, member  C. Geier, member   
   P. Hammond, member P. Manetta, member  
   K. Mayer, alternate  D. Pietron, member 
  S. Werpetinski, member    
        
Present: M. Grusnick, staff 
    
 
Absent: D. Chong, student  EA 
   M. Freliga, member   UA 
   G. Hyun, student  UA 
   S. Murphy, alternate  UA 
    
ITEM III – APPROVAL OF MINUTES OF MEETING OF AUGUST 1, 2007 
Hammond made a motion to approve the minutes of August 1, 2007 with the correction 
that Royal Oak Beaumont Hospital prohibits persons with disabilities from taking electric 
carts to the parking lot.  Supported by Buchanan; all voted in favor.  
 
The August agenda was sent out with the wrong September meeting date.  Since this 
may have resulted in member absences, Hammond made a motion to excuse all absent 
members at the August meeting.  Supported by Buchanan; 7 yes votes, 2 no.  Motion 
was approved. 
 
ITEM IV – SCHEDULED PRESENTATIONS 
A DVD regarding Fuel Call was viewed by the Committee.  This product provides a 
service to alert the gas station employee when someone needs assistance pumping 
their fuel.  Werpetinski has copies of the DVDs along with a letter to City Council asking 
for an ordinance requiring Troy gas stations to be so equipped.  Werpetinski motioned 
that this letter and DVDs be sent to City Council for their consideration.  Manetta 
seconded.  All were in favor. 
 
ITEM V – UNFINISHED BUSINESS 
October is National Disability Awareness Month and this Committee will be setting up a 
display at the Troy Library.  Materials were given to Werpetinski who has taken the 
responsibility for this setup. 
  

campbellld
Text Box
J-01d



ADVISORY COMMITTEE FOR PERSONS WITH DISABILITIES – FINAL –  
SEPTEMBER 5, 2007 

 2

ITEM VI – NEW BUSINESS 
Buchanan will invite Micah Fialka-Feldman to the October meeting.  Micah is a  
university student who will speak on the mainstreaming of persons with cognitive 
disabilities.   All were in favor. 
 
Done reported that the ACPD section is still not included in the index of Troy Today.  
Done will contact Cindy Stewart. 
 
Werpetinski submitted a letter to be distributed to election precinct workers regarding 
parking in handicapped spaces.  Werpetinski motioned to approve; Buchanan 
seconded.  All in favor. 
 
Werpetinski prepared a commendation letter to Jane Plante, a Troy Beaumont Hospice 
worker that lives and works in Troy.  Buchanan motioned to approve; Werpetinski 
seconded.  All in favor. 
 
Loraine Campbell, Museum Manager, sent thanks to the ACPD for the sensitivity 
training presentation.  She also recommended that this training be included in the 
Employee Academy. 
 
Werpetinski delivered a donated wheelchair to be used at the Troy Musuem. 
 
The suggested changes for the membership requirements for this Committee were 
presented to Council as a green (informational) item at their June 4 meeting.  The item 
was noted and filed.  The item will need to be brought back as an action item to have 
Council approve and implement the suggested changes. 
 
Buchanan nominated herself for co-chairperson of this Committee; Werpetinski 
seconded.  All in favor. 
 
Hammond, Done, Clark and Mayer will attend a Troy trail and pathway meeting on 
September 6, 7:30 p.m. at the Community Center. 
 
Werpetinski will attend the 9/10 Council meeting, Buchanan the 9/17 meeting and  
Manetta the 10/1 meeting, and Mayer and Clark the 10/15 meeting. 
 
ITEM VII – REPORTS 
    
ITEM VIII – PUBLIC COMMENT 
None reported. 
 
ITEM IX – MEMBER COMMENT 
Hammond composed a letter to Royal Oak Beaumont Hospital requesting that a  
wheelchair cart be available for persons with disabilities to take to the parking lot with  
volunteers retrieving them.  
 



ADVISORY COMMITTEE FOR PERSONS WITH DISABILITIES – FINAL –  
SEPTEMBER 5, 2007 

 3

Hammond reported that Kmart on Maple Road responded to her request and said that 
they will keep a fully charged electric cart by the front door for use by persons with 
disabilities. 
 
Hammond reported that Lynn Rachwitz, Community Center,  indicated that if a person 
with disabilities or senior needs assistance accessing the building they should phone 
her and park on the senior side of the lot and she will bring out an electric scooter.   
 
ITEM X – ADJOURNMENT 
Buchanan made a motion to adjourn at  9:00 p.m.  Supported by Pietron.   All voted in 
favor. 
 
 
 
                                                               _______________________________ 
                                   Angela Done 
                Chairperson 
 
 
        ________________________________ 
           Kathy Jearls, Recording Secretary                            
 



BUILDING CODE BOARD OF APPEALS – FINAL                         SEPTEMBER 5, 2007 

1 
 

The Chairman, Ted Dziurman, called the meeting of the Building Code Board of 
Appeals to order at 8:30 A.M. on Wednesday, September 5, 2007 in the Lower Level 
Conference Room of the Troy City Hall. 
 
PRESENT:   Ted Dziurman 
    Rick Kessler 
    Dave Roberts 
    Tom Rosewarne 
    Frank Zuazo 
 
ALSO PRESENT:  Mark Stimac, Director of Building & Zoning 
    Paul Evans, Housing & Zoning Inspector Supervisor 
    Pamela Pasternak, Recording Secretary 
 
ITEM #1 – APPROVAL OF MINUTES – MEETING OF AUGUST 1, 2007 
 
Motion by Kessler 
Supported by Zuazo 
 
MOVED, to approve the minutes of the meeting of August 1, 2007 as written. 
 
Yeas:  All – 5 
 
MOTION TO APPROVE MINUTES AS WRITTEN CARRIED 
 
Mr. Stimac stated that Item #2 and Item #3 were brought in by the same petitioner and 
were for adjoining sites.  He said that he would like to discuss both items at the same 
time but asked that the Board take a separate vote on each item. 
 
ITEM #2 – VARIANCE REQUESTED.  WILD BILL & ASSOCIATES, 1250-1270 
RANKIN, for relief of Chapter 85 to erect a ground sign setback 2’ from the existing 
street right of way. 
 
Mr. Stimac explained that the petitioner is requesting relief of the Ordinance to erect a 
ground sign setback 2’ from the existing street right of way.  Table 85.02.05 requires a 
minimum setback of 10’ from the existing street right of way.  This is a multi-tenant 
Industrial building. 
 
ITEM #3 – VARIANCE REQUESTED.  WILD BILL & ASSOCIATES, 1220-1242 
RANKIN, for relief of Chapter 85 to install a ground sign setback 2’ from the existing 
right of way. 
 
Mr. Stimac explained that the petitioner is requesting relief of the Ordinance to erect a 
ground sign setback 2’ from the existing street right of way.  Table 85.02.05 requires a 
minimum setback of 10’ from the existing street right of way. 
 

campbellld
Text Box
J-01e



BUILDING CODE BOARD OF APPEALS – FINAL                         SEPTEMBER 5, 2007 

2 
 

ITEM #2 & ITEM #3 
 
Mr. William Betz from Wild Bill & Associates was present and stated that there is a large 
berm with a lot of trees in the center of the berm.  These trees would have to be 
removed in order for the sign to be visible.  If the signs are setback 10” they would be 
on the down slope of the berm and would not be visible.  The berm is approximately 4’ 
high and heavily treed.   
 
The Chairman opened the Public Hearing.   
 
Mr. Julio Pozzuoli the Property Manager for these buildings was present.  Mr. Pozzuoli 
stated that they support these requests.  If the sign is placed without granting a variance 
it would be obscured by the very mature trees on the berm.  A number of trees would 
have to be removed for the sign to be seen if installed in compliance with the 
Ordinance.  The signs would be 18’ from the curb. 
 
No one else wished to be heard and the Public Hearing was closed. 
 
There are nine (9) written approvals on file for Item #2.  There are no written objections 
on file. 
 
There are six (6) written approvals on file for Item #3.  There are no written objections 
on file. 
 
Mr. Dziurman asked about the history of the 10’ setback from the right of way line. 
 
Mr. Stimac stated that he did not know how the minimum setback came to be.  Typically 
in the M-1 Zoning District, the 50’ front yard setback is landscaped.  1270 Rankin is 
unusual in that there is parking in the front yard.  1220-1250 Ranking does have a 50’ 
front yard setback and is heavily landscaped. 
 
Mr. Dziurman stated that a sign 10’ from the right of way line would be difficult to see. 
 
Mr. Betz stated that the addresses would be visible. 
 
Mr. Roberts asked if the signs would be placed near the existing fire hydrant. 
 
Mr. Betz said that the sign would be at least 30’ away. 
 
ITEM #2 
 
Motion by Kessler 
Supported by Zuazo 
 
 
 



BUILDING CODE BOARD OF APPEALS – FINAL                         SEPTEMBER 5, 2007 

3 
 

ITEM #2 – con’t. 
 
MOVED, to grant Wild Bill & Associates, 1250-1270 Rankin, relief of Chapter 85 to erect 
a ground sign setback 2’ from the existing street right of way, where Table 85.02.05 
requires a minimum setback of 10’ from the existing street right of way. 
 

• Variance would not have an adverse effect to surrounding property. 
• Heavy landscaping has created a hardship. 
• Mature trees would have to be removed for the sign to be seen if installed in 

compliance with the Ordinance. 
 
Yeas:  All – 5 
 
MOTION TO GRANT VARIANCE CARRIED 
 
ITEM #3 
 
Motion by Kessler 
Supported by Zuazo 
 
MOVED, to grant Wild Bill & Associates, 1220-1242 Rankin, relief of Chapter 85 to erect 
a ground sign setback 2’ from the existing street right of way, where Table 85.02.05 
requires a minimum setback of 10’ from the existing street right of way. 
 

• Variance would not have an adverse effect to surrounding property. 
• Heavy landscaping has created a hardship. 
• Mature trees would have to be removed for the sign to be seen if installed in 

compliance with the Ordinance. 
 
Yeas:  All – 5 
 
MOTION TO GRANT VARIANCE CARRIED 
 
ITEM #4 – VARIANCE REQUESTED.  BENNY SPIELMAN, 1080 COOLIDGE, 
formerly 2963 Industrial Row, for relief of Chapter 85 to erect nine (9) wall signs 
totaling 93 square feet in area. 
 
Mr. Stimac explained that the petitioner is requesting relief of the Ordinance to erect 
nine (9) wall signs totaling 93 square feet in area.  Chapter 85.02.05 (C) (5) (c) allows a 
maximum of one wall sign, a maximum 100 square feet in area, for each building.  This 
property is located on the corner of Industrial Row and Coolidge.  There will be two 
large wall signs and the remainder of the signs will be on the awnings that are on the 
building. 
 
 
 



BUILDING CODE BOARD OF APPEALS – FINAL                         SEPTEMBER 5, 2007 

4 
 

ITEM #4 – con’t. 
 
Mr. Spielman was present and stated that he has been approved to install one sign on 
the Coolidge side of the building, but in order to identify the building more easily, he 
would like another sign on the Industrial Row side of the building.  Mr. Spielman went on  
to say that most of the buildings located on corners have signs on both sides of the 
building.  The proposed wall sign is to be very thin and made from stainless steel and 
will fit in with the architecture of the building.  Mr. Spielman also said that he will not put 
up a ground sign.  The total square footage of all of the proposed signs will be under the 
allowable 100 square feet of signage.  The Building has awnings above the windows 
and the letters on the awnings will provide a description of what products are available.  
Each sign on the awning will be 3 square feet or less. 
 
Mr. Dziurman asked if the major sign on the west side of the building was allowed. 
 
Mr. Stimac stated that the petitioner had chosen to take out one (1) permit for the 
allowed sign.  This variance is for an additional wall sign and seven (7) signs put on the 
awnings. 
 
The Chairman opened the Public Hearing.  No one wished to be heard and the Public 
Hearing was closed. 
 
There are no written approvals or objections on file. 
 
Mr. Kessler stated that in order for the Board to grant a variance, a hardship is required.  
He understands that this is a corner lot, but did not see a practical difficulty.  Mr. Kessler 
went on to say that the examples that Mr. Spielman brought in did not necessarily apply 
to this request as the buildings are under a different Zoning Classification.  Mr. Kessler 
questioned Mr. Spielman about the possibility of a ground sign. 
 
Mr. Spielman stated that it would be very challenging to put in a ground sign, and all of 
the information required would be available on the awnings. 
 
Mr. Dziurman asked if Mr. Spielman would be willing to indicate that he would not install 
a ground sign if this variance was granted. 
 
Mr. Spielman said that he would. 
 
Mr. Stimac stated that the Board could place reasonable conditions on the approval of a 
variance. 
 
Mr. Kessler asked Mr. Spielman if he planned to put any signs up in the windows.   
 
Mr. Spielman stated that he would not.  Any display would be 5’-4” from the window. 
 
 



BUILDING CODE BOARD OF APPEALS – FINAL                         SEPTEMBER 5, 2007 

5 
 

ITEM #4 – con’t. 
 
Motion by Kessler 
Supported by Roberts 
 
MOVED, to grant Benny Spielman, 1080 Coolidge, formerly 2963 Industrial Row, relief 
of Chapter 85 to erect nine (9) wall signs totaling 93 square feet in area, where Chapter 
85.02.05  (C) (5) (c) allows a maximum of one wall sign, a maximum 100 square feet in 
area, for each building. 
 

• A ground sign will not be permitted on this site. 
• Petitioner will forgo his right to have window signs. 

 
Yeas:  All – 5 
 
MOTION TO GRANT VARIANCE CARRIED 
 
ITEM #5 – VARIANCE REQUESTED.  STEVE VANDERSLOOT, 755 W. BIG 
BEAVER, for relief of Chapter 85 to install three (3) 100 square foot Special Event 
Signs for breast cancer awareness month at the National City Bank Building for a 31 
day period. 
 
Mr. Stimac explained that the petitioner is requesting relief of Chapter 85 to install three 
(3) 100 square foot Special Event Signs for breast cancer awareness month at the 
National City Bank Building for the entire month of October.  Section 85.03.01 of the 
Troy Sign Ordinance limits the time for the display of Special Event Signs to not more 
than seven (7) days. 
  
Mr. Vandersloot was present and stated that they wish to hang banners during the 
month of October, which has been designated as “National Breast Cancer Awareness” 
month. This is a nationwide project.  The background of the banners will be the same 
color as the building so that only the ribbon will be visible and will be softly lit by LED 
lighting.  The only contrast will be the pink ribbon on the sign.  Mr. Vandersloot stated 
that the owners of the building live two blocks to the west of the Top of Troy and think 
this is a very good idea.   
 
Mr. Stimac pointed out that although the petitioner had requested this variance be 
approved for the same time, annually, until the year 2010, the Board did not have the 
power to grant a variance for this period of time and the request would have to be re-
visited yearly.  Mr. Stimac asked for a clarification in the lighting process. 
 
Mr. Vandersloot stated that they would be externally illuminated.  The lighting will be 
about 8’ – 10’ in front of the panel and will be kept below the existing parapet.  The 
lighting will be very soft.  In other states the entire buildings are lit up, but they felt this 
would be more acceptable for this area. 
 



BUILDING CODE BOARD OF APPEALS – FINAL                         SEPTEMBER 5, 2007 

6 
 

ITEM #5 – con’t. 
 
Mr. Stimac explained that other signage on the building is internally illuminated.  Over 
all, the size of the banner is 9’ x 22’.  The size of the actual ribbon was used in 
determining the size of the sign. 
 
The Chairman opened the Public Hearing. 
 
Mr. Randy Cunningham was present to represent the owners of the building and stated 
that they have no objections to this request.  This is an event that they have done 
nationally. 
 
No one else wished to be heard and the Public Hearing was closed. 
 
There are no written approvals or objections on file. 
 
Motion by Kessler 
Supported by Roberts 
 
MOVED, to grant Steve Vandersloot, 755 W. Big Beaver, relief of Chapter 85 to install 
three (3) 100 square foot Special Event Signs for breast cancer awareness month at the 
National City Bank Building for the entire month of October. 
 

• Variance is not contrary to Public Interest. 
• Variance is for 2007 only. 
• Variance would not have an adverse effect to surrounding property. 

 
Yeas:  All – 5 
 
MOTION TO GRANT VARIANCE CARRIED 
 
The Building Code Board of Appeals meeting adjourned at 9:10 A.M. 
 
 
 
              
      Ted Dziurman, Chairman 
 
 
 
              
      Pamela Pasternak, Recording Secretary 



PLANNING COMMISSION REGULAR MEETING – FINAL SEPTEMBER 11, 2007 
  
 
 

 - 1 - 
 

The Regular Meeting of the Troy City Planning Commission was called to order by Chair 
Schultz at 7:32 p.m. on September 11, 2007, in the Council Chambers of the Troy City 
Hall. 
 
1. ROLL CALL 

 
Present: 
Michael W. Hutson 
Mary Kerwin 
Lawrence Littman 
Robert Schultz 
Thomas Strat 
John J. Tagle 
Kathleen Troshynski 
Mark J. Vleck 
Wayne Wright 
 
Also Present: 
Mark F. Miller, Planning Director 
R. Brent Savidant, Principal Planner 
Susan Lancaster, Assistant City Attorney 
Richard K. Carlisle, Carlisle/Wortman Associates, Inc. 
Kathy Czarnecki, Recording Secretary 
 
 
 

2. APPROVAL OF AGENDA 
 
Mr. Miller announced the petitioner for Agenda item #7 requested to move the item 
forward. 
 
Chair Schultz asked for a show of hands from the audience to determine how many 
were present for Agenda item #5, of which a good majority indicated their presence.   
 
Resolution # PC-2007-09-137 
Moved by:  Kerwin 
Seconded by: Troshynski 
 
RESOLVED, To approve the Agenda as presented. 
 
Yes: All present (9) 
 
MOTION CARRIED 

campbellld
Text Box
J-01f



PLANNING COMMISSION REGULAR MEETING – FINAL SEPTEMBER 11, 2007 
  
 
 

 - 2 - 
 

3. MINUTES 
 
Resolution # PC-2007-09-138 
Moved by:  Kerwin 
Seconded by: Troshynski 
 
RESOLVED, To approve the August 22, 2007 and August 28, 2007 Special /Study 
meetings minutes as presented. 
 
Yes: All present (9) 
 
MOTION CARRIED 
 
 

4. PUBLIC COMMENTS – Items not on the Agenda 
 
There was no one present who wished to speak. 
 
 

PLANNED UNIT DEVELOPMENT 
 

5. PUBLIC HEARING – PLANNED UNIT DEVELOPMENT (P.U.D. 9) – Proposed The 
Pavilions of Troy Planned Unit Development, Northwest Corner of Big Beaver and 
Coolidge, Section 19, Currently Zoned O-S-C (Office-Service-Commercial), O-M 
(Office Mid-rise) and P-1 (Vehicular Parking) Districts 
 
Mr. Miller outlined the procedure that would be followed on the presentation of the 
proposed planned unit development.   
 
The petitioner, Hunter Richardson, representing Diamond Troy JV LLC, was 
present.  Mr. Richardson gave a PowerPoint presentation of the proposed 
development.  He extended his appreciation to City departments and the City’s 
Planning Consultant for their responsiveness in the development process.  The 
presentation covered: 
 
o National and local development teams. 
o Location; custom-designed project for Troy. 
o Evolution of the proposed site. 
o Status of Conceptual Development Plan (CDP) application. 
o Neighborhood meetings. 
o Planned Unit Development (PUD) process; first stage of 3-step process. 
o Vision: authentic place, destination, sustainable (green) environment, livable 

community, connectivity, people’s space, amenities, human scale and needs. 
o Land uses: pavilions area, border area, transition area, residential (to the north). 
o Project phases; Phase 1 must stand alone. 
o Traffic impact, road system, circulation and parking. 
o Development guidelines. 



PLANNING COMMISSION REGULAR MEETING – FINAL SEPTEMBER 11, 2007 
  
 
 

 - 3 - 
 

o Amenities:  ice skating rink, civic gathering spaces, seating areas, gateway 
feature, public art, park for residents, play areas for children, bus shelters, 
pedestrian crossings. 

o Residential buffer to the north, and views along perimeter streets. 
o Open space. 
o Sustainable design. 
o Public benefit. 
o Development timeline/schedule. 
 
Richard Carlisle of Carlisle/Wortman Associates, Inc., was present.  Mr. Carlisle 
detailed the three steps of the Planned Unit Development (PUD) process.  He 
indicated all of the PUD criteria have been met in innovative ways and addressed 
the following concepts as relates to the PUD criteria. 
 
o Horizontal and vertical mix of uses. 
o Variety of civic spaces. 
o Comfortable walkability of the site. 
o Active and passive recreational space. 
o Cross-generational characteristic of residential living. 
o State of the art thinking in terms of viable sustainable mixed uses. 
o Economic sustainability. 
o Open space; greenscape and hardscape to create urban setting. 
o Trend-setting sustainable design techniques. 
o Appropriate use of vacant site. 
o Roadway improvements to ensure safe pedestrian access. 
o Perimeter and residential setbacks.   
o Shared parking and caveat to re-evaluate parking after Phase 1 completion. 
o Traffic studies as relates to site access, signalization and timing. 
o Sanitary sewer and water service capacity. 
 
Rod Arroyo of Birchler Arroyo Associates, Inc., provided a brief presentation on the 
traffic impact assessment.  He addressed updates/revisions to the traffic 
documentation provided in the packets since last reviewed by the Planning 
Commission.  The presentation covered: 
 
o Compact, walkable communities. 
o Grid traffic system; its positives and challenges. 
o Additional traffic lights on Coolidge to alleviate backup on Big Beaver. 
o Support from the Road Commission of Oakland County (RCOC). 
o Re-evaluation of traffic after completion of Phase 1. 
 
In closing, Mr. Carlisle recommended that the Planning Commission recommend 
approval of the PUD Concept Development Plan to City Council.   
 
Chair Schultz opened the floor for Planning Commission comments.  There were 
none.  Chair Schultz stipulated a few ground rules on public comment prior to 
opening up the Public Hearing. 



PLANNING COMMISSION REGULAR MEETING – FINAL SEPTEMBER 11, 2007 
  
 
 

 - 4 - 
 

PUBLIC HEARING OPENED 
 
Aaron Oesyreich of 870 Barilane, Troy, was present.  Mr. Oesyreich spoke 
favorably of the proposed PUD. 
 
Ilene Hill of 2139 Lancer Drive, Troy, was present.  Ms. Hill spoke favorably of the 
proposed PUD and developer.  She addressed the multitude of disruptions their 
neighborhood has experienced from previous major projects in the area.  Ms. Hill 
voiced concerns with construction hours of operation, noise level, asbestos 
removal, dirt and dust, capacity of water and storm water runoff, traffic, parking, 
dumpsters, and locations of the proposed staging areas.   
 
James Forrer of 3592 Eastbourne, Troy, was present.  Mr. Forrer spoke favorably of 
the proposed PUD and complimented the petitioner on his presentation. 
 
Michael Flesher of 2091 Lancer, Troy, was present.  Mr. Flesher voiced a concern 
with the proposed food market as relates to noise and health.  He also addressed 
the affect that the proposed development might have on home values in the 
neighborhood.   
 
Mary Ellen Budabin of 2105 Babcock, Troy, was present.  Ms. Budabin said the 
petitioner has not addressed her concerns.  She stated the house depicted in the 
pictures displayed during the petitioner’s presentation to simulate the residential 
buffer to the north is her home, which is located at the lowest part of the berm and 
within full view of the former K-Mart Headquarters parking lot.  Ms. Budabin said her 
view with the proposed development would be a skyline of buildings, not blue sky; 
and that her life would change.  Ms. Budabin suggested a different layout 
orientation of the proposed townhouses so a view of a common area would be 
provided instead of an alleyway, garage door, utility meters, and upstairs windows.   
 
Tim Dalgleish of 3603 Salem, Troy, was present.  Mr. Dalgleish said he would like 
the berms to be similar to those provided for the residents abutting Somerset North, 
and noted the two berms on each side of Coolidge should be equal distance.  He 
voiced concerns with the proposed multi-screen movie theater as relates to the type 
of crowd it would attract.   
 
John Bailey of 755 W. Big Beaver Road, Troy, was present.  Mr. Bailey, incoming 
Chairperson for the Chamber of Commerce, spoke in favor of the proposed PUD.  
 
Eric McPherson of 23435 Davey, Hazel Park, was present to represent the Sheet 
Metal Workers.  He indicated there are approximately 300 members of the building 
trade who live in Troy.  Mr. McPherson encouraged the members to approve the 
proposed PUD in support of bringing area jobs to area workers.   



PLANNING COMMISSION REGULAR MEETING – FINAL SEPTEMBER 11, 2007 
  
 
 

 - 5 - 
 

Gino J. Delpup of 350 W. Big Beaver Road, Troy, was present.  Mr. Delpup of Ford 
& Earl Associates and former resident of Troy spoke favorably of the proposed 
PUD.  He said it would be a positive destination point for people.   
 
Linda Shears of 1538 Wrenwood Drive, Troy, was present.  Ms. Shears, a resident 
and Troy business owner, spoke on behalf of the Image and Arts Council of Troy.  
She said local artists and sculptors would heartily welcome the proposed PUD.   
 
Thomas Gross of 350 W. Big Beaver Road, Troy, was present.  Mr. Gross, CEO of 
Ford & Earl Associates, spoke in support of the proposed PUD.   
 
Michelle Hodges, President of Troy Chamber of Commerce, was present.  Ms. 
Hodges voiced strong support for the proposed PUD. 
 
David Schreiber, representative of the Oakland County Economic Development 
Group, was present.  Mr. Schreiber spoke favorably of the project.   
 
Ted Wilson of 5038 Kellen Lane, Bloomfield Hills, was present.  Mr. Wilson, a 
member of the Troy Chamber of Commerce Board of Directors, spoke in support of 
the proposed PUD.  He addressed the high bar set by the petitioner for future 
developments, the vertical and horizontal mix of uses, and the positive economic 
expectations. 
 
David Tonker of 2118 Shelley, Troy, was present.  Mr. Tonker spoke favorably of 
the proposed PUD. 
 
PUBLIC HEARING CLOSED 
 
Mr. Vleck said he is impressed and amazed at the amount of support expressed 
tonight.  He complimented the petitioner and the development team. 
 
Mr. Strat complimented the petitioner.  He questioned what construction was 
inclusive of Phase 1, as envisioned on the project model.  Mr. Strat asked if 
anything has been accomplished to incorporate a pedestrian walkway across Big 
Beaver.  
 
Mr. Richardson said a pedestrian bridge has not been designed because they do 
not control enough of the environment to accomplish such, but he indicated they 
have not done anything from a planning perspective to preclude construction of one.  
Mr. Richardson addressed the three pedestrian crossings that would be designed 
with the intent to create refuge zones.  
 
Mr. Miller addressed lane reconfiguration that would increase pedestrian safety 
zones.   
 
Mr. Strat asked if a secondary lane with pedestrian refuge and boulevard area as 
portrayed in the Big Beaver Corridor Study would be incorporated in the project. 



PLANNING COMMISSION REGULAR MEETING – FINAL SEPTEMBER 11, 2007 
  
 
 

 - 6 - 
 

Mr. Richardson replied that concept was researched and it was determined that it 
did not add or contribute to what they were doing relative to the environment.  
 
Ms. Troshynski complimented the petitioner for the effort he put forth to satisfy the 
people of Troy.  She asked the petitioner to address cost factors that would result 
from proposed improvements.   
 
Mr. Richardson said the matter of costs resulting from road improvements and 
sanitary, sewer and water improvements is under discussion with City Management, 
and indicated City Management has made a commitment toward resolution of those 
costs.   
 
Ms. Troshynski stressed the importance of a pedestrian bridge from Somerset to 
The Pavilions.  
 
Mr. Richardson said he strongly encourages a pedestrian bridge also and 
addressed the public-private partnership that would be necessary to attain a 
pedestrian bridge.   
 
Mr. Littman asked if the Assessing Department researched the effect of the 
proposed development on neighboring home values.   
 
Mr. Richardson said it is his experience that projects such as this provide a positive 
upturn to home values within the neighborhood.  
 
Mr. Miller said he would ask the City Assessor to provide a report on the outcome of 
home values in correlation to this type of development.   
 
Ms. Kerwin expressed her excitement to see the proposed development come to 
fruition. 
 
Chair Schultz addressed the critical need for redevelopment in the City, and said 
the development would set the tone for future developments within the City.  He 
said the development would truly keep Troy the City of Tomorrow Today. 
 
Resolution # PC-2007-09-139 
Moved by: Kerwin 
Seconded by: Troshynski 
 
WHEREAS, The Planning Commission reviewed a Concept Development Plan for a 
Planned Unit Development, pursuant to Article 35.50.01, as requested by Diamond 
Troy JV LLC for The Pavilions of Troy Planned Unit Development (PUD 9), located 
on the northwest corner of Big Beaver and Coolidge, located in Section 19, within the 
O-S-C, O-M and P-1 zoning districts, being approximately 40 acres in size; and 
 
WHEREAS, The City’s Planning Consultant Richard Carlisle of Carlisle/Wortman 
Associates, Inc. prepared a memorandum dated September 7, 2007 that 



PLANNING COMMISSION REGULAR MEETING – FINAL SEPTEMBER 11, 2007 
  
 
 

 - 7 - 
 

recommends Concept Development Plan Approval of The Pavilions of Troy Planned 
Unit Development; and 
 
WHEREAS, The proposed PUD meets the Eligibility Requirements set forth in 
Article 35.30.00; and   
 
THEREFORE BE IT RESOLVED, That the Planning Commission recommends that 
Concept Development Plan Approval for The Pavilions of Troy Preliminary Planned 
Unit Development be granted. 
 
Yes: All present (9) 
 
MOTION CARRIED 
 

___________ 
 
Chair Schultz requested a recess at 9:10 p.m. 
 
The meeting reconvened at 9:23 p.m. 

___________ 
 
 

SPECIAL USE REQUEST 
 

6. PUBLIC HEARING – SPECIAL USE REQUEST (SU 353) – Proposed Bounce “U”, 
Indoor Commercial Recreation Facility, West Side of Rochester Road, North of 
Gable (1101 Rochester Road), Section 34 – Zoned M-1 (Light Industrial) District 
 
Mr. Miller presented a summary of the Planning Department report on the proposed 
special use request, and reported it is the recommendation of City Management to 
approve the application as submitted.   
 
The petitioner, Ken Olivier of 4341 Walnut Woods, West Bloomfield, was present.  
Mr. Olivier said he is excited to be a part of Troy.  He indicated that background 
information on the proposed children entertainment business was submitted.  
 
PUBLIC HEARING OPENED 
 
No one was present to speak. 
 
PUBLIC HEARING CLOSED 
 
Ms. Troshynski asked the petitioner to address the need of additional parking for 
special events and shared parking.  
 
Mr. Olivier said discussion with the franchisor and franchise owners revealed that 
the need for more than 35 parking spaces is rare, and that Saturdays might be the 



PLANNING COMMISSION REGULAR MEETING – FINAL SEPTEMBER 11, 2007 
  
 
 

 - 8 - 
 

only day that 30+ parking spaces would be needed.  Mr. Olivier said shared parking 
is available.   
 
Mr. Tagle asked the petitioner to address the business operation, hours of operation 
and building occupancy.   
 
Mr. Olivier said the facility would be rented for pre-scheduled special events, such 
as birthday parties.  Giant inflatable play structures are set up in two separate 
stadiums.  A short video on safety is provided to the children and parents before 
entering the play area, after which the group is ushered to a separate party room for 
refreshments.  Mr. Olivier said two employees accompany the group at all times.  
Mr. Olivier said the hours of operation vary according to customer demand, 
generally 9 am to 8 pm.  He said food and refreshments are provided from an 
outside source on a pre-order basis, and emphasized that no food is prepared on 
site.  
 
The owner, Bruce Levine of 43902 Woodward Avenue, Bloomfield Hills, indicated 
the current tenants of the building are a marketing company and an Indian grocer.  
He noted the proposed use is similar to its competitor, Pump It Up. 
 
Mr. Littman asked if the petitioner would rent to high school students, and what kind 
of control he would have on alcohol brought on the premises.   
 
Mr. Olivier said customers are not permitted to bring any food or drink onto the 
premises.  He noted occasional exceptions would be made for children’s birthday 
cakes.  Mr. Olivier indicated he would rent the facility to high school students and 
place no time restrictions as long as he had employees willing to work the 
requested hours. 
 
Mr. Strat said it is great to get multi uses coming into the City’s light industrial area.   
 
Chair Schultz asked the Assistant City Attorney if the ordinance stipulates any 
restriction on hours of operation in the M-1 district.   
 
Ms. Lancaster confirmed there are no restrictions on hours of operation in the M-1 
district.   
 
Resolution # PC-2007-09-140 
Moved by: Kerwin 
Seconded by: Strat 
 
RESOLVED, That the Planning Commission hereby approves a reduction in the 
total number of required parking spaces to thirty-five (35) when a total of two 
hundred four (204) spaces are required on the site based on the off-street parking 
space requirements for indoor commercial recreation uses, as per Article XL.  This 
reduction meets the standards of Article 40.20.12. 



PLANNING COMMISSION REGULAR MEETING – FINAL SEPTEMBER 11, 2007 
  
 
 

 - 9 - 
 

BE IT FINALLY RESOLVED, That Special Use Approval and Preliminary Site Plan 
Approval, pursuant to Section 28.30.09 of the Zoning Ordinance, as requested for 
the Proposed Bounce “U”, Indoor Commercial Recreation Facility, located on the 
west side of Rochester Road, north of Gable, in Section 34, within the M-1 zoning 
district, is hereby granted. 
 
Yes: All present (9) 
 
MOTION CARRIED 
 
 

REZONING REQUEST 
 

7. PUBLIC HEARING – REZONING REQUEST (Z 728) – Proposed Retail 
Development, South Side of Big Beaver, West of Rochester Road, Section 27 – 
From O-1 (Low Rise Office) to B-2 (Community Business) 
 
Mr. Miller presented a summary of the Planning Department report on the proposed 
rezoning request, and reported it is the recommendation of City Management to 
approve the rezoning application. 
 
The petitioner, Dan MacLeish of 650 E. Big Beaver Road, Troy, was present.  Mr. 
MacLeish said his intent is to seek alternate uses to comply with the spirit of the Big 
Beaver Corridor Study.   
 
PUBLIC HEARING OPENED 
 
Laith Hermiz of 1695 Apple Drive, Troy, was present.  Mr. Hermiz, Vice President of 
Development for Ramco-Gershenson Properties Trust, owner of the Troy 
Marketplace Retail Center, expressed full support of the rezoning request.   
 
PUBLIC HEARING CLOSED 
 
Resolution # PC-2007-09-141 
Moved by: Vleck 
Seconded by: Strat 
 
RESOLVED, That the Planning Commission hereby recommends to the City 
Council that the O-1 to B-2 rezoning request, located on the south side of Big 
Beaver, west of Rochester Road, within Section 27, being approximately 0.63 acres 
in size, be granted. 
 
Discussion on the motion on the floor. 
 
Chair Schultz said he would hope that the site plan would have no parking 
designations between the building and Big Beaver Road.  



PLANNING COMMISSION REGULAR MEETING – FINAL SEPTEMBER 11, 2007 
  
 
 

 - 10 - 
 

Mr. MacLeish replied that is the intent.  
 
Vote on the motion on the floor. 
 
Yes: All present (9) 
 
MOTION CARRIED 
 
 

SITE PLAN REVIEW 
 

8. SITE PLAN REVIEW (SP 942) – Proposed Seco Tool Technical Office / Research 
Building, West Side of Bellingham, South of Big Beaver Road, Section 26, Zoned R-C 
(Research Center) District 
 
Mr. Savidant brought to the attention of the members that the application was 
considered further after the distribution of agenda packets.  Mr. Savidant reviewed 
the revisions that were made to the required number of parking spaces and 
landbanked spaces relative to the proposed “tech auditorium”.  Mr. Savidant 
indicated the petitioner provided a letter of explanation on how the auditorium would 
be utilized, a copy of which was distributed to the members prior to tonight’s 
meeting.  Mr. Savidant also addressed the construction of a cross access easement 
to the north.  He confirmed that the easement could continue to be used as parking 
until it is needed.   
 
James Butler of Professional Engineering Associates, 2430 Rochester Court, Troy, 
was present to represent the petitioner.  Mr. Butler said they are agreeable to the 
cross access easement.  He displayed a building elevation of the proposed site.   
 
Mr. Littman said he would feel more comfortable if the maximum parking spaces 
were provided, inclusive of landbanked spaces, in case the building changes hands 
and the auditorium is used in a different capacity.  Mr. Littman said he would 
support the reduction of 21 parking spaces that would allow for 72 landbanked 
spaces.   
 
Mr. Butler indicated they would comply with the wishes of the Commission.   
 
Mr. Strat said he would support the reduction of parking spaces to 21. 
 
Chair Schultz opened the floor for public comment. 
 
There was no one present who wished to speak. 
 
The floor was closed. 



PLANNING COMMISSION REGULAR MEETING – FINAL SEPTEMBER 11, 2007 
  
 
 

 - 11 - 
 

Resolution # PC-2007-09-142 
Moved by: Kerwin 
Seconded by: Vleck 
 
RESOLVED, That the Planning Commission hereby approves a reduction in the total 
number of required parking spaces to two hundred seventy (270) when a total of two 
hundred ninety one (291) spaces are required on the site based on the off-street 
parking space requirements for office, warehouse and lecture facilities, as per Article 
XL.  Of these two hundred seventy (270) spaces, one hundred ninety eight (198) shall 
be constructed and seventy-two (72) shall be landbanked.  This reduction meets the 
standards of Article 40.20.12. 
 
BE IT FINALLY RESOLVED, That the proposed Seco Tool Technical Office / 
Research Building, located on the west side of Bellingham, south of Big Beaver 
Road, located in Section 26, on approximately 8.469 acres in area, within the R-C 
zoning district, be granted. 
 
Yes: All present (9) 
 
MOTION CARRIED 

 
 

ZONING ORDINANCE TEXT AMENDMENT 
 

9. PUBLIC HEARING – ZONING ORDINANCE TEXT AMENDMENT (ZOTA 215-B) – 
Article 04.20.00 and Article 40.66.00, Commercial Vehicle Definitions and Outdoor 
Parking of Commercial Vehicles in Residential Districts 
 
Mr. Savidant provided a history of the proposed zoning ordinance text amendment 
relating to commercial vehicles in residential districts and briefly reviewed the 
proposed revisions.   
 
PUBLIC HEARING OPENED 
 
Tom Krent of 3184 Alpine, Troy, was present.  Mr. Krent presented a PowerPoint 
presentation and brought to the attention of members that there are a number of 
loopholes to the proposed ordinance text relating to commercial vehicles. 
 
Mr. Krent briefly addressed the proposed zoning ordinance text amendment relating 
to cell towers in City parks and on school property [ZOTA 230] that went before City 
Council on September 10, 2007, as relates to aesthetics, location and height 
specifications.  Mr. Krent distributed pictures of various cell towers. 
 
Chair Schultz invited Mr. Krent to the many study sessions held to discuss proposed 
zoning ordinance text amendments.   



PLANNING COMMISSION REGULAR MEETING – FINAL SEPTEMBER 11, 2007 
  
 
 

 - 12 - 
 

Mr. Vleck stated that he does not appreciate a discussion on a topic that is not an 
agenda item.  Mr. Vleck addressed remarks made in Mr. Krent’s presentation on 
commercial vehicles, and said his assessment of the proposed language is not 
correct.  Mr. Vleck said any commercial vehicle that is being used for commercial 
business is required by law to display on its vehicle a company name and phone 
number and would not be allowed to park outside in a residential district.   
 
Lucille Arking of 4705 Stoddard, Troy, was present.  Ms. Arking spoke in support of 
a very strict zoning ordinance relating to commercial and recreational vehicles.  She 
distributed six photographs that show recreational vehicles parked within 100 feet of 
her home, and gave a brief description of each.  Ms. Arking stated that the 
situations have been reported to the City at least three times, and she was informed 
that the vehicles were legally parked. 
 
PUBLIC HEARING CLOSED 
 
Discussion followed.   
 
Resolution # PC-2007-09-143 [Motion withdrawn] 
Moved by: Littman 
Seconded by: Wright 
 
RESOLVED, To postpone this item to a future meeting with no date specified.   
 
Discussion on the motion on the floor. 
 
Ms. Lancaster said the motion should specify a date certain to bring back the matter 
before the Commission. 
 
Discussion followed on the timeframe given to review the matter further, the material 
to provide at a future meeting, and comparisons of proposed text/comments provided 
by Mr. Krent.  
 
Ms. Lancaster said she would discuss the matter with a patrol officer who specializes 
with commercial vehicles and ask for clarification of State law.   
 
Mr. Littman said he would like to withdraw his motion on the floor.  Mr. Wright 
assented.   
 
Resolution # PC-2007-09-144 
Moved by: Littman 
Seconded by: Wright 
 
RESOLVED, To postpone this item to the Regular meeting of March 2008, or to a 
time when the Planning Director feels it is appropriate to bring it before a study 
session. 



PLANNING COMMISSION REGULAR MEETING – FINAL SEPTEMBER 11, 2007 
  
 
 

 - 13 - 
 

Discussion on the motion on the floor. 
 
Mr. Strat said there is no reason that any revisions with respect to the issues 
brought forth tonight should take a long time and require a lengthy discussion.  He 
asked that Mr. Krent be present at future meetings when the item is on the agenda.   
 
Ms. Kerwin agreed.  She would like to see the item come back before the 
Commission as soon as possible.  Ms. Kerwin indicated that the members should 
be assured that the situations brought forth tonight are resolved when the zoning 
ordinance text amendment goes forward.  
 
Vote on the motion on the floor. 
 
Yes: All present (9) 
 
MOTION CARRIED 
 
 

SITE CONDOMINIUM SITE PLAN 
 

10. SITE CONDOMINIUM SITE PLAN REVIEW – Adams Road Site Condominium 
(Renewal), 5 units/lots proposed, East Side of Adams, South of South Boulevard, 
Section 6, Zoned R-1A (One Family Residential) Districts 
 
Mr. Littman, who lives in the area of the proposed development, asked to be 
excused from voting on this item.  He said he feels he cannot make an unbiased 
decision on the matter, but he has no direct financial interest in the proposed 
development.   
 
Ms. Lancaster advised the members that a vote to excuse Mr. Littman would be in 
order because there is no financial interest involved on his part.   
 
Resolution # PC-2007-09-145 
Moved by: Strat 
Seconded by: Tagle 
 
RESOLVED, To excuse Member Littman from voting on this item, based on the 
inability to make an impartial decision. 
 
Yes: Littman, Strat, Tagle, Vleck, Wright 
No: Hutson, Kerwin, Schultz, Troshynski 
 
MOTION CARRIED 
 
[Mr. Littman exited the Chambers.] 



PLANNING COMMISSION REGULAR MEETING – FINAL SEPTEMBER 11, 2007 
  
 
 

 - 14 - 
 

Mr. Savidant presented a summary of the Planning Department report on the 
proposed site condominium development, and reported it is the recommendation of 
City Management to approve the application, as submitted.  Mr. Savidant noted the 
site plan indicates that underground storm water detention would be utilized, and 
that the City does not accept ownership and responsibility for the maintenance of 
underground detention facilities. 
 
The petitioner, David Donnellon of Design Resources, 3445 Citation Drive, 
Clarkston, was present.  Mr. Donnellon confirmed that the site plan drawings before 
the Commission are the same plans as previously submitted.   
 
There was discussion on the site plan submission as relates to the appropriate 
signature and date on the plans and the requirement of sealed plans.   
 
There was discussion on the underground detention facilities.  
o Background/history of site condominium developments who own/maintain their 

detention facilities. 
o Potential problems for site condominium association.  
o Financial responsibility/potential cost to site condominium association. 
 
Discussion continued on potential water problems.  The members addressed 
communications received from two residents voicing concerns with the impact that 
the development might have in the area.   
 
Ms. Kerwin noted that a cluster development as proposed would preserve many of 
the trees.   
 
Mr. Donnellon stated that the improvements would be in the uplands, not the 
wetlands; and assured the members that he has no plans to do anything in the 
wetlands.   
 
Chair Schultz opened the floor for public comment. 
 
There was no one present who wished to speak. 
 
The floor was closed. 
 
Resolution # PC-2007-09-146 
Moved by: Vleck 
Seconded by: Strat 
 
RESOLVED, That the Planning Commission recommends to City Council, that the 
Preliminary Site Plan (Section 34.70.00 One-Family Cluster Option), as requested for 
Adams Road Site Condominium, including 5 units, located on the east side of Adams, 
south of South Boulevard, Section 6, within the R-1A zoning district be granted, 
subject to the following condition: 



PLANNING COMMISSION REGULAR MEETING – FINAL SEPTEMBER 11, 2007 
  
 
 

 - 15 - 
 

1. All plans be re-dated, sealed and signed. 
 
Yes: Hutson, Kerwin, Schultz, Strat, Tagle, Troshynski, Vleck, Wright 
Abstain: Littman 
 
MOTION CARRIED 
 
[Mr. Littman returned to the meeting.] 
 
 

OTHER ITEMS 
 

11. PUBLIC COMMENTS – Items on Current Agenda 
 
Tom Krent of 3184 Alpine, Troy, apologized for speaking at an inappropriate time on 
an item not on the Agenda.  He briefly addressed his intent in bringing ZOTA 215-B 
ambiguities to the attention of the Planning Commission.   
 
 

12. PLANNING COMMISSION COMMENTS 
 
Mr. Littman addressed an indirect financial interest in Agenda item #10.   
 
Ms. Kerwin addressed the City’s interesting developments and redevelopments and 
different architectural approaches. 
 
Ms. Troshynski encouraged the Commission’s participation in Troy Daze. 
 
Mr. Miller addressed the upcoming Michigan Association of Planning (MAP) annual 
conference, at which the Big Beaver Corridor Study will be honored with the best 
plan award.   
 
Chair Schultz said The Pavilions is a major step forward.  Chair Schultz thanked the 
petitioner for his hard work and cooperation.  He shared positive comments he 
heard from the Richardson organization for the cooperation received from staff, City 
Management and the Planning Consultant.  Chair Schultz thanked the Planning 
Commission for the hard work they put forth to move the project forward.   



PLANNING COMMISSION REGULAR MEETING – FINAL SEPTEMBER 11, 2007 
  
 
 

 - 16 - 
 

The Regular Meeting of the Planning Commission was adjourned at 10:55 p.m. 
 
 
Respectfully submitted, 
 
 
 
 
       
Robert M. Schultz, Chair 
 
 
 
 
       
Kathy L. Czarnecki, Recording Secretary 
 
G:\Planning Commission Minutes\2007 PC Minutes\Final\09-11-07 Regular Meeting_Final.doc 
 
 



ELECTION COMMISSION MINUTES –Final September 12, 2007 
 

 

A meeting of the Troy Election Commission was held Wednesday, September 12, 
2007, at City Hall, 500 W. Big Beaver Road. City Clerk Bartholomew called the Meeting 
to order at 8:05 AM. 

ROLL CALL:  

PRESENT:  David Anderson, Timothy Dewan, City Clerk Tonni Bartholomew 
ABSENT:  None 

Minutes: Regular Meeting of April 2, 2007  

 
Resolution #EC-2007-09-006 
Moved by Anderson 
Seconded by Dewan 
 
RESOLVED, That the Minutes of Monday, April 2, 2007, are APPROVED as submitted. 
 
Yes:  Anderson, Dewan, Bartholomew 
No:  None 

Approval of Consolidation of All Applicable Precincts in the City of Troy for All 

Elections Which do not Contain Statewide Ballot Questions 

 
Resolution #EC-2007-09-007 
Moved by Dewan 
Seconded by Anderson 

 
RESOLVED, That the Election Commission of the City of Troy hereby AUTHORIZES that 
applicable precincts servicing qualified electors in the City of Troy be CONSOLIDATED 
for the all elections which do not contain statewide ballot questions as deemed necessary 
and in accordance with MCL 168.659. 
 
Yes:  Anderson, Dewan, Bartholomew 
No:  None 

Adjournment:  

 
The meeting was adjourned at 8:09 AM. 
 
 

Tonni L. Bartholomew, MMC 
City Clerk 

 

campbellld
Text Box
J-01g



BOARD OF ZONING APPEALS – DRAFT                                   SEPTEMBER 18, 2007 

1 
 

The Chairman, Mark Maxwell, called the meeting of the Board of Zoning Appeals to 
order at 7:30 P.M., on Tuesday September 18, 2007 in Council Chambers of the Troy 
City Hall. 
 
PRESENT:   Michael W. Bartnik 
    Glenn Clark 
    Kenneth Courtney 
    Marcia Gies 
    Matthew Kovacs 
    Mark Maxwell 
    Wayne Wright 
 
ALSO PRESENT:  Mark Stimac, Director of Building & Zoning 
    Christopher Forsyth, Assistant City Attorney 
    Pamela Pasternak, Recording Secretary 
 
ITEM #1 – APPROVAL OF MINUTES – MEETING OF AUGUST 21, 2007. 
 
MOVED, to amend Page 3 of the minutes to read: …”one and one-half million to two 
million dollars”… 
 
Motion by Wright 
Supported by Gies 
 
Yeas:  All – 7  
 
MOVED, to approve the minutes of the meeting of August 21, 2007 as amended. 
 
ITEM #2 – VARIANCE REQUESTED.  MR. & MRS. DERECK ROBINSON, 4472 
LANCASHIRE, for relief of the Ordinance to construct a patio enclosure on the rear of 
their home that has a proposed 21’ rear yard setback where Section 30.10.04 of the 
Ordinance requires a 40’ minimum rear yard setback in R-1C Zoning Districts. 
 
Mr. Stimac explained that the petitioner is requesting relief of the Ordinance to construct 
a patio enclosure on the rear of their home.  The site plan submitted indicates the 
addition on the rear of the home will result in a 21’ rear yard setback.  Section 30.10.04 
of the Ordinance requires a 40’ minimum rear yard setback in R-1C Zoning Districts. 
 
This item first appeared before this Board at the meeting of August 21, 2007 and was 
postponed to allow the petitioner to explore the possibility of changing the location of the 
sunroom in order to ask for a lesser variance. 
 
Mr. Rob McMahon was present and gave each member two (2) alternate plans for this 
addition.  The first plan indicated that the room would be 31’ x 13’, but moved to a 
different location of the house.  With this rendition they would change the existing bay 
window to a doorway. 

campbellld
Text Box
J-01h



BOARD OF ZONING APPEALS – DRAFT                                   SEPTEMBER 18, 2007 

2 
 

ITEM #2 – con’t. 
 
The second plan submitted by Mr. McMahon indicated a smaller room approximately 
16’ from the corner of the house.  The smaller room would only enclose the deck and 
would be darker than the larger room. 
 
Mr. Maxwell asked which plan the homeowner wished to have. 
 
Mr. McMahon stated that they would much rather have the larger room as it would 
enclose the pool and allow them to use it twelve months out of the year. 
 
Mr. Maxwell then asked how large a variance was required. 
 
Mr. McMahon said that he believes the room would be 26’ from the northwest corner of 
the lot, and therefore would require a 14’ variance. 
 
Mr. Stimac stated that he is concerned that since the setbacks are measured 
perpendicular to the lot lines, from the drawings submitted it is difficult to get an exact 
setback number.   
 
Mr. McMahon said that he had the person from their company measure the distances to 
verify the setbacks. 
 
Mr. Courtney asked what would be wrong with moving the room behind the garage so 
that it would meet the angle of this building. 
 
Mr. McMahon stated that the problem is that there is an access door coming from the 
kitchen to the garage and it would be covered. 
 
Mr. Kovacs asked for clarification regarding where the door goes. 
 
Mr. McMahon stated that it goes to the garage and also believes it would be very 
difficult to level off the foundation at this point. 
 
Mr. Courtney asked why the room couldn’t be moved closer to the door. 
 
Mr. McMahon stated that 31’ is the smallest they can go.  The second drawing 
submitted indicates that the smaller room would start right where the bay window is. 
 
The Chairman opened the Public Hearing.  No one wished to be heard and the Public 
Hearing was closed. 
 
There are three (3) written approvals on file.  There are no written objections on file. 
 
Mr. Maxwell stated that this is an irregular shaped lot and believes this condition creates 
a hardship. 



BOARD OF ZONING APPEALS – DRAFT                                   SEPTEMBER 18, 2007 

3 
 

ITEM #2 – con’t. 
 
Mr. Bartnik asked if there was any estimate of the distance from the eastern corner 
building on the alternative plan submitted to the lot line. 
 
Mr. McMahon stated that the plan is drawn to scale and assumes it is about 40’ or 45’. 
 
Mr. Bartnik asked what was located just north of this property. 
 
Mr. McMahon stated that the neighbors to the east, west and north have indicated that 
they approve of this request.  The lot to the north is a protected wetland and nothing 
would be built in this area. 
 
Mr. Bartnik asked if the Board could grant a variance based on the new plan submitted 
or if there would have to be another Public Hearing. 
 
Mr. Stimac stated that this request was originally advertised with a 21’ setback, and 
feels that if no one objected to that figure; it would be safe to assume that they would 
not object to a 26’ or 29’ setback.  At this point there is no requirement to re-advertise 
this request. 
 
Mr. Courtney asked what the difference was between the two rooms. 
 
Mr. McMahon stated that basically the smaller room will enclose only the deck, and the 
larger room will enclose the pool area. 
 
Mr. Clark asked a question about the wetlands. 
 
Mr. Stimac stated that he was not aware of wetlands in this area, but stated that there is 
a flood plain north of this site.   
 
Mr. Wright asked for a clarification of the measurements regarding the room sizes and 
angles presented. 
 
Mr. McMahon stated that he was not able to explain the difference in the angles, but 
thought that the measurements would be accurate to within a foot. 
 
Mr. Stimac said that it appears that the 31’ wide room measured perpendicularly is 26’ 
to the lot line.  The Board has the power to establish a dimension to the rear lot line. 
 
Mr. Kovacs asked if the Board could also determine the maximum width of the building. 
 
Mr. Stimac stated that it certainly would be definable and enforceable for the Board to 
establish the maximum size of the building and its location along the rear of the home. 
 
 



BOARD OF ZONING APPEALS – DRAFT                                   SEPTEMBER 18, 2007 

4 
 

ITEM #2 – con’t. 
 
Mr. Courtney stated that he would feel better if he had a definite drawing of exactly what 
the petitioner is requesting. 
 
Motion by Courtney 
Supported by Wright 
 
MOVED, to postpone the request of Mr. & Mrs. Dereck Robinson, 4472 Lancashire, for 
relief of the Ordinance to construct a patio enclosure on the rear of their home that has 
a proposed 21’ rear yard setback where Section 301.10.04 of the Ordinance requires a 
40’ minimum rear yard setback in R-1C Zoning Districts until the meeting of October 16, 
2007. 
 

• To allow the petitioner to present exact drawings showing setbacks. 
 
Mr. Clark stated that the revised plans should be submitted in advance of the meeting 
so that the Board has the knowledge to act accordingly. 
 
Mr. Kovacs said that in his opinion it was not necessary to postpone this request 
because the Board has the ability to establish the dimensions required. 
 
Mr. McMahon asked which plans the Board wanted him to submit. 
 
Mr. Maxwell stated that he should talk it over with his clients and determine exactly what 
they would like and submit those plans.  The critical number is the distance measured 
perpendicular to the rear lot line.  Mr. Maxwell also stated that Mr. McMahon should 
verify that 29’ is perpendicular to the rear lot line. 
 
Mr. Bartnik suggested that the petitioner provide photos of the garage door, as he 
believes they would be very helpful in determining the location of the room. 
 
Vote on motion to postpone. 
 
Yeas:  5 – Gies, Maxwell, Wright, Clark, Courtney 
Nays:  2 – Kovacs, Bartnik 
 
MOTION TO POSTPONE REQUEST UNTIL THE MEETING OF OCTOBER 16, 2007 
CARRIED 
 
ITEM #3 – VARIANCE REQUESTED.  MR. & MRS. RICHARD CUMMINGS, 2537 FOX 
CHASE, for relief of the Ordinance to construct a covered porch on the front the existing 
home with a proposed 34’ front yard setback where Section 30.10.01 requires a 40’ 
minimum front yard setback in R-1A Zoning Districts. 
 
 



BOARD OF ZONING APPEALS – DRAFT                                   SEPTEMBER 18, 2007 

5 
 

ITEM #3 – con’t. 
 
Mr. Stimac explained that the petitioner is requesting relief of the Ordinance to construct 
a covered porch on the front of the existing home.  The site plan submitted indicates the 
covered front porch will have a 34’ front yard setback.  Section 30.10.01 requires a 40’ 
minimum front yard setback in R-1A Zoning Districts. 
 
Mr. & Mrs. Cummings were present.  Mrs. Cummings stated that they have lived in this 
home for nineteen (19) years and they would like to protect people coming to the front 
door from the weather.  Mrs. Cummings said that the porch would be across the front of 
the house. 
 
Mr. Maxwell stated that this was a safety issue. 
 
Mrs. Cummings said that the front of the house faces north and the sun does not reach 
this area. 
 
The Chairman opened the Public Hearing.  No one wished to be heard and the Public 
Hearing was closed. 
 
There are two (2) written approvals on file.  There are no written objections on file. 
 
Mr. Clark clarified that the driveway is located on the same side of the proposed porch. 
 
Mrs. Cumming stated that was correct. 
 
Mr. Kovacs asked why they did not plan to also cover the step leading up to the porch. 
 
Mrs. Cummings stated that there is only one step and then it’s on to the porch. 
 
Motion by Courtney 
Supported by Wright 
 
MOVED, to grant Mr. & Mrs. Richard Cummings, 2537 Fox Chase, relief of the 
Ordinance to construct a covered porch on the front of the existing home with a 
proposed 34’ front yard setback where Section 30.10.01 requires a 40’ minimum front 
yard setback in R-1A Zoning Districts. 
 

• Variance applies only to the property described in this application. 
• This covered porch would be aesthetically pleasing. 
• This variance would not have an adverse effect to surrounding property. 
• Variance is not contrary to public interest. 

 
Yeas:  All – 7 
 
MOTION TO GRANT VARIANCE CARRIED 



BOARD OF ZONING APPEALS – DRAFT                                   SEPTEMBER 18, 2007 

6 
 

ITEM #4 – VARIANCE REQUESTED.  COY CONSTRUCTION, REPRESENTING MR. 
& MRS. MICHAEL TAORMINO, 1874 WYNGATE, for relief of the Ordinance to 
construct a rear porch enclosure that will result in a 43’ rear yard setback where Section 
30.10.02 requires a 45’ rear yard setback for buildings in the R-1B Zoning District. 
 
The Chairman moved this item to the end of the agenda, Item #6, to allow the petitioner 
the opportunity to be present. 
 
ITEM #5 – VARIANCE REQUESTED.  BEHR AMERICA, 2700-2716 DALEY, for relief 
of the front yard setback requirement to have a parking lot located 31’ from the north 
property line along Big Beaver where Section 30.20.09 of the Troy Zoning Ordinance 
requires a 50’ minimum front yard setback in the M-1 (Light Industrial) Zoning District 
and Paragraph L of Section 30.30.00 requires that this yard remain free of parking. 
 
Mr. Stimac explained that the petitioner is requesting relief of the front yard setback 
requirement.  The original approved site plan indicated that as part of the development 
of this site, new parking spaces were to be added on the west side of the driveway out 
to Daley.  The revised site plan submitted indicates these parking spaces moving to the 
north end of the parking lot and the pavement located 31’ from the north property line 
along Big Beaver.  Section 30.20.09 of the Troy Zoning Ordinance requires a 50’ 
minimum front yard setback in the M-1 (Light Industrial Zoning District and Paragraph L 
of Section 30.30.00 requires that this yard remain free of parking. 
 
Mr. Phil Tocco, representing Behr American was present.   
 
Mr. Courtney asked who would be using the parking spaces along Big Beaver. 
 
Mr. Tocco replied that employees would use them.  Mr. Tocco went on to say that they 
had received site plan approval, however, discovered that there is a very beautiful, 
mature maple tree located in the center of where they had planned to put in a parking 
lot.  They had previously tried to save several old trees when doing the original 
construction of the wind tunnel, but these trees died and now they are trying to prevent 
this tree from dying.  This is the reason they wish to put these parking spaces on the 
east side of the lot.  They also plan to add a masonry screen wall with a corporate sign. 
 
Mr. Kovacs asked if there was any other location to put in a parking lot. 
 
Mr. Tocco stated that if they tried to construct it in another location, they would run into 
the same problem regarding trees and vegetation.  There are a number of utilities and 
fire hydrants located along Daley and the cost would be prohibitive to move all of these 
light poles and underground utilities. 
 
Mr. Maxwell asked if the screen wall fronting on Big Beaver would be 4’ high. 
 
Mr. Tocco stated that the City wants the wall to be 4’.  If a variance is required for the 
proposed sign, they will go through the proper channels to obtain that variance.   



BOARD OF ZONING APPEALS – DRAFT                                   SEPTEMBER 18, 2007 

7 
 

ITEM #5 – con’t. 
 
Mr. Courtney asked if a sign would still be constructed in this location if this variance 
request was not approved. 
 
Mr. Tocco stated that they would change the configuration of what goes on the property 
between Big Beaver and where the parking lot starts. 
 
Mr. Courtney asked about the sign. 
 
Mr. Tocco stated that they expect that they will be able to get the sign and will put the 
sign on the wall.  Mr. Tocco further pointed out that they are not asking for anything 
different than what the neighboring sites have.  There are two companies that have 
parking right at the sidewalk. 
 
Mr. Kovacs asked about the parking spaces that have been land banked. 
 
Mr. Tocco stated that they do not want to use this area, as this is where the tree is 
located. 
 
Mr. Stimac explained that on the original site plan there was additional parking on the 
west side of Daley.  In addition there were land-banked spaces on the east side of the 
lot.  Mr. Stimac also said that the petitioner’s property is allowed to have a ground sign 
but this does not fall under the jurisdiction of this Board.  The petitioner is proposing to 
put up a wall in lieu of the required 50’ setback.  This Board can require the wall as a 
condition of the variance.  Officially, if the wall was not part of a variance request they 
could not put a masonry-screening wall at this location.  A ground sign could be erected 
here as long as it complies with the Ordinance. 
 
Mr. Maxwell asked if the Board would have to approve both a request for the setback 
variance as well as a wall.  Mr. Maxwell also asked if the Board could specify that the 
wall be 6’ in heights. 
 
Mr. Stimac said that officially walls are not permitted in front yards.  The Zoning 
Ordinance requires that walls screening parking lots be 4’-6” in height. 
 
Mr. Bartnik stated that the property around Somerset Mall and other property along Big 
Beaver have a screening wall in one form or another.  Mr. Bartnik asked if Somerset 
had received a variance for plantings rather than a wall. 
 
Mr. Stimac explained that the Somerset Collection was in a different Zoning District and 
there is not a 50’ setback required.  There is a minimum 10’ greenbelt required and the 
Ordinance requires a certain amount of plant materials be located in that greenbelt.  
The landscape plans for this development have been approved.  A 6’ high screening 
wall is required by the Zoning Ordinance to separate the different uses of properties. 
Parking areas for non-residential uses on property that abuts residential property  



BOARD OF ZONING APPEALS – DRAFT                                   SEPTEMBER 18, 2007 

8 
 

ITEM #5 – con’t. 
 
require a 4’-6” high screening wall.  Mr. Stimac said that it is the Board’s decision 
regarding  the location and height of wall.  The Board can approve the 31’ setback 
request with no additional screening, or require a wall or a berm. 
 
Mr. Bartnik asked if the Board is allowed to look at all the other properties along Big 
Beaver for aesthetics, to determine that this request meets all the requirements of 
approval.   The brick wall seems to be consistent with what is in place along Big Beaver 
now. 
 
Mr. Maxwell stated that it is up to the Board to decide. 
 
Mr. Stimac addressed the statements that Mr. Tocco made regarding adjacent 
properties.  Mr. Stimac explained that 1100 – 1174 E. Big Beaver has a variance to 
have parking in the front yard, and this variance is scheduled for renewal in 2008.  The 
variance was granted because of a large open drain that runs through the property.  
The property to the east, 1180 E. Big Beaver, was constructed in 1969 and at that time 
the proposed right of way for Big Beaver was 75’.  There was a 34’ greenbelt installed 
as part of that development.  The width of the road was changed from 75’ to 102’ 
in1972. 
 
The Chairman opened the Public Hearing.  No one wished to be heard and the Public 
Hearing was closed. 
 
There are four (4) written objections on file.  There are three (3) written approvals on 
file. 
 
Motion by Courtney 
Supported by Gies 
 
MOVED, to grant Behr America, 2700-2716 Daley, relief of the front yard setback 
requirement to have a parking lot located 31’ from the north property line along Big 
Beaver where Section 30.20.09 of the Troy Zoning Ordinance requires a 50’ minimum 
front yard setback in the M-1 (Light Industrial) Zoning District and Paragraph L of 
Section 30.30.00 requires that this yard remain free of parking.  

 
• Variance is not contrary to public interest. 
• Variance will not have an adverse effect to surrounding property. 
• Variance applies only to the property described in this application. 
• A 4’ high masonry screen wall will be installed at the 31’ setback line to 

provide additional screening of the parking lot. 
• Screen wall will be more aesthetically pleasing and will blend in with 

surrounding area. 
 
Yeas:  All – 7 



BOARD OF ZONING APPEALS – DRAFT                                   SEPTEMBER 18, 2007 

9 
 

 
ITEM #5 – con’t. 
 
MOTION TO GRANT VARIANCE CARRIED 
 
ITEM #6 (ITEM #4) - VARIANCE REQUESTED.  COY CONSTRUCTION, 
REPRESENTING MR. & MRS. MICHAEL TAORMINO, 1874 WYNGATE, for relief of 
the Ordinance to construct a rear porch enclosure that will result in a 43’ rear yard 
setback where Section 30.10.02 requires a 45’ rear yard setback for buildings in the R-
1B Zoning District. 
 
Motion by Courtney 
Supported by Gies 
 
MOVED, to postpone the request of Coy Construction, representing Mr. & Mrs. Michael 
Taormino, 1874 Wyngate, for relief of the Ordinance to construct a rear porch enclosure 
that will result in a 43’ rear yard setback where Section 30.10.02 requires a 45’ rear yard 
setback for buildings in the R-1B Zoning district. 
 

• To allow the petitioner the opportunity to be present. 
 
Yeas:  All – 7 
 
MOTION TO POSTPONE REQUEST UNTIL THE MEETING OF OCTOBER 16, 2007 
CARRIED 
 
The Zoning Board of Appeals meeting adjourned at 8:33 P.M. 
 
 
 
              
      Mark Maxwell, Chairman 
 
 
 
              
      Pamela Pasternak, Recording Secretary 



PLANNING COMMISSION SPECIAL/STUDY MEETING - DRAFT SEPTEMBER 25, 2007 
  
 
 

 - 1 - 
 

The Special/Study Meeting of the Troy City Planning Commission was called to order by 
Chair Schultz at 7:30 p.m. on September 25, 2007 in the Council Board Room of the Troy 
City Hall. 
 
 
1. ROLL CALL 

 
Present: Absent: 
Michael W. Hutson Kathleen Troshynski 
Mary Kerwin 
Lawrence Littman 
Robert M. Schultz 
Thomas Strat 
John J. Tagle 
Mark J. Vleck 
Wayne Wright 
 
Also Present: 
Mark F. Miller, Planning Director 
Susan Lancaster, Assistant City Attorney 
Brian Murphy, Assistant City Manager/Economic Development Services 
Zak Branigan, Carlisle/Wortman Associates, Inc. 
Kathy L. Czarnecki, Recording Secretary 
 
 

2. APPROVAL OF AGENDA 
 
Resolution # PC-2007-09-147 
Moved by: Wright 
Seconded by: Tagle 
 
RESOLVED, To approve the Agenda as printed. 
 
Yes:  All present (8) 
Absent:  Troshynski 
 
MOTION CARRIED 

 
Resolution # PC-2007-09-148 
Moved by: Littman 
Seconded by: Wright 
 
RESOLVED, That Member Troshynski is excused from attendance at this meeting 
for personal reasons. 
 
Yes: All present (8) 
Absent:  Troshynski 
 
MOTION CARRIED 

campbellld
Text Box
J-01i



PLANNING COMMISSION SPECIAL/STUDY MEETING - DRAFT SEPTEMBER 25, 2007 
  
 
 

 - 2 - 
 

3. MINUTES 
 
Resolution # PC-2007-09-149 
 
Moved by: Littman 
Seconded by: Wright 
 
RESOLVED, To approve the minutes of the September 11, 2007 Regular meeting 
as distributed. 
 
Yes:  All present (8) 
Absent:  Troshynski 
 
MOTION CARRIED 

 
 
4. PUBLIC COMMENT – For Items Not on the Agenda 

 
There was no one present who wished to speak. 

 
 
5. BOARD OF ZONING APPEALS (BZA) REPORT 

 
Mr. Wright gave a brief report on the September 18, 2007 Board of Zoning Appeals 
meeting. 
 
 

6. DOWNTOWN DEVELOPMENT AUTHORITY (DDA) REPORT 
 
Mr. Miller gave a brief report on the September 19, 2007 Downtown Development 
Authority meeting.  
 
 

7. PLANNING AND ZONING REPORT 
 
Mr. Miller reported on City Council action taken at their September 10 and 
September 17, 2007 meetings.  He also addressed the Special City Council 
meeting held on September 24, 2007 to discuss the proposed Planned Unit 
Development (PUD #9), The Pavilions. 
 
 

SITE PLAN 
 
8. SITE PLAN REVIEW (SP 943) – Proposed LTU Solar Decathlon House at Troy 

Community Center, West side of Livernois, South side of Troy Center (3179 
Livernois), Section 21, Zoned C-F (Community Facilities) District 
 
Mr. Miller presented a summary of the Planning Department report on the proposed 
site plan, and reported it is the recommendation of City Management to approve the 



PLANNING COMMISSION SPECIAL/STUDY MEETING - DRAFT SEPTEMBER 25, 2007 
  
 
 

 - 3 - 
 

site plan as submitted.  Mr. Miller acknowledged representatives from the City, the 
Chamber of Commerce and Lawrence Technological University (LTU) in the 
audience.   
 
Brian Murphy, Assistant City Manager/Economic Development Services, introduced 
the proposed solar house as a great opportunity for the City.  He addressed its 
ultimate use, and its attraction and promotion of green development to residential 
and business communities.  Mr. Murphy thanked all involved to bring the project to 
the City of Troy. 
 
The petitioner, Michelle Hodges of the Chamber of Commerce, asked support from 
the Commission to approve the site plan.  She said the project is a success story for 
all involved and addressed the importance of green development.  Ms. Hodges 
talked about the passion she personally witnessed from the LTU students who 
worked on the project.  She thanked everyone involved with the project. 
 
Philip Plowright, Assistant Professor, College of Architecture and Design, Lawrence 
Technological University, 21000 W. Ten Mile Road, Southfield, spoke highly of the 
LTU students who developed the solar house as an exhibit to alternative energy for 
the average homeowner.  He identified features of the house, specifically the 
AC/DC electrical system.  Mr. Plowright addressed a two-year study, funded by 
DTE, which would record data from the house and post the data on a webpage. 
 
Joseph Veryser, Associate Dean, College of Architecture and Design, Lawrence 
Technological University, 21000 W. Ten Mile Road, Southfield, addressed the 
opportunity for green development to go beyond the solar house, and the 
educational curve the solar house would bring to the community.    
 
John Eckstein of John Tagle Associates, Inc., 5455 Corporate Drive, Troy, 
addressed the solar house foundation.  
 
Discussed were: 
 Uses; educational laboratory, meeting space, children summer camps. 
 Exterior signage. 
 Informational brochures. 
 LEED membership (City). 
 Zoning Ordinance compliance. 
 Parks and Recreation Department in charge of operation. 
 Sustainable material used in the house. 
 Future use; easily disassembled.  
 Solar Decathlon 2007 competition. 
 Public-private partnership. 
 Assistance by LTU students with exhibits. 
 Fundraising campaigns. 



PLANNING COMMISSION SPECIAL/STUDY MEETING - DRAFT SEPTEMBER 25, 2007 
  
 
 

 - 4 - 
 

Resolution # PC-2007-09-150 
Moved by: Tagle 
Seconded by: Strat 
 
RESOLVED, All site plans for the development of public property within the C-F 
District are subject to the review and recommendation of the Planning 
Commission and to final review and approval or denial by City Council, as per 
Section 18.80.00(B) of the City of Troy Zoning Ordinance.  
 
NOW THEREFORE BE IT RESOLVED, That the Planning Commission 
recommends that Preliminary Site Plan Approval for the proposed Solar House at 
the Troy Community Center, located south of Troy Center Drive, west of Livernois, 
located in Section 21, on approximately 33 acres in area, within the C-F zoning 
district, be granted. 
 
Yes:  All present (8) 
Absent:  Troshynski 
 
MOTION CARRIED 
 
 

___________ 
 

Chair Schultz requested a recess at 8:10 p.m. 
 
The meeting reconvened at 8:17 p.m. 

___________ 
 
 

STUDY ITEM 
 

9. CITY OF TROY MASTER PLAN – Discussion with representatives of 
Carlisle/Wortman Associates, Inc. 
 
Zak Branigan of Carlisle Wortman Associates, Inc. presented the following draft 
chapters of the Master Plan.  Bullets denote comments and notations for text 
revisions. 
 
Chapters 6 - Infrastructure and Services: The Assets of the Community 
o Make mention of solar house in chapter. 
o Encourage storm water management for both commercial and residential. 
o Re-order / re-number chapters (Chapter 8 before Chapter 7). 
o Stress “infrastructure” in title. 



PLANNING COMMISSION SPECIAL/STUDY MEETING - DRAFT SEPTEMBER 25, 2007 
  
 
 

 - 5 - 
 

 
Chapter 8 – Green City:  Responsibility to Natural and Energy Resources 
o Add solar house to chapter. 
o Discussed wetlands survey completed by Carlisle Wortman Associates, Inc. 
o List all redevelopments in City. 
o Bulk up green sections; include outside projects that complement City, add 

Sanctuary Lakes Golf Course, “bump-out” Kresge Foundation; more examples 
of storm water management, add photographs of green methods. 

o Create development incentives (a challenge); research Boston and Chicago. 
o Diversify paragraph(s) on flex fuel, alternate fuels, natural gas. 
o Revise sentence on page 1 to make it positive (“Environmental considerations 

do not necessarily threaten economic development”). 
 
Chapter 7 – People:  The Changing Face of Housing Demand 
o Variety of housing for aging, first-time buyers, and work force. 
o Punch up language on loft-style homes. 
o Strategize on M-1 zoning district / Maple Road. 
o Create housing inventory that identifies existing home styles (colonial, ranch, 

townhouse, tri-level, quad-level, rental, condos) and values.   
 
 

OTHER ITEMS 
 

10. PUBLIC COMMENTS – Items on Current Agenda 
 
There was no one present who wished to speak. 
 
 

11. PLANNING COMMISSION COMMENTS 
 
Ms. Kerwin shared her experience of a mock planning commission meeting 
conducted by the Institute of Continuing Legal Education, and encouraged 
members to attend seminars offered by the organization.  Ms. Kerwin asked Ms. 
Lancaster to address the Open Meetings Act.  
 
Ms. Lancaster briefly addressed the Open Meetings Act and impropriety.  She 
revealed that email messages are now discoverable evidence that can be used in 
court cases.  
 
Mr. Strat shared his experience of an AIA municipal planning conference he 
attended.  The conference covered working with municipalities and how 
municipalities joint venture with the private sector.  Mr. Strat offered reading 
material published by the State titled Active Michigan Communities. 
 
Mr. Hutson addressed the addition of the proposed solar house site plan on 
tonight’s agenda. 



PLANNING COMMISSION SPECIAL/STUDY MEETING - DRAFT SEPTEMBER 25, 2007 
  
 
 

 - 6 - 
 

Mr. Miller briefly reviewed what to expect at the next study meeting that is dedicated 
to the Big Beaver Development Code.   
 
Mr. Branigan spoke optimistically on tonight’s meeting and the Master Plan text. 
 
Chair Schultz apologized to the members if they were surprised by the addition of 
the proposed solar house site plan on tonight’s agenda.   

 
 
ADJOURN 
 
The Special/Study Meeting of the Planning Commission adjourned at 10:12 p.m. 
 
 
Respectfully submitted, 
 
 
 
 
       
Robert M. Schultz, Chair 
 
 
 
       
Kathy L. Czarnecki, Recording Secretary 
 
G:\Planning Commission Minutes\2007 PC Minutes\Draft\09-25-07 Special Study Meeting_Draft.doc 
 
 



TROY YOUTH COUNCIL – DRAFT MINUTES   September 2 6, 2007 
 

 1

A meeting of the Troy Youth Council (TYC)  was held on September 26, 2007 at 7:00 PM 
at Troy City Hall, 500 W. Big Beaver.  Kristin Randall and Nicole Vitale called the meeting to 
order at 7:03 p.m. 
 
MEMBERS PRESENT:  Disha Bora 

Maxine D’Amico  
Rishi Joshi  
Jessica Kraft 
Joseph Niemiec  
Anupama Prasad (Secretary) 
Kristin Randall (Co-chair) 
Shaina Sekhri 
Neil Shaw 
Katie Thoenes  
Nicole Vitale (Co-chair) 
David Wylie 

MEMBERS ABSENT: Geon Woo Kim 
VISITORS: Chris Crachiola, Teens Taking Action 
STAFF PRESENT:  Scott Mercer, Recreation Coordinator 
                              
1. Roll Call 
 
2. Approval of Minutes 

 Resolution # TY-2007-9-14 
  Moved by   Thoenes 
  Seconded by  Niemiec 

   
  RESOLVED, That the minutes of August 22, 2007 be approved. 

  Yes:  All – 12 
            No:       0  
  Absent:  1 – Kim   
 
3.   Attendance Report:  

Report reviewed by council members, no comments.   
 

4.   Visitor:   Chris Crachiola, Teens Taking Actio n (TTA) 
  -Discussed programs that the TTA are involved in including: 
   TATO – Tobacco 
   Sticker Shock – Alcohol 

Youth Dialogue Day – Held every other year and will involve middle 
school age students in 2008. 

   TTA meets every 2 weeks 
 7 Habits of Highly Effective Teens 

 
 
 
 
 
 

campbellld
Text Box
J-01j



TROY YOUTH COUNCIL – DRAFT MINUTES   September 2 6, 2007 
 

 2

5. Troy Daze Festival Update   
Review of 2007 event.   Comments were positive with some concern regarding 
the drop off area and signage.  

 
 

6. Teen Room Naming Competition  
-Discussed advertisement of competition and recommended emails, high 
schools, middle schools, community center and newspapers. 
-One month time frame for competition. 
-Would like Teens Taking Action and TYC to pick winner at a joint meeting. 
-Recommended prize is a gift certificate to Somerset Mall. 

 
 

7. Special Events and Projects for 2007-08  
Ideas discussed at August meeting have been presented to the legal 
department for approval. 
   

 
8. Motion to Excuse Absent Members Who Have Provide d Advance Notification  
  Resolution # TY-2007-9-15 

  Moved by  Niemiec 
  Seconded by  Bora  

  
RESOLVED that Kim is excused. 

  Yes:  All - 12   
            No:       0  
  Absent:  1 – Kim   
  
9. Youth Council Comments   - None 

    
 

10. Public Comments  –  None    
 

 
11. Adjournment – 7:38 p.m. 
 
 
 
 
_______________________________________ 
Kristin Randall, Co-chair 
 
_______________________________________ 
Scott Mercer, Recreation Supervisor 

 
Reminder Next Meeting: October 24 at 7:00 P.M.  



ELECTION COMMISSION MINUTES –Draft October 1, 2007 
 
A meeting of the Troy Election Commission was held Monday, October 1, 2007, at City 
Hall, 500 W. Big Beaver Road. City Clerk Bartholomew called the Meeting to order at 
5:06 PM. 

ROLL CALL:  

PRESENT:  David Anderson, City Clerk Tonni Bartholomew 
ABSENT:  Timothy Dewan 

Minutes: Regular Meeting of September 12, 2007  

 
Resolution #EC-2007-10-008 
Moved by Anderson 
Seconded by Bartholomew 
 
RESOLVED, That the Minutes of Monday, September 12, 2007, are APPROVED as 
submitted. 
 
Yes:  Anderson, Bartholomew 
No:  None 
Absent: Dewan 
 
MOTION CARRIED 

Approval of Election Inspector Assignments – Tuesday, November 6, 2007 

General Election 

 
Resolution #EC-2007-10-009 
Moved by Anderson 
Seconded by Bartholomew 

 
RESOLVED, That Election Inspectors be appointed for the Tuesday, November 6, 2007 
General Election, as presented by the City Clerk, are hereby APPROVED. 
 
Yes:  Anderson, Bartholomew 
No:  None 
Absent: Dewan 
 
MOTION CARRIED 

Approval of Ballot Language – Tuesday, November 6, 2007 General Election 

 
Resolution #EC-2007-10-010 
Moved by Anderson 
Seconded by Bartholomew 
 

campbellld
Text Box
J-01k



ELECTION COMMISSION MINUTES –Draft October 1, 2007 
 
RESOLVED, That the Ballot Language for the Tuesday, November 6, 2007 General 
Election, as presented by the City Clerk, is hereby APPROVED. 
 
Yes:  Anderson, Bartholomew 
No:  None 
Absent: Dewan 
 
MOTION CARRIED 

Adjournment:  

 
The meeting was adjourned at 5:08 PM. 
 
 

Tonni L. Bartholomew, MMC 
City Clerk 

 



BUILDING CODE BOARD OF APPEALS – DRAFT                           OCTOBER 3, 2007 

1 
 

The Chairman, Ted Dziurman, called the meeting of the Building Code Board of 
Appeals to order at 8:32 A.M. on Wednesday, October 3, 2007 in the Lower Level 
Conference Room at Troy City Hall. 
 
PRESENT:  Ted Dziurman 
   Rick Kessler 
   William Nelson 
   Tim Richnak 
 
ABSENT:  Frank Zuazo 
 
ALSO PRESENT: Mitch Grusnick, Residential Plan Analyst 
   Pam Pasternak, Recording Secretary 
 
ITEM #2 – VARIANCE REQUEST.  JOHNSON SIGN COMPANY, 150 STEPHENSON, 
for relief of Chapter 85 to erect three (3) wall signs totaling 282 square feet, where 
Chapter 85.02.05 limits the number of signs to one wall sign per building, with a 
maximum of 200 square feet in area. 
 
Mr. Grusnick explained that the petitioner sent a letter asking that this item be 
withdrawn. 
 
Motion by Richnak 
Supported by Kessler 
 
MOVED, to accept the withdrawal request of Johnson Sign Company, 150 Stephenson, 
for relief of Chapter 85 to erect three (3) wall signs totaling 282 square feet, where 
Chapter 85.02.05 limits the number of signs to one wall sign per building, with a 
maximum of 200 square feet in area. 
 

• At request of petitioner. 
 
Yeas:  4 – Dziurman, Kessler, Nelson, Richnak 
Absent: 1 - Zuazo 
 
MOTION TO ACCEPT WITHDRAWAL CARRIED  
 
ITEM #3 – VARIANCE REQUEST.  KIRK PESTA, HARLEY ELLIS DEVEREAUX, 
REPRESENTING 44201 DEQUINDRE, for relief of the 2003 Michigan Plumbing Code 
Section 1107.1. 
 
Mr. Grusnick explained that the 2003 Michigan Plumbing Code requires that roof 
drainage systems be provided with a secondary drainage system that has piping and a 
point of discharge that is independent from the primary roof drains.  It further requires 
that this secondary drainage discharge be at a location, above grade, where the 
building occupants would normally observe it.  The petitioners are proposing a  
 

campbellld
Text Box
J-01l



BUILDING CODE BOARD OF APPEALS – DRAFT                           OCTOBER 3, 2007 

2 
 

ITEM #3 – con’t. 
 
secondary system that would be interconnected with the primary system within the 
building.  They propose over sizing the primary system and installing alarms in the  
secondary system to notify the occupants if the overflow is receiving water.  They are 
asking relief for this modified system. 
 
Mr. Dziurman asked if this request was similar to a previous request by Beaumont 
Hospital. 
 
Mr. Kessler stated that it was identical to a request made in 2001. The roof elevation is 
to be raised to allow for an additional three floors. 
 
Mr. Kirk Pesta was present and stated that basically they have never had a problem 
with the drains on the roof.  This is a controlled roof area and is monitored.  The water 
alarms have gone off, however, this was during a heavy rain and the drains were not 
blocked.  The alarms went off due to the amount of water.  Mr. Pesta stated that he 
checked with their Building Maintenance Department before this meeting and they 
stated that they have never had a plugged drain on the roof. 
 
Motion by Nelson 
Supported by Richnak 
 
MOVED, to grant Kirk Pesta, Harley Ellis Devereaux, representing 44201 Dequindre 
relief of the 2003 Michigan Plumbing Code Section 1107.1 of the independent 
secondary roof drainage system to over size the primary system and install alarms in 
the secondary system to notify the occupants if the overflow is receiving water. 
 

• System will be tested to make sure it works efficiently. 
• Variance would not be contrary to public interest. 

 
Yeas:  4 – Dziurman, Kessler, Need, Nelson 
Absent: 1 – Zuazo 
 
MOTION TO GRANT VARIANCE CARRIED 
 
ITEM #4 - VARIANCE REQUEST.  BASEMENT EXPERTS, 4458 LANCASHIRE, for 
relief of the 2003 Michigan Residential Code to finish a basement that will result with a 
6’-10” main ceiling height and ductwork drop areas to 6’-2”.  Section R305 requires a 7’ 
minimum ceiling height and 6’-6” under dropped areas. 
 
Mr. Grusnick explained that the petitioner is requesting relief of Section R305 of the 
2003 Michigan Residential Code to finish a basement.  The existing basement has a 7’-
0” main ceiling height and 6’-3” in areas of dropped ductwork.  The proposed finish 
would lower the main ceiling height to 6’-10” and the ductwork drop areas to 6’-2”.  The  
 



BUILDING CODE BOARD OF APPEALS – DRAFT                           OCTOBER 3, 2007 

3 
 

ITEM #4 – con’t. 
 
2003 Michigan Residential Code, Section R305 requires a 7’ minimum ceiling height 
and 6’-6” under dropped areas.   
 
Mr. Steve Attar was present and stated that he understands he is asking for a large 
variance under the ductwork.  Mr. Attar indicated that he was more than willing to listen to 
any suggestions the Board would have. 
 
Mr. Dziurman stated that the 6’-10” ceiling height is not an unusually request, but felt that 
the 6’-2” height was extremely low. 
 
Mr. Kessler asked if there was a way to design the basement so that the finished area 
would not fall under the ductwork. 
 
Mr. Attar indicated that it would mean that the finished area of the basement would be 
very small. 
 
Mr. Richnak asked what the distance of the wall was up to the stairwell. 
 
Mr. Attar indicated that it was approximately 9’. 
 
Mr. Richnak said that the finished area would be approximately 20’ x 9’. 
 
The Board members discussed different possibilities available and Mr. Nelson 
suggested that a wall be put up where the duct work is, and then shelves or storage be 
provided below the ductwork area so that no one could stand under this area. 
 
Mr. Richnak asked if the intended use was as a play area for children. 
 
Mr. Attar said he believes that is what they are looking for. 
 
Mr. Richnak asked what the lowest height was that was permitted by the Board. 
 
Mr. Attar said that in the past, the height under duct work was limited to 6’-4”.  Mr. Attar 
also asked if shelving were an option, would it be “fixed” or temporary shelving that 
would be required. 
 
Mr. Kessler stated that he thought it should be fixed, so that people would not bump 
their heads. 
 
Motion by Richnak 
Supported by Nelson 
 
 
 
 



BUILDING CODE BOARD OF APPEALS – DRAFT                           OCTOBER 3, 2007 

4 
 

ITEM #4 – con’t.  
 
MOVED, to grant the request of Basement Experts, 4458 Lancashire, for relief of the 
2003 Michigan Residential Code to finish a basement that will result with a 6’-10” main 
ceiling height and to deny the request to finish the area under the duct work that would 
result in a 6’-2” ceiling height. 
 

• 6’-10” main ceiling height is not unusual. 
• The petitioner has the alternative to install a wall or fixed cabinets under the 

ductwork. 
 
Yeas:  4 – Dziurman, Kessler, Nelson, Richnak 
Absent: 1 – Zuazo 
 
MOTION TO GRANT VARIANCE FOR 6’-10” MAIN CEILING HEIGHT, AND TO DENY 
REQUEST FOR 6’-2” CEILING HEIGHT UNDER DUCTWORK CARRIED 
 
The Board was reminded that a Special Meeting will be held on October 24, 2007 as the 
request of SignGraphix in Conference Room C of the Troy City Hall. 
 
The Building Code Board of Appeals meeting adjourned at 8:50 A.M. 
 
 
 
              
       Ted Dziurman, Chairman 
 
 
 
              
       Pamela Pasternak, Recording Secretary 
 
 
 



DATE:        October 1, 2007
TO:             Phillip Nelson, City Manager
FROM:        Mark Stimac, Director of Building & Zoning
SUBJECT:  Permits issued during the Month of September 2007

NO. VALUATION PERMIT FEE
INDUSTRIAL
Add/Alter 3 $392,200.00 $3,096.00

Sub Total 3 $392,200.00 $3,096.00

COMMERCIAL
New 1 $450,000.00 $3,295.00
New Less Tenent 3 $132,000.00 $1,359.00
Tenant Completion 3 $235,000.00 $2,080.00
Add/Alter 26 $4,230,609.00 $31,928.00

Sub Total 33 $5,047,609.00 $38,662.00

RESIDENTIAL
New 3 $595,105.00 $4,607.00
Add/Alter 28 $322,370.00 $5,113.00
Garage/Acc. Structure 8 $60,739.00 $1,022.00
Pool/Spa/Hot Tub 3 $40,500.00 $514.00
Repair 1 $7,925.00 $175.00
Wreck 1 $0.00 $50.00

Sub Total 44 $1,026,639.00 $11,481.00

TOWN HOUSE/CONDO
Add/Alter 3 $31,595.00 $588.00

Sub Total 3 $31,595.00 $588.00

INSTITUTIONAL/HOSPITAL
New 1 $9,000,000.00 $47,145.00

Sub Total 1 $9,000,000.00 $47,145.00

RELIGIOUS
Add/Alter 1 $0.00 $155.00

Sub Total 1 $0.00 $155.00

MISCELLANEOUS
Signs 55 $0.00 $4,920.00
Fences 11 $0.00 $165.00

Sub Total 66 $0.00 $5,085.00

TOTAL 151 $15,498,043.00 $106,212.00

Page 1

campbellld
Text Box
J-02a



PERMITS ISSUED DURING THE MONTH OF SEPTEMBER 2007
NO. PERMIT FEE

Mul. Dwel. Insp. 89 $890.00
Cert. of Occupancy 39 $4,646.70
Plan Review 83 $8,767.00
Microfilm 39 $451.00
Building Permits 151 $106,212.00
Electrical Permits 147 $8,957.00
Heating Permits 87 $5,595.00
Air Cond. Permits 38 $2,350.00
Refrigeration Permits 1 $100.00
Plumbing Permits 100 $4,954.00
Storm Sewer Permits 7 $2,873.00
Sanitary Sewer Permits 9 $281.00
Sewer Taps 10 $3,006.00

TOTAL 800 $149,082.70

LICENSES & REGISTRATIONS ISSUED DURING THE MONTH OF SEPTEMBER 2007
NO. LICENSE FEE

Mech. Contr.-Reg. 61 $305.00
Elec. Contr.-Reg. 25 $375.00
Master Plmb.-Reg. 11 $11.00
Sign Inst. - Reg. 7 $70.00
E. Sign Contr-Reg. 2 $30.00
Fence Inst.-Reg. 1 $10.00
Bldg. Contr.-Reg. 17 $170.00

TOTAL 124 $971.00

Page 2



BUILDING PERMITS ISSUED

BUILDING PERMIT BUILDING PERMIT
PERMITS VALUATION PERMITS VALUATION

2006 2006 2007 2007

JANUARY 116 $7,273,163.00 119 $7,595,008.00

FEBRUARY 94 $6,659,691.00 101 $8,056,092.00

MARCH 127 $5,629,425.00 135 $9,204,932.00

APRIL 174 $5,766,996.00 140 $4,844,929.00

MAY 216 $11,290,598.00 170 $11,201,261.00

JUNE 218 $10,681,352.00 183 $6,057,272.00

JULY 198 $11,269,902.00 134 $5,755,737.00

AUGUST 150 $14,170,725.00 149 $10,867,085.00

SEPTEMBER 161 $12,827,192.00 151 $15,498,043.00

OCTOBER 134 $10,733,680.00 0 $0.00

NOVEMBER 111 $6,690,950.00 0 $0.00

DECEMBER 94 $10,508,219.00 0 $0.00

TOTAL 1793 $113,501,893.00 1282 $79,080,359.00



2004 2004

6 5 9 6 7 5
20
30
40
50
60

SINGLE FAMILY DWELLING PERMITS 2007

6 5 3
9 6 7 4 5 3

0
10

Ja
nu

ar
y

Fe
br

ua
ry

M
ar

ch

A
pr

il

M
ay

Ju
ne

Ju
ly

A
ug

us
t

Se
pt

em
…

O
ct

ob
er

N
ov

em
be

r

D
ec

em
be

r



Oct 1, 2007 BRIEF BREAKDOWN OF NON-RESIDENTIAL BUILDING PERMITSPrinted:
ISSUED DURING THE MONTH OF SEPTEMBER 2007Page:  1

Type of Construction Address of Job ValuationBuilder or Company

Commercial, Add/Alter HEARTLAND 438 W FOURTEEN MILE  258,951
Commercial, Add/Alter REWOLD, FRANK & SON 150 STEPHENSON  1,500,000
Commercial, Add/Alter SYNERGY GROUP INC 755 W BIG BEAVER 10 FL  450,000
Commercial, Add/Alter SYNERGY 755 W BIG BEAVER 9TH FL  400,000
Commercial, Add/Alter WELCH  CONTRACTORS, INC. 2801 W BIG BEAVER E-140  200,000
Commercial, Add/Alter INDUSTRIAL ELECTRIC 901 WILSHIRE 150  230,000
Commercial, Add/Alter PREMIER CONSTRUCTION COMPANY 1050 WILSHIRE 200  210,000
Commercial, Add/Alter KIRCO CONSTRUCTION LLC 201 W BIG BEAVER 1400  500,000

Commercial, Add/AlterTotal  3,748,951

Commercial, New Building V3M ASSOCIATES LLC 1654 LIVERNOIS  450,000

Commercial, New BuildingTotal  450,000

Commercial, Tenant Completion GTP PARTNERS LLC 1454 W MAPLE  150,000

Commercial, Tenant CompletionTotal  150,000

Industrial, Add/Alter BLOOM GENERAL CONTRACTING 1755 MAPLELAWN E  317,200

Industrial, Add/AlterTotal  317,200

Inst./Hosp., Shell BARTON MALOW COMPANY 44201 DEQUINDRE EM CTR  9,000,000

Inst./Hosp., ShellTotal  9,000,000

Total Valuation:  13,666,151Records  13



campbellld
Text Box
J-03a



campbellld
Text Box
J-05







campbellld
Text Box
J-06
























































































































	AGENDA: October 15, 2007
	GOALS
	AGENDA: Return to 1st Page
	EXPLANATION BOOKLET: Return to 1st Page
	CERTIFICATES OF RECOGNITION:
	A-1 Presentations:
	Casual for a Cause Check Presented to Nancy Piotrowski, Troy Youth Assistance
	Plaque for the Level Three Governance Award Presented to Council Member Dave Lambert by Tim Doyle, Vice President of the Elected Officials Academy
	Letter from Michigan Municipal League Director Dan Gilmartin Congratulating Robin Beltramini on Being Elected Vice President – Presented by Mayor Schilling
	Achievement of Excellence Award from the National Purchasing Institute Presented to Susan Leirstein, Purchasing Director
	City of Troy Proclamation Recognizing Chamber of Commerce Month, October 2007 – Presented to Michele Hodges


	CARRYOVER ITEMS:
	B-1 No Carryover Items

	PUBLIC HEARINGS:
	C-1 Concept Development Plan Approval – The Pavilions of Troy Planned Unit Development (PUD 9) – Northwest Corner of Big Beaver and Coolidge, Section 19 – O-S-C, O-M and P-1 Districts

	POSTPONED ITEMS:
	D-1 No Postponed Items

	CONSENT AGENDA:
	E-1a Approval of “E” Items NOT Removed for Discussion
	E-1b  Address of “E” Items Removed for Discussion by City Council and/or the Public
	E-2  Approval of City Council Minutes
	E-3 Proposed City of Troy Proclamation(s):
	a) Chamber of Commerce Month – October, 2007

	E-4 Standard Purchasing Resolutions
	a) Standard Purchasing Resolution 1: Award to Low Bidder – Roof Replacement Fire Station 5
	b) Standard Purchasing Resolution 1: Award to Low Bidders – Janitorial Services
	c) Standard Purchasing Resolution 1: Award to Low Bidder – Tee Shirt Contract

	E-5 Request for Recognition as a Nonprofit Organization Status from Tim Palmer, President – The Lakeshoremen Drum and Bugle Corps
	E-6 Private Agreement for Dr. Joseph Medical Building – Project No. 06.925.3
	E-7 Private Agreement for the SECO Tool A.B. Project – Project No. 07.939.3
	E-8 Announcement of Public Hearing – Community Development Block Grant (CDBG) 2008 Application
	E-9 Request for Acceptance of a Permanent Easement for Water Main and Emergency Ingress/Egress – C-L Bellingham Associates, LLC, Section 26 – Sidwell #88-20-26-200-088
	E-10 Request for Approval of Purchase Agreement for Right-of-Way – Sidewalk Gap Completion Project – Olive Peters, 115 Wattles – Sidwell #88-20-15-355-048, -049 and -050

	PUBLIC COMMENT: Limited to Items Not on the Agenda
	REGULAR BUSINESS:
	F-1 Appointments to Boards and Committees: a) Mayoral Appointments: Downtown Development Authority b) City Council Appointments: Advisory Committee for Persons with Disabilities; Historical Commission; Municipal Building Authority; Parks & Recreation ...
	F-2 Bid Waiver – Purchase of Fitness Equipment for the Troy Community Center
	F-3 Traffic Committee Recommendations – September 19, 2007
	F-4 Designation of Voting Delegates at the Annual Meeting of the National League of Cities
	F-5 Sixth Amendment to Consent Judgment for The Pavilions of Troy
	F-6 Preliminary Site Condominium Review – Adams Road Site Condominium, East Side of Adams, South of South Boulevard, Section 6 – R-1A

	MEMORANDUMS AND FUTURE COUNCIL AGENDA ITEMS:
	G-1 Announcement of Public Hearings:
	Rezoning Application – Proposed Office/Retail Development, South Side of Big Beaver, West of Rochester Road, Section 27 – O-1 to B-2 (File Number: Z-728) – November 12, 2007
	Rezoning Application – Proposed Office Building, East of Livernois, South Side of Wattles, Section 22 – R-1C to O-1 (File Number: Z-725) – November 12, 2007

	G-2 Green Memorandums:  No Green Memorandums Advanced

	COUNCIL REFERRALS: Items Advanced to the City Manager by Individual City Council Members for Placement on the Agenda
	H-1 No Council Referrals Advanced

	COUNCIL COMMENTS:
	I-1 No Council Comments Advanced

	REPORTS:
	J-1 Minutes – Boards and Committees:
	Historic Commission/Final – June 26, 2007
	Youth Council/Final – August 22, 2007
	Advisory Committee for Persons with Disabilities/Draft – September 5, 2007
	Advisory Committee for Persons with Disabilities/Final – September 5, 2007
	Building Code Board of Appeals/Final – September 5, 2007
	Planning Commission/Final – September 11, 2007
	Election Commission/Final – September 12, 2007
	Board of Zoning Appeals/Draft – September 18, 2007
	Planning Commission Special/Study/Draft – September 25, 2007
	Youth Council/Draft – September 26, 2007
	Election Commission/Draft – October 1, 2007
	Building Code Board of Appeals/Draft – October 3, 2007

	J-2 Department Reports:
	Building Department – Permits Issued During the Month of September, 2007

	J-3  Letters of Appreciation:
	Letter to Chief Nelson from John Simpson in Appreciation of the Fire Department Honoring his son-in-law Joshua Brown who was killed in the Line of Duty in Iraq

	J-4  Proposed Proclamations/Resolutions from Other Organizations:
	J-5  Calendar
	J-6  Communication from City Engineer Steven Vandette and Parks and Recreation Director Carol Anderson Regarding Fetterly Drain Work

	STUDY ITEMS:
	K-1 No Study Items Advanced

	PUBLIC COMMENT: Address of “K” Items
	CLOSED SESSION:
	L-1 Closed Session:  No Closed Session Requested

	ADJOURNMENT



